
 PAM HAXBY-COTE   STEVE BULLOCK  
 DIRECTOR  GOVERNOR 

   
HOUSING DIVISION – MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 

Best Western Plus Grantree Inn 
1325 N 7th Ave, Bozeman, MT 59715 

March 14, 2017 
 

ROLL CALL OF BOARD  

MEMBERS: Bob Gauthier (Present) 
Jeanette McKee (Present) 
Pat Melby (Present) 
Sheila Rice (Present) 

STAFF: Bruce Brensdal, Executive Director 
Vicki Bauer, Homeownership Program 
Mary Bair, Multifamily Program 
Stacy Collette, Operations Manager  
Mary Palkovich, Mortgage Servicing Program 
Penny Cope, Marketing 
Todd Jackson, Marketing 
Paula Loving, Executive Assistant 
Ashly Amato, Assistant 
Kellie Guariglia, Multifamily Program 
Julie Hope, Homeownership Program 

COUNSEL: Greg Gould, Luxan and Murfitt  
   John Wagner, Kutak Rock 
   Drew Page, Kutak Rock 
  
UNDERWRITERS: Mina Choo, RBC Capital 
   Patrick Zhang, RBC Capital  
OTHERS: Sam Long 
 Paul Hoek, Wilmington Trust 
 Jeff Philp, Orrick 
 Greg Dunfield, GMD Development 
 Steve Dymoke, GMD Development 
 David Magistrelli, Habitat for Humanity, Gallatin Valley 
 Ron Reyes, Wilmington Trust 
 Heather McMilin, Homeword 
 Andrea Davis, Homeword 
 John Firehammer 
 
These written minutes, together with the audio recordings of this meeting and the Board Packet, 
constitute the official minutes of the referenced meeting of the Montana Board of Housing 
(MBOH).  References in these written minutes to tapes (e.g., Tape 1 – 4:34) refer to the location in the 



Page 2 of 7 
 

audio recordings of the meeting where the discussion occurred and the page numbers refer to the page 
in the Board Packet.  The audio recordings and Board Packet of the MBOH meeting of this date are 
hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of these minutes.  The referenced audio recordings 
and Board Packet are available on the MBOH website at Meetings and Minutes. 

CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Before 
tape 
recording 

Vice Chairwoman Jeanette McKee called the Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) 
meeting to order at 8:37 a.m.  Introductions were made.   

TAPE 1 
0:28 

Bruce Brensdal updated the attendance of Housekeeping items and Webinar 
procedures.  

3:20 Vice Chairwoman McKee started the attendee introduction.  
7:51 Vice Chairwoman McKee asked for any public comment that is not listed on the 

agenda. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
January 23, 2017 Board Meeting Minutes – page 3 of the packet 
6:30 Sheila Rice moved to approve the January 23, 2017 MBOH Board meeting minutes, 

noting the incorrect date of December 12, 2016 to be changed, and Bob Gauthier 
seconded the motion. 

7:12 Vice Chairwoman McKee asked for comments. 
 The amended January 23, 2017 MBOH Board minutes were approved 

unanimously.  

FINANCE PROGRAM 
Finance Program Update – page 14 of packet. 
8:10 Ginger Pfankuch provided the Finance Program update. 

HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM 
Additional Habitat for Humanity Allocation – page 16 of packet 
11:05 Vicki Bauer brought to the Board the request for additional $500,000 set aside funds 

for the Fiscal Year 2017 Habitat for Humanity. 
12:44 Vicki Bauer introduced Dave Magistrelli, Habitat for Humanity, who provided an 

update of the program. 
17:55 Bob Gauthier moved to approve an additional $500,000 to bring the FY2017 

allocation to 1,500,000.  Sheila Rice seconded the motion. 
18:10 Vice Chairwoman McKee asked for public comment. 
 The $500,000 additional set aside funds was approved for the FY2017 Habitat for 

Humanity. 
 

http://housing.mt.gov/About/MBOH/Meetings#Archived-Minutes-304


Page 3 of 7 
 

Homeownership Program Update – page 17 of the packet 
19:08 Vicki Bauer provided the Board with the Homeownership program update.  

MORTGAGE SERVICING PROGRAM 
Mortgage Servicing Program Update – page 20 of the packet 
21:20 Mary Palkovich provided the Mortgage Servicing Program update.  

 
*Meeting was place on hold and Webinar and recording was restarted due to technical 
issues.   
 
TAPE 2 
0:14 

Vice Chairwoman McKee called the meeting back to order. 

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM 
2018 Qualified Allocation Plan – page 22 – 117 of the packet 
0:16 Mary Bair presented the 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan (See Attachment I), based 

on public comment and staff review. Mary presented a Guide to the changes.  See 
Attachment II 

1:38 Bruce Brensdal and Vice Chairwoman McKee reviewed the process for reviewing 
the 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan.  

1:57 Bob Gauthier moved to approve the 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan as presented 
for public comment, allowing staff to correct clerical errors and Sheila Rice 
seconded the motion.   

2:22 Mary Bair reviewed the highlighted Public comments and changes.   See 
Attachment II. 

3:30 Page 2 - Revise definition of Applicable QAP to apply fees amounts existing at time 
of Award to same Project through 8609. 

6:30 
 
7:38 

Page 5 - Hard costs change shown needs to be removed, should be referred to in 
hard to soft cost ratio. 
Greg Gould, Luxan & Murffit, suggested looking at the soft cost and ratio definition 
together.   

10:12 Bob Gauthier moved to approve the Soft and Hard Cost definition outlined.  Sheila 
Rice seconded the motion.   
The Soft and Hard Cost definitions were approved unanimously.   

10:47 Page 7 and 28 - Revise Small Rural Project definition to remove limit on number of 
units and increase Project cost cap from 10% to 12.5 % of ceiling. 

12:14 Page 8 - Soft costs change shown needs to be removed, should be referred to in 
hard to soft cost ratio. 



Page 4 of 7 
 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs minus 
the Letter of Intent fee, Application Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification 
Fee and Final Allocation (8609) fee, as required in the Applicable QAP. divided by 
the sum of total Hard Costs (as calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown 
by a comparative market analysis or appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of 
whether land is donated, leased, purchased or otherwise acquired. 

12:36 Page 14 - Increase limit on Total Project Cost Per Unit from $230,000 to $235,000. 
14:55 Page 15 and 44 - Staff Limitation on Soft Costs.  Projects must meet this limit at 

Letter of Intent, Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If 
this limit is exceeded at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be assessed 
with respect to future Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 9, Developer 
Knowledge and Responsiveness. 

16:33 Sheila Rice moved to approve that projects must meet the limit at Letter of Intent, 
Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification and will allow staff 
to assess negative points with respect to future applications.   Bob Gauthier 
seconded the motion.   
The amendment was approved unanimously.  

18:00 Mary Bair and the Board made clarification the above mention was for 2018 
Applications and future application.   

20:49 Heather McMilin, Homeword, provided public comment on the above amendment. 
23:06 Page 16 - Provide for decrease in Credit amount if Debt Coverage Ratio is outside 

specified range at Application.  Provide for Negative Point assignment if DCR 
changes significantly after Application. 

23:56 Bob Gauthier moved to add language to include ‘for 2018 applications or later’ and 
Sheila Rice seconded the motion.  
 
The Motion passed unanimously. 

24:35 Page 17 - Increase reserves trending from 0% to the amount proposed in 
application, not to exceed 3%, for MBOH underwriting purposes 

26:29 Page 17 and 18 - Clarify applicability of certain accessibility items and change 
required height of switches, thermostats, etc. 

28:21 Page 21 - Tighten criteria for discretionary basis boost. 
29:09 Page 23 - Clarify application process for combined 9%/4% Projects and scattered 

site Projects. 
30:04 Bob Gauthier moved to insert additional language in Section 4, Competitive 9% 

Credit Applications to assure clarity regarding this requirement and Sheila Rice 
seconded the motion.  
This motion was approved unanimously. 

30:38 Page 23 and 29 - Establish schedule of dates and deadlines for First Award Round. 



Page 5 of 7 
 

31:47 Sheila Rice moved to remove the Application Workshop from Section 4, Award 
Schedule, and Section 8, Application Process.  Bob Gauthier seconded the motion.   
The motion was approved unanimously. 

32:54 Page 24 - Revise provision for number of Projects invited to submit full Applications. 
33:32 Page 25 - Establish fee for issuance of 42M letter and require Letter of Intent 

submission for 4% credit projects. 
34:26 Page 25 - Clarify application process for combined 9%/4% Projects. 
36:12 Sheila Rice moved to approve the addition ‘or funding portal’ to the Application 

Submission Method for 4% and 9% Letter of Intent and Credit Applications.  Bob 
Gauthier seconded the motion.   
The motion was approved unanimously.  

36:30 Page 26 - Increase Letter of Intent Fee and Reservation Fee. 
39:12 Page 28 and 8 - Revise Small Rural Project definition to remove limit on number of 

units and increase Project cost cap from 10% to 12.5 % of ceiling. 
39:24 Page 29 - Provide for Application Workshop prior to Application submission – staff 

suggests not putting in QAP until done at least once. 
39:51 Page 31 - Revise requirements for threshold utility documentation. 
41:12 Bob Gauthier moved to add 3. Include a market study or mini-market; 4. Include 

the completed market study summary Form posted on the MBOH website; and 
Sheila Rice seconded the motion.  
The motion was approved unanimously.  

42:00 Page 32 – Threshold Requirement #13. 
43:25 Bob Gauthier and Staff discussed the rationale of this requirement.  
49:30 Bob Gauthier moved to insert to #13 ‘A CMA or appraisal is not required to be 

submitted for projects within the exterior boundaries of a reservation. To qualify for 
this exception, the Application must include documentation demonstrating that the 
property is located within the exterior boundary of a reservation.  For Projects 
located partly on tribal trust land and partly on fee land, the CMS/appraisal 
requirement applies to fee land included in the project.’  Sheila Rice seconded the 
motion  
The motion was approved unanimously.  

51:20 Page 33 – Threshold Requirement #28. 
51:39 Bob Gauthier moved to approve the replace “with” to “that will have” on threshold 

requirement #28.   Sheila Rice seconded the motion.   
The motion was approved unanimously.  

52:00 Page 33- Removed 5 working days after due date on public notice. 



Page 6 of 7 
 

52:31 Bob Gauthier moved to remove “or not more than 5 work days after” and Sheila 
Rice seconded the motion.   
The motion was approved unanimously.  

53:10 Page 36 - Limit partial funding of Applications. 
57:12 Page 39 - Remove appropriate development type scoring criteria. 
59:58 Page 42 and 43 - Provide for notice and opportunity to respond in the event of a 

Negative Point assignment. 
1:01:24 Page 48 - Increase fee for 10% test underwriting and clarify that deadline 

extensions are not available for submission of 10% test information. 
1:02:40 Page 49 - Increase fee for 8609 underwriting and set fees for corrections and re-

underwriting. 
1:03:17 Page 52 - Provide for periodic compliance fee adjustments and fee posting by 

MBOH and increase fee amount for late correction submissions, Late fee for 
management change not reported, time period lengthened. 

1:04:37 Page 54 - Increase fee amount for late submission of substantial change 
notification. 

1:06:22 Page 57 and 7 - Incorporate Qualified Contract Process into QAP. 

1:12:38 Sheila Rice moved to amend the original motion to approve the 2018 Qualified 
Allocation Plan to include the amended changes and the Qualified Contract 
Process.   Bob Gauthier seconded the motion.   
The amended 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan and the Qualified Contract Process 
was approved unanimously.  

1:13:20 Greg Gould explained the need for the Administrative Rules approval, along with a 
public hearing.  

1:16:10 Sheila Rice moved that Staff to publish the Administrative Rules and Bob Gauthier 
seconded the motion.   

1:17:30 Bruce Brensdal thanked Greg Gould, Mary Bair, and Kellie Guariglia for their 
efforts on the processing of public comments. 

1:18:20 Sheila Rice thanked the Developers for their involvement in review and input of the 
process.  

1:19:28 Heather McMilin, Homeword, voiced positive feedback on the process and 
Greg Gould’s participation.   

Reverse Annuity Mortgage Exception – page 195 of packet 
1:32:20 Mary Bair brought to the Board a Reverse Annuity Mortgage exception from a 

female in northeastern Montana in a lump sum of $57,000 to pay off her mortgage 
and medical bills.  



Page 7 of 7 
 

1:32:56 Sheila Rice move to approved the Reverse Annuity Mortgage exception.  Pat Melby 
seconded the motion.  
The Reverse Annuity Mortgage exception was approved.  

Rockcress Apartments – page 193 of packet 
1:21:15 Mary Bair introduced Greg Dunfield, GMD Development, who provided an update 

and request changes on the Rockcress Apartments in Great Falls.  
Sheila Rice recused herself from discussion, citing conflict of interest.  

1:30:10 Bruce Brensdal stated due to lack of quorum, no vote can take place, however, the 
Board did approve previously for the Staff to have the ability to review changes and 
accept within the scope of project.   

Multifamily Program Update – page 197 of packet 
1:38:28 Mary Bair provided the Multifamily program update.  

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR UPDATE 
1:35:43 
 

Bruce Brensdal provided the Board an Executive Director Update. Mountain Plains 
Housing Summit will take place May 1 – 3, 2017 and two Board members are 
approved to attend.  During the State Housing Conference, training will be provided 
for all Board members, including the new members.   

1:38:42 Stacy Collette provided the Operations update.  MBOH is fully staffed once again. 
Hannah Rotter was hired to replace Julie Hope in the Homeownership Origination. 
Section 8 has two openings which are currently posted. 

1:42:45 Penny Cope provided the Marketing update.   Penny showed the Board how to view 
the public comment sections on the Housing website.  www.housing.mt.gov.  Penny 
showed the Housing Resource Guide location on the website.  Debbie Morrison 
worked to create a resource guide for reference, which includes links.  

1:45:48 Todd Jackson updated the Board on the drive to make sure Housing news is public 
for everyone.  

1:48:00 Bruce Brensdal provided the Legislative update on all matters which include 
Housing.  

Meeting adjourned at 11:06 a.m.    
 
 
_       
Sheila Rice, Secretary  
 
_       
Date 

http://www.housing.mt.gov/


The Board of Housing’s mission is to create affordable housing opportunities for Montanans whose needs are not 
met by the market. We value people, families, communities, fairness, teamwork, mutual respect, integrity. 
We are committed and passionate about collaborating with our partners to make sure Montana's families and 
communities have attainable, affordable, accessible and sustainable homes. 

AGENDA ITEMS 
Public Comments - Public comment is welcome on any public matter that is not on the agenda 
and that is within the jurisdiction of the agency. Please sign in on our attendance sheet. 

Minutes 
 Approve Prior Board Meeting Minutes

Finance Program (Manager: Ginger Pfankuch) 
 Financial Update

Homeownership Program (Manager: Vicki Bauer)
 Additional Habitat Allocation

 Homeownership Program Update

Mortgage Servicing Update (Mary Palkovich) 

 Update

Thank you for attending this public meeting and for 
your support of affordable housing. 

 Date:  Tuesday, March 14, 2017 

Time:  8:30 a.m. 

Vice Chairperson:  Jeannette McKee 

Meeting Location: 
Best Western Plus Grantree Inn 

1325 N 7th Ave 
Bozeman MT 59715 

(406) 587-5261

Board Offices: 
301 S Park Ave., Room 240 

Helena MT  59601 
(406) 841-2840

Remote Attendance Information: 
You may join our meetings from your 

 office or home via webinar and phone. 

Dial (877) 273-4202 
Access Code: 7233056# 

Webinar: Click here to register 

1

https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/7215179298485166082


The Board of Housing’s mission is to create affordable housing opportunities for Montanans whose needs are not 
met by the market. We value people, families, communities, fairness, teamwork, mutual respect, integrity. 
We are committed and passionate about collaborating with our partners to make sure Montana's families and 
communities have attainable, affordable, accessible and sustainable homes. 

Multifamily  Program (Manager: Mary Bair)
 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan Approval

 Rockcress Apartments Great Falls

 Resolutions (if needed)

 Reverse Annuity Mortgage Exceptions (if needed)

 Multifamily Program Update

Executive Director (Bruce Brensdal)
 Update

Operations Update (Stacy Collette) 

 Update

Marketing Update (Penny Cope) 

 Update

Miscellaneous

Housing Tour, Bond Training and Closing will continue after adjournment 
Meeting Adjourns 
*All agenda items are subject to Board action after public comment requirements are fulfilled.

*We make every effort to hold our meetings at fully accessible facilities.  Any person needing reasonable
accommodation must notify the Housing Division at (406) 841-2840 or TDD (406) 841-2702 before the scheduled
meeting to allow for arrangements.

Future Meeting Dates and Locations (subject to change) 

April 10, 2017: no meeting May 8, 2017: Great Falls June 26, 2017: Helena 
July 10, 2017: no meeting August 14, 2017:  TBD September 11, 2017: no meeting 
October (15) 16, 2017: Billings November 20, 2017: Helena December 11, 2017: no meeting 
January 8, 2018: no meeting 

2



MEG O’LEARY STEVE BULLOCK
DIRECTOR GOVERNOR 

HOUSING DIVISION – MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 

Webinar  
301 S. Park Avenue, Room 228 – Helena, Montana 59601 

December 12, 2016 
ROLL CALL OF BOARD 

MEMBERS: J.P. Crowley, Chairman (Present) 
Bob Gauthier (Present) 
Doug Kaercher (Excused) 
Ingrid Firemoon (Excused) 
Jeanette McKee (Present) 
Pat Melby (Present) 
Sheila Rice (Present) 

STAFF: Bruce Brensdal, Executive Director 
Vicki Bauer, Homeownership Program 
Mary Bair, Multifamily Program 
Stacy Collette, Operations Manager  
Mary Palkovich, Mortgage Servicing Program 
Penny Cope, Marketing 
Todd Jackson, Marketing 
Paula Loving, Executive Assistant 
Rena Oliphant, Multifamily Program 
Charlie Brown, Homeownership Program 
Ryan Collver, Multifamily Program 
Ashly Amato, Assistant 
Kellie Guariglia, Multifamily Program 

COUNSEL: Greg Gould, Luxan and Murfitt 
John Wagner, Kutak Rock 

UNDERWRITERS: Mina Choo, RBC Capital 
Patrick Zhang, RBC Capital 

OTHERS: Trent Rogers, Travios 
Mark Shrives, City of Polson 
Kyle Roberts, City of Polson 
Rvonda Stordahl, Butte Affordable Housing 
Heather, Jurvakainen, Park County Commission 
Bill Borg, Park County Commission 
Katie Weaver, MSU Park Co Extension 
Steve Caldwell, Park County Commission 
Lawson Mooreau, Park County Planning 
Wm, Michael Inman, Park County Planning 
Clint Tinsley, Park County Commision 
Tom Mannschreck, Thomas Development 
Chancy Kittson, Blackfeet Housing 

3



Page 2 of 11 

 

 Tim Howard, ACC 
 Don Sterhan, Mountain Plains Equity Group. 
 Logan Anderson, Mountain Plains Equity Group 
 Bruce Houle, Town of Culbertson 
 Heather McMilin, Homeword 
 Gene Leuwer, GL Development 
 Merry Lee Olson, Gateway Vista – YWCA 
 Leah Kautz, Livingston/Park County 
 Chris DSchaak, City of Wolf Point 
 Gregory Dunfield, GMD Development 
 Michael Wajdylak, Park County Board of Realtors 
 Erica Lasher, Butte Housing Authority 
 Liz Mogstad, RMDC 
 Beki Brandborg, Echo Enterprises 
 Mary Cleland, Tribal Homeless Shelter 
 Vermae Taylor, Homeless Shelter 
 Andrea Davis, Homeword 
 Kent Mortier, Theis and Talle 
 Holly Phelps, City of Lewistown 
 Heather Grenier, HRDC 9 
 Steve Dymoke, GMD Development 
 Brianna Vines 
 Kimball Rogers 
 Ashley Grant 
 Bonnie Craigle 
 Fred Sterhan 
 Bren Lowe 
 Eileen Pickartz 
 Gordon Delkers 
 Laura Bland 
 Tori Matejovsky 
 Karissa Drye 
 
These written minutes, together with the audio recordings of this meeting and the Board Packet, 
constitute the official minutes of the referenced meeting of the Montana Board of Housing 
(MBOH).  References in these written minutes to tapes (e.g., Tape 1 – 4:34) refer to the location in the 
audio recordings of the meeting where the discussion occurred and the page numbers refer to the page 
in the Board Packet.  The audio recordings and Board Packet of the MBOH meeting of this date are 
hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of these minutes.  The referenced audio recordings 
and Board Packet are available on the MBOH website at Meetings and Minutes. 

CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
1:36 Chairman J.P. Crowley called the Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) meeting to 

order at 8:37 a.m.  Introductions were made.   

7:26 Chairman Crowley asked for any public comment that is not listed on the agenda. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
December 12, 2016 Board Meeting Minutes – page 3 of the packet 

4

http://housing.mt.gov/About/MBOH/Meetings#Archived-Minutes-304


Page 3 of 11 

7:54 Jeanette McKee moved to approve the December 12, 2016 MBOH Board meeting 
minutes and Bob Gauthier seconded the motion. 

8:02 Chairman Crowley asked for comments. 

The December 12, 2016 MBOH Board minutes were approved unanimously. 

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM 
2017 Housing Credits – page 7 – 164 of the packet 
8:34 Sheila Rice declared she had a conflict of interest and will not be voting on the 

Housing Credit allocations 

9:08 Kellie Guariglia provided the Board with an overview of the 2017 Housing Credits 
site locations.  

11:33 Chairman Crowley provided guidelines for the final input and public comment 
for each of the Housing Credit applications.   

12:45 Mary Bair introduced the 2017 Housing Credit applications.  

12:47 Roosevelt Villas is located Wolf Point and Culbertson and is an 
acquisition/rehabilitation of 16 senior units.  Housing Credits requested is 
$2,680,000.  

13:42 Bruce Houle, Town of Culbertson, made public comment. 

16:39 Chris DSchaak, City of Wolf Point, made public comment. 

18:48 Gene Leuwer, GL Development, made public comment. 

19:46 Polson Landing is located in Polson and is a new construction of 35 family units. 
Housing Credits requested is $6,150,000. 

20:12 Mark Shrives, City Manager of Polson, made public comment. 

23:10 Kyle Roberts, City Planner of Polson, made public comment.  

25:51 Alex Burkhalter, Housing Solutions, made public comment. 

27:07 Aspen Place III is located in Butte and is a new construction of 32 family units. 
Housing Credits requested is $5,256,450.  

27:32 Thomas Mannschreck, Thomas Development, made public comment. 

30:42 Rvonda Stordahl, Butte Affordable Housing, made public comment 

31:17 Thomas Mannschreck addressed the pricing of the project.  

32:13 Mary Bair stated more public comment for Roosevelt Villas was available. 

32:29 Vermae Taylor, Employee of Wolf Point Homeless Shelter, made public 
comment. 

35:39 Mary Cleland, Tribal Homeless Shelter, made public comment. 

38:00 Gateway Vista is located in Billings and is a new construction of 24 family units. 
Housing Credits requested is $3,817,350. 

38:16 Merry Lee Olson, YWCA, made public comment. 

5



Page 4 of 11 

41:38 Blackfeet VI is located in Browning and is a new construction of 30 family units. 
Housing Credits requested $6,700,000.  

42:02 Chancy Kittson, Blackfeet Housing, made public comment. 

45:33 Livingston Hospital is located in Livingston and is an acquisition/new construction 
of 35 family units.   Housing Credits requested is $5,840,000. 

46:00 Steve Caldwell, Park County Commission, made public comment. 

47:06 Heather Jurrakainen, Park County Health Department, made public 
comment. 

49:54 Katie Weaver, MSU Park County Extension, made public comment. 

51:59 Michael Wajdylak, Park County Board of Realtors, made public 
comment.  

53:39 Tracy Greiner, HRDC 9, made public comment. 

55:25 Heather McMilin, Homeword, made public comment.  

58:25 Mike Inman, Park County Planning, made public comment. 

59:56 Brian _____, Livingston Healthcare, made public comment via phone. 

1:03:28 The Meadows is located in Lewistown and is an acquisition/rehabilitation of 35 
senior units.   Housing Credits requested is $3,506,510. 

1:04:12 A male resident of The Meadows made public comment.   Name was not 
provided.  

1:05:50 A female resident of The Meadows made public comment.  Name was 
not provided.  

1:06:46 Beverly Kinkler, The Meadows resident, made public comment. 

1:08:32 Nikki Phillips, The Meadows property manager, made public comment. 

1:10:06 Kent Mortner, Theis and Talle, made public comment. 

1:10:22 Heather McMilin, Homeword, made public comment. 

1:13:43 Mary Bair read a legal memo written by Board Counsel, Greg Gould from Luxan & 
Murfitt regarding the underwriting of Rockcress Commons. 

After Mary Bair advised the applicant of the issues outlined in my 
memorandum, the applicant was able to call her attention to items and 
information in the submitted application that allow staff to underwrite the 
application in accordance with all QAP requirements.  Based upon this 
application information, Mary then revisited the application and was able 
to complete the underwriting of the 9% application without considering 
additional numbers from outside the application.  In light of these 
developments, the application met all QAP requirements and may be 
considered for an award of credits. 

Rockcress Commons is located in Great Falls and is a new construction of 43 family 
units.  Housing Credits requested is $6,702,500. 

6



Page 5 of 11 

1:15:48 Bret Doney, Great Falls Development Authority, made public comment. 

1:17:25 Bob Kelly, Mayor of Great Falls, made public comment. 

1:20:00 Neil Fortier, NeighborWorks of Great Falls, made public comment. 

1:24:48 Steve Dymoke, GMD Development, made public comment. 

1:28:10 Stacy Collette presented J.P. Crowley with a gift from the Montana Board of 
Housing as appreciation for his years as a member of the Board.   

1:29:26 Chairman Crowley expressed his gratitude to the Board, the staff and the State of 
Montana.  

1:48:50 Mary Bair reviewed the 2017 Housing Credit supporting documentations and 
support letters, including the 10% proposed pricing adjustment due to the 
current investor rates.      

1:50:16 Chairman Crowley pointed out to the Board that if the Board is to include the 
pricing adjustment, page 10 of the Board Packet included a motion language for 
each allocation.   

1:51:01 The following proposed motion was displayed.  

Proposed Motion 1 
(for each project awarded 
Move to award 2017 Housing Credits to ____(project)____ in the amount 
of _________ originally requested, as well as the additional amount of 
___________ recommended by staff, for a total Housing Credit amount 
of $ __________, contingent upon the applicant submitting to MBOH by 
5:00 PM MST February 28, 2017 a revised Uniform Application (UNIAPP) 
adjusting only the “Sources and Uses” pages to address the project’s funding 
gap and providing such supplemental documentation for the project as 
determined necessary by MBOH staff to determine that the project is 
financially feasible, e.g., letters of interest from lenders and/or syndicators. 
Such award shall expire and the Housing Credits shall return to the 
available credit pool for other award and allocation as provided by the Board 
if the applicable contingency is not met by the February 28, 2017 
submission deadline. 

Proposed Motion 2 
Move to rank the remaining applicant projects in the following order of 
priority for purposes of a later potential award of 2017 Housing Credits as 
provided below in the event that one or more conditionally awarded projects 
are unable to submit revised “Sources and Uses” and sufficient supporting 
documentation by the February 28, 2017 deadline, or in the event that one 
or more such projects return the awarded 2017 credits to MBOH before 
October 1, 2017. 

1:52:24 Bob Gauthier asked a question which was not audible on tape. 

1:52:40 Greg Gould, Luxan & Murffit, replied with a yes response and further clarified that 
motion one would be used for those projects that receive an award; all contingent 

7



Page 6 of 11 

on the submission of the additional documentation to take into consideration the 
drop in pricing for the Credits.   Mr. Gould explained once the award of the projects 
was complete, the Board would rank the remaining projects because of the 
uncertainty of the market and some of those selected projects were not able to move 
forward.  That would allow staff to go ahead and move forward with another project 
in order without having to come back to the Board. 

1:53:40 Bob Gauthier stated the Board is faced with very tough decisions today because of 
the great projects submitted and would expressed the need for the outreach to the 
State of Montana for affordable housing.  

1:55:10 Pat Melby questioned MBOH staff on the Rockcress Commons Housing 
Credits requested. 

1:55:18 Mary Bair confirmed staff and NeighborWorks are similiar. 

1:55:26 Pat Melby moved to adopted the language for proposed motion one and the 
adjusted figures be used to determine allocation of Housing Credits.   Jeanette 
McKee seconded the motion.   

1:56:20 Chairman Crowley asked for public comments. 

1:56:42 The motion passes unanimously. 

1:57:04 Bob Gauthier moved to award 2017 Housing Credits to Blackfeet VI in the amount 
of $6,700,000 originally requested, as well as the additional amount of $75,000 
recommended by staff, for a total Housing Credit amount of $ $6,775,000, 
contingent upon the applicant submitting to MBOH by 5:00 PM MST February 28, 
2017 a revised Uniform Application (UNIAPP) adjusting only the “Sources and 
Uses” pages to address the project’s funding gap and providing such supplemental 
documentation for the project as determined necessary by MBOH staff to 
determine that the project is financially feasible, e.g., letters of interest from 
lenders and/or syndicators. Such award shall expire and the Housing Credits shall 
return to the available credit pool for other award and allocation as provided by the 
Board if the applicable contingency is not met by the February 28, 2017 submission 
deadline.  Jeanette McKee seconded the motion. 

1:57:22 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment. 

1:57:35 Bob Gauthier provided support to the project. 

1:58:06 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Blackfeet VI was approved for $6,775,000 as stated above unanimously. 

1:58:24 Jeanette McKee moved to award 2017 Housing Credits to Polson Landing in the 
amount of $6,150,000 originally requested, as well as the additional amount of 
$615,000 recommended by staff, for a total Housing Credit amount of $6,765,000, 
contingent upon the applicant submitting to MBOH by 5:00 PM MST February 28, 

8



Page 7 of 11 

2017 a revised Uniform Application (UNIAPP) adjusting only the “Sources and 
Uses” pages to address the project’s funding gap and providing such supplemental 
documentation for the project as determined necessary by MBOH staff to 
determine that the project is financially feasible, e.g., letters of interest from 
lenders and/or syndicators. Such award shall expire and the Housing Credits shall 
return to the available credit pool for other award and allocation as provided by the 
Board if the applicable contingency is not met by the February 28, 2017 submission 
deadline. Bob Gauthier seconded the motion.  

1:58:58 Jeanette McKee provided support for this project.  

1:59:32 Chairman Crowley asked for any public comment. 

1:59:40 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Polson Landing was approved for $6,765,000 as stated above unanimously. 

1:59:52 Pat Melby moved to award 2017 Housing Credits to Rockcress Commons in the 
amount of $6,702,500 originally requested, as well as the additional amount of 
$72,500  recommended by staff, for a total Housing Credit amount of  $6,775,000, 
contingent upon the applicant submitting to MBOH by 5:00 PM MST February 28, 
2017 a revised Uniform Application (UNIAPP) adjusting only the “Sources and 
Uses” pages to address the project’s funding gap and providing such supplemental 
documentation for the project as determined necessary by MBOH staff to 
determine that the project is financially feasible, e.g., letters of interest from 
lenders and/or syndicators. Such award shall expire and the Housing Credits shall 
return to the available credit pool for other award and allocation as provided by the 
Board if the applicable contingency is not met by the February 28, 2017 submission 
deadline. Jeanette McKee seconded the motion 

2:00:10 Pat Melby provided support to the project.  

2:00:45 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment.  

2:00:57 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Rockcress Commons was approved for $6,775,000 as stated above 
unanimously. 

2:01:15 Bob Gauthier moved to award 2017 Housing Credits to Gateway Vista in the 
amount of $3,817,350 originally requested, as well as the additional amount of 
$381,735  recommended by staff, for a total Housing Credit amount of  $4,199,085, 
contingent upon the applicant submitting to MBOH by 5:00 PM MST February 28, 
2017 a revised Uniform Application (UNIAPP) adjusting only the “Sources and 

9



Page 8 of 11 

Uses” pages to address the project’s funding gap and providing such supplemental 
documentation for the project as determined necessary by MBOH staff to 
determine that the project is financially feasible, e.g., letters of interest from 
lenders and/or syndicators. Such award shall expire and the Housing Credits shall 
return to the available credit pool for other award and allocation as provided by the 
Board if the applicable contingency is not met by the February 28, 2017 submission 
deadline. Pat Melby seconded the motion. 

2:01:15 Bob Gauthier provided support to the project. 

2:01:56 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment.  

2:02:04 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Gateway Vista was approved for $4,199,085 as stated above unanimously. 

2:03:31 Pat Melby moved to award the remaining credits of the 2017 Housing Credits to 
Roosevelt Villas in the amount of $3,817,350 originally requested. Bob Gauthier 
seconded the motion. 

2:03:55 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment.  

2:04:08 Mary Cleland thanked the Board for the consideration of this project. 

2:04:20 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Roosevelt Villas was approved for the remaining 2017 Housing Credit 
unanimously. 

2:04:36 Chairman Crowley thanked all the applicants for the submissions for the 2017 
Housing Credits.  

2:06:04 Chairman Crowley reviewed proposed motion 2 – the ranking of the remaining 
unfunded 2017 Housing Credits applicants.  

2:06:45 Chris DSchaak requested that Roosevelt Villas to be considered within the first 
ranking since the project did not receive allocation of full Housing Credits.  

2:07:22 Pat Melby moved to place Roosevelt Villas in the #1 ranking for awarding 2017 
Housing Credits based on the viability of awarded projects and/or any unused 
Credits after evaluation of supporting documentation.  Jeanette McKee seconded 
the motion.  

2:09:20 Chairman Crowley asked for public comments 

2:09:22 A roll call vote was taken: 

10



Page 9 of 11 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Roosevelt Villas was approved for any unused remaining 2017 Housing Credit 
and/or be placed as #1 on the ranking based on the viability of awarded projects 
unanimously. 

2:09:40 Jeanette McKee moved to place Livingston Memorial as #2 on the ranking based 
on the viability of awarded projects.   Bob Gauthier seconded the motion.  

2:09:48 Chairman Crowley asked for public comments 

2:10:02 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Livingston Memorial was approved to be placed as #2 on the ranking based 
on the viability of awarded projects unanimously. 

2:10:17 Bob Gauthier moved to place The Meadows as #3 on the ranking based on the 
viability of awarded projects.   Pat Melby seconded the motion.  

2:10:35 Chairman Crowley asked for public comments 

2:10:50 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

The Meadows was approved to be placed as #3 on the ranking based on the viability 
of awarded projects unanimously. 

2:11:21 Pat Melby moved to place Aspen Place III as #4 on the ranking based on the 
viability of awarded projects.   Bob Gauthier seconded the motion.   

2:11:27 Chairman Crowley asked for public comments 

2:10:32 A roll call vote was taken: 

Bob Gauthier Yes 
Jeanette McKee Yes 
Pat Melby Yes 
J.P. Crowley Yes 

 The Aspen Place III was approved to be placed as #4 on the ranking based on the 
viability of awarded projects unanimously. 

Multifamily Program Update – page 179 of packet 

11



Page 10 of 11 

2:12:10 Mary Bair introduce Ryan Collver as the new compliance specialist in the 
Multifamily program. 

FINANCE PROGRAM 
Trustee Certificate of Authority – page 183 of packet 
2:13:05 Ginger Pfankuch brought to the Board the Wilmington Trust Certificate of Authority 

and Resolution 17-0123-SFTrustee. 

2:13:50 Sheila Rice moved to approve Resolution No 17-0123-SFTrustee and Bob Gauthier 
seconded the motion.   

2:14:03 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment. 

2:14:10 Resolution No. 17-0123-SFTrustee was approved unanimously. 

Finance Program Update – page 187 of packet. 

2:14:38 Ginger Pfankuch provided the Finance Program update. 

2:15:17 Mina Choo, RBC Capital, provided an update on the market for the upcoming bond 
issuance.  

HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM 
Lender Fee Approval – page 191 of packet 
2:20:50 Vicki Bauer brought to the Board the new Lender Fee for approval. 

2:24:09 Sheila Rice moved to approve the following Lender Fee. 

All costs incurred by the Mortgagor in acquiring the Residence and 
obtaining the Mortgage Loan shall be reasonable and shall not exceed the 
usual costs incurred by a person acquiring like property where financing is 
not being provided through the Board. Other costs, which may not exceed 
usual and reasonable fees and charges include: credit report fees, survey 
fees, appraisal fees, title fees, title insurance, legal fees, and other similar 
costs which are paid directly to a third party not controlled by the 
Participating Lender. 

Lender fees such as application fees, administrative fees, underwriting 
fees, processing fees and document preparation fees cannot exceed a total 
of $500. 

Bob Gauthier seconded the motion. 

2:24:24 Chairman Crowley asked for public comment. 

2:24:31 Bob Gauthier voiced concern on how this will affect the borrower but understands 
the need for quality underwriting.  

2:25:52 Sheila Rice shared Bob’s concerns, however, the lender’s compliance has grown 
drastically. 

2:26:24 The lender fee increase as mentioned above was approved unanimously. 

Homeownership Program Update – page 195 of the packet 

12



Page 11 of 11 

2:26:35 Vicki Bauer provided the Board with the Homeownership program update. 

MORTGAGE SERVICING PROGRAM 
Mortgage Servicing Program Update – page 197 of the packet 

2:29:00 Mary Palkovich provided the Mortgage Servicing Program update. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR UPDATE 
2:34:00 Stacy Collette provided the Operations update, including the Executive Director’s 

and marketing update. 

2:36:08 Sheila Rice expressed the gratitude of the Housing Division in making the 2017 
Rotunda Day a great success.  

Meeting adjourned at 11:12 a.m. 

_ 
Sheila Rice, Secretary 

_ 
Date 

13



Accounting & Finance Dashboard

FNMA = Federal National Mortgage Association

FHLB = Federal Home Loan Bank

FHLMC = Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

FFCB = Federal Farm Credit Bank

NOTE: Weight Average Yield in December should have been 1.29% not 0.79% as state in previous month.

Portfolio Maturity
For December 31, 2016

Available Now Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years 6 to 10 years 11 to 15 years 16 to 20 years 21 to 25 years Grand Total
60,537,975$           40,469,000$          12,350,000$          17,919,000$        2,225,000$      2,565,656$          137,065,376$     273,132,007$   

Investment Diversification

Weighted Average Yield Trend

Data as of December 31, 2016

8.9% 1.6%

9.0% 1.1%

0.6%

1.6%

25.8%
3.5%

44.3%

FFCB Bonds  @ 0.04% - 3.41%

FHLB Discount Note  @ 0.19 - 0.42%

FHLMC DN  @ 0.51 - 0.53%

FNMA DEB @5.66 - 6.10%

FNMA DN @ 0.52%

FNMA MBS Avg @ 4.46 - 5.46%

Investment Contracts @ 5.00%

Treasury Bills @ 0.52 - 0.54%

US Treasury Bonds @ 6.46%

Money Market @ 0.10% - 0.36%

0.60%
0.70%
0.80%
0.90%
1.00%
1.10%
1.20%
1.30%
1.40%

14



Montana Board of Housing
Accounting and Finance

Investment Maturity Schedule
December 31, 2016

Maturity Date Trustee Bank Investment Type Par Value
12/31/2016 US Bank Corporate Tr US BANK MONEY M 2,442,223.54       
12/31/2016 Wells Fargo Bank Wes WELLS FARGO MON 58,095,751.59     
02/01/2017 US Bank Corporate Tr FHLB DN 800,000.00           
05/25/2017 Wells Fargo Bank Wes T-BILLS 35,279,000.00     
05/26/2017 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FHLB DN 278,000.00           
08/01/2017 US Bank Corporate Tr FHLMC DN 2,366,000.00       
08/01/2017 US Bank Corporate Tr FNMA DN 1,500,000.00       
08/22/2017 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FHLMC DN 246,000.00           
05/24/2021 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FFCB 1,230,000.00       
11/29/2021 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FHLB 11,120,000.00     
12/16/2024 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FFCB 805,000.00           
08/15/2025 Wells Fargo Bank Wes T-NOTES & BONDS 4,796,000.00       
04/30/2026 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA DEB 4,613,000.00       
09/27/2027 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA DEB 4,070,000.00       
11/26/2027 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA DEB 3,635,000.00       
07/15/2032 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FHLMC BOND 2,225,000.00       
02/01/2036 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 56,872.39             
05/01/2036 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 30,936.85             
07/01/2036 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 84,101.82             
03/01/2037 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 151,580.41           
06/01/2037 Wells Fargo Bank Wes SOCIETE - REPO 2,200,000.00       
08/01/2037 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 42,164.49             
08/01/2038 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 71,987.02             
12/01/2038 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 318,762.88           
01/01/2039 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 39,688.66             
12/01/2039 Wells Fargo Bank Wes FNMA MBS 68,933.91             

136,566,003.56   

FNMA = Federal National Mortgage Association

FHLB = Federal Home Loan Bank

FHLMC = Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

FFCB = Federal Farm Credit Bank

15



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting:  March 14, 2017 

PROGRAM 
Homeownership Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Habitat Setaside Request  

BACKGROUND 
Habitat requests an annual allocation of setaside funds each fiscal year and at the end 
of the fiscal year, any unused portion of the allocation expires. 

In June 2016, the Board approved a $1,000,000 setaside for Habitat that expires 
6/30/2017.  As of the end of January, Habitat had used up their FY2017 allocation.   

In February, a situation arose where Habitat received a Bozeman property back through 
the Right of First Refusal clause in their purchase agreement, and they turned right 
around and signed a buy sell with a new borrower, requesting a reservation from Board 
of Housing.   

Staff reviewed available funds and determined there were adequate Pre-Ullmans funds 
available to allow this reservation even though the approval exceeded the Board’s 
FY2017 allocation by $201,801. 

PROPOSAL 
Staff requests approval of an additional $500,000 to bring the FY2017 allocation up to 
$1,500,000.  These funds will cover the current overage and allow some funds available 
for the remainder of the fiscal year. 

16



Rates

Current Last Month Last Year

MBOH 3.50 3.25 3.25
Market 4.28 4.22 3.50

10 yr treasury 2.52 2.48 1.83
30 yr Fannie Mae 3.78 3.75 3.16

Loan Programs

Total: Original 
Amount Number Amount Amount Balance

Regular Program
Series 2017A(10.21.16) 34 5,892,802 106 16,971,430 30,300,000 13,328,570 
80% Combined (20+) 0 0 76 9,693,290 Funded w/ Reg

Other Programs
Veterans (Orig) 0 0 233 42,226,421 Revolving 6,054,610
909 Mrtg Cr Cert (MCC) 9 1,754,864 42 7,939,405 45,000,000 37,060,595

Set-asides:
Score Advantage 10 62,698 215 1,145,876 1,500,000 354,124
Set-aside Pool 0 0 295 40,854,790 50,000,000 9,145,210
Foreclosure Prevent 0 0 1 4,365 50,000 45,635
Disabled Accessible 0 0 226 16,358,432 Ongoing 862,950
Lot Refi 0 0 12 1,273,560 2,000,000 726,440
Habitat 1 134,032 12 1,201,801 1,000,000 (201,801)

MBOH Portfolio as of Jan 2017

5,154 Loans* (4,343 serviced by MBOH)

Weighted Average
     Interest Rate

4.42%

*This a 4.04% decrease in portfolio size from January 2016 when we had 5,371 loans

Delinquency and Foreclosure Rates

Montana Board of Housing Mortgate Bankers Assoc. 12/2016
(most recent availble)

Jan-17 Dec-16 Jan-16 Montana Region Nation
30 Days 1.66 2.08 2.43 1.57 1.96 2.59
60 Days 0.99 0.76 1.14 0.50 0.62 0.88
90 Days 1.82 1.91 2.53 0.69 0.98 1.6

Total Delinquencies 4.47 4.75 6.10 2.76 3.56 5.07

In Foreclosure 1.36 1.28 0.71 0.66 0.83 1.53

Feb 2017 
reservations

Homeownership Program Dashboard
March 7, 2017

2,856 1,289 

423 

431 

103 64 

FHA 56%

RD 25%

VA 8%

non ins 8%

PMI 2%

HUD184 1%

17



Lender/Realtor/Public Outreach 

January 20 - 21 2017 MBIA Home Show
February 9 Attended Helena Assoc Realtors Condo Financing Training

February 13 Eagle Bank MBOH Training Webinar
February 16 Fairway Independent Mortgage Corp. MBOH Training Webinar
March 3 - 5 Billings Spring Home Improvement Show

March11 - 12 Flathead Home & Garden Showcase
March 25 - 26 Bozeman SWMBIA Home Expo
March 25 - 26 Helena Builders Home Show & Lifestyle Expo

April 1 - 2 Missoula 37th Annual Home & Garden Show

18



Board Report for March 2017
                      SETASIDE SUMMARY ADVANCE PACKET REPORT

80% Combined Program
Authorized by the Board 04/22/2013: Program expires 6/30/17 (114)
Additional Setaside Apr 14 5,000,000$           

FORECLOSURE PREVENTION SETASIDE
Authorized by the Board 09/13/2004: (499)
Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        
Loans Purchased 1 (4,365)$                 
Remaining Setaside 45,635$                

TOTAL FORECLOSURE PREVENTION SETASIDE: 45,635$                

DISABLED ACCESSIBLE AFFORDABLE HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM (DAAHP)
MORTGAGE RATE OF 2.750% TO 5%; Authorized by the Board 6/1995: expires 6/30/17 (501),(502)
Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        
Loans Purchased 227 (16,497,050)$        
Remaining Setaside 862,950$              

TOTAL DAAHP SETASIDE: 862,950$              
Score Advantage Second Mortgage 
Authorized by the Board  11/2012 (521)
Original Setaside 1,500,000$           
Loans Reserved 17 93,440$                
Loans Purchased 198 (1,052,436)$          
Remaining Setaside 354,124$              

354,124$              
MBOH Plus
Authorized by the Board  
Original Setaside 1,000,000$           
Loans Reserved 0
Loans Purchased 0
Remaining Setaside 1,000,000$           

LOT REFINANCE SETASIDE
 Authorized by the Board 07/02; Program expires 6/30/2017: (575)
Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        
Loans Purchased 12 (1,273,560)$          
Remaining Setaside 726,440$              

TOTAL LOT REFINANCE SETASIDE: 726,440$              

HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE
MORTGAGE RATE OF 0.375%; Authorized by the Board 9/97; Program expires 06/30/2017: (580)
Additional Setaside (June 16) 1,000,000$           
Loans Reserved 5 (613,082)$             
Loans Purchased 5 (588,719)$             
Remaining Setaside (201,801)$             

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: (201,801)$             

DOWN PAYMENT 1ST MORTGAGE SET-ASIDE POOL (OCT 5, 2007)
50,000,000$         

NHS 111 Pre-Ullman Funds
HRDC BOZEMAN 275

HRDCXI COMBINED 309
CITY OF BILLINGS 355

CAP COMMUNITY LAND 363
FTHB SAVINGS ACCOUNT PROGRAM 571

DREAM MAKERS 572
HUD184 950

Amount Remaining in Current Allocation $9,145,210

TOTAL OF ALL SETASIDES $11,716,229.40

19



Last Month This Month

MONTH APRIL 2016 JANUARY 2017 FEBRUARY 2017
PORTFOLIO TOTAL LOANS 4573 4678 4652

MBOH 4261 4371 4344
BOI 294 290 291
MULTI FAMILY 18 17 17

PRINCIPAL (all loans) 408,768,415.00$  423,338,708.43$ 420,769,363.28$  
ESCROW (all loans) 6,321,370.00$  4,959,634.04$ 5,549,230.78$
LOSS DRAFT (all loans) 669,809.00$  912,410.04$ 911,951.99$
LOANS DELINQUENT (60+ days) 224 276 277
FORECLOSURES TOTAL 2017 14 1 6
ACTUAL FORECLOSURE SALES IN MONTH 11 1 5
DELQUENT CONTACTS TO MAKE 951 788 796
LATE FEES - NUMBER OF LOANS 646 795 831
LATE FEES - TOTAL AMOUNT 18,533.78$  22,715.25$ 23,160.03$
PAYOFFS 40 42 37
NEW LOANS/TRANSFERS 53 13 12

LOSS MITIGATION FEBRUARY

ACTIVE FINANCIALPACKETS 25
REPAYMENT/FORBEARANCE 58
HAMPS/PARTIAL CLAIMS & MODS PNDG 21
PRESERVATION PROPERTIES 14
REAL ESTATE OWNED PROPERTIES 8
CHAPTER 13 BANKRUPTCIES 14

MORTGAGE SERVICING PROGRAM DASHBOARD

Effective 02/28/17

Quarterly Servicing Newsletter

"Mortgage Matters" 

February 

2017

phone 

payments

179

May 2016

started phone 

payments 

29

20



21



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
2018 Qualified Allocation Plan review and approval 

BACKGROUND 
Every state Housing Credit allocating agency is required by Section 42 to have a 
Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  The Housing Credits are awarded once a year.  The 
QAP is the rulebook for the Housing Credit Program for the year. This is the proposed 
Montana QAP for 2018. 

PROPOSAL 
The 2018 QAP draft was released for public comment on February 13, 2017. 
Comments have been received. 

Staff is presenting the draft for board members to consider. The list of changes and 
public comments will be presented.   

Board Meeting: March 14, 2017 
22



1 
 

 

 

 

Proposed 2018 QAP 

Guide to Highlights 

 

2 Revise definition of Applicable QAP to apply fees amounts existing at time of Award to same 
Project through 8609 

5 Hard costs change shown needs to be removed, should be referred to in hard to soft cost ratio. 

7, 28 Revise Small Rural Project definition to remove limit on number of units and increase Project 
cost cap from 10% to 12.5 % of ceiling 

Homeword  
 Comment: this is a helpful change to help address the housing needs in rural communities. New 

construction of larger than 20 units could occur if it were part of a larger service oriented 
project or mixed finance project. More likely, this will benefit acq/rehab needs of several 
projects in rural communities that are larger than 20 units. There are several projects around 
the state, for example HUD and/or RD financed (many with rental assistance), that are larger 
than 20 units and in rural communities that are in need of preservation and rehab. The 
Meadows in Lewistown would have benefited from this set aside had it been available as The 
Meadows is 35 units so the unit limitation didn’t allow it to compete for this rural set aside. 
Additionally, increasing the percentage available for this rural set aside helps reach meet a 
greater range of project sizes 

8 Soft costs change shown needs to be removed, should be referred to in hard to soft cost ratio. 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs minus the Letter of 
Intent fee, Application Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and Final Allocation 
(8609) fee, as required in the Applicable QAP. divided by the sum of total Hard Costs (as 
calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown by a comparative market analysis or 
appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of whether land is donated, leased, purchased or 
otherwise acquired.  

 Homeword 

 Comment: We appreciate that the MBOH has a mandate to be self-funded and fees are a way to cover 
staffing costs. We also appreciate that those fees are being taken out of the soft cost calculation as 
those increases would make it difficult to meet the limits for large and small projects. 
 
14 Increase limit on Total Project Cost Per Unit from $230,000 to $235,000 

 
 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5", First line:  0"

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: +Body (Calibri), Bold

23



2 
 

p.14 –   Travois  Development Cost Limitations –Total Cost Per Unit 
We are pleased that MBOH increased the Total Project Cost per Unit to $235,000, however we again 
urge MBOH to instead implement a cost per square foot eligible basis cap as a means to control costs 
and ensure an efficient use of credit. 
 
Setting a threshold on total project costs of $235,000 benefits projects with smaller square footages and 
smaller bedroom types (1BR/2BR unit projects) and will prevent projects with larger proposed bedroom 
types (3BR/4BR+) from even being able to apply for Housing Credits. 
 
In evaluating the 2017 credit round, yes, all developers were able to have a Total Project Cost per Unit 
amount below $235,000, but the majority of these projects consisted of 1BR and 2BR units. Blackfeet 6, 
which consists of only 3BR and 4BR units, had a Total Project Cost per Unit value of $229,162 per unit, 
and this is because the Blackfeet community is in greater need of larger units to accommodate demand 
(an area where 59% of renter households consist of 5+ person households) not because of excessive 
construction costs or improper use of the Housing Credit. In fact, the numbers indicate Blackfeet’s 
project was one of the more efficient projects proposed given that its hard cost per square foot amount 
was only $145/sf as compared to some projects allocated in the 2017 round with hard cost per square 
foot amounts exceeding $160, $170 and $190/sf (see the charts below). 
 
Homeword 
 Comment: It is helpful to see an increase on this limit as it’s been the same $230,000 for several years. 
The increase to $235,000 is a 2% increase. The MBOH underwriting assumes increased expenses at 3% 
annually so it’s arguable this Total Development Cost (TDC) is not a reasonable increase as it’s not 
keeping up with MBOH assumed underwriting for inflation and cost increases. That said, it’s better than 
not increasing it at all given the reality of inflation and construction costs have increased since the 
$230,000 limit was imposed. We encourage the MBOH to take the time in the coming months in 
preparation for the 2019 QAP to review options such as: Total Project Costs per geography type 
(urban/rural/high cost market/etc) and/or unit size. Also a waiver process should be established 
whereby the burden of justification is placed on the developer but the MBOH staff has a mechanism to 
approve increases in TDC when it’s warranted. We would volunteer to help assist by researching what 
other states have implemented and are quite certain a working group would volunteer from the 
development and investor community. 
 
US Bank   

This is a tricky area.  How was this limit established and is it enough to achieve all of the goals that 
affordable housing usually needs to address (design review, sustainability, durability standards).  
Urban areas can have more complications, as can adaptive/reuse projects, some acq/rehab 
projects if they are in desirable areas or come with rental subsidy.  Likewise you might be 
encouraging less expensive markets to be overbuilt.  I have seen states which have total project 
cost limits, but which break them out by geography (urban/rural/high cost market/etc) AND 
include a waiver process such that if costs exceed the limit, housing staff have the ability to 
approve a waiver.  Reasons can include high opportunity neighborhood, adaptive reuse of a 
historic building, innovative green project, or whatever the developer may propose.   I'd 
encourage you to look around at some other states and see how they handle these limits. 

 

24



3 
 

15 Staff Limitation on Soft Costs  .  Projects must meet this limit at Letter of Intent, Application, 
10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If this limit is exceeded at Final Cost 
Certification, negative points will be assessed with respect to future Applications as provided in 
Section 9, Item 9, Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness.   

16 Provide for decrease in Credit amount if Debt Coverage Ratio is outside specified range at 
Application. 

Provide for Negative Point assignment if DCR changes significantly after Application. 

RCAC  Please remove Soft Costs as part of the analysis of debt coverage ratio. Soft Costs are part of the 
onetime development budget and don’t play into the operating calculations that relate to debt coverage 
and availability of Net Operating Income to pay debt. Please change as follows: 
DCR’s outside these ranges must be justified in the Application narrative to the satisfaction of MBOH, in 
its sole discretion. In determining whether the Applicant’s justification is acceptable, MBOH will 
consider the reasonableness of the Project’s proposed rent levels, Operating Expenses, reserve 
payments, projected Vacancy Rates, debt service obligations, Soft Costs and amount of Credits 
requested. If the DCR, as underwritten by MBOH at Application, falls outside the ranges specified above 
without justification acceptable to MBOH, MBOH will reduce the amount of Credits requested by the 
Applicant to an amount determined by MBOH to be necessary for the financial feasibility of the 
development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance 
Period. 
 
17 Increase reserves trending from 0% to the amount proposed in application, not to exceed 3%, 
for MBOH underwriting purposes 
 
US Bank These are similar to the base underwriting assumptions we use at US Bank.  I would note 
though, that there are some slow growth markets, particularly rural areas which may have declining 
populations, and the 2% growth may not be appropriate.  We use Novogradac's Rent and Income 
calculator to look at the county level and look at the last 5, 10 and 15 year periods to see if we think 2% 
going forward is underwritable.  Perhaps a waiver process here could be useful.  
  
US Bank I have concerns whenever I see expense perscriptions in QAPs.  We have some projects in our 
portfolio that have expenses in excess of $6,000 PUPA, which are totally necessary due to services 
provided, whether or not utilities are paid by the owner and the age of the buildings.  I would encourage 
you to consider taking this opex guidance out and allow the developer, lender and investor to determine 
the correct level of expenses. 
 
US Bank This seems prescriptive and cumbersome to review and monitor.  Can MBOH rely on local 
building codes for accessibility?  It also presents a challenge to investors to review these requirements 
and add them into our compliance requirements. 
 
18 Underwriting Assumptions 
 
US Bank  These are similar to the base underwriting assumptions we use at US Bank.  I would note 
though, that there are some slow growth markets, particularly rural areas which may have declining 
populations, and the 2% growth may not be appropriate.  We use Novogradac's Rent and Income 

25



4 
 

calculator to look at the county level and look at the last 5, 10 and 15 year periods to see if we think 2% 
going forward is underwritable.  Perhaps a waiver process here could be useful.  
  

18 Clarify applicability of certain accessibility items and change required height of switches, 
thermostats, etc. 
 
US Bank  Why does MBOH care about this? 
 
 
 
Homeword 
Comment: We appreciate the need to expand accessibility and visitability. However, we also believe 
code covers what developers should meet. If MBOH incentivizes additional accessibility, those units 
would need to meet code. We contend that meeting code is the best way to ensure marketability and 
full accessibility. The most obvious example where good intentions went wrong is #4 when it was 
required that controls be no more than 36” from the floor. The proposed range could make sense then, 
because it’s not required controls be 36”. However, if it’s a goal for MBOH to increase visitability 
standards, as opposed to just meeting code, there are several nationally recognized standards available 
such as:  
http://www.concretechange.org/construction/construction-guidelines/  
http://idea.ap.buffalo.edu//Visitability/Booklet/VisBk%20Ver3-7-03.pdf  
https://www.huduser.gov/Publications/pdf/strategies.pdf 
http://www.udeworld.com/documents/visitability/pdfs/IncreasingHomeAccess.pdf 
https://www.amazon.com/Inclusive-Housing-Pattern-Diversity-Equality/dp/0393733165 
 
21 Tighten criteria for discretionary basis boost 

23 Clarify application process for combined 9%/4% Projects and scattered site Projects 

RCAC  Page 23.  
Competitive 9% Applications. This section should repeat, for clarity, the requirement for a separate sub-
application and UniApp for each credit request as found on page 25 for consistency. 
 
23 Establish schedule of dates and deadlines for First Award Round 
 Staff recommend removing application workshop from Section 4 award schedule 
 
p. 23 –   Travois First Award Round Dates: 
We are content with the proposed date changes. We are glad that the applications will be due in 
September and that the awards will be determined in the same calendar as the application submission. 
We feel there is adequate time between the June 2017 letter of intent submission and the September 
2017 application 
 

US Bank  

 Typical real estate contract options are 90 days.  Can the time between the invitation to apply and the 
application submission be shortened up to around 75 days, or even more?  Developers probably have 

26

http://www.concretechange.org/construction/construction-guidelines/
http://idea.ap.buffalo.edu/Visitability/Booklet/VisBk%20Ver3-7-03.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/Publications/pdf/strategies.pdf
http://www.udeworld.com/documents/visitability/pdfs/IncreasingHomeAccess.pdf
https://www.amazon.com/Inclusive-Housing-Pattern-Diversity-Equality/dp/0393733165


5 
 

input here, but carrying costs could be better managed with three 90 day options (90 for invite to 
application / 90 from application to award / 90 from award to closing). 

Homeword 
Comment: Having a reasonable timeframe from Letter of Intent to Award is essential in keeping pre-
development costs reasonable for developers. We recognize the staff and board need adequate time to 
underwrite and make decisions on potential projects. The timeframe in the 2018 QAP is a result of 
developers and MBOH staff agreeing on a reasonable timeframe from the QAP feedback session. At that 
feedback session, the original schedule proposed LOI’s to be submitted in early June and a decision by 
MBOH Board in February. That is an 8 month time period that exceeds reasonable Purchase Options, 
Market Studies, Appraisals, LIHTC Investor terms, and Financing terms. The newly proposed timeframe is 
a 5 month timeframe and is much more workable in terms of holding costs, keeping reports pertinent  
and allowing a longer construction period after allocation decisions are made. An example from 2017 
QAP cycle we’d like to share is, from LOI to allocation award was a six (6) month timeframe. The seller of 
the former Livingston hospital was not willing to sign two, 90 day Options without earnest money going 
hard. We understand development is a risk, but we are trying to build affordable housing, often in 
communities where the margin is painfully thin but the need is great. Reducing risks will help increase 
housing units across all of Montana. The timeframe proposed above makes it possible for an allocation 
decision to occur before the holidays which reduces stress on everyone. Additionally, it allows allocated 
projects the ability to close on the tax credit partnership earlier in the calendar year and thus 
construction can start in the spring rather than summer, giving projects the ability to get buildings dried 
in and eliminates construction risk. We’re working under aggressive timelines for LIHTC and investor 
requirements so having more of the calendar year to build and lease up properties is essential in making 
these deals more seamless.  
    
24 Revise provision for number of Projects invited to submit full Applications 
 
p. 24 –   Travois Board Consideration and Determination Process 
We support the amendment in the 2018 QAP that limits the total to eight projects that may be invited 
forward from the letter of intent phase. 

25 Establish fee for issuance of 42M letter and require Letter of Intent submission for 4% credit 
projects  

25 Clarify application process for combined 9%/4% Projects 

26 Increase Letter of Intent Fee and Reservation Fee 

26 Increase Application and Reservation fee for additional credits after credit award 
 
28, 8 Revise Small Rural Project definition to remove limit on number of units and increase Project 

cost cap from 10% to 12.5 % of ceiling 

29 Provide for Application Workshop prior to Application submission – staff suggests not putting in 
QAP until done at least once. 

RCAC Page 30. For letter of Intent, add the requirements from page 29 so it reads: 
Letters of Intent must: 
1. Include the applicable fee; 
2. Be received by the applicable deadline; and 

27



6 
 

3. Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in the MBOH Letter of Intent Form. 
4. Include a market study or mini-market study 
5. Include the completed market study summary Form posted on the MBOH website 

31 Revise requirements for threshold utility documentation 

 
 
 
 
p. 32 –  Travois Threshold Requirement #13 – Appraisal/CMA 
We request that new construction projects on tribal land be except from the appraisal requirement. An 
appraisal of land values land as if it were private fee land, so an appraisal cannot accurately value tribal 
trust land given. There is little benefit in determining a value that has no basis on the actual land status; 
it is only an increased cost to the applicant. 
 
RCAC Page 33, item 28. Please change to “Identify the name of the entity that will have with Legal 
ownership of Project (LP, LLP, etc.). 
 

33 removed 5 working days after due date on public notice 

3-36 Limit partial funding of Applications 
 
RCAC Page 36 – In order to have the option of NOT awarding credits if evaluation does not prove the 
projects feasible, please change will to may. In the event available Credits are not awarded in any round, 
invited but unawarded Applications will be allowed 30 days to re-submit Applications resized to the 
amount of Credits remaining available and, after staff underwriting and evaluation, the Board will may 
award the remaining Credits. 
  
p. 36 –  Travois Full Funding of Applications 
We support the proposed additional section that addresses full funding of applications. We did not 
believe 
that it was fair to ask a developer on the spot if they would accept less credits. We support MBOH 
allowing 
the project to reduce the scope of the project and re-submit with a decreased credit request within 30 
days. 
 
Homeword 
Comment: We are supportive of this approach. It allows the MBOH to allocate the full pool of available 
tax credits and allows the staff the authority to award the balance of credits based on their underwriting 
and the board’s prioritization. 
  
38 Community Input – change number of points earned to 20 per (i) to (iv) from 10 each 
  
 p. 38 –  Travois Local Community Input 
We ask that MBOH do not decrease the scoring category to two meetings worth 20 points each for a 
total of 40 points. Requiring four different meetings each worth 10 points is reasonable and allows for a 
greater scoring disparity. Surely each project will now be able to conduct two meetings and score the 

28



7 
 

max points in this category. With scoring already being so tight and with projects already scoring very 
similar overall, limiting this category will only make the scoring disparity worse. For example, Blackfeet 6 
earned 10 points out of 40, or 30 points less than the max. Under the proposed change, Blackfeet 6 
would have scored 20 points, or only 20 points less than max. Of the 8 submitted 2017 applications, only 
Blackfeet and Rockcress would not score the max 40 points under the proposed 2018 QAP where the 
2017 scores ranged from 10, 20, 30, to full 40 points. 
 

39    Remove appropriate development type scoring criteria 

 
p. 39 –   Travois Qualified Census Tract or Community Revitalization Plan  check fed rule 
We ask that MBOH remove “involves existing housing” from the criteria so that new construction 
projects in a community revitalization plan area can still receive the 10 points. 
 
41 Such written agreements must specifically identify and describe the particular 
services/screening referral/donation/reduced price/grant/waivers/and support the entity is providing 
and how such services will benefit the project and must separately identify each of the items in (i) 
through (v) above.   
 
p. 41 –  Travois Participation of Local Entity 
We do not believe that each of the qualifying participations in the QAP are equal to one another and 
therefore they should not be worth the same 10 points. A financial commitment from a local entity in 
the form of a cash flow only loan or project based rental assistance is significantly more beneficial to a 
project than a commitment from a local entity to screen and refer prospective tenants to the project. 
Similar to the structure of the Project Location category, we suggest the following point structure (up to 
a maximum of 60 points): 
• 30 pts for a commitment of a cash flow only loan from a local entity equaling at least 10% of the TDC; 
• 20 pts for a commitment of 100% project based rental assistance; 
• 20 pts for a commitment by a local entity to donate land or sale at a reduced price to enhance 
affordability; 
• 10 pts for each of the following: 
o a commitment of less than 100% project based rental assistance; 
o a commitment by a local entity to screen and refer individuals as prospective tenants; 
o a commitment by a local entity to provide targeted supportive services to Project tenants either onsite 
or within a 5-mile radius of the project site for tribal projects; 
o significant fee waivers on local government fees; 
o other forms of significant monetary or material support equaling less than 10% of TDC. 

42 Provide for notice and opportunity to respond in the event of a Negative Point assignment 

43 Provide for Negative Point assignment if DCR changes significantly after Application and provide 
for Negative Point assignment for intentionally providing false information to MBOH 

Staff Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded maximum 
for limitation on soft costs at Final Cost Certification. 

 

29



8 
 

48 Increase fee for 10% test underwriting and clarify that deadline extensions are not available for 
submission of 10% test information 

49 Increase fee for 8609 underwriting and set fees for corrections and re-underwriting 

52 Provide for periodic compliance fee adjustments and fee posting by MBOH and increase fee 
amount for late correction submissions, Late fee for management change not reported, time 
period lengthened. 

Syringa/Beki Brandborg 

"Written Notification of changes to property management companies, managers, site managers, or 
changes to points of contact must be submitted to MBOH prior to or immediately upon implementation 
of the change." Then it goes on to name the penalties for failing to do so. I brought the requirement to 
the attention of management company for Bitterroot Valley Villas, Syringa Property Management, this 
morning. We would like to suggest for at least site managers, the time period for notification be a little 
longer, perhaps 2 weeks. 
 

54 Increase fee amount for late submission of substantial change notification 

p. 55 - On-Site Inspections 
Language in the draft 2018 QAP states that MBOH may schedule on-site inspections with minimal 
notice. Federal guidelines require that ample time must be given in the notification of a site visit by a 
state allocating agency. While ample time is not defined, we can assume the intent is to allow housing 
authorities and management agents enough time to notify residents of inspections in accordance with 
their internal policies. We recommend that MBOH provide no less than two weeks notice of an on-site 
inspection. This will allow housing authorities and management agents to notify the tenants in writing 
and to confirm that occupancy staff will be available for the visit. Should MBOH retain the “minimal 
notice” language, we request that this term be defined in the QAP with a very specific timeframe so as 
to maintain a consistent standard for inspection notification. 
 
56-7 Incorporate Qualified Contract Process into QAP 

General Comment 
Homeword 
*Would it be possible to format this entire QAP with section and sub-section references, similar to a 
Limited Partnership Agreement (for 2019)? It would make navigating this document, and references 
within the document, much more-straight forward.  
*Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback and comment. We find this process very valuable. 
 

Qualified Contract Process 

2 Increase administrative fee to process Qualified Contract Process request 

3 Require certification of calculated sales price by independent third-party CPA 

4 Require Owner to make repairs and modifications necessary to bring property to sales price 
value; clarify physical inspection requirements 

30



9 
 

5 Clarify that Owner must pay MBOH’s third-party costs for QCP process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31



MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 

HOUSING CREDIT PROGRAM 

20187 Draft QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN 
(QAP) 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
PO BOX 200528 

HELENA, MONTANA  59620-0528 
(406) 841-2840

(406) 841-2841 FAX

32



i 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................... 1 
SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS .................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS ........................................... 9 

NEW CONSTRUCTION OR SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ........................................................ 10 
ACQUISITION AND SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ................................................................ 10 
EVENTUAL HOME OWNERSHIP........................................................................................ 10 
FEDERALLY SUBSIDIZED BUILDINGS ................................................................................ 10 
QUALIFYING BUILDINGS .............................................................................................. 10 
ELECTION ............................................................................................................... 11 

Rent Limitation ................................................................................................... 11 
BASIS ................................................................................................................... 11 

Eligible Basis ...................................................................................................... 11 
Qualified Basis ................................................................................................... 11 

CREDIT CALCULATIONS ............................................................................................... 12 
ALLOCATION OF CREDIT .............................................................................................. 12 

Need for Allocation.............................................................................................. 12 
Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period ........................................................... 12 
Time for Obtaining Carryover Commitment ............................................................ 12 
Carryover Provision ............................................................................................. 12 

COMPLIANCE PERIOD .................................................................................................. 12 
Three-year Tenant Protection Period ..................................................................... 13 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS ............................................... 13 
ELIGIBLE APPLICANTS ................................................................................................. 13 
HOUSING CREDIT PROCEEDS ........................................................................................ 13 
SOURCES AND USES CERTIFICATION................................................................................ 14 
DEVELOPMENT COST LIMITATIONS .................................................................................. 14 

Hard Cost Per Unit/Hard Cost Per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per Unit/Total 
Project Cost Per Square Foot ................................................................................ 14 
Additional Cost Limitations ................................................................................... 14 
Contractor’s Overhead ......................................................................................... 15 
General Requirements ......................................................................................... 15 
Contractor Profit ................................................................................................. 15 
Developer Fees................................................................................................... 15 
Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties ................................................ 15 
Limitation on Soft Costs ...................................................................................... 15 

UNDERWRITING ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITATIONS ................................................................ 15 
Credit Percentage Rate for Housing Credit Calculation ............................................. 15 
Operating Expenses ............................................................................................ 16 
Debt Coverage Ratio ........................................................................................... 16 
Maximum Rents.................................................................................................. 16 
Operating Reserves ............................................................................................. 17 
Replacement Reserves ........................................................................................ 17 
Utility Allowances ............................................................................................... 17 
Additional Underwriting Assumptions .................................................................... 17 

PROJECT ACCESSIBILITY REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................... 17 
ENERGY, GREEN BUILDING AND OTHER INITIATIVES, GOALS AND REQUIREMENTS .......................... 18 

A. Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity ...................................... 18 
B. Visitability and Universal Design Principles ......................................................... 18 

33



ii 

C. Sustainable Site, Location and Design ............................................................... 18 
D. Passive House Standard .................................................................................. 19 
E. Energy and Water Conservation ........................................................................ 19 
F. Material and Resource Efficiency ....................................................................... 19 
G. Amenities ...................................................................................................... 19 
H. Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) ............................... 19 
I. Smoke-Free Housing ........................................................................................ 19 
J. State of Montana Building Code ......................................................................... 20 
K. Required Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits ....................................... 20 

SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ...................................................................................... 20 
TAX EXEMPT BOND FINANCED PROJECTS ........................................................................... 20 
EVENTUAL HOME OWNERSHIP........................................................................................ 20 
130% BASIS BOOST ................................................................................................. 21 

Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects ................................................................... 21 
MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects ..................................... 21 

NON-HOUSING AMENITIES ........................................................................................... 22 
ACCOUNTANT AND OWNER CERTIFICATION ........................................................................ 22 
INFORMATION REQUEST AND RELEASE POLICY .................................................................... 22 
EX PARTE COMMUNICATION POLICY ................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD SCHEDULE – MANNER OF 
SUBMISSION ........................................................................................................ 23 

COMPETITIVE 9% CREDIT APPLICATIONS .......................................................................... 23 
FIRST AWARD ROUND: ............................................................................................... 23 
SECOND AWARD ROUND (IF ANY):.................................................................................. 23 
BOARD CONSIDERATION AND DETERMINATION PROCESS ........................................................ 24 
4% CREDIT APPLICATIONS FOR TAX EXEMPT BOND FINANCED PROJECTS .................................... 24 
APPLICATION SUBMISSION METHOD FOR 4% AND 9% CREDIT APPLICATIONS ............................... 25 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE ................................................................................. 26 
LETTER OF INTENT ..................................................................................................... 26 
APPLICATION ........................................................................................................... 26 
REQUESTING ADDITIONAL CREDITS AFTER INITIAL ALLOCATION ............................................... 26 
COMPLIANCE FEES ..................................................................................................... 26 
DEVELOPER/OWNER REIMBURSEMENT OF BOARD LEGAL EXPENSES ............................................ 26 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS .......................................................................... 27 
MAXIMUM CREDIT AWARD ............................................................................................ 27 

SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES ..................................................................................... 27 
NON-PROFIT ............................................................................................................ 27 
CORRECTIVE AWARD .................................................................................................. 27 
SMALL RURAL PROJECTS .............................................................................................. 28 
GENERAL RULES REGARDING SET ASIDES ......................................................................... 28 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION PROCESS ............................ 29 
LETTER OF INTENT ..................................................................................................... 29 
APPLICATION ........................................................................................................... 29 
THRESHOLD REQUIREMENTS ARE MANDATORY .................................................................... 30 
THRESHOLD REQUIREMENTS ......................................................................................... 30 

Public Notice ...................................................................................................... 33 
Example of Public Notice ...................................................................................... 33 

34



iii 

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD ............................................................... 34 
THRESHOLD EVALUATION AND CONSIDERATIONS ................................................................. 34 
AMOUNT OF HOUSING CREDIT ALLOCATION ....................................................................... 35 
DEVELOPMENT EVALUATION CRITERIA AND SCORING ............................................................ 36 

1. Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible) ............................................. 36 
2. Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible) .................................................. 37 
3. Project Location* (100 points possible) ............................................................ 37 
4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 points possible) ........................................ 38 
5. Project Characteristics* (230 points possible) ................................................... 39 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible) ................................. 40 
7. Participation of Local Entity (60 points possible) ................................................ 41 
8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible) ................ 41 
9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points possible) ... 42

MINIMUM SCORING THRESHOLD ..................................................................................... 45 
AWARD DETERMINATION SELECTION STANDARD .................................................................. 45 

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL ALLOCATION................... 46 
RESERVATION AGREEMENT ........................................................................................... 46 
GROSS RENT FLOOR ELECTION ...................................................................................... 47 
DECLARATION OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS ....................................................................... 47 
CARRYOVER COMMITMENT ............................................................................................ 47 
10% TEST ............................................................................................................. 48 
PLACED IN SERVICE ................................................................................................... 48 
FINAL ALLOCATIONS/8609 .......................................................................................... 49 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES ................................. 50 
STATE LAW REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 50 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION ................................................................................................ 50 
QUARTERLY STATUS REPORTING .................................................................................... 50 
CHANGES TO PROJECT OR APPLICATION ............................................................................ 51 

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING ........................................................... 52 
COMPLIANCE FEES ..................................................................................................... 52 
RECORDKEEPING, RECORD RETENTION AND DATA COLLECTION ................................................ 52 

Recordkeeping ................................................................................................... 52 
Records Retention .............................................................................................. 53 
Data Collection ................................................................................................... 53 

OWNERS CERTIFICATE OF CONTINUING PROGRAM COMPLIANCE ................................................ 53 
INCOME AND EXPENSE SUMMARY .................................................................................... 53 
SUBMISSION DEADLINES ............................................................................................. 53 
REVIEW BY MBOH STAFF ............................................................................................. 53 
OWNERSHIP/MANAGEMENT CHANGES .............................................................................. 54 
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 54 
TENANT INCOME CERTIFICATIONS (TIC) ........................................................................... 55 

Frequency and Form ........................................................................................... 55 
STUDENT STATUS CERTIFICATION ................................................................................... 55 
ON-SITE INSPECTIONS ............................................................................................... 55 
NOTICE TO OWNER (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(2)) ...................................................................... 56 
CORRECTION PERIOD (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(4)) .................................................................... 56 
NOTICE TO IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(3)) .......................................................................... 56 
LIABILITY (26 CFR 1.42 (G)) ...................................................................................... 56 
MARKETING THE PROJECT ............................................................................................ 56 

35



iv 

QUALIFIED CONTRACT PROCESS ..................................................................................... 56 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER .................................................................................. 57 
MBOH POLICY ON NON-DISCRIMINATION ......................................................................... 57 
QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN REVISIONS ......................................................................... 57 
MBOH POLICY ON CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLIANCE ................................................................... 57 

HOUSING CREDIT FORMS: .................................................................................... 59 

36



1 

INTRODUCTION  
The low income housing tax credit is established under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  The credit is a federal income tax credit for Owners of qualifying rental 
housing which meets certain low income occupancy and rent limitation requirements. 

Congress established the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program by enactment of the Tax 
Reform Act of 1986.  Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) implemented and began 
administering the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program in 1987 in the State of Montana. 
Since then, the program has assisted in providing for the retention, rehabilitation, and 
construction of rental housing for low income individuals and families for over 6,000 units 
throughout Montana.  

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989 required the appropriate administering 
agencies (in this case, MBOH) to allocate credits pursuant to a Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP) which sets forth the priorities, considerations, criteria and process for making 
Allocations to Projects in Montana.  The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 provided 
a permanent extension for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit.  

Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) is the state agency that allocates the tax credits for 
housing located in Montana.  The per state resident amount of tax credit allocated annually 
for housing is limited as specified by the IRS and adjusted from time to time as provided in 
notice from the IRSto $2.30  with a minimum cap as allocated by IRS, whichever is larger.  
The current allocation of Tax Credits plus any inflation factor the IRS may calculate is posted 
to the MBOH website, normally in August or September each year.  Montana receives the 
minimum cap because of its population. 

An Owner must obtain a Final Allocation from MBOH and meet all other applicable 
requirements before claiming the tax credit.  

This QAP is intended to ensure the selection of those developments which best meet the 
most pressing housing needs of low income people within the State of Montana in 
accordance with the guidelines and requirements established by the federal government and 
the requirements, considerations, factors, limitations, criteria and priorities established by 
the MBOH Board. 

At its February 8, 2016February 13, 2017 meeting, the MBOH Board considered and 
approved public notice and distribution of the proposed 20187 Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP).  Public notice of the proposed 20187 QAP and the opportunity for public comment 
was published and distributed on February 8, 2016 February __, 2017 with oral comments 
received at a public hearing  February 17, 2016__________ ___, 2017.  At its March 14, 
2016March ___, 2017 meeting, after considering written and oral public comment on the 
proposed 20187 QAP, the MBOH Board approved the proposed 20187 QAP for submission to 
and approval by the Montana Governor.  The Governor of Montana, Steve Bullock, approved 
the plan as the final 20187 QAP on April 11, 2016__________ ___, 2017. 

MBOH annually makes available for reservation and Allocation its authorized volume cap of 
credit authority subject to the provisions of this QAP.  Montana’s Qualified Allocation Plan for 
the current and prior years, along with current Forms, are available at 
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP.MBOH evaluates tax credit Applications, selects the Projects 
for which tax credits will be reserved, and allocates credits to the selected developments 
meeting applicable requirements.  Federal legislation requires that the administering agency 
allocate only the amount of credit it determines necessary to the financial feasibility of the 
development. 

37

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP.MBOH


 
2 

 

Tax credits not Awarded during a given round or any unused credits from earlier rounds 
may, at the discretion of MBOH, be carried forward for the next round of allocation or, as 
MBOH determines necessary for financial feasibility, be used to increase the amount of tax 
credits Awarded for a Project selected for an Award of tax credits in a prior round. 

Consistent with the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of this QAP, all tax 
credit Awards, Reservation (Initial Allocations), Carryover Commitments, 10% Cost 
Certifications and Final Allocations are subject to and conditional upon IRS authorization and 
allocation of tax credits for the State of Montana. 

SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS 

As used in this QAP, the following definitions apply unless the context clearly requires a 
different meaning: 

“4% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded in accordance with the applicable QAP 
to Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
and, except as otherwise provided by this QAP for Applications combining 4% and 9% 
Credits, outside the competitive allocation process applicable to 9% Credits. 

“9% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded through the competitive process in 
accordance with the applicable QAP.  

“10% Cost Certification” means the certification that must be provided to MBOH 
using the MBOH 10% Cost Certification Forms.   

“Absorption Rate” means the number of months projected in the Application’s market 
study for a Project to become fully leased, using the calculations listed in the full market 
study guidelines posted on the MBOH website. 

“Acquisition” means obtaining title, lease or other Land and Property Control over a 
property for purposes of an HC Project.  Acquisition includes purchase, lease, donation or 
other means of obtaining Land and Property Control. 

“Acquisition/Rehab” means Acquisition of a property with one or more existing 
buildings and renovation meeting Montana’s minimum Rehabilitation standard set forth in 
Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation, for existing buildings on the property that are part of 
an HC Project.   

“Adjusted Construction Costs” means Construction Costs excluding General 
Requirements. 

“Allocation” means an Initial Allocation or a Final Allocation. 

“Applicable QAP” means: (a) for purposes of any substantive issues relating to an 
Award, or to the Development Evaluation Criteria, Scoring, Selection Criteria or Selection 
Standard for such Award, or the fee amounts charged for Letter of Intent, Application, 10% 
Cost Certification and Final Allocation, the particular year’s QAP under which the Application 
is or was submitted, evaluated and Awarded HCs; or (b) for purposes of Project changes, 
Reservation (Initial Allocation), Carryover Commitment, 10% Cost Certification (other than 
the fee amount), Final Allocation (other than the fee amount), compliance requirements, 
compliance audits, and any post-Award procedures, the QAP most recently adopted. 

“Applicant” means the entity identified as such in the Application, and who is and will 
remain responsible to MBOH for the Application.  When used in reference to a Letter of 
Intent, the term means the person or entity on whose behalf the Letter of Intent is 
submitted and who is and will remain responsible to MBOH for the Letter of Intent. 

38



3 

“Application” means a request for an Award of HCs submitted in the form specified 
by and according to the requirements of this QAP. 

“Architect” means a professional licensed by the applicable state authority as a 
building architect. 

“Available Annual Credit Allocation” is defined as and includes the state’s actual or 
estimated credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available credits from prior year 
credit authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable Application 
deadline, and includes any credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award 
under the Corrective Award set aside. 

“Award” means selection of a Project by the MBOH Board to receive a Reservation of 
HCs. 

“Award Determination Meeting” means the meeting of the MBOH Board at which the 
Board selects one or more Applicants to receive an Award. 

“Carryover” means the process and determination of MBOH by which Awarded and 
reserved HCs are continued and carried into the second year after Award of the HCs by 
MBOH issuance of a Carryover Commitment, according to the specific requirements of this 
QAP.  

“Carryover Commitment” means a Carryover of HCs based upon an MBOH Carryover 
determination, which commitment is conditional upon the Applicant performing all 
conditions and requirements for Final Allocation as set forth in the Applicable QAP, the 
Carryover Commitment document issued by MBOH and applicable law. “Cold Weather 
Development and Construction” means experience of the HC Developer or Consultant on 
one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel. 

“Commercial Purposes” means use of any Project Amenities, common space or other 
Project property or facilities by others than tenants for which the Project owner or 
management receives any compensation for such use, whether in cash or in kind. 

“Common Area” means any space in the building(s) on the Project property that is 
not in the units (except manager units), i.e. hallways, stairways, community rooms, laundry 
rooms, garages/carports, manager units, etc.  Common Area is eligible to be paid for with 
Housing Credits. 

“Compliance Period” means, with respect to any building, the initial period of 15 
taxable years beginning with the 1st taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided 
in 26 U.S.C. § 42. 

“Construction Costs” means all costs listed on the UniApp, Section C, Uses of Funds, 
under the Site Work and Rehab sections. 

“Consultant” or “HC Consultant” means an individual or entity advising a Developer 
or Owner with respect to the HC Application and/or development process. 

“Contractor’s Overhead” means the contractor’s overhead shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Contractor Profit” means the contractor’s profit shown in the Applicant’s properly 
completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements.  

“Debt Coverage Ratio” or “DCR” means the ratio of a Project’s net operating income 
(rental income less Operating Expenses and reserve payments) to foreclosable, currently 
amortizing debt service obligations.  

“Design Professional” means a housing/building design professional. 

39



4 

“Developer” means the individual(s) and/or entity(ies) specifically listed and 
identified as the developer in the Uniform Application, Section A - Applicant 
Developer/Sponsor, responsible for development, construction and completion of an HC 
Project. 

“Developer Fee” means those costs included by the Applicant in the UniApp, adjusted 
as necessary to comply with the maximum Developer’s fee specified in Section 3, Additional 
Cost Limitations, Developer Fees, which are included as Developer’s fees by the Cost 
Analysis. 

“Development Evaluation Criteria” means the evaluation and scoring criteria set forth 
in QAP Section 9, Evaluation and Award. 

“Development Team” means and includes the Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Qualified Management Company, and HC Consultant identified as such in the 
Application. 

“Difficult Development Areas” or “DDA” means an area designated by HUD as a 
Difficult Development Area. 

“Disqualify” or “Disqualification” means, with respect to an Application, that the 
Application is returned to the Applicant by MBOH without scoring and without consideration 
for an Award of HCs, as authorized or required by this QAP.   

“Elderly Property” means a Project that for which a Fair Housing Act exemption for 
housing for older persons will apply, i.e., forwill limit its tenants to households that include 
at least one individual age 55 or older or in which all household members are age 62 or 
older, as more specifically defined in the Fair Housing Act definition of “housing for older 
persons” as codified at 42 U.S.C. § 3607(b)(2)(B), (C) and (C)(i).  If permitted by the rules 
applicable to other federal funding sources involved in the Project, households may also 
include disabled individuals below the specified age thresholds. 

“Expense Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to a Project with no hard debt 
included in the UniApp, the ratio of the Project’s operating income to expenses. 

 “Experienced Developer” means a Developer who was entitled by written agreement 
to receive at least 50% of the Development Fees on a prior low-income housing tax credit 
Project that has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state 
housing finance agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant 
problems. 

“Experienced Partner” means a member of the Development Team who was a 
member of the Development Team on a prior low-income housing tax credit Project that has 
achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state housing finance 
agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant problems. 

“Extended Use Period” means the Compliance Period plus an additional period of at 
least 15 years, or a longer period, as specified in the Application and the Restrictive 
Covenants.   

“Final Allocation” means, with respect to HCs, MBOH issuance of an IRS Form 
8609(s) (Low Income Housing Credit Allocation Certificate) for a Project after building 
construction or Rehabilitation has been completed according to the Project Application and 
any MBOH or MBOH Board-approved changes and the building has been Placed in Service. 

“Final Cost Certification” means an independent third party CPA cost certification, 
including a statement of eligible and qualified basis for the Project, submitted to MBOH on 
the form specified by and in accordance with the requirements of this QAP, for purposes of 
obtaining IRS Form 8609(s). 

40



 
5 

 

“Form” means the most current version of any Form referenced in this QAP.  All 
Forms are available on the MBOH website.   

“General Partner” means the general partner of a partnership entity that is formed 
for purposes of a Project.   

“General Requirements” means the contractor's miscellaneous administrative and 
procedural activities and expenses that do not fall into a major-function construction 
category and are Project-specific and therefore not part of the contractor's general 
overhead, categorized in accordance with NCSHA standards and shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Limitations and Requirements. 

“Gut Rehab” means a Project that includes the replacement and/or improvement of 
all major systems of the building, including (i) removing walls/ceilings back to the 
studs/rafters and replacing them; (ii) removing/replacing trim, windows, doors, exterior 
siding and roof; (iii) replacing HVAC, plumbing and electrical systems; and (iv) replacing 
and/or improving the building envelope (i.e., the air barrier and thermal barrier separating 
exterior from interior space) by either removing materials down to the studs or structural 
masonry on one side of the exterior walls and subsequently improving the building envelope 
to meet the whole-building energy performance levels for the project type, or creating a 
new thermal and air barrier around the building. 

“Hard Costs” means and includes all costs other than Soft Costs, land Acquisition 
costs and, operating and replacement reserve costs and the Letter of Intent fee, Application 
Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and Final Allocation (8609) fee, as 
required in the Applicable QAP.  Hard Costs include any building Acquisition costs. 

“Hard Cost Per Square Foot” means Hard Costs divided by Project Square Footage 
shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements. 

“Hard Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Hard Costs by the 
number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“Housing Credits” or “HCs” or “Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits 
allocated or available for allocation under this Montana QAP. 

“Initial Allocation” means the conditional setting aside by MBOH of HCs from a 
particular year’s federal LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover 
Commitment and/or Final Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject 
to the requirements and conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the 
Applicable QAP and federal law. 

 “Investor” means an entity that will directly or indirectly purchase HCs from the 
awardee.  

 “Land or Property Control” means legally binding documentation of title or right to 
possession and use of the property, or the right to acquire title or right to possession and 
use of the property, for purposes the Project, including but not limited to documentation of 
fee ownership, lease, buy/sell agreement, option to purchase or lease, or other right, title or 
interest that will allow the Owner to acquire Proof of Ownership for purposes of Carryover. 

“Large Project” means, for purposes of the Soft Cost Ratio, a Project with more than 
24 low-income units. 

 “Letter of Intent” means a letter and attachment submitted to MBOH on the MBOH 
Letter of Intent Form. 

41

http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/stud
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/rafter
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/trim
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/window
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/doors
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/siding
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/roof
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/plumbing
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/electrical
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/system


6 

“Low-Income Housing Tax Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits, 
referred to in this QAP as HCs. 

”Management Company” means a person or entity that has contracted with the 
Owner to manage the Project property, including such activities as leasing units, enforcing 
lease requirements and rules, repairs and maintenance, Housing Credit compliance and 
other matters relating to the operation of the project.   

“Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company” means a company 
recognized in the Low Income Housing Tax Credit industry as a qualified Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit compliance trainer.  

“NCSHA” means the National Council of State Housing Agencies. 

“New Construction” means construction of one or more new buildings, and includes 
Gut Rehabs.   

“Operating Expenses” means projected ongoing costs to run or operate a property, 
not including expenses for amortization, depreciation or mortgage-related interest. 

“Owner” means the legal entity that owns the Project. 

“Placed in Service” means the certification of the building or the date of certification 
of the building as being suitable for occupancy in accordance with state or local law through 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy, except as otherwise provided in this QAP or Section 
42. 

“Preservation” means Projects that are for the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
existing affordable housing stock. 

“Project” means the low income residential rental building, or buildings, that are the 
subject of an Application for or an Award of HCs.  

“Project Square Footage” means such portion of the total square feet applicable to 
low-income Units and Common Areas and used for the applicable square footage calculation 
in the UniApp under Section B - Program Information, Part X, “Project Uses.”  Project 
Square Footage includes all building square footage available to or serving tenants, 
including units, management unit(s) and offices, Common Area, balconies, patios, storage 
and parking structures.  

“Proof of Ownership” means title or right to possession and use of the property for 
the duration of the Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a 
recorded deed or an executed lease agreement. 

“Qualified Allocation Plan” or “QAP” means this Montana qualified allocation plan 
required by Section 42 of the Code.   

“Qualified Census Tract” or “QCT” means an area designated as such by HUD. 

“Qualified Management Company” means a Management Company that meets the 
education requirements specified in Section 12, Education Requirements, and is not 
disqualified by MBOH to serve as a Management Company on existing, new or additional tax 
credit Properties or Projects, based upon the company’s: (i) failure to complete timely any 
required training; (ii) failure to have or maintain any required certification; (iii) record of 
noncompliance, or lack of cooperation in correcting or refusal to correct noncompliance, on 
or with respect to any tax credit or other publicly subsidized low-income housing property; 
or (iv) delinquent MBOH late fees (unless the Management Company demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of MBOH that such noncompliance or lack of cooperation was beyond such 
company’s control). 

42



7 

“Qualified Nonprofit Organization” means, with respect to a Project, an organization 
exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c) (3) or (4) of the Internal Revenue 
Code, which is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or controlled 
by a for-profit organization, whose exempt purposes include the fostering of low income 
housing, which owns an interest in the Project, which will materially participate in the 
development and operation of the Project throughout the Compliance Period, and which is 
not affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit organization. 

“Rehabilitation,” “Rehab” or “Substantial Rehabilitation” means renovation of a 
building or buildings to house HC units meeting the required minimum Hard Cost Per Unit 
thresholds specified in Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation. 

“Related Party” means an individual or entity whose financial, family or business 
relationship to the individual or entity in question permit significant influence over the other 
to an extent that one or more parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests.  Related parties include but are not limited to: (1) family members 
(sibling, spouse, domestic partner, ancestor or lineal descendant); (2) a subsidiary, parent 
or other entity that owns or is owned by the individual or entity; (3) an entity with common 
control or ownership (e.g., common officers, directors, or shareholders or officers or 
directors who are family members of each other); (4) an entity owned or controlled through 
ownership or control of at least a 50% interest by an individual (the interest of the 
individual and individual’s family members are aggregated for such purposes) or the entity 
(the interest of the entity, its principals and management are aggregated for such 
purposes); and (5) an individual or entity who has been a Related Party in the last year or 
who is likely to become a Related Party in the next year. 

“Reservation” means MBOH’s Initial Allocation of HCs from a particular year’s federal 
LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover Commitment and/or Final 
Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject to the requirements and 
conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the Applicable QAP and federal law. 

“Reservation Agreement” means a written contract entered into between MBOH and 
the taxpayer to provide for a Reservation and setting forth the terms and conditions under 
which the taxpayer may obtain a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation.   

“Restrictive Covenants” means the recorded covenants required by Section 42 of the 
Code. 

“Selection Criteria” means and includes all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides and priorities set forth in 
this QAP and all federal requirements. 

“Selection Standard” means the standard for selection of Projects to receive an 
Award of HCs set forth in the Award Determination subsection of Section 9, Evaluation and 
Award, i.e., the MBOH Board’s determination that one or more Projects best meet the most 
pressing housing needs of low income people within the state of Montana as more 
specifically set forth in such subsection.  

“Small Project” means a Project with 24 or fewer low-income units. 

“Small Rural Project” means, for purposes of the Small Rural Project set aside, a 
Project: (1) for which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount 
up to but no more than 10%12.5% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation; , and 
(2) is a Project with 20 or fewer low-income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and
constructed in a location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great
Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.

43



 
8 

 

 “Soft Costs” means the costs of professional work and fees, interim costs, financing 
fees and expenses, syndication costs and Developer’s fees included by the Applicant in the 
UniApp. Soft Costs do not include operating or replacement reserves, or the Letter of Intent 
fee, Application Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and Final Allocation (8609) 
fee, as required in the Applicable QAP. 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs divided by 
the sum of total Hard Costs (as calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown by a 
comparative market analysis or appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of whether land 
is donated, leased, purchased or otherwise acquired. 

“Sources and Uses” means the sources and uses of funds as specified in the 
Application. 

“Substantial Change” means a substantial change in the Project from the Project as 
set forth in the Application, and includes a change in or to: 

• A member of the Development Team occurring prior to Placed in Service; 
• Participating local entity; 
• Quality or durability of construction; 
• Number of units or unit composition; 
• Site or floor plan; 
• Square footage of Project building(s); 
• Project amenities; 
• Income or rent targeting; 
• Rental subsidies; 
• Target group; 
• Project location; 
• Sources and Uses (to the extent any line item changes by 10% or more); 
• Common Space square footage, location or purposes; 
• Housing Credits required for the Project; 
• Extended Use Period; 
• Any Application item or information required by the Applicable QAP; 
• Any item that would have resulted in a lower Development Evaluation Criteria 

Score under the Applicable QAP; and 
• Any other significant feature, characteristic or aspect of the Project.  

 “Total Project Cost” mean all costs shown in UniApp Section C, Part II, Uses of Funds 
line “Total Projects Costs without Grant Admin”.  Total Project Cost does not include grant 
administration costs. 

“Total Project Cost Per Square Foot” means Total Project Costs divided by Project 
Square Footage shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, 
Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Total Project Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Total Project 
Costs by the number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, 
Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“UniApp” means the most current Uniform Application and Supplement available on 
the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx. 

“UniApp Supplement” means the Supplement portion of the UniApp. 

“Unit” means an income-restricted or market rate tenant or management (manager, 
security or other) residential apartment or single-family home.  

44

http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx


9 

“Vacancy Rate” means percentage of vacant affordable units in the Application’s 
market area or in the property. 

SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS 
THE FOLLOWING IS A BRIEF SUMMARY OF SOME ELEMENTS OF THE HOUSING CREDIT AND 
IS PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.  THERE ARE NUMEROUS TECHNICAL 
RULES GOVERNING A BUILDING'S QUALIFICATION FOR THE HOUSING CREDIT, THE 
AMOUNT OF THE HOUSING CREDIT, AND AN OWNER'S ABILITY TO USE THE HOUSING 
CREDIT TO OFFSET FEDERAL INCOME TAXES.  ANYONE CONSIDERING APPLYING FOR 
HOUSING CREDITS SHOULD REFER, IN ADDITION TO THIS QAP, TO SECTION 42 OF THE 
UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE (26 U.S.C. § 42).  DEVELOPERS OR OWNERS 
INTERESTED IN APPLYING FOR A CREDIT ALLOCATION SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX 
ACCOUNTANT OR ATTORNEY IN PLANNING A SPECIFIC TRANSACTION.   

Low Income Housing Tax Credits, referred to in this QAP as Housing Credits or HCs, are 
Awarded by the State of Montana through MBOH to applicants based on the information 
submitted in or in connection with Applications, other information obtained by MBOH staff as 
provided in this QAP and justification with support documentation supplied by the 
Applicants.  At or before the time an Application is made, the Applicant must solicit an 
Investor who will purchase the tax credits, if Awarded. 

The Housing Credits are Awarded each year for a ten-year period.  Hypothetically, a Project 
Awarded $100,000 in Housing Credits is essentially Awarded $1,000,000 ($100,000 X 10 
years) for the ten-year period.  When an Investor purchases the Credits, the money from 
the purchase is infused into the financing for the building of the Project.  The Investor 
purchases the Housing Credits, for example, $ .75 on the dollar ($100,000 X $.75 X 10 
years) equating to $750,000.  Typically, the Investor pays at a range of $ .70 to $.90 on the 
dollar.  This money directly reduces the amount of dollars financed in a Project, thereby 
reducing the rents that must be charged to tenants as well as assuring that the Project cash 
flows.   

The Investor, through a limited liability limited partnership (LLLP) or other legal entity, must 
be a 99.99% Owner of the Project for fifteen years during which the Investor declares 
$100,000 each year for ten years as credit on the Investor’s income tax.  Generally, once 
fifteen years have passed, the Project is sold back to the General Partner (the .01% 
partner) for a negotiated amount and the ownership is transferred. 

Throughout the Housing Credit Extended Use Period, the Project must comply with the 
requirements of Housing Credit administration as set forth in the current QAP and 26 U.S.C. 
§ 42.  Periodic file audits and inspection of units will be performed by MBOH staff.

The Housing Credit is available for residential rental buildings which are part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  The rental units must be available to the general public.  Residential 
properties which are ineligible for the Credit generally include transient housing, housing 
initially leased for less than six (6) months, buildings of four (4) units or less which are 
occupied by the Owner or a relative of the Owner, nursing homes, life care facilities, 
retirement homes providing significant services other than housing, dormitories, and trailer 
parks. 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the Montana’s volume limitation for private 
activity bonds may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s Housing Credit 
allocation volume cap.   See specific requirements in Section 3, Montana Specific 
Requirements, Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects.  

45



10 

The Housing Credit can be used to assist in financing Acquisition with Substantial 
Rehabilitation, Substantial Rehabilitation, construction of qualifying residential rental, or 
eventual homeownership housing.  The applicable percentage rate (APR) for each Project 
will depend upon the type of building and its financing, the floating APR or other APR set by 
the federal government, and the Project’s election of the APR.  As long as the building 
continues to qualify for the Credit, the Owner may claim the Credit each year during the 10-
year credit period. 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation 
New Construction and Rehabilitation Projects using competitive Credits will qualify for the 
floating monthly tax credit rate (commonly referred to as the 9% rate) or another 
percentage rate permitted by federal law.  The applicable tax credit rate is elected by the 
taxpayer and locked at Reservation/Initial Allocation or at Placed in Service, as specified in 
the Reservation Agreement.  If an Owner Substantially Rehabilitates a building (basically by 
incurring Rehabilitation expenditures in an amount that equals or exceeds the greater of: 
(a) the Montana-specific Substantial Rehabilitation per rental unit standard specified in
Section 3, “Substantial Rehabilitation,” or (b) 30% of the adjusted basis of the building
during a 24-month or shorter period), the Rehabilitation expenditure is treated as a
separate new building for purposes of the Housing Credit. The “per unit” calculation is the
total amount of Hard Costs for the Project divided by the number of units within the Project.
Because Montana’s Substantial Rehabilitation standard is higher than the federal minimum
of $6,200.00 in Hard Costs and 20% of adjusted basis, Montana’s higher Substantial
Rehabilitation standard applies.

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation 
For an existing building which is acquired and Substantially Rehabilitated, the Housing 
Credit will be approximately four (4) percent for qualified Acquisition costs and nine (9) 
percent for the qualified Substantial Rehabilitation costs, provided that the Rehabilitation is 
not federally subsidized. 

Eventual Home Ownership 
The opportunity for eventual home ownership allows for Projects, with sufficient 
justification, to make units available to be purchased by the current tenants after 15 years 
of successful performance as an affordable rental. See Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.  

Federally Subsidized Buildings 
Projects funded by tax exempt bonds are considered federally subsidized and qualify only 
for 4% of the qualified basis for New Construction, Acquisition, and Rehabilitation. Buildings 
directly or indirectly financed with below market federal loans are not considered federally 
subsidized.  Below market loans made to the Project from the proceeds of grants made 
under the HOME Investments Partnership Act or loans made to Projects through the Native 
American Housing Assistance and Self Determination Act of 1996 are no longer considered 
to be federal subsidy.  Section 8 rental “certificate” or “voucher” subsidy is not considered 
to be federal subsidy.   

Qualifying Buildings 
In order to qualify for the Housing Credit, an eligible building must be part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  A Project is a qualifying Project only if it meets one of the following 
requirements:   

46



11 

At least 20% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with incomes at 50% 
or less of area median gross income, adjusted for family size (the "20-50 test”), or 

At least 40% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with income at 60% 
or less of area median income, adjusted for family size (the "40-60 test").  

Election 
The Owner must make an irrevocable election between the 20-50 test and the 40-60 test.  
Regardless of the election made, the credit is only allowed for the portion of the building 
dedicated to low income use (for example, if the Owner elects the 40-60 test and a 
minimum of 40% of the units are low income, the Owner would qualify for Housing Credits 
on a minimum of 40% of the eligible basis). 

Rent Limitation 

The gross rent for each Housing Credit unit may not exceed 30% of the applicable income 
ceiling (30% of 50% of median or 30% of 60% of median, as applicable, calculated based 
on the number of bedrooms in the unit, which is the “Maximum Rent”).  For purposes of the 
rent limitation, the gross rent is the sum of the rent amount payable by the tenant, a utility 
allowance amount determined in accordance with this QAP (see Section 3, Underwriting 
Assumptions and Limitations, “Utility Allowances”) and any mandatory fees payable by the 
tenant.  Rental assistance payments made by government agencies such as Section 8, Rural 
Development, or any comparable rental assistance program are not included in gross rent.  
Gross rent does not include any fee for supportive services as described in 26 U.S.C. 
§42(g)(2)(B)(iii).  Gross Rent is expressed as follows:

Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent 

The Gross Rent must be less than or equal to the Maximum Rent (i.e., 30% of the 
applicable income ceiling). 

Basis 
Eligible Basis 

Eligible basis of a qualifying building is generally the same as its adjusted basis for tax 
purposes, determined at the time the building is Placed in Service.  Generally, eligible basis 
consists of: 

• The cost of New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation; or
• The cost of purchasing an existing building and the cost of Substantial Rehabilitation.

Eligible basis will be determined in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 
42includes costs of Common Areas and comparable amenities provided to all residential 
rental units in the building.  However, eligible basis must be reduced to reflect any 
Rehabilitation or historic preservation tax credit claimed with respect to the building.  
Eligible basis excludes land cost, costs attributable to any portion of the building which is 
not residential rental property (except Common Areas), and costs attributable to non-low 
income units which are above the average quality of the low income units in the Project. 
Cost certifications must list all items in basis (parking lot, paving, community areas, covers 
for parking, etc.).  

Qualified Basis 

To determine the qualified basis of a qualifying building, the taxpayer multiplies the eligible 
basis of the building by the lesser of the "unit percentage" or the "floor space percentage".  
The "unit percentage" is the number of low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the number of all residential rental units in the building.  The "floor space 

47



 
12 

 

percentage" is the total floor space of the low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the total floor space of all residential rental units in the building. Low income 
units are eligible units which are occupied by qualified low income tenants (with income at 
or below 50% or 60% of area median gross income, depending on the Owner's election of 
the 20-50 or 40-60 test) and which comply with the gross rent limitation (30% of the 
applicable 50% or 60% income limit). The Credit is only allowed for the portion of the 
building dedicated to low income use.   

Credit Calculations 
To calculate the Credit each year, the taxpayer applies the applicable credit percentage to 
the qualified basis of a qualifying building.  The "qualified basis" is that portion of the 
"eligible basis" attributable to low income units in the building. 

Allocation of Credit 
Need for Allocation 

All Projects including Projects financed with tax-exempt bonds must first obtain a Final 
Allocation from MBOH before claiming the Housing Credit.  MBOH makes a Final Allocation 
by issuance of IRS Form 8609(s). 

Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period 

An Owner needs to obtain a Final Allocation only once with respect to a building for which 
the Credit will be claimed.  The Final Allocation then applies each year during the 10-year 
Credit period.  Regardless of the maximum Credit otherwise available (based on applying 
the applicable credit percentage to the qualified basis), the Credit claimed each year for a 
building may not exceed the amount of the Final Allocation for that building. 

Time for Obtaining Carryover Commitment   
An Owner who receives an Award of Credits must either: 

• Place the building in service and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS 
Form 8609(s) by the close of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax 
credit ceiling from which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 
2017 for 2017 credits Awarded in January 2017), or 

• Obtain a Carryover Commitment as provided below, and place the building in service 
and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  

Carryover Provision 

A Carryover of a Housing Credit Allocation will be permitted for a period of two (2) years 
beyond the end of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax credit ceiling from 
which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 2019 for 2017 credits 
Awarded in January 2017); contingent upon meeting 10% requirements (see Section 10). 

Compliance Period 
The Compliance Period is the initial period of 15 taxable years beginning with the 1st 
taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided in 26 U.S.C. § 42.  The Application 
must specify an additional period of 15 or more years in which the Applicant agrees to 
maintain units for low income occupancy.  The Compliance Period plus the additional 15 or 
more year period together are referred to as the Extended Use Period.  These restrictions 
will be included in the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and will be effective for the 
entire Extended Use Period. 

An Owner must continue to meet the requirements of Section 42 for a Compliance Period of 
15 years.  Failure to comply, reducing the number of the HC units, or reducing floor space 

48



13 

for which the Credit is based during the Compliance Period, may result in IRS recapture of 
Housing Credits, including non-deductible interest, of at least a portion of the Housing 
Credits taken previously by the Owner. 

To be eligible for HCs, a building must be subject to an extended low income housing 
commitment between the Owner and the state agency, which commitment must be 
established by recorded Restrictive Covenants effective for the full Extended Use Period.  
The Owner must meet compliance criteria for the full Extended Use Period specified in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  Through execution and recording of the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants with respect to Housing Credits, all Owners waive and forfeit the right to request 
that MBOH locate a non-profit qualified buyer (the “qualified contract process”) and the 
Owner must maintain HC units through the Extended Use Period as provided in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  The Extended Use Period specified in the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants may not be terminated early through the qualified contract process.   

Three-year Tenant Protection Period 
HC rent requirements and restrictions will continue for a period of three years following the 
termination or expiration of the Extended Use Period.  The Owner cannot evict or terminate 
the tenancy of an existing tenant of any HC unit other than for good cause during the 
Extended Use Period or during the additional three-year tenant protection period.  

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 
Eligible Applicants 
An Applicant who previously received an Award of Credits for its first Housing Credit Project 
in Montana may not receive an Award of Credits for another Housing Credit Project until the 
first Project has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and an MBOH compliance audit has 
been conducted which revealed no significant problems.  For purposes of this rule, 
Applicants are considered to be the same Applicant if the Applicants are Related Parties or if 
the same Developer or a Related Party of the Developer will receive more than 50% of the 
Development Fees for both Projects.  The foregoing rule does not apply to a subsequent 
Housing Credit Application if the Developer partners with an Experienced Developer who will 
be entitled under a written agreement to receive at least 50% of the Developer Fee on the 
subsequent Project.  The Applicant is not eligible to apply for Credits if the Applicant or any 
member of the Applicant’s Development Team is debarred from federal programs or FHLB 
(Federal Home Loan Bank), prohibited from applying for LIHTCs by another state HFA for 
disciplinary reasons, or has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH,.  If any member 
of the Development Team has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH at any time 
from submission of Letter of Intent through the Award Board meeting, the Application will 
be ineligible for an Award of Credits until such fees are paid in full.  If such late fees are not 
paid in full within ten (10) business days of written notice, the Application will be returned 
and will receive no further consideration.  Application fees will not be refunded. 

Housing Credit Proceeds 
In order to allow MBOH to adequately evaluate Sources and Uses for Housing Credit 
Projects, the Applicant is required to provide information to MBOH regarding the proceeds or 
receipts generated from the Housing Credit.   

At Application, expected Credit proceeds must be estimated by the Applicant.  Within 30 
days after the partnership or operating agreement is signed by all parties, the 
Applicant must provide MBOH with a copy of the executed agreement.  If MBOH 
does not receive a copy of the executed agreement within 30 days of execution, a late fee 

49



14 

of $500.00 will be assessed. Prior to issuance of IRS Form 8609(s), MBOH will require the 
accountant's certification to include gross syndication proceeds and costs of syndication, 
even though the costs are not allowed for eligible basis. 

Sources and Uses Certification 
Applicants must certify that they have disclosed all of a Project’s Sources and Uses, as well 
as its total financing, and must disclose to MBOH in writing any future changes in Sources 
and Uses over 10% in any line item or any increase in Soft Costs throughout the 
development period (until 8609’s are received).  Applicant’s certification of such disclosure 
must be provided to MBOH at Application, at 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost 
Certification on the MBOH Disclosure Certification Form. 

Development Cost Limitations 
To balance housing needs in Montana with appropriate and efficient use of the state's 
allocation of tax credit authority, MBOH has adopted the following cost limitations and 
requirements for purposes of calculating the Housing Credit amount for a particular Project. 
These cost limitations are based upon and in accordance with NCSHA standards. 

Hard Cost Per Unit/Hard Cost Per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per 
Unit/Total Project Cost Per Square Foot 
Hard Cost Per Unit, Hard Cost Per Square Foot, Total Project Cost Per Unit and Total Project 
Cost Per Square Foot are subject to the specific limitations provided in other sections of this 
QAP.  In addition, even for those projects meeting such specific limitations, MBOH will 
evaluate such Cost Per Unit and Cost Per Square Foot for all Projects for reasonableness, 
taking into account the type of housing, other development costs as detailed below, unit 
sizes, the intended target group of the housing and other relevant factors.  MBOH will also 
consider in this review the area of the state and the community where the Project will be 
located.   

All Applications must provide justification for development costs.  These costs will be 
analyzed and scrutinized considering the individual characteristics of the Project listed above 
and will be compared to other like Projects.   

Even though the costs of some Projects may be justifiable and even in some contexts 
considered reasonable given their unique characteristics, MBOH may decline to Award 
Credits to a Project where it determines that costs do not reflect the optimal use of Housing 
Credits.  

The following limit must be met: 

o Total Project Costs Per Unit may not exceed $230,000 $235,000.

Applications exceeding this limit will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration, and the application fee will not be refunded.  Projects must meet this limit at 
Letter of Intent, Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If this limit 
is exceeded at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be assessed with respect to 
future Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 9, Developer Knowledge and 
Responsiveness.  The negative points assessment provided in this paragraph for exceeding 
the Total Project Costs Per Unit limit will apply only prospectively to Projects Awarded 
Credits in the 2017 or later Award rounds.

Additional Cost Limitations 
Applications must comply with the following limitations on Contractor Overhead, General 
Requirements, Contractor Profit and Developer Fee.  To the extent an Application exceeds 
these cost limitations, as calculated in UniApp Section C, Cost Limitations and 

50



15 

Requirements, the excessive costs will be reduced to the limit amount for all purposes under 
the HC program, including without limitation, calculation of basis and eligible Project costs, 
determination of Credit eligibility, and any Award, Reservation (Initial Allocation) or Final 
Allocation of Credits.  

Contractor’s Overhead   
Contractor’s Overhead is limited to a maximum of 2% of Construction Costs. 

General Requirements 
General Requirements are limited to a maximum of 6% of Adjusted Construction Costs. 

Contractor Profit 
Contractor Profit will be limited to a maximum of 6% of Construction Costs. 

Developer Fees  
Developer Fees for New Construction or Rehabilitation will be limited to a maximum of 15% 
of Total Project Costs.  For purposes of this Developer Fee limit, Total Project Costs do not 
include Developer Fees, Contractor Profit or land costs.  HC Consultant fees (amount must 
be disclosed) will be included as part of and subject to the limit on Developer Fees.  
Architectural, engineering, and legal fees services are considered to be professional 
services, and fees for such services are not included in this limitation; however, fees for 
professional services will be examined for reasonableness. 

Developer fees for Acquisition will be limited to a maximum of 15% of the Project 
Acquisition costs.  

Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties  
If the development includes transactions with Related Parties, any profit from those 
transactions must be subtracted from the Total Project Cost before calculating the 15% 
maximum Developer Fee and 6% maximum Contractor Profit. Failure to fully disclose 
Related Party transactions may result in the Project’s not receiving an Award of Housing 
Credits.  MBOH reserves the right to negotiate lower Developer Fees and Contractor Profit 
on Projects involving Related Party transactions.  

Limitation on Soft Costs 
The Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio (“Soft Cost Ratio”) for the Project, based upon the 
Application’s UniApp, may not exceed 30% for Large Projects (more than 24 units) and 35% 
for Small Projects (24 or fewer units) or Small Rural Projects.  If the Soft Cost Ratio for a 
Project exceeds the applicable maximum, MBOH will contact the Applicant regarding the 
excessive costs and allow the Applicant to specify how and by what amount its Soft Costs 
will be reduced to comply with the maximum.  The Applicant must communicate its chosen 
Soft Costs adjustments to MBOH staff in writing within ten (10) business days after such 
communication and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such adjustments for 
all purposes under the HC program.  All such Soft Cost adjustments and the Application, as 
amended to reflect such adjustments, must comply with this QAP in all other respects.  If 
the Applicant fails to communicate its Soft Cost adjustments to MBOH staff within the 
required time, MBOH staff will decide how and by what amount Soft Costs will be reduced to 
comply with the maximum and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such 
adjustments for all purposes under the HC program.  Projects must meet this limit at Letter 
of Intent, Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If this limit is 
exceeded at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be assessed with respect to future 
Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 9, Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness.   

Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations 
Credit Percentage Rate for Housing Credit Calculation 

51



 
16 

 

The credit percentage rate published by the federal government for the month prior to the 
date of Application will be used by Applicants and MBOH for purposes of preparation, 
submission, underwriting and evaluation of Applications and Award of HCs. 

Operating Expenses 

MBOH will evaluate Operating Expenses and Vacancy Rate underwriting assumptions for all 
Projects for reasonableness, taking into account the type of housing, unit sizes, intended 
target group of the housing and the location of the Project within the area of the state and 
the community.  Staff may require the Applicant to provide additional justification and 
documentation regarding any Operating Costs deemed to be outside the normal range.   

Debt Coverage Ratio    

The Debt Coverage Ratio (“DCR”) should be:  

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend upward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.15 and 1.35 in the first year of 
normal operation, i.e., year 1 as shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend downward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.10 and 1.50 during the entire first 
15 years of normal operation i.e., the 15-year period that begins with year 1 as 
shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

DCR’s outside these ranges must be justified in the Application narrative to the 
satisfaction of MBOH, in its sole discretion.  In determining whether the Applicant’s 
justification is acceptable, MBOH will consider the reasonableness of the Project’s proposed 
rent levels, Operating Expenses, reserve payments, projected Vacancy Rates, debt service 
obligations, Soft Costs and amount of Credits requested.  If the DCR, as underwritten by 
MBOH at Application, falls outside the ranges specified above without justification 
acceptable to MBOH, MBOH will reduce the amount of Credits requested by the Applicant to 
an amount determined by MBOH to be necessary for the financial feasibility of the 
development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project throughout the 
Compliance Period. 

MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates (which may require 
upward adjustment for Small Projects) and Operating Cost data, in conjunction with debt 
service coverage, in judging the long-term financial viability of Projects.  MBOH may require 
adjustments to rents or Credit amount to assure the Credits Awarded are no greater than 
necessary to make the Project feasible. 

MBOH will evaluate the DCR at Application, at 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost 
Certification.  In addition, if the DCR at 10% or Final Cost Certification has changed 
significantly from the DCR as underwritten by MBOH at Application, MBOH may assess 
negative points to the next Application that includes any member of the Development Team. 

MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates (which may require 
upward adjustment for Small Projects) and Operating Cost data, in conjunction with debt 
service coverage, in judging the long-term financial viability of Projects.  MBOH may require 
adjustments to rents or Credit amount to assure the Credits Awarded are no greater than 
necessary to make the Project feasible. 

 

Maximum Rents 

The MBOH Board may require that rents be maintained at a specified percentage of 
maximum target rent throughout the Extended Use Period.  If required for a particular 

52



17 

Project, this limitation must be specifically included as a condition of the HC Award and 
included in the Project’s Restrictive Covenants. 

Operating Reserves 

Minimum operating reserves must be established and maintained in an amount equal to at 
least four months of projected Operating Expenses, debt service payments, and annual 
replacement reserve payments.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term 
for which reserves must be held, must be included in the limited partnership or operating 
agreement and meet the requirements of the Investor.  Using an acceptable third party 
source, this requirement can be met by either cash, letter of credit from a financial 
institution, or a Developer guarantee that a syndicator has accepted the responsibility for a 
reserve. 

Replacement Reserves 

Replacement reserves must be contributed in an amount equal to at least $300.00 per unit 
annually.  Exceptions may be made for certain special needs or supportive housing 
developments.  Exceptions must be documented and will be reviewed on a case by case 
basis.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term for which reserves must 
be held, will be included in the limited partnership or operating agreement and meet the 
requirements of the Investor.  

Utility Allowances 

The Montana Department of Commerce Section 8 Utility Allowances are the only acceptable 
utility allowances for Applications, unless otherwise provided by USDA (Rural Development), 
an MBOH-approved allowance or a HOME-approved allowance.  Utility allowances provided 
by utility providers will not be considered or accepted.   

Additional Underwriting Assumptions 
The following underwriting assumptions will be used by MBOH for underwriting of all 
Applications: 

• Vacancy rates:  10% - 20 units and less, 7% - more than 20 and up to 50 units, 5%-
more than 50 units or 100% project based rental assistance;

• Income Trending: 2%;
• Expense Trending: 3%;
• Reserves Trending: as proposed in Application but not to exceed 0 3%;
• Debt Coverage Ratio:  see “Debt Coverage Ratio” subsection above;
• Structured Debt for pro-forma not allowed; and
• Operating expenses per unit: $3,000-$6,000 annually.

These underwriting assumptions will be used at Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final 
Cost Certification.  Credits will not be Awarded in an amount beyond those needed to make 
the Project feasible according to these underwriting assumptions. 

Project Accessibility Requirements 
The Fair Housing Act, including design and accessibility requirements, applies to HC 
properties.  In addition to meeting Fair Housing Act requirements, all New Construction 
units and common areas and Rehabilitation that at least replaces interior walls and doors 
must incorporate the following:  

For Rehab, items 3 and 4 below apply to all units and all floors where moving walls, 
removing wall coverings, or doing new wiring or rewiring. 

53



18 

1. 36 inch doors for all living areas (except pantry, storage, and closets).
2. All door hardware must comply with Fair Housing Act standards for all units.
3. Outlets mounted not less than 18 inches above floor covering.
4. Light switches, control boxes and/or thermostats mounted no more thanfrom 36 to

48 inches above floor covering.
5. Walls adjacent to toilets, bath tubs and shower stalls must be reinforced for later

installation of grab bars.
6. All faucets must be lever style.
7. A minimum of a ground floor level half-bath with a 30X48 inch turn space (also

required in Rehabilitation unless waived by staff for structural limitations or
excessive cost, etc.) (does not apply if there is no living space on the ground floor
level).

8. No-step entry to all ground floor level units.

Compliance with accessibility requirements must be certified in the architect’s letter of 
certification submitted with the 8609(s) submission.  It is suggested but not required that 
Projects also include parking for caregivers for tenants with disabilities and that a lease 
addendum provide for moving a household without tenants with disabilities from a 
handicapped accessible unit to a regular unit if the handicapped accessible unit is needed for 
rental to a tenant with a disability.     

Energy, Green Building and Other Initiatives, Goals and 
Requirements 
The following items in Subparagraphs A through K specify voluntary initiatives and goals 
which MBOH encourages Developers to consider in the planning and development of 
Projects, as well as certain Project requirements.  These items are required only where so 
indicated by the use of mandatory language (e.g.,”must”).  Such initiatives, goals and 
requirements are subject to any further applicable provisions of this QAP.     

A. Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity

Project development and design includes a holistic approach.  Processes include 
neighborhood and community involvement to ensure Project acceptance and enhancement.  
Integrated design processes ensure higher quality finish Project.  Existing neighborhood 
edges, characteristics, fabric are considered in the Project design. Some considerations may 
include but are not limited to a community design charrette, incorporating Project into 
neighborhood fabric, energy modeling, commissioning, infrared testing, etc. (see Required 
Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits, below). 

B. Visitability and Universal Design Principles

Applicants should consider inclusion of visitability and universal design principles in 
development of the Project.  MBOH encourages strong advertising of accessible features 
when advertising new construction through the Multiple listing services or through 
MontanaHousingSearch.com. 

C. Sustainable Site, Location and Design

The building(s) and Project site, including the surrounding area, provide opportunities for 
education, alternative transportation, services, and community facilities.  This is evidenced, 
for example, by Projects using existing infrastructure, reusing a building or existing housing, 
redeveloping a greyfield/brownfield, or developing in an existing neighborhood.  Design 
elements use the site’s characteristics and reduce impact on the site allowing for open space 
and other amenities, such as infill projects, rehabilitating existing building(s), rehabilitating 
existing housing, providing carpooling opportunities, using well water for landscaping, etc. 

54



19 

D. Passive House Standard

Passive House is a voluntary international building standard developed by the Passive House 
Institute (PHI), located in Darmstadt, Germany (referred to as the “Passive House 
Standard”). The Passive House Standard is composed of several strict performance 
requirements for new building construction. For the renovation of existing buildings, PHI 
developed a similar if slightly more lenient performance standard. The resulting 
performance represents a roughly 90% reduction in heating and cooling energy usage and 
up to a 75% reduction in primary energy usage from existing building stock. 

E. Energy and Water Conservation

Design features, product selection and renewable energy options directly reduce use of 
resources and result in cost savings.  Design and product selection exceeds applicable 
energy codes in performance.  Examples include but are not limited to Energy Star 
appliances, drip irrigation, low flow fixtures, dual flush or composting toilets, ground source 
heat, duct sealing, rain water collection, and low water consumption plants. 

F. Material and Resource Efficiency

Material selections are better quality, designed for durability and long term performance 
with reduced maintenance.  Products used are available locally and/or contain recycled 
content.  Construction waste is reduced in the Project through efficient installation or 
recycling waste during construction. Considerations include but are not limited to 
construction waste management specification, recycled content products, local materials, 
reuse existing building materials, certified lumber, and sustainable harvest lumber. 

G. Amenities

Applicants may consider for inclusion in the Project the amenities listed in the Amenities 
Form to be provided at no charge to tenants in the Project.  Luxury amenities will not be 
considered or funded with tax credits.  Items deemed luxury amenities include but are not 
limited to swimming pools, golf courses, tennis courts and similar amenities.  The added 
costs of the Project attributable to higher quality amenities will be considered on a Project 
by Project basis for a cost to benefit assessment. 

Amenities provided will not be used for Commercial Purposes.  All Projects previously 
Awarded tax credits are subject to this restriction but are grandfathered only to the extent 
Commercial Purposes were specifically included in the Application. 

H. Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality)

Materials and design contribute to a healthy and comfortable living environment.  
Mechanical system design, construction methods and materials preserve indoor air quality 
during construction as well as the long term performance such as fresh air circulation and 
exhaust fans, bathroom and kitchen fans exhausting air and moisture, material selection 
with low toxicity and low VOC (volatile organic compounds) paints, sealants, and adhesives. 

I. Smoke-Free Housing

Promoting healthy behaviors can also have a large impact on residents at no additional cost 
to the Developer.  Smoke-free policies protect residents against the harmful health impacts 
of tobacco smoke, greatly reduce the risk of fires, and prevent damage to units caused by 
tobacco smoke.  Such policies also make properties more attractive to those who do not 
allow smoking in their own homes. 

For New Construction Projects seeking or awarded 2016 or later year Credits, the Owner 
(and any Management Company) must establish and implement a written policy that 
prohibits smoking in the units and the indoor Common Areas of the Project, including a non-

55



20 

smoking clause in the lease for every Project unit.  The Owner (and any Management 
Company) rather than MBOH will be responsible to establish, implement and enforce such 
written policy and lease clause.  The Owner and Management Company also must make 
educational materials on tobacco treatment programs, including the phone number for the 
Montana Tobacco Quit Line, available to all tenants of the Project.  The Montana Tobacco 
Use Prevention Program Smokefree Housing Project can provide educational materials and 
smokefree signage to property owners and managers free of charge, as requested.  If 
smoking is allowed outside on the Project property, it is recommended that the written 
smoking policy require that smoking be restricted to areas no closer than 20 feet from all 
building entrances and exits.  The written policy must provide appropriate exceptions for 
bona fide cultural or religious practices.  

J. State of Montana Building Code

All Projects must comply with State of Montana Building Code, whether or not the State of 
Montana building code has been adopted in the Project’s jurisdiction. 

K. Required Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits

For Rehabilitation Projects Awarded HCs: Infrared tests will be required on at least 1020% 
of units and a representative sampling of Common Areas both before and after the 
Rehabilitation to demonstrate that improvement has been achieved.  MBOH staff may 
require approve changes to the sample selected.  The Developer or Builder must notify 
MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that post-Rehabilitation infrared 
tests will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and observe such 
testing.  Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH within 30 days of testing and 
reviewed by MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s), demonstrating that at the time 
of testing there was at least 20 degrees temperature difference from outdoors to inside the 
unit.  Infrared testing must be performed by a certified tester. 

Substantial Rehabilitation 
Montana’s minimum Substantial Rehabilitation standard is expenditures the greater of (i) 
$15,000 (for 4% projects)/$25,000 (for 9% Projects) of Hard Cost Per Unit, or (ii) an 
amount which is not less than 30% of the adjusted basis of the building during a 24-month 
or shorter period. 

Rehabilitation Projects applying for (9%) competitive credits must meet all requirements of 
the capital needs assessment and the Application must also include a list of items in each 
unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded, or otherwise rehabilitation in the 
Project and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and expectations of the 
rehabilitation. 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s tax credit 
allocation volume cap.   Applications must meet all requirements of the applicable QAP and 
must meet at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in Section 
9, below, to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding tax credits 
with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most recently and 
finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

Eventual Home Ownership 

56



21 

Several supplemental Application documents are required for Projects that include eventual 
home ownership.  The Application must: (a) address how the Owner will administer the 
transfer of ownership to a qualified homebuyer at the end of the Compliance Period; (b) 
either identify the price at the time of the title transfer or a reasonable process to determine 
the price; (c) document that the potential owners will be required to complete a homebuyer 
counseling program; and (d) identify how Reserve for Replacement funds will be used at the 
time of sale of the properties.   

At the time of sale, the HC Owner must provide a copy of the title transfer together with a 
certificate verifying that the new homeowner completed a homebuyer program within five 
years prior to the transfer of title.  Enforceable covenants must maintain the home as 
affordable and prevent sale or resale to a realtor, financial institution, or a family with an 
income over 80% AMI, or more than 80% of FHA appraised value.  Families who exceed 
income levels of 80% of AMI at the time of the sale must have qualified at the appropriate 
AMI contained in the recorded Restrictive Covenants for the Project evidenced by the Tenant 
Income Certification at the initial rent-up for the family. Tenant qualification documentation 
must be sent to MBOH for approval before the sale is completed.  Please contact MBOH for 
current forms.  Units not sold under the Eventual Home Ownership Program must remain in 
compliance with Section 42 until such time as they are sold to a qualified buyer or the end 
of the Extended Use Period. 

130% Basis Boost 
Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects 

Federal law permits MBOH to reserve Housing Credits based on a “basis boost” of 30% for 
Projects in a Qualified Census Tract (“QCT”) or in HUD designated Difficult Development 
Areas (“DDA”).  In addition, a 30% “basis boost” may be available for non-QCT or DDA 
Projects based upon the specific requirements specified below. 

MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects 

For buildings not already eligible for the 30% “basis boost” by virtue of being located in a 
QCT or DDA, up to 130% of the eligible basis of a New Construction building or the 
Rehabilitation portion of an existing building may be considered in Awarding Housing Credits 
if MBOH determines that an increase in Housing Credits is necessary to achieve the Project’s 
feasibility.  MBOH staff may recommend an Award of Housing Credits, and the MBOH Board, 
at the time it considers authorizing Reservations of Housing Credits, may Award Credits for 
such buildings based upon a basis boost of up to 30%.  Applications for Projects not located 
in a DDA or QCT may be submitted with requested Housing Credits calculated at up to 
130% of eligible basis.  The Application narrative and supporting documentation must 
specify and explain in detail the applicable considerations supporting the need for the 
requested basis boost (i.e., any of items 1 through 5, below) and provide a detailed 
justificationjustify the need for the requested basis boost.  The justification must explain 
why the Project would not be feasible without the basis boost.  In addition to the 
explanation and justification, MBOH may consider theThe following factors may be 
considered in determining whether Housing Credits will be awarded based upon the 
discretionary basis boost: 

1. Qualification of the Application for the Small Rural Project set aside pool;
2. Qualification of the building location for Rural Development funding;
3. Targeting of more than 10% of the Project units to 40% or below area median

income level or more than 7562% of Project units to 50% or below area median
income level;

4. The Project includes historical preservation or, Preservation or replacement of
existing affordable housing; or

57



22 

5. The Project is located within a community where unusual market conditions produce
higher than normal labor and material costs, unusually high land cost and/or rent
and income limits which are too low to support the cash flows required by the
Project’s financial structure.

The MBOH discretionary basis boost does not apply to non-competitive 4% Credits. 

Non-Housing Amenities 
Swimming pools, tennis courts, golf courses, and other similar amenities will not be funded 
by Housing Credits.  Proposed Projects may include such amenities only if the amenities are 
funded by sources other than Housing Credits.  Subject to the requirements of this QAP, 
garages or car ports may be funded by Housing Credits considering Montana’s extreme 
winter weather.  

Accountant and Owner Certification 
Prior to the 10% Cost Certification deadline and at Final Cost Certification, MBOH requires 
an independent third party CPA cost certification, including a statement of eligible and 
qualified basis for the Project, as more specifically provided in Section 10 of this QAP.  The 
Accountant Certification must include a breakdown of costs similar to the Project Sources 
and Uses of the Application, including development cost limitation categories as discussed in 
this QAP.  The Owner must provide the CPA certification, under penalty of perjury, providing 
the Owner’s name and address, the Placed in Service date, taxpayer identification number, 
the Project name and address, building(s) address(s), building identification numbers, the 
total eligible and qualified basis, and, if applicable, the percentage of the Project financed by 
tax-exempt bonds.  The most current forms from the MBOH website must be used.  

Information Request and Release Policy 
Requests for information and documents from MBOH will be handled in accordance with and 
subject to applicable law and the MBOH Information and Release Policy, which policy is 
available on the MBOH website. 

Ex Parte Communication Policy  
MBOH Board members should refrain from ex parte communications with interested persons 
or parties, or their representatives, who may be affected by any matter on which members 
may take official Board action.  Ex parte communications may include communications that 
take place outside a duly noticed meeting or hearing of the Board, relate to a matter on 
which the Board may take action to determine to rights or obligations of the person or 
party, and which convey information or may otherwise influence the Board member 
regarding the matter. 

If a Board member is unable to avoid such communications, the member will be required to 
disclose at a public meeting of the Board the full content of such communication and the 
identity of the person making the communication.  In addition, the Board member may be 
disqualified from participating in Board action on the matter.  Such communications may 
also subject the Board to challenge regarding its action on the matter. 

Ex parte communications do not include communications regarding general matters of 
housing, funding for low-income housing, or other Board policy, and do not include Board 
member speaking appearances, conferences, consulting engagements or other events or 
settings to the extent not involving communications such as those described above. 

The foregoing statement is provided as general information.  Ex parte communications are 
addressed in further detail and governed by the MBOH Ex Parte Communication Policy, 
available on the MBOH website.  

58



23 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD 
SCHEDULE – MANNER OF SUBMISSION 
Competitive 9% Credit Applications 
Applicants may apply for an Award of 9% Credits (including an Award for a Project 
combining 9% Credits and other credit sources) for a particular Project no later than the 
applicable submission deadline specified below or otherwise set by MBOH. 

Applicants must submit the Application and the applicable fee (based on the fee schedule 
below) to MBOH as required in this QAP. 

For Projects involving multiple properties in different locations to which different utility 
allowances and/or income limits apply, a combined Application with sub-applications for 
each property location must be submitted.  Each sub-application must include a separate 
UniAPP that provides the Project numbers attributable to each location.  A separate 
Application is required for each Project.  A single Application or sub-application should 
include all buildings within a single Project. 

Complete Letters of Intent/Applications meeting all requirements of this QAP must be 
received at MBOH's office by 5:00 pm Mountain Time on the Letter of Intent/Application 
submission date specified below.  In the event that any submission date falls upon a 
weekend or holiday observed by Montana State government, the submission date will be the 
next business day thereafter as posted on MBOH’s website. 

First Award Round: 
o Application Workshop April 2017 
o Letter of Intent Submission First Monday in July 2016Friday June 9, 

2017
o Applicant Presentations/

Board Invitations to Apply August 2016June 2017 MBOH Board 
Meeting

o Application Submission First Monday in OctoberTuesday 
September 5, 20176

o Award Determination January 2017 November 2017 MBOH 
Board Meeting

Second Award Round (if any): 
The Board may decide in its discretion to hold a second award round that is either: (i) 
limited to those Applicants invited to submit an Application but not awarded Housing Credits 
in the first award round (a “Closed Round”); or (ii) open to submission of Letters of Intent 
by any interested party (an “Open Round”). 

If the Board elects to hold a Closed Round, the Board will announce (and post on MBOH’s 
website) such Closed Round, along with all applicable submission requirements and 
deadlines, presentation opportunities and award meeting dates.  A Closed Round need not 
include additional Letters of Intent or Applications, but may include only such additional 
documents and information submissions as the Board deems appropriate for purposes of 
such Closed Round. 

If the Board decides to hold an Open Round, it will determine and post on MBOH’s website 
the dates for submission of Letters of Intent and Applications, Board review, discussion and 
invitation to apply, Applicant presentations and Award determination. 

59



 
24 

 

Any of the above deadlines and dates may be extended or changed by MBOH if 
circumstances warrant, and in such event MBOH will provide notice of such extension or 
change by posting on MBOH’s website.  The MBOH Board, in its discretion, may waive any 
requirement of this QAP if it determines such waiver to be in the best interests of MBOH, the 
HC program or the Award cycle.  In any Award round or rounds, the MBOH Board may elect 
to Award less than all available Credits or to not Award any Credits if the MBOH Board 
determines that such is in the best interests of MBOH, the HC program or the Award cycle.  

Board Consideration and Determination Process 
At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month after submission of Letters of Intent, MBOH staff 
will present Letters of Intent to the MBOH Board.  MBOH will provide an opportunity for 
Applicants to make a presentation to the MBOH Board regarding their Projects and Letters 
of Intent and will provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and 
Applications.  Applicant presentations will be limited to 10 minutes or less.  The MBOH 
Board may ask questions of Applicants and discuss proposed Projects for purposes of 
assisting the Board in determining which Projects it will invite to submit Applications and 
assisting Applicants in presenting better Applications, but such questions, answers and 
discussions shall not be binding upon MBOH in any later Award determination or other 
MBOH process. 

After considering the Letters of Intent, presentations, questions and answers and 
discussion, the MBOH Board will select those Projects that it will invite to submit 
Applications.  Selection for invitation to submit an Application may be based upon 
consideration of any of the Selection Criteria permitted to be considered for purposes of an 
Award under this QAP, but no evaluation or scoring of Letters of Intent will be done or 
considered for purposes of selection for invitation to submit an Application.  For purposes of 
determining the number of Projects to select: (a) the total amount of Credits requested for 
all Projects invited to submit Applications will not exceed 150% of the State’s Available 
Annual Credit Allocation determined as provided in Section 6; and (b) nNo more than 10 8 
Projects will be selected.  If the total Credits requested in the Applications for such 8 
Projects is less than the amount of Credits available for Award in such round, the Board may 
invite one or more additional Projects to submit Applications, but may invite only the 
number of additional Projects necessary to meet the amount of Credits available for Award 
(the “ceiling”), except that the invited Project that brings the total amount of Credits 
requested from invited Projects to the ceiling may cause the total Credits request to exceed 
the ceiling.  Each Project so selected by the MBOH Board will deemed invited to submit an 
Application.  An Application may be submitted only for a Project invited by the MBOH Board 
to submit an Application.  All other Applications will be returned without consideration.   

At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month of Application submission, MBOH staff will 
present Applications to the MBOH Board.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and Applications.    

At the Award Determination Meeting, MBOH staff will provide Project Application information 
to the MBOH Board.  Applicants should be available to the MBOH Board to answer questions 
regarding their respective Applications.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and Applications.  
Applicants shall have an a brief opportunity to make comments and respond to any 
information presented negative comments regarding their Applications.   

4% Credit Applications for Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 

60



25 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive tax credits outside the state’s tax credit allocation 
volume cap.  An Applicant for tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private 
activity bonds also seeking an Award of 4% Credits for a scattered-site Project under a 
single partnership may apply for such credits by submission of a single Application that 
includes sub-applications for each property included in the Project.   

Full Applications for tax-exempt financing and related 4% Credits may be submitted at any 
time; submission is not limited to the Application schedule set forth above for 9% Credit 
competitive awards.  However, complete Applications must be received by MBOH at least 6 
weeks before the scheduled MBOH Board meeting at which the Application is to be 
considered.  Changes to the Application that require MBOH to re-underwrite the Application 
will restart the minimum 6-week period. 

The Application fee for 4% Projects is 1% of the amount of annual Credits requested in the 
Application and must be submitted to and received in the MBOH office for the Application to 
receive consideration.  In addition, Final Allocation of 4% Credits is subject to payment in 
full of applicable bond closing fees at bond closing per the MBOH Private Placement policy 
available on the MBOH website.    

A 42M letter fee will be charged in the amount of 4% of the Credit amount. 

Applications for 4% Projects must meet all requirements of the Applicable QAP, including 
meeting at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria threshold score specified in 
Section 9 to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding Housing 
Credits with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most 
recently and finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

For 4% only projects, a Letter of Intent must be submitted with the request for an 
inducement resolution.  The Letter of Intent does not require a Letter of Intent fee or a 
market study or mini-market study. 

Combined Credit Applications for Projects Involving Multiple 
Credit Sources 
A single Applicant may apply for credits by submission of a single Application that combines 
sub-applications for each property/credit request included in the Project (for example, 
combined 9%/4% applications, or a Housing Credit application that combines Housing 
Credits and another credit source).  Each sub-application must include a separate UniAPP 
that provides the Project numbers attributable to the sub-application’s credit source. 
Letters of Intent and Application for Projects combining 9% Credits with other credit sources 
must be submitted in a competitive 9% Credit round and by the applicable deadlines 
specified for such competitive round. 

Application Submission Method for 4% and 9% Letter of Intent 
and Credit Applications 

Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s system (currently ShareFile or funding 
portal) is preferred but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  Please contact staff 
(preferably at least a week ahead of the submission deadline) for set up and for specific 
instructions on how to access this system.  In submitting or preparing to submit 
Applications, Applicants shall not   change or create folders or otherwise change the file 

61



26 

structure within the ShareFile submission.  An Applicant may request an additional folder by 
contacting MBOH staff. 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE 
Letter of Intent 
The Letter of Intent fee is $1,500.00$3,000.00 and must be submitted to and received in 
the MBOH office by the applicable Letter of Intent deadline.  MBOH will not consider Letters 
of Intent submitted without the Letter of Intent fee.  The Letter of Intent fee is not 
refundable.  

Application 
The application fee is 1% of the amount of credits requested in the Application and must be 
submitted to and received in the MBOH office by the applicable application deadline.  MBOH 
will not consider Applications submitted without the application fee.  The application fee is 
not refundable and will not be adjusted even if the MBOH Board Awards no credits or only a 
portion of the tax credits requested. 

In addition to the application fee, a Reservation fee in the amount of 10.0%8% of the 
credits reserved is due on or before December 1 of the credit ceiling year from in which the 
Award is made (e.g., for 2018 Credits awarded in November 2017, the fee is due on or 
before December 1, 2017 2018 for 2017 credit Awards made in January 2017).  After a 
Reservation Agreement is executed the Reservation fee is not refundable.  If the conditions 
described in the Reservation Agreement are not met, the entire Reservation fee will be 
forfeited to MBOH. 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation  
As MBOH, in its discretion, determines necessary for financial feasibility, returned or 
unreserved Housing Credits may be used to increase the amount of Housing Credits 
reserved for a Project after the first round Awards have been made.  In considering a 
request for an increase under this paragraph, MBOH may consider any anticipated potential 
need for returned or unreserved Credits to fund Projects that would otherwise be funded or 
require greater funding under the Corrective Award set aside under Section 7.  An Applicant 
seeking an increase in the amount of reserved Credits must apply in writing for such 
increase and must submit new financials (UniApp Section C) and supporting documentation 
for the of cost increases (e.g., higher bids than expected, material costs, etc.). Applications 
for additional Credits must be submitted to staff.  Staff will review and evaluate supporting 
financials and new cost documentation and a staff recommendation will be presented at a 
later MBOH Board meeting for consideration.  Staff will not recommend and the MBOH 
Board will not approve any increase beyond that necessary to make the Project feasible. 

Any request for Credits above the amount initially Awarded is considered a request for 
additional Credits after Initial Allocation and is subject to the provisions of this section. 

An Application and Reservation fee of 109% of the additional Housing Credits requested is 
due with the request.  In the event an increase for the additional requested Credits is not 
approved, the Reservation fee in the amount of 89% will be refunded.   

Compliance Fees 
See Section 12, Compliance Monitoring. 

Developer/Owner Reimbursement of Board Legal Expenses 

62



27 

The Developer/Owner of any Project awarded credits will be required to reimburse MBOH for 
legal fees and expenses incurred by MBOH with respect to any non-standard request, 
change, document or other matters relating to Reservation (Initial Allocation), Carryover 
Commitment, compliance or other aspects of qualifying for or obtaining Housing Credits.  
Such fees and expenses must be paid within 30 days of MBOH’s submission of an invoice.  
MBOH shall not be required to complete any pending process, approval or other action until 
such fees and expenses are paid in full.     

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS  
Maximum Credit Award  
Twenty-five percent (25%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation will be the 
maximum Credit Awarded or Allocated to any one Project or Developer.  The state’s 
Available Annual Credit Allocation is defined as and includes the state’s actual or estimated 
credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available Credits from prior year credit 
authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable application deadline, and 
includes any Credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside.  The Developer’s percentage of the Development Fee, as 
specified in a written development agreement, will be that Developer’s percentage of the 
25% limit.  The maximum Credit Award for a Project will be determined based upon the 
state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation for the Housing Credit year from which the Project 
is first Awarded HCs. If the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is not known as of 20 
business days prior to the applicable application deadline, the Available Annual Credit 
Allocation from the previous year will be used, subject to later adjustment once the state’s 
actual Available Annual Credit Allocation is known.  If an estimated amount is used for 
Award purposes, all Awards based upon such estimate shall be conditional upon a final 
determination of the state’s actual Available Annual Credit Allocation.   

MBOH does not commit tax credits from future years, except as specifically provided in this 
QAP.  The MBOH Board may Award Housing Credits from a future year’s Available Annual 
Credit Allocation at any time outside the competitive cycle for purposes of funding repair or 
replacement of a Project building due to a life/safety emergency as determined by the 
MBOH Board in its discretion.  The Applicant must submit a Letter of Intent and the Board 
must invite the Applicant to submit an Application before making an Award.  The Application 
must meet all QAP requirements. 

SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES 
Non-profit 
Ten percent of each state's credit ceiling must be set aside for buildings which are part of 
one or more Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations.   

The 10% non-profit set-aside requirement may be met by an Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization out of any other set-aside or the general pool.  If no Project 
Awarded HCs involves a Qualified Nonprofit Organization, the non-profit set aside (i.e., 10% 
of the state's credit ceiling) will be held back for later Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization. 

Corrective Award 

63



28 

Such portion of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is reserved and set-aside as is 
necessary for Award of credits to: 

• Any Project for which an Application was submitted in a prior round or year, if:
o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction determines or declares that

such Applicant was entitled to an Award in such prior round or year or
requires MBOH to make an Award or Allocation of tax credits to such Project;

o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates or sets aside an
Award of credits to an approved Project from such prior round or year and a
Reservation Agreement was executed by MBOH and such Applicant prior to
issuance of such court order, unless such court order determines that such
Project was not eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an
Award of tax credits; or

o MBOH, upon further consideration of any Award determination as required by
and in accordance with the order of a court of competent jurisdiction,
determines that such Project was entitled to an Award in such prior round or
year.

All requirements and conditions of this Corrective Award set aside provision must be met to 
receive an Award under this set aside provision.  The amount of any Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside shall be the amount specified by the court, or if no Award 
amount is specified by the court, an amount determined by MBOH in accordance with this 
QAP.  The Corrective Award set aside shall be funded first from returned or unreserved tax 
credits from a prior year.  Awards may be “future allocated” under this Corrective Action set 
aside, i.e., such Awards may be made from returned or unreserved tax credits from a prior 
year and/or the current year’s credits at any MBOH Board meeting after the final court order 
has been issued and presented to MBOH.  Such Award need not await the annual 
Application and Award cycle. 

Where a court orders that an amount of the current year’s credits be set aside for a Project 
pending the decision of the court, if the court’s decision is not received before the end of the 
current year, the credits set aside will become classified as the next year’s credits, as 
required by federal code.  

If the court orders MBOH to Award credits to any Project under this set-aside, the Project 
must submit an updated Application so the MBOH can review and underwrite current 
numbers and assumptions to verify that the amount of credits requested or some other 
credit amount is justified for Project feasibility, unless otherwise ordered by the court.  The 
corrective awardee must pay the Reservation fee as required in Section 5.  

Small Rural Projects 
Twenty percent (20%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is set-aside for Small 
Rural Projects.  For purposes of this set-aside, a Small Rural Project is a Project: (1) for 
which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount up to but no 
more than 10%12.5% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation, and (2) with 20 or 
fewer low-income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and constructed in a location 
that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or 
Missoula. 

General Rules Regarding Set Asides 
MBOH reserves the right to determine in which set-aside a Project will be reviewed (subject 
to its eligibility), regardless of its eligibility for any other set-aside.  For example, if a Project 
is submitted as a Small Rural Project in order to utilize the Small Rural Project set-aside 

64



29 

when it is clearly part of a larger or non-rural Project, the Project will be placed in the 
proper category as determined by MBOH staff.   

To qualify and receive consideration to receive an Award of credits under a set-aside, the 
Project must meet all applicable requirements of this QAP and must receive minimum 
Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in this QAP. 

The MBOH Board reserves the right to not Award credits to a qualifying Small Rural Project 
even if the Project meets the minimum required score, if the MBOH Board, at its discretion, 
determines another Project or Projects better meet the most pressing housing needs of low 
income people within the state of Montana, taking into consideration the Selection Criteria 
of this QAP as determined in accordance with Section 9. 

In the event there are insufficient tax credits available to fully fund all set aside categories, 
the respective set asides categories shall be funded in the following order of priority: (1) 
Non-profit; (2) Corrective Award; and (3) Small Rural Project. 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION 
PROCESS 
Applicants are responsible to read and comply with this Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP) (and 
any other Applicable QAP) and accompanying materials. 

Applicants are responsible to determine the degree that their building(s) and development 
correspond to the MBOH's Selection Criteria contained in this QAP.  

Applicants are responsible to consult their own tax attorney or accountant concerning: (a) 
each building's eligibility for the tax credit; (b) the amount of the credit, if any, for which 
their building(s) may be eligible; and (c) their ability and/or their Investor's ability to use 
the tax credit.  

Application Workshop 
MBOH staff will conduct a workshop annually to educate potential applicants and answer 
questions regarding the content and requirements of the Letter of Intent and Application. 
Attendance is highly encouraged but not mandatory.  This workshop will be held prior to the 
deadline for submission of letters of intent, as specified in the schedule in Section 4 above. 
In addition, Applicants are encouraged to contact MBOH staff well prior to submission of 
Letters of Intent and Applications to discuss and clarify any questions, ambiguities or other 
issues identified by the Applicant. 

Letter of Intent 
All Projects wishing to apply for HCs in Montana must submit a Letter of Intent by the 
deadline specified in Section 4 with the applicable fee.   

All Letters of Intent must be submitted in the format posted on the Board’s website.  The 
Project Location, type (e.g., family or elderly), and Developer specified in the Letter of 
Intent may not be changed in any later Application.  Other information in the Letter of 
Intent (e.g., cost information, number of units, unit sizes, income targeting, rents, hard and 
soft loan sources, etc.) will be considered the Applicant’s best estimates and may be 
changed in the Application.  A market study or mini-market study is required for purposes 
of a Letter of Intent, and the Letter of Intent must include the completed market study 
summary Form posted on the MBOH website. 

Application 

65



30 

An Application may not be submitted for a Project unless a Letter of Intent has been 
submitted with respect to the Project according to the requirements of this QAP and the 
Board has invited that Project to submit an Application.  MBOH will return all other 
Applications without consideration, along with the application fee.   

Applicants must commission a full market study as outlined in the MBOH Market Study 
Form.  Such Market Study must be included with the Application submission in accordance 
with the Threshold Requirements below. 

Applicants must complete and submit the Uniform Application and Supplement, all 
Threshold Requirements, full market study and full application fee by the applicable 
application deadline (see Section 4, Application Submission and Award Schedule).  
Applicants must use the most current form of the Uniform Application (UniApp) and 
Supplement available on the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/UniformApplication 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory 
Threshold Requirements are mandatory for all Letters of Intent and Applications.  Letters of 
Intent and Applications received not meeting all Threshold Requirements or other 
requirements of this QAP will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration.  Fees will not be refunded. 

Submit complete Applications to MBOH.  Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s 
system (currently ShareFile) is preferred but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  
Please contact staff (preferably at least a week ahead of the submission deadline) for 
specific instructions on how to access this system. In submitting or preparing to submit 
Applications, Applicants shall not change or create folders or otherwise change the file 
structure within the ShareFile submission.  Applicants may request an additional folder by 
contacting MBOH staff.   

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying Applications.  MBOH staff may 
allow minor corrections to Applications, but will return and will not further consider 
Applications requiring substantial revision or those that are substantially incomplete.  

Threshold Requirements 
To be eligible for further consideration, all Letters of Intent and Applications must be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of this QAP and the following Threshold 
Requirements.  

ALL MBOH FORMS REFERENCED IN THIS QAP ARE AVAILABLE ON THE MBOH WEBSITE AT 
[URL].  ALL FORMS SUBMITTED TO MBOH IN OR AS PART OF THE APPLICATION, 
DEVELOPMENT, UNDERWRITING, ALLOCATION, COST CERTIFICATION, COMPLIANCE OR 
OTHER PROCESSES UNDER THIS QAP MUST BE THE MOST CURRENT FORM AVAILABLE ON 
THE MBOH WEBSITE.  If the most current Form(s) are not used, submissions may be 
returned and required to be resubmitted on the correct Form.  

Letters of Intent must: 

1. Include the applicable fee;
2. Be received by the applicable deadline; and
3. Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in the MBOH Letter of Intent

Form.

Applications must: 

1. Include the application fee;

66



31 

2. Be received by the applicable deadline;

3. Include all of the documents, information and other items specified in Tthreshold
Rrequirements 4 through 2729 below;

4. Include a cover letter summarizing the Project, limited to 2 pages, which will be
provided to MBOH Board members within one week following the Application
deadline ;

5. Include a fully completed, UniApp, including all applicable Forms, all in the most
current forms as posted on the MBOH website.

6. Specify the Qualified Management Company that will provide property management
service to the Project and provide a copy of the written agreement with the
Management Company evidencing the company’s commitment to provide
management services.  Upon written notice from MBOH that the Application has
identified a Management Company that is not a Qualified Management Company, the
Applicant must submit to MBOH within ten (10) days a written designation of a
Qualified Management Company and a copy of the written agreement with the
Management Company evidencing the replacement company’s commitment to
provide management services.

7. Include a Market Study prepared and signed by a disinterested third party analyst,
with certificate (included in MBOH Market Study Form) signed by analyst and
notarized.  Market Studies must be completed within six (6) months prior to the
submission date of the Application, must have the market analyst complete a
physical inspection of the market area within one (1) year of the Application and
must adhere to minimum market study requirements in MBOH Market Study Form.

8. Include documentation of Land or Property Control.

9. Include documentation from the applicable local zoning authority that applicable
zoning requirements are met or otherwise addressed, e.g., Project is within
applicable zoning requirements, part of an approved planned unit development,
subject to a zoning change request for which a change request has been submitted,
or not subject to any existing zoning requirements.  Acquisition/Rehabilitation
Projects may provide documentation that the Project will not require a change in
zoning requirements.

10. Include documentation of availability and capacity of utilities to serve the Project,
including documentation that utilities are available to the Project and the present
proximity of utilities to the Project location.  Such documentation must be from the
electric, gas/propane, water and/or sewer/septic provider/company, as applicable.
Documentation must be in the form of a letter from the utility provider verifying that
the utilities are or will be available to the property and that the provider has the 
capacity to handle the load or additional load to be added by the Project. 
Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects need only provide such documentation for any 
expected additional load.  Documentation of utility availability and capacity must be 
current (within 18 months prior to Application date) not be more than 24 months old 
at the time of Application submission.  MBOH staff may in its discretion require the 
Applicant to provide updated documentation. If Applicant obtains an updated letter 
from the utility provider, a copy of the updated letter must be provided to MBOH at 
Reservation or with the next submitted quarterly report. 

67



 
32 

 

 
11. Include a preliminary financing letter from a lender indicating the proposed terms 

and conditions of the loan.  The financing letter must formally express interest in 
financing the Project sufficient to support the terms and conditions represented in 
the Project financing section of the Application. 
 

12. Include a letter of interest from an equity provider including an anticipated price 
based on the market at time of the Application. 
 

13. For all Applications, include a comparative market analysis (“CMA”) or an appraisal 
done by an independent (non-related) party.  Such CMA or appraisal is required 
regardless of the manner or method of Acquisition and must cover all real estate 
acquired, including land and/or buildings.  Land and existing building values 
must be listed separately. 
 

14. For Rehabilitation Applications, include a full scale Capital Needs Assessment on the 
USDA Rural Development Capital Needs Assessment (CNA) template or similar form, 
a list of items in each unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded or 
otherwise rehabilitated, and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and 
expectations of the Rehabilitation.  
 

15. For Applications proposing Rehabilitation or replacement of existing units, include a 
preliminary relocation plan addressing the logistics of moving tenants out of their 
residences and providing temporary housing during the Rehabilitation or replacement 
and returning tenants to their residences upon completion of the Rehabilitation or 
replacement. 
 

16. Include a site plan, and a Design Professional’s preliminary floor plan and 
elevations/photos of existing properties for the Project. 
 

17. For Applications for Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations and seeking 
to qualify for the non-profit set aside under Section 7, include: (a) a copy of the IRS 
determination letter documenting such organization’s 501(c)(3) or (4) status; (b) an 
affidavit by the organization’s managing partner or member certifying that the 
organization is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or 
controlled by a for-profit organization; and (c) documentation that one of the exempt 
purposes of the organization includes the fostering of low-income housing. 
 

18. For Applications proposing a property tax exemption for rental housing providing 
affordable housing to lower-income tenants pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-
221, include documentation of intent to conduct a public hearing as required by 
Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-221(2).  Such public hearing must be conducted by the 
Owner and documentation of such public hearing must be submitted prior to 
issuance of the Carryover Commitment.  If the Application does not include 
documentation of intent to conduct the required public hearing, the Project will be 
underwritten as if no exemption was or will be received. 
 

19. Specify the Extended Use Period. 
 

20. For Projects targeted for Eventual Homeownership, provide the supplemental 
Application documents and information specified in Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.   
 

68



33 

21. Specify the selected minimum set aside (20-50 test) or (40-60 test).

22. Include a copy of both the public notice and the affidavit of publication from the
publisher, meeting the requirements specified in this Section 8, Public Notice.

23. Include letters of community support. These support letters must be Project specific
and address how the Project meets the needs of the community.  New letters of
support (as well as new letters of non-support) must be submitted for each
Application for each Application round.  Generic support for affordable housing will
not be considered support for the specific Project being considered. These letters will
be provided to the MBOH Board for its consideration.

24. If the Project is an Elderly Property, include a stipulation of minimum tenant or
resident age (i.e., 55 or 62 and over)specify which exemption for housing for older
persons will apply.

25. Include a narrative addressing each of the Development Evaluation Criteria,
demonstrating how the Application meets each of these criteria, and providing a
specific explanation and justification of the points sought for each scoring item.
Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the specific page and paragraph
of the Market Study.  The narrative must include the Applicant’s own proposed total
score for each scoring item in the Development Evaluation Criteria and, at the
conclusion of the narrative, the Applicant’s own proposed total score.

26. Include the completed and signed Indemnification Form, Cost Sponsor Certification
Form and Release of Information Form.

27. Include the explanation and justification for a request for discretionary basis boost, if
applicable. 

28. Identify the name of the entity with Legal ownership of Project (LP, LLP, etc.).

29. Include the completed amenity form.  This completed form will be provided to the
MBOH Board for its consideration. 

Applications must also demonstrate that the proposed Projects are financially sound.  This 
includes reasonable financing terms, costs, expenses, and sufficient cash flow to support the 
operations of the Project, all of which must meet the underwriting standards of MBOH. 

Public Notice 
An Applicant must place a notice in the local newspaper of the intent to apply for Housing 
Credits, and encouraging submission of public comment to MBOH.  Such notice must include 
name of Project, number of units, location of Project, for-profit or non-profit status, and, if 
applicable, intent to request tax-exempt status for the Project.  The notice will be placed as 
a box advertisement in the newspaper within 90 days prior to or not more than 5 working 
days after the due date of the Application and will allow for not less than 30 days for 
submission of comments to MBOH. The notice must be published twice within a seven-day 
period.  A copy of the notice, together with an affidavit of publication showing the dates 
published, must be included in the Application. 

Example of Public Notice 

69



34 

(Name of Developer, address, telephone number), a (for-profit/non-profit) organization, 
hereby notifies all interested persons of (city, town, community name) that we are planning 
to develop, (Name of Project) an affordable multi-family rental housing complex on the site 
at (street location).  This complex will consist of (number) (one bedroom, two bedroom, or 
three bedroom) units for (elderly persons/families). This Project (will/will not) be exempt 
from property taxes.   

An Application (will be/has been) submitted to the Montana Board of Housing for federal tax 
credits financing.   

You are encouraged to submit comments regarding the need for affordable multi-family 
rental housing in your area to the Montana Board of Housing, PO Box 200528, Helena, MT  
59620-0528 or FAX (406) 841-2841.  Comments will be accepted until 5 PM on (specify the 
date 3 weeksthe Friday  before the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting (see Section 
4, Application Cycle)).  

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations 
MBOH staff will review all Applications received by the applicable submission deadline for 
compliance with all Threshold Requirements, including but not limited to completeness, 
soundness of the development, and eligibility based on federal requirements and this QAP.  
Applications determined by MBOH staff to not substantially meet all Threshold Requirements 
or other requirements of this QAP or federal law will be returned un-scored and will receive 
no further consideration.  Except as specifically provided in this QAP, Application fees will 
not be refunded. 

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying, verifying or confirming any 
information in Applications.  MBOH staff may allow minor corrections to Applications, but will 
return and will not further consider Applications requiring substantial revision or those that 
are substantially incomplete.   

MBOH staff may query an Applicant or other persons regarding any concerns related to a 
Housing Credit Application or the management, construction or operation of a proposed or 
existing low income housing Project.  Questionable or illegal housing practices or 
management, insufficient or inadequate response by the Applicant, General Partners, or 
Management Company as a whole or in part, may be grounds for Disqualification of an 
Application and non-consideration for an Award of Housing Credits. 

As part of its review of Applications, MBOH staff will contact community officials of the 
Project location to discuss relevant evaluation criteria information pertaining to the 
Application and the proposed Project  MBOH may also contact any other third parties to 
confirm or seek clarification regarding any information in the Application, including but not 
limited to checking Development Team references, verifying credit reports and verifying 
information through direct contact with the Project Developer.   

Between the submission deadline and the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting, as 
required by federal law, MBOH will notify the chief executive officer of the local jurisdiction 
of each proposed development requesting comments on the development. 

Housing Credit Allocations will be subject to three underwriting evaluations: (i) evaluation 
for purposes of Award/Reservation and, for Projects that have received an Award of credits 
and entered into a Reservation Agreement, (ii) evaluation for purposes of the 10% Cost 
Certification, and (iii) evaluation for purposes of Final Cost Certification. 

70



35 

MBOH will return and will not consider for an Award of Credits: 

• Incomplete Applications;
• Unsound Applications, i.e., Projects for which the Market Study and other available

market information fails to demonstrate adequate market need within the proposed
location community or Projects that are not financially feasible, including but not
limited to viable cash flow, based upon MBOH underwriting standards as set forth in
this QAP;

• An Application submitted by an entity with a demonstrated poor track record in
completion of development or management of low income housing, whether located
in Montana or another state;

• Applications submitted by Applicants with current Project(s) that have/had numerous
or unresolved substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  8823’s (consideration will be
given to the type of 8823);

• Any other Application failing to meet any mandatory requirement of this QAP or
federal law; and

• Any Application as otherwise specified in this QAP.

Applications meeting all minimum Threshold Requirements and not excluded from further 
consideration under this QAP will be evaluated for the amount of tax credits needed for 
feasibility and long term viability and will be evaluated and scored according to the 
Development Evaluation Criteria section below. 

Amount of Housing Credit Allocation 
Although a proposed development may be technically eligible for a certain Credit amount, 
federal law prohibits MBOH from allocating more Credits than necessary for the financial 
feasibility of the development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period.  Accordingly, an Award of Housing Credits under this 
QAP will be limited to the amount of Credits that MBOH, in its sole discretion, deems 
necessary to make the development feasible and viable throughout the Compliance Period. 

In determining the amount of Credits necessary, MBOH will consider: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds and the total financing planned for the Project.
Funds, including funds from federal sources, such as HOME grant money, Rural
Development, and similar funds, may be loaned by or through a parent organization
to a Project at an interest rate below the Applicable Federal Rate (AFR).  Such loans
will not reduce the basis for the Project providing they are true loans.

• Grants made with federal funds directly to a Project, which will reduce basis.
• Any proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits.
• The reasonableness of the development and operational costs of the Project.

Based on its evaluation, MBOH will make a preliminary determination of the amount of 
Credits deemed necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its viability as 
a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period.  This 
determination is made solely at MBOH's discretion, and is not intended to be a 
representation or warranty to anyone as to the feasibility of the development.  Rather, it will 
serve as the basis for making an Award of Credits.  A similar analysis will be done at the 
time of 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost Certification prior to issuing IRS Form(s) 
8609.  Neither the selection of a Project to receive an Award of Housing Credits nor the 
amount of Credits to be allocated constitutes a representation or warranty that the Owner 
or Developer should undertake the development, or that no risk is involved for the Investor.  

Full Funding of Applications 

71



 
36 

 

Just as MBOH will not allocate more Credits than necessary for the financial feasibility of the 
development and its viability, MBOH will not award Credits in an amount less than 
necessary for these purposes.  Therefore, if the Board Awards Credits to a Project, it will 
Award the amount of Credits determined by MBOH staff for the Project based upon the 
Applicant’s requested amount (except for any de minimis reduction because of lack of 
available Credits to fully fund the full Credit amount).  If the remaining amount of available 
Credits is insufficient to fully fund an additional Project, the Board will prioritize the 
remaining Projects for an Award from the remaining Credits, and the first priority Project for 
such an Award will be allowed 30 days to re-submit its Application resized to the amount of 
Credits remaining available.  After staff underwriting and evaluation of the resized 
Application, if MBOH staff determines based upon the resized Application that the 
development is financially feasible and viable as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period, MBOH staff will enter into a Reservation Agreement for 
the Project.  If the first priority Project fails to submit a resized Application within 30 days or 
MBOH staff determines that the Project is not financially feasible or viable as proposed in 
the resized Application, the next priority Project will be invited to submit a resized 
Application, and so on, until remaining Credits are reserved for one of the prioritized 
Projects. 

Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring 
In addition to evaluation under all other QAP Selection Criteria, Applications will be 
evaluated and scored according to the following Development Evaluation Criteria. 

• Awarding of points to Projects pursuant to these Development Evaluation Criteria is 
for purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least a minimum threshold of 
1100 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points to qualify for further 
consideration.  Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation 
Criteria score of 1100 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points will not receive 
further consideration. 
  

• Non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will meet at least a minimum threshold of 
850 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points to qualify for further 
consideration. Non-competitive developments not scoring the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria score of 850 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points will 
not receive further consideration. 
 

• The Development Evaluation Criteria, other QAP Selection Criteria and information 
submitted or obtained with respect to Projects will be used to assist the MBOH Board 
in evaluating and comparing Projects. 
 

• Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of several considerations taken 
into account by the MBOH Board.  It does not control the selection of Projects that 
will receive an Award of tax credits.  For purposes of this QAP and HC Awards and 
Allocations, the QAP Selection Criteria include all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
set forth in this QAP and all federal requirements. 
 

1.  Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible) 

Federal law requires a 30-year or longer Extended Use Period.  An Application in which the 
Applicant agrees to maintain units for low income occupancy beyond the Compliance Period 
will receive points as indicated below and must incorporate these restrictions into the 
Restrictive Covenants.  

72



37 

Years beyond initial 15 

15 years 0  points  (30 total years) 

16 – 20 years 40  points  (31 – 35 years) 

21 – 25 years 60  points  (36 – 40 years) 

26 – 30 years 80  points  (41 – 45 years) 

Over 30 years 100 points   (46 years +) 

Eventual Home Ownership* Applications must also specify an Extended Use Period and will 
receive points for the Extended Use Period chosen as provided above (refer to the “Eventual 
Home Ownership” portion of Section 3 for supplemental Application documentation and 
information requirements). 

2. Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible)

An Application will receive points for the percentage of eligible units at the percentages of 
area median income (“AMI”) levels listed below.  An Application will receive points for 40%, 
50%, and 60% categories when the development targets those income and rent levels.  
Points awarded for 40% units are independent of and not calculated as part of 50% or 60% 
units, except that the number of 40% units included in the Project, if any, that exceed 10% 
of eligible units will be added to the number of 50% units for purposes of point scoring 
under the chart below.  Developments will be bound by the terms committed to in the 
application process through the use of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants.  Section C, 
Part IV, Rent and Forecasted Income of the UniApp will be used to calculate the score for 
this item.  Scoring under the following chart is based upon the total number of HC units 
including a manager’s unit if applicable. 

Target Median Income Level Percentage of Eligible Units Points 

40% 10% (or greater) 20  NOTE 1 

50% 15-20% 60  NOTE 1 

50% 21-40% 80  NOTE 1 

50% 41-60% 150 NOTE 1 

50% 61-100% 200 NOTE 1 

60% 40% 0 

60% 41-60% 20 

60% 61-100% 40 

NOTE 1: Rents @ 40% allowed to income qualify to 49% AMI. 

Rents @ 50% allowed to income qualify to 55% AMI (40-60 election must apply) 

(Applicable to all existing HC properties) 

3. Project Location* (100 points possible)

An Application will be awarded points to the extent the Project is located in an area where 
amenities and/or essential services will be available to tenants, determined according to the 
following specifications.  An Application will be awarded points with respect to an amenity or 
service as specified below, if: (i) a Project is located within 1½ miles of the specified 
amenity or essential service; (ii) public or contracted transportation (not including taxi or 

73



 
38 

 

school bus service) is reasonably available to the specified amenity or service (i.e., the 
Project is located within ¼ mile of fixed bus stop or on a same day call basis); or (iii) where 
applicable, the specified amenity or service is available via a no-charge delivery service to 
the Project Location:  

• 20 points for grocery store (convenience store does not count); and 
• 10 points for each of the following, up to a maximum of 80 points: 

o One or more public schools; 
o Senior Center; 
o Bank; 
o Laundromat (only if washer/dryer not included in unit or onsite); 
o Medical services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants (e.g., 

hospital, doctor offices, etc.); 
o Pharmacy services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants; 
o Gas station and/or convenience store; 
o Post Office; 
o Public Park; 
o Shopping (department, clothing or essentials – does not include convenience 

store); or 
o Public Library. 

4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 150 points possible) 

Development meets area housing needs and priorities and addresses area market concerns, 
such as public housing waiting lists (for all units and tenants), Vacancy Rate and type of 
housing required.   

• Local Community Input (40 points possible): Up to a total of 40 points will be 
awarded for Local Community Input.  2010 points will be awarded for each any of 
the items (i) through (iv) (not to exceed total of 40 points) through which local 
community input regarding the proposed Project was gathered, as shown by 
evidence provided in the Application or in response to MBOH inquiries: (i) local 
neighborhood meetings held expressly for this Application with attendance rosters 
and minutes; (ii) local charrettes held expressly for this Application with supporting 
documents, concept drawings, and input from local community; (iii) other 
appropriate form of local community input specifically designed to gather local 
community input for this Application  and/or (iv) City or County Commission 
meeting.  In order to obtain the available points under item (iii), there must be 
actual local community input in some form.  If a community meeting is held but 
there is no attendance, another form of local community input must be used.  No 
points will be awarded if the meeting or charrette is part of another public or design 
meeting, unless the minutes demonstrate that a portion of the meeting was 
specifically dedicated to community input for this Application.  No points will be 
awarded if the Application does not provide evidence of qualifying local community 
input, including minutes of any meeting, charrette or other form of local community 
input and copies of any written comments received.  Documentation of community 
outreach efforts to inform and invite community members to attend any of the 
community input events must be included.  All meetings, charrettes and other Local 
Community input events must be held within 6 months before the Application 
deadline. 
 

• Appropriate Size (50 points possible):  Points will be awarded for the 
appropriateness of size of the development for market needs and concerns as 
reflected in the Market Study.  50 points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is 50% or less than the number of units needed as projected by the 

74



39 

Project’s Market Study.  No points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 50% of the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study. For projects developed, rehabilitated or constructed in a 
location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, 
Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula, no points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 75% (rather than 50%) of the number of units needed as 
projected by the Project’s Market Study.  If the Project is existing in the community, 
the number of units in the Project will be added to the new units needed and the 
above test will be applied.  The Application narrative must address this scoring item 
with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.   

• Appropriate Development Type (40 points possible): Points will be awarded for
the appropriateness of the development type for market needs and concerns as
reflected in the Project’s Market Study.  40 points will be awarded if the Project’s
Market Study explains and justifies the selection of the type of construction and
housing selected (including justification of Rehab/New Construction, Family/Elderly,
Single-Family/Multi-Family, bedroom size and Eventual Home Ownership).  If this
explanation and justification is not included in the Project’s Market Study, no points
will be awarded in this category.  The Application narrative must address this scoring
item with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.

• Market Need (60 points possible):  The Application will be awarded points based
upon the required Market Study’s documentation that the Project meets the market
needs of the community, as follows:

o Vacancy Rate is at or below 5% (20 points);
o Absorption rate is less than 4 months (20 points) or Absorption rate is 4 or

more months and less than 6 months (10 points) and
o Rents are at least 10% below adjusted market rents (20 points).

Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the referenced page and paragraph of 
the Market Study. 

5. Project Characteristics* (230 points possible)

Preservation of or Increase in Housing Stock (50 points possible)

50 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Preservation of existing affordable 
housing stock or increases the affordable housing stock through the use of federal funds or 
funds from other sources (e.g., donation of land, other substantial donations, reduction in 
taxes through tax abatement (other than non-profit exemption) or impact fees) to leverage 
the tax credit dollars.  

Qualified Census Tract* or Community Revitalization Plan* (10 points possible) 

10 points will be awarded if the Project is located in a Qualified Census Tract* or involves 
existing housing as part of a local (not national, state or regional) community 
revitalization plan* or similar plan.  The Application must include any such local community 
revitalization plan and identify where in the plan such existing housing may be found.   

Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (20 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
buildings with local, state, and/or federal historic* preservation designations, existing 
affordable housing stock, or Projects applying for Rehabilitation tax credits that have 
completed their Compliance Period. 

Project-based rental subsidy (50 points possible): 

75



40 

0 points for less than 25% of the units; 

10 points for at least 25% of the units; 

20 points for at least 35% of the units; 

30 points for at least 50% of the units; 

40 points for at least 75% of the units; or 

50 points for 100% of the units. 

The Application must provide a copy of the relevant contract or other documentary proof of 
subsidy from the provider.  MBOH staff will verify claimed subsidies with funding source. 

Green Building and Energy Conservation Standards* (100 points possible): 

Applicant’s justification for green building and energy conservation includes but is not 
limited to Energy Star building and appliance initiatives, water saving devices and green 
construction and materials.  The green building and energy conservation items are listed 
and further described, and the available points and evaluation scoring criteria are specified, 
for New Construction and Rehabilitation in the MBOH Green Building and Energy Form.  The 
Application must include the completed MBOH Green Building and Energy Formworksheet. 
(Exhibit F).  The Applicant’s architect, who is qualified with respect to energy and green 
building standards, must provide a letter confirming the listed green building items, as 
shown in the MBOH Green Building and Energy Form which is referenced in and attached to 
the architect letter, are incorporated into the Project and a document that is outlined in a 
column and table format, listing each Mandatory and Scoring Item.  For all Projects (New 
Construction and Rehab)Rehabilitation , the table Form must list each scoring item and 
specify each unit by unit number or number of each unit type (e.g., 4 of the 10 3-
bedroom units) that will include the item. This letter and the accompanying column/table 
documentForm must be included in the Application.  NOTE: The Applicant’s architect also 
must provide certification at Final Cost Certification for 8609(s) purposes confirming that 
the initiatives were incorporated. 

Please refer to Section 3 for mandatory infrared testing for Projects that have been Awarded 
HCs. 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible)

Participation by an entity with a demonstrated track record of quality experience in 
completed development or management of low income housing tax credit Projects.  MBOH 
will consider all members of the Development Team (Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Management Company, and HC Consultant) and whether housing Projects have 
been developed and operated with the highest quality either in Montana or another state.  
Special attention will be paid to existing Projects, amount of active local community 
participation used to develop Projects, and a management entity with a good compliance 
track record and specialized training.  If a new Developer these points can be obtained 
through Experienced Partners.  (180 points possible) 

Thirty points each will be awarded for (a) one member of the Management Company 
meeting the education requirement under Section 12, and (b) one member of the 
Development Team (other than the Management Company) who is directly and actively 
involved with the Project that has been trained by a Nationally Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company.  For MBOH purposes, to maintain certification, the person 
must attend a complete class with a Nationally Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training 
Company at least once every four years (certificates must be attached with each 
Application).  MBOH annual compliance training does not qualify for credit under this 
category (60 points possible). 

76



41 

Ninety points will be awarded if the Project’s Developer or Consultant who is actively 
involved in the actual construction process has experience with Cold Weather Development 
and Construction, as reported on the MBOH Cold Weather Experience Form.  Cold Weather 
Development and Construction is defined as experience of the HC Developer or Consultant 
on one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel (90 points possible). 

The application must list all affordable housing including low-income housing tax credit 
Projects in Montana or any other state developed, owned, managed or consulted on by 
Applicant and any member of the Development Team or for which an Award of tax credits 
was received, whether or not such Projects were successfully completed.  All Development 
Team members, including Applicant, Developer, General Partner/Owner, Management 
Company, and HC Consultant  must consent in writing, on a form provided in the UniApp 
Supplement, to the release of information by any other applicable state tax credit agencies 
to MBOH regarding the Applicant’s history of performance on other tax credit Projects. 

7. Participation of Local Entity (60 points possible)

The MBOH Board has determined having a lLocal eEntity participate at a significant level 
increases the success and acceptance of the Project into the community.  For purposes of 
this scoring item, a local entity includes a provider serving the Project locality from a 
physical office in the region of the state where the Project is located even if the provider 
does not maintain a local office in the locality.  Up to but not more than 60 total points may 
be awarded for participation of one or more local entities.  10 points will be awarded for 
each of the local entity for each of the participation items (i) through (vi) documented in the 
Application as provided below. 

Qualifying participation includes lLocal eEntities providing: (i) screening and referring of 
individuals as prospective tenants; (ii) providing on-site services to Project tenants; (iii) 
donation of land or sale at a reduced price to enhance affordability; (iv) use of grant money 
to develop infrastructure or for other uses; (v) significant fee waivers on local government 
fees; or (vi) other forms of significant monetary or material in-kind support.   

Each item of local entity participation must be evidenced by a binding written agreement to 
participate, binding grant or conveyance, binding commitment for fee waivers, etc.  Such 
written agreements must specifically identify and describe the particular services the entity 
is providing and how such services will benefit the project and must separately identify each 
of the items in (i) through (v) above.  Such agreements may be conditioned upon an Award 
of Credits.  Formal written agreements are required; letters, offers or other non-binding 
documents will not be accepted as sufficient documentation of local entity participation 
under this section.  Only new or updated agreements, land donations, and/or grants 
requested or negotiated for the current round will be considered for awarding points.  The 
Application must provide evidence of how such local entity support will benefit the property. 
Formal written agreement for ongoing services must be extended or replaced so that a 
binding agreement remains in place for the duration of the Extended Use Period (with such 
agreement preserving the Owner’s right to cancel the agreement and obtain a replacement 
agreement with a new servicer if existing servicer is unable to provide the services).  The 
same component of participation by a local entity may not be counted toward more than 
one item, and may be given credit by an award of points only once.  Points will not be 
awarded for the same item in both this Development Evaluation Criteria 7 and Development 
Evaluation Criteria 5, Preservation of Affordable Housing. 

8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible)

An Application will be awarded 10 points for each 5% of the units targeting the following 
identified needs up to a maximum of 100 points.  The Application must specify the number 
of units targeted for each category.  Section B Part XII, Units Accessibility, of the UniApp 

77



42 

will be used to calculate the score for this item.  Units may not be counted more than once 
or in more than one category for purposes of awarding points.    

• Units targeted specifically for individuals with children or large families (units with 2
or more bedrooms).

• Units targeted specifically as Section 504 fully accessible units exceeding minimum
fair housing requirements.

• Units targeted specifically for persons with disabilities (limited to a maximum of 25%
of units in the Project) (Application must describe the strategy that will be used to
market available units to disabled persons throughout the Extended Use Period).

• Units targeted to veterans (limited to a maximum of 25% of units in the Project).
• Units targeted to victims of domestic violence (limited to a maximum of 25% of units

in the Project)

If the Project is an Elderly Property as defined in federal law, the Application will receive 100 
points under this provision. 

Example: 

2 – 2 bdrm units meet family requirement 20% – 40 points 

2 – 1 bdrm units exceed section 504 20% – 40 points 

1 – 1 bdrm unit targeted to mental illness 10% – 20 points 

5 – 1 bdrm units with no targeting 50% – 0 points 

10 – Total units in Project – 100 total points received 

9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points
possible)
If an entity or individual participating in a Project as a member of the Development Team
identified in an Application has a demonstrated poor track record or demonstrated past
management weaknesses with respect to developments in Montana or in another state, or
has failed in the past to respond timely to an MBOH letter of Inquiry with respect to a
Project, MBOH may assign negative points.

MBOH will provide written notice within thirty (30) days of MBOH learning of any event that 
will result in a negative point assignment, unless MBOH learns of the event after Application 
submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting.  If MBOH learns of the event 
after Application submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting, MBOH will 
provide written notice to the Applicant within five (5) business days.  The written notice 
must describe the event giving rise to the negative point assignment and specify the 
Development Team member or members affected by the negative point assignment, the 
number of negative points to be assigned and the number of future Applications to which 
negative points will be assigned.  If MBOH has learned of the event after Application 
submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting, the notice must be provided to 
the Applicant and affected members of the Development Team and inform such persons or 
entities that they may respond in writing to MBOH within five (5) business days of the date 
of the notice or, if earlier, by 3 days prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting.  If MBOH 
learns of the event outside the period from Application submission to MBOH Board Award 
meeting, the notice must be provided to the particular Development Team member affected 
and inform such Development Team member that they may respond in writing to MBOH 
within thirty (30) days of the date of the notice. 

a. Demonstrated Poor Track Record

78



43 

For purposes of determining a participant’s track record, MBOH may contact community 
officials, Development Team or Development Team member references, credit bureaus, 
other state tax credit administering agencies and any other sources as MBOH deems 
appropriate.  Up to minus (-) 100 points may be assigned for each of the following: (i) 
demonstrated poor track record with respect to developments in Montana or in another 
state, and/or (ii) failure to respond within 10 working days of MBOH letter of inquiry. (Up to 
Minus (-) 200 points possible) 

b. Demonstrated Management Weaknesses

Development Team members with past demonstrated management weaknesses, including 
but not limited to those management weaknesses listed below may be assigned negative 
points for this section (Up to Minus (-) 200 points possible), for example:  

• Has not followed-through on the development of a Project from Application to rent-
up and operation;

• Has not complied with MBOH submission, compliance or other requirements
applicable during Project development, construction and Extended Use Period;

• Has not maintained a Project to Section 42 or other program standards;
• Has or had numerous or outstanding substantial non-compliance issues or IRS

8823’s (consideration will be given the type of 8823);
• Has not completed required training in a certified compliance training program;
• Has not completed required management compliance retraining at least every four

years;
• Has requested income targeting changes that are not supported by unanticipated

hardship;
• Has a debt coverage ratio at 10% cost certification or final allocation that has

changed significantly from the debt coverage ratio as underwritten by MBOH at 
Application; 

• Has requested additional credits more than once;
• Has made Substantial Changes to previous tax credit applications or has failed to

notify MBOH and seek approval of Substantial Changes according to QAP
requirements;

• Has significantly diminished the quality and long term viability of a previous Project
by lowering costs below a reasonable level;

• Has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH;
• Has intentionally provided false information to MBOH in connection with an

application, Project or any related Board inquiry or process; or 
• Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded

maximum Hard Cost Per Unit or Total Project Cost Per Unit at Final Cost Certification.
• Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded

maximum for limitation on soft costs at Final Cost Certification. 

Negative points may not be assigned for the same matter under both Section 9(a) and 9(b). 

c. Method of Assigning Negative Points.

Any negative points will be assigned as follows: 

• The factors that will be considered in determining whether to assign negative points
and the number of any negative points to be assigned with respect to poor track
record items, management weaknesses and failure to response to MBOH letters of
inquiry, include:

o The nature and seriousness of the incident(s);
o The frequency of such incidents;

79



 
44 

 

o The incidents were or were not within the control of the individual or entity; 
o The degree and timeliness to and with which the entity or individual 

responded to correction and educational efforts; 
o The responsiveness of the individual or entity in responding timely to fees, 

penalties and other sanctions imposed; 
o The cost or financial harm caused to the Project, the tax credit agency or 

third parties; 
o The nature and extent of inconvenience and harm caused to Project tenants; 
o The nature and extent of damage or expense caused to Project property; 
o The extent to which the Project as completed failed to comply with the Project 

as represented in the Application or in approved Project changes; 
o The extent to which the incident would have affected scoring of the Project 

Application if known as the time (although no such effect on Application 
scoring need be shown to justify an assignment of negative points);  

o The extent to which completion of a Project that received an Award of Credits 
was substantially delayed or prevented; 

o The extent to which Credits that were Awarded were recaptured; 
o The extent to which unreasonable or excessive fees, profits or other improper 

remuneration was derived improperly from a Credit Award or Project; and  
o The presence of any other relevant factors or considerations.    

• Except as otherwise provided in this Section, negative points will be assigned on the 
next competitive 9% Credit Application (or multiple Applications in the same 
competitive round) which includes as part of its Development Team any person or 
entity that participated as a Development Team member in the Project or Projects 
giving rise to the negative point assignment.   

• If multiple and/or repeat instances of poor performance, management weakness or 
fail to respond occur or have occurred, negative points may be assigned with respect 
to a Development Team member for not only the first competitive round in which an 
Application involving such member participates but may also be assigned for such 
Applications in multiple future years or competitive rounds. 

• If negative points are assigned as a result of poor track record, management 
weakness or failure to respond that occurred as part of the 
development/construction/rehabilitation process prior to beginning of lease-up 
activities or other involvement of the Qualified Management Company, negative 
points will not be assigned with respect to such Qualified Management Company.  

• If more than one Development Team member subject to a negative point assignment 
from a prior Project is part of the Development Team on a current or future Project 
Application, the total negative points assigned to the Application will be the greatest 
number of negative points assigned with respect to any one such participating 
Development Team member. 

• If the Project giving rise to the negative points would have received a lower 
Development Evaluation Criteria score under the QAP under which the Project 
initially was evaluated, scored and awarded credits had the poor track record, 
management weakness or failure to respond been known as of Application scoring, 
the negative points assigned with respect to a Development Team member from the 
earlier Application will be the number of points corresponding to the difference in 

80



45 

scoring that would have resulted.  Such point difference shall be converted as 
appropriate and necessary to correspond to the current QAP point scoring system. 

* Indicates federally mandated criteria

Minimum Scoring Threshold 
Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score of 1100 
points (or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will not receive further 
consideration.  Applications scoring at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria 
score of 1100 points or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals and meeting 
all other requirements of this QAP will be considered for an Award of Housing Credits as 
provided in this QAP.    

Award Determination Selection Standard 
The MBOH Board will select those Projects to receive an Award of Housing Credits that it 
determines best meet the most pressing housing needs of low income people within the 
state of Montana, taking into consideration: (i) all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
(including without limitation the statistical data in the MBOH Statistical Data Form) set forth 
in this QAP and all federal requirements (together referred to in this QAP as the “Selection 
Criteria”); (ii) the Development Evaluation Criteria scoring; and (iii) all other information 
provided to the MBOH Board regarding the applicant Projects. 

The awarding of points to Projects pursuant to the Development Evaluation Criteria is for 
purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria required for further consideration and to assist the MBOH Board in 
evaluating and comparing Projects.  Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of 
several considerations taken into account by the MBOH Board and does not control the 
selection of Projects that will receive an Award of Housing Credits.  In addition to any other 
Selection Criteria specified in this QAP, the MBOH Board may consider the following factors 
in selecting Projects for an Award of Housing Credits to qualifying Projects: 

• The geographical distribution of Housing Credit Projects;
• The rural or urban location of the Projects;
• The overall income levels targeted by the Projects;
• The need for affordable housing in the community, including but not limited to

current Vacancy Rates;
• Rehabilitation of existing low income housing stock;
• Sustainable energy savings initiatives;
• Financial and operational ability of the Applicant to fund, complete and maintain the

Project through the Extended Use Period;
• Past performance of an Applicant in initiating and completing tax credit Projects;
• Cost of construction, land and utilities, including but not limited to costs/credits per

square foot/unit;
• The Project is being developed in or near a historic downtown neighborhood; and/or
• The frequency of Awards in the respective areas where Projects are located.

If the MBOH Board Awards Credits to an Applicant where the Award is not in keeping with 
the Selection Criteria of this QAP, it will publish a written explanation that will be made 
available to the general public pursuant to Section 42(m)(1)(A)(iv) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

81



46 

If all of the authorized Credits are Awarded after a particular cycle, MBOH may place 
qualifying Applications which did not receive an Award of tax credits on a waiting list for 
potential Award of Housing Credits in the event Credits become available at a later date.  
Any available Credits that are not Awarded or reserved in a particular cycle may in the 
discretion of the MBOH Board be made available for Award in a future cycle or may be used 
to increase the amount of Housing Credits reserved for a previously Awarded Project as 
provided in this QAP.   

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL 
ALLOCATION 
Once MBOH has selected Projects and determined the Award of Housing Credits and amount 
of Credits to be reserved, MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor 
Election, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and 
return to MBOH.  Upon recording, the original recorded Restrictive Covenants must be 
returned promptly to MBOH. 

Reservation Agreement 
MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor Election, and Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and return to MBOH.  The partnership 
should review, complete, sign, and return the Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor 
Election, along with the additional information and materials required below.  A Reservation 
Agreement is MBOH’s conditional commitment to make a Carryover Commitment and/or 
Final Allocation to the Project, subject to the requirements and conditions of the Reservation 
Agreement, the QAP and federal law.  Such requirements include but are not limited to 
submission of evidence of timely progress toward completion of the development acceptable 
to MBOH and compliance with federal tax credit requirements.  

If an unsuccessful Applicant, or a party associated with such Applicant, commences any 
legal action or proceeding challenging MBOH’s Award determination or process, MBOH will 
make a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation of Housing Credits as required by an 
executed Reservation Agreement to the same extent it would have been bound to do in 
absence of the legal challenge, unless the court determines that such Applicant was not 
eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an Award of Housing Credits or 
MBOH otherwise determines that it is precluded by Court order from doing so.  If a court 
determines in any such action or proceeding that MBOH must Award Credits to one or more 
unsuccessful Applicants from such round or year, such Award or Awards will be made using 
any available returned or unreserved Housing Credits or current year’s Credits provided in 
Section 7. 

The following will be required from the partnership, prior to entering into a Reservation 
Agreement: 

• Demonstrated financial ability to proceed (conditional financing commitment); and
• Certain other updated Application material

MBOH will send the successful Applicant a Reservation Agreement shortly after Award and 
upon meeting the foregoing requirements.  The Applicant will have a maximum of 120 days 
after award to accept, sign and return the Reservation Agreement.  Failure to return the 
Agreement by the deadline will result in a late fee of 25% of the Reservation Fee.  
Where applicable, however, if the Owner elects the federal percentage(s) in the month that 
the Reservation (Initial Allocation) is issued by MBOH, the Reservation Agreement must be 
signed and returned on or before the 25th of that month to assure the lock-in of the rate.  
Owners electing the placed-in-service date should return the signed Reservation Agreement 

82



47 

immediately.  Upon receipt, MBOH will sign the Reservation Agreement, and return a copy 
to the partnership. 

The  Reservation Fee specified in the fee schedule in Section 5 will be due and must be 
received by MBOH on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2016 for 2016 credit Awards made in January 2016).    

Once the partnership enters into a Reservation Agreement with MBOH, the partnership must 
then meet the requirements and conditions described in the Reservation Agreement and 
provide the required documentation before it receives a Carryover Commitment or Final 
Allocation of Housing Credits.   

MBOH will revoke an approved Reservation (Initial Allocation) and terminate the Reservation 
Agreement when a Project fails to make successful progress toward completion or otherwise 
fails to perform its obligations under the Reservation Agreement.  Submitting quarterly 
status reports demonstrating satisfactory evidence of the Project’s completion is the 
responsibility of the Applicant.  Successful progress toward Project completion and Project 
completion require that such progress and completion are in substantial accordance with the 
Project as described and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that 
Substantial Changes have been approved by MBOH or the MBOH Board as provided in the 
Applicable QAP.     

NOTE:  Reservation Agreements for tax credit Projects funded through tax-exempt bonds 
must be completed, signed, and returned to MBOH not later than five business days 
following the close of the bond financing agreement. 

Gross Rent Floor Election 
The election on this form verifies when the Owner elects the gross rent floor for the Project. 
There are two options: at the Reservation/Initial Allocation, or at the date Placed in Service. 
This form reflects the election made by the Owner in the Reservation Agreement. This form 
must be returned with the executed Reservation Agreement. 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 
The Declaration of Restrictive Covenants assures that the land and its use will be restricted 
for the purposes of providing low-income housing for the period proposed in the Application. 
Provisions included in the Restrictive Covenants will include Exhibit A-1 (Legal Description of 
Project Land); Exhibit A-2 (Conditions of Tax Credit Allocation) indicating the number of 
units at the appropriate elected rent levels, e.g., 30%, 40%, 50%, 60% AMI as determined 
by the Application.  Owners will be required to maintain those rent levels through the 
Extended Use Period of the Project; Exhibit A-3 (Energy and Green Building) indicating the 
architect’s letter provided in the Application outlining those energy and green building 
initiatives; .  Exhibit A-4 (Amenities); Exhibit A-5 (Participation by Local Entity); and Exhibit 
A-6 (Special Housing Needs).

It is the Developer’s responsibility to record the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants in the county in which the Project real property is located.  Upon 
recording, the original recorded Restrictive Covenants must be returned promptly 
to MBOH. 

In unusual circumstances, and for good cause shown, MBOH may permit 
amendments to the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants at a subsequent date. 

Carryover Commitment 
MBOH will issue a Carryover Commitment in December of the year for which the credits are 
being Awarded and such Carryover will be for a period of two (2) years. To preserve this 

83



48 

commitment the Owner/Developer must submit the 10% Cost Certification by the deadline 
specified in the Applicable QAP. 

In order to receive a Carryover Commitment, Owners must provide the executed 
Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor, Proof of Ownership (evidence of title or right 
to possession and use of the property for the duration of the Compliance Period and any 
Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a recorded deed or an executed lease agreement), 
executed and recorded Restrictive Covenants, and the Reservation fee.  Land lease periods 
must be at least one year longer than the Restrictive Covenant period.  These items must 
be received by December 1, of the year for which the Award of Credits was made.  MBOH 
will issue Carryover Commitments before year end. 

10% Test 
MBOH requires that more than 10% of the expected basis in a Project, including land, must 
be expended by the 10% Cost Certification deadline.  MBOH requires that Developers 
provide an independent third party CPA Cost Certification, in a format established by MBOH, 
verifying compliance with the 10% test.  

Developers must submit the 10% requirements, including the required CPA Cost 
Certification, other documents and the 10% test underwriting fee by the deadline.  Failure 
to do so will result in the loss of the Credit Award.  The fee for 10% test underwriting is 
$1,000.00$1,500.00, which fee must be paid at the time of submission of 10% test 
information and documentation.   

Failure to provide the 10% test information so that it is received by MBOH by the 
deadline will result in a $5,000.00 late fee.  Because MBOH’s submission deadline 
is set at the latest date allowed by federal law, no extensions will be granted.  If 
10% test information is submitted by the deadline but any forms are incomplete 
or omitted, a $100 correction fee will be imposed for each incomplete or omitted 
item. 

At 10% Test, MBOH staff will re-evaluate: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds;
• Total financing planned for the Project;
• Proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits;
• Reasonableness of the development and operation costs;
• Projected Rental Income and Operational Expenses;
• Debt Coverage Ratio; and
• Housing Credits required for financial feasibility of the Project.

Deadline for submission of the required 10% information is the first anniversary of the date 
on which MBOH executed the Reservation Agreement. This submission deadline will apply to 
10% test submissions for Projects awarded Housing Credits in the 2016 or later year 
allocation rounds. Developers that fail to pay the required fee will be deemed not to have 
met the 10% Test requirements.  Failure to submit certification for 10% documentation or 
to meet the 10% Test will cause forfeiture of Awarded, reserved or allocated Housing 
Credits for the Project. 

Placed in Service 
Placed in Service is the certification of the building or the date of certification of the building 
as being suitable for occupancy in accordance with State or local law through issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy. 

84



49 

New Construction and Gut Rehabilitation buildings must be Placed in Service not later than 
the close of the second calendar year following the calendar year in which the Carryover 
Commitment is made. 

Other Rehabs that are accomplished with residents in place during Rehab can be Placed in 
Service at the end of the 24 month or shorter period over which the required amount of 
expenditures are aggregated.  The Owner selects the Placed in Service date in this case 
unless local approval is required. 

Final Allocations/8609 
Documentation supporting a request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must be submitted to 
MBOH within 6 months of the last building Placed in Service date. MBOH will not allocate tax 
credits on IRS Form 8609(s) until a qualified building is Placed in Service.  A site visit and 
file audit by MBOH may be conducted prior to the issuance of the IRS Form 8609(s).  
Notwithstanding other provisions of this QAP, to obtain issuance of Form 8609(s), the 
Project must be Placed in Service in substantial accordance with the Project as described 
and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that Substantial Changes have 
been approved by MBOH or the MBOH Board as provided in the Applicable QAP. 

The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee is $2,500.00$3,000.00, which fee must be paid 
at the time of submission of the request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  If the 
paperwork is not received by MBOH within the 6 months of the last building Placed in 
Service date, a $5,000.00 late fee will be assessed.  If 8609 information is submitted by 
the deadline but any forms are incomplete or omitted, a $100 correction fee will 
be imposed for each incomplete or omitted item.  If a draft 8609 is sent to 
Developer for review and 8609s must be redone because of Developer/Accountant 
error, there will a $1,250.00 fee for additional underwriting. 

The request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must include: 

• Certification of required infrared test results (if not previously submitted);
• The independent third party completed MBOH CPA’s Cost Certification and Owner’s

Statements Forms;
• Sponsor Certification section of the UniApp;
• The architect’s verification that the items for green and amenities and energy listed

in the Application  as well as provisions of accessibility listed in Section 3 have been
incorporated;

• Certificates of Occupancy (C of O’s);
• Copies of all permanent loan and/or grant documents;
• Copy of partnership/operating agreement; and
• Detailed list Statement of items or costs excluded from eligible basis. (for example,

parking lot is not in eligible basis);
• Statement identifying the first year of the credit period, which statement must name

the specific year (e.g., 2017).;
• The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee.; and

Documentation evidencing that the site manager and Management Company
personnel has completed a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training
Company certification course, passing the test.  And must have attended a class with
a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company in the last four years.
have completed a Nationally Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company
certification course, passing the test within the last four years.

• 

85



50 

If the required fee is not submitted, the Project will be deemed not to have met Final 
Allocation requirements and MBOH will not issue Form 8609(s).  MBOH will complete the 
final credit Allocation evaluation.  Typical turn-around time for 8609(s) is 4-8 weeks after 
submission of all required documentation and the fee.  Once the 8609(s) are issued and 
delivered to the Owner, the bottom half must be completed and signed.   

A copy of each completed and signed 8609 must be sent back to MBOH within 90 
days of issuance.  Failure to provide the completed and signed 8609(s) so that 
they are received by MBOH by the deadline will result in a $1,000.00 late fee.  If 
the 8609(s) need to be reissued after completed by MBOH due to Developer error, 
the MBOH underwriting fee must be paid again. 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES 
Applicant must respond to a written MBOH request within 10 working days.  Failure to do so 
may result in the Application being deemed ineligible for that funding round.  

Applicant must proceed according to the timeframe identified in the Implementation 
Schedule.  Adjustments up to 60 days are acceptable.  Any changes in the Implementation 
Schedule greater than 60 days must be submitted in writing with justification to MBOH 
within 10 business days of the change.  Any changes not reported or not approved may 
jeopardize the credits.  If the schedule is more than 60 days behind and has not been 
updated as stated above, a late fee of $1,000.00 will be assessed. 

State Law Requirements 
The Applicant and Development Team must agree to comply with Montana State law 
requirements (e.g., certificate of contractor registration, workers compensation, 
unemployment compensation, and payroll taxes).  MBOH will include this certification in the 
execution of all Reservation (Initial Allocation) and Carryover Commitment documents. 

Public Notification 
Any public relations actions by a recipient of tax credits involving MBOH funds or tax credits 
must specifically state that a portion of the funding is from MBOH.  This will be included in 
radio, television, and printed advertisements (excluding rental ads), public notices, and on 
signs at construction sites, e.g., “Housing Credits allocated by the Montana Board of 
Housing, Montana Department of Commerce.” 

Quarterly Status Reporting 
All Applicants receiving Reservations (initial Allocations) of credits must provide written 
status reports for each calendar quarter, beginning with the quarter in which the tax credit 
Award is made. Status reports will be due on or before January 10th, April 10th, July 10th & 
October 10th until the Applicant receives its 8609(s).  The documentation regarding the 
progress must be development specific, and include such items as planning approval and 
building permits, firm debt and/or equity financing commitments, construction progress 
(foundation, framing, rough in, enclosed, drywall, etc., for each Project building), and 
lease up progress.  Submission of photos is encouraged. 

The following items must be addressed for each building on the quarterly report that is 
submitted to MBOH.  If all items are not addressed, the report will be returned and must be 
corrected and resubmitted.  If the resubmitted report is received after the due date the late 
fee will apply. 

86



51 

• Updated implementation schedule if more than 60 days behind
schedule submitted with application;

• Advertising for construction bids;
• Construction bid awards;
• Pre-construction meeting date;
• Groundbreaking ceremony date (at least 2 weeks’ notice);
• Future dates of construction/draw meetings;
• Each phase of construction for each building including photos

(excavation, foundation framed, etc.);
• Certificate of Occupancy for each building as issued for the month of

report;
• Number of units occupied and number left to full lease up each

quarter; and
• Grand Opening date (at least 2 weeks’ notice).

Owners must provide a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for each building.  The 
Certificate of Occupancy must be included in the status report covering the period 
in which it was issued.  Failure to provide the reports so that they are received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $500.00 late fee.  This also applies to those 
Properties with ARRA funding. 

All ARRA reports are due on or before the dates listed in the ARRA Exchange or TCAP 
Program Agreement. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the financial audit is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual budget is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual insurance binder is not received by MBOH by 
the deadline. 

Changes to Project or Application 
The Applicant must notify MBOH in writing at least 30 days before any proposed Substantial 
Changes in the Project.  Proposed Substantial Changes to the Project must be approved by 
MBOH. 

Specific approval by MBOH is required for Substantial Changes.  MBOH staff will review 
requested Substantial Changes and may approve or deny approval of such changes, or may 
request Board consideration and determination of the change request.  If MBOH staff denies 
approval of any Project Change, the Applicant may request Board review and approval of 
the change request.  Requests must be submitted to MBOH with proper justification at least 
30 days before the change is expected to take place.  The Applicant must inform MBOH staff 
if the proposed change requires immediate or urgent review and approval.  MBOH review 
and approval of changes must be completed prior to the change taking effect.  Changes 
completed without MBOH approval may result in the termination of the Reservation 
Agreement and/or loss of some or all credits. 

Any requested changes submitted requiring MBOH action may incur additional fees.  
Changes to the Project site, construction of building(s), architectural, engineering, or any 
on-site review by any member of MBOH will incur additional charges.  Fees will be 
determined based upon the cost of MBOH Staff travel for that purpose.

87



52 

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
Federal law requires state allocating agencies (MBOH) to monitor compliance with provisions 
of Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. § 42).  In addition, Federal law 
requires allocating agencies to provide a procedure the agency will follow in monitoring for 
non-compliance and to inform tax credit recipients (Owners) of procedures and 
requirements.  

Included in the requirements are procedures for notifying the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) of any non-compliance of which the allocating agency becomes aware.  Federal 
income tax regulations related to Procedures for Monitoring Compliance with Housing Credit 
Requirements are published in 26 CFR Part 1 and 602.  

For complete HC compliance guidance, refer to the MBOH HC Compliance Manual, available 
at http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManual 

Compliance Fees 
Developments will incur and must pay to MBOH a compliance monitoring fee to offset the 
costs for MBOH compliance monitoring.  The compliance monitoring fee is currently of 
$45.00 per each non-market unit, and may be adjusted by MBOH from time to time.  The 
amount of the compliance monitoring shall be posted on the MBOH website and any 
adjustments to the fee amount shall be posted on the MBOH website in advance of the 
effective date of such adjustment.  The compliance monitoring fee (subject to change) is 
payable annually at the time of the Owner's Submission of the Owner’s Certificate of 
Continuing Program Compliance. 

If the complete Annual Compliance Package is not received by the deadline, a late 
fee of $100.00 or 25% of the annual compliance monitoring fee, whichever is 
greater, will be charged. 

Failure to provide corrections on noncompliance so that they are received by the deadline 
set by MBOH will result in a $200.00 late fee and $25.00 per daya $200.00 per week fee 
until all required documentation is received by MBOH.  A one-time extension may be 
granted if a written request is submitted to MBOH no later than 10 days prior to the 
deadline.  If an extension is granted and the extension deadline passes without MBOH 
receipt of the complete documentation, a $25.00$200.00 per dayweek fee will be imposed 
until all required documentation is received by MBOH. 

The following procedure describes MBOH plans for monitoring compliance on tax credit 
Projects. At minimum, each Project that has been Placed in Service will be subject to the 
following monitoring requirements: 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection 
Recordkeeping 

The Owner of a low-income housing Project must keep records for each building in the 
Project that shows unit qualifications for each year throughout the term of the Declaration 
of Restricted Covenants, including the Compliance Period and the Extended Use Period in 
effect for such Project. 

The information must show for each year in the Compliance Period: 

• The total number of residential rental units in a building (including the number of
bedrooms and the size in square feet of each residential rental unit);

• The percentage of residential rental units in the building that are qualified units;

88

http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManual


53 

• The rent charged on each residential rental unit in the building (including any utility
allowances and mandatory fees);

• HC unit vacancies in the building and information that shows when, and to whom,
the next available units were rented.  If a unit is left vacant, or in a mixed use
Project is rented to a non-qualifying tenant, the Owner must maintain documentation
showing a diligent attempt was made to rent the unit to a qualifying tenant;

• The tenant income certification of each HC tenant (by unit), including annual
certifications for each continuous tenant;

• Documentation to support each HC tenant's income certification.  This must include a
copy of (a) verification of income from third parties, or (b) 6 consecutive paystubs;

• The eligible basis and qualified basis of the building at the end of the first year of the
credit period; and

• The character and use of any non-residential portion of the building included in the
eligible basis of the building, if applicable.

Records Retention 

Federal regulations require the Owner of a HC Project receiving tax credits to retain the 
records listed above.  The Owner is required to retain such records for at least 6 years after 
the due date for filing the federal income tax return for that year.  Records for the first year 
of the credit period must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the due date for filing the 
federal income tax return for the last year of the Compliance Period.  Owner should also 
retain records relating to the amount of credit claimed for the Montana Housing Tax Credit, 
including the Form 8609(s) and Schedule A of Form 8609(s). 

Data Collection 
To the extent required by federal law, the Owner will assist the MBOH with meeting federal 
reporting requirements by collecting and submitting information annually concerning the 
race, ethnicity, family composition, age, income, use of rental assistance under section 8(o) 
of the United States Housing Act of 1937 or other similar assistance, disability status, and 
monthly rental payments of all qualified households.  

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance is required on an annual basis for 
each property.  The certificate must to be signed by the Owner and notarized.  This 
statement must be filed with MBOH every year throughout the Extended Use Period.  
Owners must file annual certifications on the form provided by MBOH. Substitute forms are 
not acceptable.  Failure to provide an annual certification before the date established by 
MBOH may trigger an IRS Form 8823.  

Income and Expense Summary 
All property Owners must submit operating income and cost information for the property’s 
latest fiscal period, including a current balance of replacement and operating reserve 
accounts.   

Submission Deadlines 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance and Tenant Income Certifications 
(TIC) must be submitted on or before the 25th of the month following the assigned annual 
period.  Federal regulations stipulate there must be no more than 12 months between 
certifications.  

All submissions must be filed through Certification On Line (COL). 

Review by MBOH staff 

89



54 

MBOH will review the items listed above for compliance with the requirements of Section 42 
of the Code and with the requirements of the MBOH HC program. 

Ownership/Management Changes 
Written Notification of changes to property management companies, managers, site 
managers, or changes to points of contact must be submitted to MBOH prior to or 
immediately upon implementation of the change.  Changes not received by MBOH prior to 
change or immediately upon change, or within a 15-day grace period thereafter, will result 
in an initial $10.00$500.00 per day late fee, and $500.00 per month until written 
notification is received.  If no notification is received MBOH will research and identify the 
date of the change, and impose late fees based upon such date (and allowing for a 15-day 
grace period).  For purposes of imposition of such late fees, a 5-day grace period shall 
apply.  No Change in Management Company shall be acceptable unless it results in a 
Qualified Management Company assuming management of the property.  Replacement of a 
Management Company with a company that is not a Qualified Management Company or 
failure to timely submit such notification to MBOH may trigger issuance of a Form 8823.  All 
management companies, whether in place or being hired, must meet Qualified Management 
definition. 

Subject to the requirements of Section 42 of the Code, the Restrictive Covenants and the 
Applicable QAP any other applicable restrictions, the Owner may sell, transfer or exchange 
the entire Project at any time.  No portion of a building to which the Restrictive Covenants 
apply may be sold to any person unless all of such building is sold to such person.  Prior to 
such sale, transfer or exchange, however, the Owner must notify in writing and obtain the 
written agreement of any buyer, successor or other person acquiring the Project or any 
interest therein that such acquisition is subject to the requirements of the Restrictive 
Covenants, the requirements of Section 42 of the Code and applicable Regulations, and the 
Applicable QAP.  Such written agreement of the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be in the form required by MBOH, which agreement form is available on 
the MBOH website.  Such form, executed by the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be submitted to MBOH prior to closing of the sale, transfer or exchange.  
The Board may void any sale, transfer or exchange of the Project if the buyer, successor or 
other person fails to assume in writing the requirements of this Agreement and the 
requirements of Section 42 of the Code. 

Education Requirements 
Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must be certified in LIHTC compliance by one of the 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Companies.  Property managers and 
property Management Company personnel must complete a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company certification course, passing the test.  For MBOH purposes, to 
maintain certification, the person must attend a class with a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company at least once every four years.  For each of the other three 
years, all property managers and property Management Company personnel should attend 
annual MBOH compliance training.  The property Management Company and site manager 
for an HC property must be trained and certified before the property is Placed in Service.  
New site managers hired for existing HC properties must be certified within their first year 6 
months of employment. New property management companies hired for existing properties 
must be certified before they assume management of a property.  On a case-by-case basis, 
MBOH may approve its compliance training as adequate training until such time as the next 

90



 
55 

 

Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company program is available.  Training 
requirements must be met to maintain Qualified Management Company status. 

Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must also attend Fair Housing training at least once every four 
years.  The manager for a HC property must complete such training before the property is 
Placed in Service.  New managers hired for existing HC properties must complete the 
training within their first year of employment. 

Such Fair Housing training must include and cover the following subjects and requirements: 
  

• Protected Classes; 
• Accessibility requirements; 
• Reasonable accommodation/modification; 
• Applicant screening; 
• Disparate impact; 
• Domestic violence issues; 
• Occupancy standards; 
• Section 504; and 
• Service Animals. 

 

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) 
Frequency and Form 

Owners must complete the MBOH TIC for all new move-ins and file it with MBOH through 
Certification On Line (COL).  Documentation supporting the TIC will not be submitted.  
MBOH staff will review supporting documentation during file audits. Timely annual Re-
certifications (TICs) for mixed Projects (with market units) are required must be submitted 
to MBOH through COL.    

The MBOH COL TIC must be used.  Any other TIC must be preapproved by MBOH prior to 
useis the only acceptable form.  

Student Status Certification 
Student status certifications must be completed annually within the 30 day period prior to 
their move-in anniversary date. 

 

On-Site Inspections 
MBOH staff (staff) will perform an on-site inspection of each property at least once every 
three years during the Extended Use Period.  Staff will notify the Owner/manager in 
advance of the inspection. 

Staff must inspect and review at least 20% of the tenant files and corresponding units.  
MBOH will not notify the Project’s manager, Owner or other representative of the unit 
selection before the site inspection.  The selected sample may be expanded. 

Complete copies of all tenant files for each unit from original lease-up forward must remain 
within the State of Montana at the location of the rental property or the regional in-state 
office. 

If MBOH determines it is necessary, properties may be inspected on a cycle of more than 
once every three years.  The cost of any additional inspections will be billed to the 
respective property.   

91



56 

MBOH may schedule on-site inspections at any time with minimal notice. 

In event of non-compliance under Section 42 of the Code or the implementing regulations 
MBOH may be required or elect to undertake additional monitoring.  The Owner will take 
any and all actions reasonably necessary to achieve and maintain compliance.  Staff may 
require the Owner to document correction of non-compliance and/or MBOH may elect to 
conduct one or more site visit(s) to verify correction of non-compliance. The Owner will pay 
a reasonable fee to MBOH for any such additional monitoring activities. 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) 
MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH becomes aware of non-
compliance.  These items include:  

• Non-receipt of the certification(s) described in this QAP.
• Inaccessibility of tenant income supporting documentation, rent records, or

the property.

In addition, MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH discovers by 
inspection, review, or in some other manner, that the Project is not in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 42. 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) 
The Owner will be given a reasonable correction period from the date of non-compliance.  If 
Staff determines that good cause exists, an extension may be granted.  

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) 
MBOH must file IRS Form 8823 "Low-Income Housing Credit Agencies Report of 
Noncompliance" with the IRS (even if non-compliance has been corrected) no later than 45 
days after the end of the correction period, and no earlier than the end of the correction 
period.   

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) 
Compliance with the requirements of Section 42 is the responsibility of the Owner of the 
building for which the credit is allowable.  MBOH's obligation to monitor for compliance with 
the requirements of Section 42 does not make the Agency liable for an Owner's 
noncompliance. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relation to, the compliance monitoring of a low-income housing 
Project. 

Marketing the Project 
The Owner mustMBOH will put all HC properties into the free State-approved Housing 
Locator website, MTHousingSearch.com within one year after Placed in Service. If not 
completed within such time period, MBOH will do so and charge the Owner for the related 
costs.  Properties will be contacted by MTHousingSearch for required information.  Using 
this website meets the criteria for advertising vacant units and provides for broad coverage 
to those searching for affordable housing in Montana. 

Qualified Contract Process 
Federal law, in Section 42 of the Code, provides for a state housing credit agency process 
for early termination of the Extended Use Period for certain Projects and subject to certain 
requirements.  Such process provides for the early termination of the Extended Use Period: 

92



 
57 

 

(i) if the Owner submits a written request to MBOH in accordance with certain requirements 
to find a person to acquire the Property, and (ii) if MBOH is unable to present within a one-
year period a qualified contract for the acquisition of the Property by any person who will 
continue to operate the low-income portion of the building as a low-income building as 
defined in Section 42 of the Code.  MBOH has adopted certain requirements and procedures 
applicable to the qualified contract process in the Montana Board of Housing, Montana 
Housing Tax Credit Program, Qualified Contract Process and Instructions for Calculation of 
the Qualified Contract Price (______ 2017).  MBOH hereby adopts and incorporates herein 
by reference the Montana Board of Housing, Montana Housing Tax Credit Program, Qualified 
Contract Process and Instructions for Calculation of the Qualified Contract Price (______ 
2017) (the “Qualified Contract Process”) for purposes of eligibility, submission, 
consideration, determination and all other aspects of a request for a qualified contract as 
provided in Section 42.  The Qualified Contract Process shall govern all aspects of a Project 
Owner’s request to MBOH for a qualified contract. 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER 
MBOH is charged with allocating no more tax credits to any given development than is 
required to make that development economically feasible.  This decision shall be made 
solely at the discretion of MBOH, but in no way represents or warrants to any Applicant, 
Investor, lender, or others that the development is feasible or viable. 

MBOH reviews documents submitted in connection with this Allocation for its own purposes.  
In Allocation of the tax credits, MBOH makes no representations to the Owner or anyone 
else regarding adherence to the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations, or any other 
laws or regulations governing Montana Housing Tax Credits. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relations to, the Allocation of the Housing Credit. 

If it is determined that an Applicant or any member of the Development Team has 
intentionally submitted false information, a credit Award may be withdrawn or credits may 
be recaptured and the Applicant or any Applicant involving any related parties or any 
individual or entity supplying the false information will be ineligible to apply for credits for 
the next five years or may be assessed negative points as provided in Section 9. 

MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination 
Montana Board of Housing is an Equal Opportunity organization.  All employees who work 
for MBOH, agree not to discriminate against any client or co-worker based on any protected 
class under applicable Federal or Montana law.  The failure of any employee to comply with 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action in accordance with applicable employment policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to immediate termination of employment. 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions 
This QAP may be amended at any time after compliance with applicable notice, comment 
and approval requirements. 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance 
The Owner, Developer, borrowers and any of their employees, agents, or sub-contractors, 
in doing business with the Montana Board of Housing understand and agree that it is the 
responsibility of the Owner(s) and such other persons and entities to comply with all 
applicable Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations, including without limitation applicable 
provisions of the Fair Housing Laws and Americans With Disabilities Act, and any applicable 
State and local Civil Rights Laws and regulations.  Should requirements, such as design, not 

93



58 

be specified by MBOH, it is nonetheless the Owner(s) responsibility to be aware of and 
comply with all applicable non-discrimination provisions related to any protected class under 
Federal or Montana law, including design requirements for construction or Rehabilitation, 
Equal Opportunity in regard to marketing and tenant selection and reasonable 
accommodation and modification for those tenants covered under the Laws. 

94



59 

Housing Credit Forms: 
All Forms Referenced in this QAP are available at: 
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP  
Applicants, Developers, Owners, Management Companies and all other interested 
persons submitting Applications, Cost Certifications, Compliance materials and 
other material to MBOH are responsible to review the website and to make such 
submission on the most current Form available on the MBOH website as of the 
date of the submission.  MBOH may require resubmission of any item if submitted 
without using the current Form, and late fees may be incurred if the need for such 
resubmission results in late submission of the correct Form.  Please contact MBOH 
staff with any questions regarding the appropriate or current Form. 

95

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


1 

Montana Board of Housing 
Montana Housing Tax Credit Program 

Qualified Contract Process 
And Instructions for 

Calculation of the Qualified Contract Price 

Properties awarded Low-Income Housing Tax Credits under the Montana Housing 
Tax Credit Program are subject to certain restrictions set forth in Section 42 of the 
Code, which restrictions must be provided for and documented in Restrictive 
Covenants.  The Section 42 requirements apply during an Extended Use Period, 
which includes an initial Compliance Period of fifteen (15) years plus an additional 
period of fifteen (15) or more years.  Applicants for tax credits may make a 
commitment to maintain units in accordance with the Section 42 restrictions 
beyond the minimum period of time and may be or may have been awarded 
additional points in the QAP evaluation scoring process for the Project based upon 
such agreement. 

The Extended Use Period generally continues for at least thirty (30) years.  
However, for certain Eligible Projects, the Extended Use Period may terminate 
earlier, (i) if the Owner submits a written request to MBOH in accordance with 
these requirements to find a person to acquire the Property, and (ii) if MBOH is 
unable to present within a one-year period a Qualified Contract for the acquisition 
of the Property by any person who will continue to operate the low-income portion of 
the building as a low-income building as defined in Section 42 of the Code.    

Eligibility for Qualified Contract Process 

The Qualified Contract process is available only for certain Projects with an 
Owner’s minimum low-income commitment period that is less than fifteen (15) 
years beyond the initial 15-year Compliance Period, as specified in the Project’s 
Restrictive Covenants.  Under current program requirements, the owner must 
agree to a minimum low-income commitment period of fifteen (15) years beyond the 
initial 15-year Compliance Period, i.e., an Extended Use Period of at least thirty 
(30) years.  Previously, however, some Projects provided for a minimum low-income
commitment period of less than fifteen (15) years beyond the initial 15-year
Compliance Period and an Extended Use Period of less than thirty (30) years.  Only
such Projects are eligible for the Qualified Contract process.  Further, such Projects
are eligible for the Qualified Contract process only if the process could result in a
Qualified Contract or termination of the Extended Use Period at least one year
earlier than the Extended Use Period would otherwise end under the terms of the
Project’s Restrictive Covenants.  An “Eligible Project” is a Project meeting these
criteria.

96



2 

Eligible Projects may not initiate the Qualified Contract process until one year 
before the expiration of the Owner’s minimum low-income commitment period 
specified in the Project’s Restrictive Covenants.  For example, the process could be 
initiated no earlier than the fifteenth year of the initial Compliance Period for an 
Eligible Project with an Owner’s minimum low-income commitment of zero (0) years 
beyond the initial 15-year Compliance Period.   

Projects will be held to the Owner’s commitment as provided in the Restrictive 
Covenants and will not be permitted to terminate the Extended Use Period 
(including any portion of the Owner’s commitment period) through the Qualified 
Contract process.  The Qualified Contract process is subject to all applicable 
provisions of state and federal law and these requirements.  Owners are encouraged 
to review their tax credit allocation applications submitted to MBOH and their 
Declaration of Restricted Covenants to determine if and when they are eligible to 
pursue the Qualified Contract process.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing general eligibility requirements, the MBOH Board 
may in its sole discretion determine that a Project is eligible for the Qualified 
Contract process based upon extraordinary circumstances that threaten the ongoing 
viability of the Project to provide low-income housing in accordance with the 
Restrictive Covenants, including but not limited to a Project’s documented extreme 
financial difficulties, so long as permitting the Project to pursue the Qualified 
Contract process is consistent with federal law. 

Qualified Contract Process: 

The one-year period for finding a Qualified Contract buyer will not commence until 
after all required documents, information and payments have been submitted to 
and approved by MBOH and the physical inspection and file audit has been 
completed showing no substantial noncompliance as provided herein. 

1. Qualified Contract Request Letter and Agreement; Payment of
Administration Fee

To initiate the Qualified Contract process, Eligible Project owners must notify 
MBOH of their desire to sell the property through the Qualified Contract process by 
submitting a completed and executed Qualified Contract Request Letter and 
Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Attachment 1, together with payment of 
a $4,000.0020,000.00 non-refundable administration fee for processing the Qualified 
Contract Request.  MBOH will not begin processing of the Request until and unless 
the $4,000.0020,000.00 administration fee has been paid in full.   

2. Completion/Submission of Qualified Contract Price Calculation Form

97



3 

Before the one-year period and marketing of the Property will commence, the Owner 
must complete and submit to MBOH the Calculation of the Qualified Contract Price 
form attached to these instructions as Attachment 2 (the “Calculation Form”) and the 
additional information and documentation listed below. 

The Owner must fully complete the Calculation Form, including all Exhibits.  The 
Qualified Contract Price (“QCP”) calculation will establish the minimum price at 
which MBOH will market the Property and present any offer(s) for its purchase.  All 
calculations must be prepared in accordance with 26 CFR Part 1, Section 1.42-18, as 
amended, or any additional or replacement federal laws or regulations governing the 
Qualified Contract Price calculation.  The Calculation Form must be prepared or 
reviewed, and also must be certified, by an Independent Third-Party Certified Public 
Accountant.  The calculated sales price must also be certified by an Independent 
Third-Party Certified Public Accountant.  

Also please note that federal regulations require that, if a purchaser is found, the 
Qualified Contract Price must be adjusted by the purchaser and the property owner 
to reflect changes in the components of the Qualified Contract Price, such as mortgage 
payments, that have reduced outstanding indebtedness between the time the original 
calculations were made and the sale closing date.   

3. Additional Submission Requirements

In addition to the Request Letter, Fee Payment and Calculation Form, the Owner 
must submit to MBOH the following information and documentation: 

a. A thorough narrative description of the Property, including all amenities,
sufficient to familiarize prospective purchasers with the Property;

b. A detailed description of all income, rental and other restrictions applicable
to the operation of the Property;

c. A detailed set of digital photographs of the Property, including the interior
and exterior of representative apartment units and buildings, and the
Property’s grounds, to be displayed on the MBOH website and in any other
marketing materials;

d. Copies of the last three years’ operating statements for the Property showing
annual operating expenses, debt service, gross receipts, net cash flow, and
debt service coverage ratios;

e. A current and complete rent roll for the entire Property;
f. A copy of the land lease, if applicable; and
g. Any additional financial and other information and documentation

reasonably required and requested by MBOH for purposes of the Qualified
Contract Price determination, appraisal, marketing and/or due diligence,
including without limitation, copies of additional rent rolls, tax returns,

98



4 

income certifications, repair and maintenance records, operating expenses 
and debt service information, and other due diligence documents. 

4. Marketability of the property

The owner of the property shall make all repairs, modifications, etc., to the property 
as necessary tothat will bring the property to a value at least as high as the sales 
price included in the Qualified Contract Request Letter and Agreement. 

 Physical Inspection and File Audit 

Upon receipt of the Qualified Contract Request Letter and Agreement and 
administration fee, MBOH will perform, at the expense of the Owner, a complete 
physical inspection and file audit of the Property to determine whether the Owner 
and Property are in compliance with the provisions of Section 42 of the Code, the 
Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and MBOH requirements.   

In addition to serving as the Physical Inspection required under this MBOH 
Qualified Contract Process (QCP), the inspection constitutes an On-Site Inspection 
under the Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  Deadlines and other requirements of 
the inspection and related follow up and documentation will be specified by MBOH 
in accordance with MBOH’s usual compliance process requirements and set forth in 
the Applicable QAP and MBOH policy.  MBOH will process the qualified contract 
request in accordance with the QCP, but the QCP process will not limit MBOH’s 
monitoring and enforcement of compliance under Section 42, the Declaration and 
the QAP. 

If, at any time during the Qualified Contract process, MBOH determines that the 
Owner or Property is out of compliance with the provisions of Section 42 of the 
Code, the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants or MBOH requirements, MBOH will 
terminate the Qualified Contract process until such time as MBOH determines that 
the Owner or Property has achieved compliance. 

5. Access to Property

The Owner must provide reasonable access to the Property and relevant files and 
records for inspection or audit by MBOH, its agents, appraisers, prospective 
purchasers and any other third parties reasonably required for purposes of the 
Qualified Contract process.  

6. Payment of Fees and Expenses

The Owner must pay a $4,000.0020,000.00 non-refundable administration fee for 
processing a Qualified Contract Request, as required above in Section 1.  In addition, 

99



5 

the Owner must pay MBOH’s costs for the physical inspection and file audit required 
under Section 4, above, and, in the event that additional third-party reports are 
required by a potential buyer or MBOH, the Owner must pay the cost of the additional 
reports.  All payments for such items must be made within thirty (30) days of the date 
of any invoice provided to the Owner.  The Owner must pay for all third party costs 
incurred by MBOH in connection with the QCP process.  

7. Program Compliance; Owner’s Failure to Comply or Cooperate with Qualified
Contract Process

If, prior to commencement of the one-year period, the Owner fails to provide any 
required information, documents or payments, fails to allow access to the Property 
for inspection or appraisal, or otherwise fails to cooperate in or perform any 
obligation specified herein, MBOH may cease further processing of the Request 
upon providing written notice to the Owner specifying the reason(s) for ceasing 
further processing, and the action(s) that must be taken by the Owner, the date by 
which such actions must be taken and the documentation, if any, of such actions 
that must be submitted to MBOH in order to obtain a resumption of Request 
processing.  MBOH may permanently terminate the Qualified Contract process in 
the event of multiple instances of non-compliance/non-cooperation.  In no event will 
the one-year period commence or be deemed to have commenced until the Owner 
meets all such requirements. 

As provided in Section 4, above, if at any time during the Qualified Contract 
process, MBOH determines that the Owner or Property is out of compliance with 
the provisions of Section 42 of the Code, the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants or 
MBOH requirements, MBOH will terminate the Qualified Contract process until 
such time as MBOH determines that the Owner or Property has achieved 
compliance. 

8. Qualified Appraisers

Owners and MBOH shall use only Montana-certified general appraisers for 
purposes of the Qualified Contract process.  Neither Owner nor MBOH shall use 
any individual or organization as an appraiser if that individual or organization is 
currently on any list for active suspension or revocation for performing appraisals in 
any state or is listed on the Excluded Parties Lists System (EPLS) maintained by 
the General Services Administration for the United States Government.  

9. Commencement of One-Year Period; Marketing of the Property

Once all required information, documents and payments are received, reviewed 
and approved, MBOH will notify the Owner in writing that the one-year period 

100



6 
 

has begun and will begin marketing the Property to the general public.  MBOH 
will undertake reasonable marketing efforts, including posting the marketing 
information and Qualified Contract Price on the MBOH website and such other 
efforts as may be deemed reasonable in the sole discretion of MBOH to market the 
Property to the general public.  The Owner must agree to list the Property for sale 
with a broker who works with affordable multifamily housing properties and must 
cooperate with the MBOH and such broker in their efforts to market the Property.  
Marketing of the property will continue until such time as title to the Property has 
been transferred or the one-year period has expired.   
 
MBOH has the one-year period in which to market and find a buyer for the 
Property at or above the Qualified Contract Price.  The qualified purchaser can be 
a nonprofit or for-profit entity that agrees to maintain the affordable housing 
units and fulfill all requirements of the extended use agreement.  The proposed 
purchaser must demonstrate to MBOH’s reasonable satisfaction that it is familiar 
with and prepared to comply with the requirements of the Low Income Housing 
Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) program.  MBOH, in its sole discretion, may reject 
purchasers who have failed to demonstrate proficiency with the LIHTC program 
or other government programs. 
 
10. Suspension or Termination of One-Year Period 
 
MBOH may suspend the one-year period or terminate the Qualified Contract 
process if the Owner fails to comply or cooperate, or unreasonably delays in 
complying or cooperating, as required herein, including without limitation failure 
to respond to reasonable third-party report requests by MBOH or a potential 
buyer.  MBOH may suspend the running of the one-year period upon providing 
written notice to the Owner specifying the reason(s) for such suspension, and the 
action(s) that must be taken by the Owner, the date by which such actions must 
be taken and the documentation, if any, of such actions that must be submitted to 
MBOH in order to restart the running of the one-year period.   
 
MBOH may permanently terminate the Qualified Contract process in the event of 
multiple instances of or continuation of an ongoing non-compliance or non-
cooperation with the Qualified Contract process, if the Owner again fails or 
continues to fail to comply or cooperate after MBOH has provided a written 
warning that further failure to comply or cooperate will result in such termination 
and loss of the opportunity to undertake the Qualified Contract process.  In such 
event, the Restrictive Covenants shall remain effective for the full duration of the 
Extended Use Period term (including all of the Owner’s commitment period) as 
specified in such Restrictive Covenants and the Owner and any successor in 
interest shall have no further opportunity to undertake the Qualified Contract 
process 
 

101



7 

11. Effect of Acceptance or Rejection of Qualified Contract Offers

A Qualified Contract is an offer determined by MBOH to constitute a bona fide 
offer to enter into a contract to acquire the non-low-income portion of the building 
(including the land underlying the entire building) for fair market value and the 
low-income portion of the building for an amount not less than the Qualified 
Contract Price, and which contract is determined by MBOH to: (i) provide for 
closing within a reasonable period of time after the contract is entered into; and 
(ii) contain no terms or conditions that are unreasonable or impractical under the
circumstances.

The Owner is not required to accept the first or any purchase offer presented.  
However, if the Owner rejects or fails to act upon a Qualified Contract to purchase 
the Property at or above the QCP presented by a qualified purchaser, the Property 
will remain subject to the low-income housing commitment set forth in the 
Restrictive Covenants for the full duration of the Extended Use Period term 
(including all of the Owner’s commitment period) specified therein.  The Owner 
may accept less than the QCP but cannot require a price higher than the QCP.  
The Owner must notify MBOH of any purchase offers within one (1) business day 
of receipt. 

During the one-year period in which the Property is marketed to the general 
public, MBOH may adjust the fair market value of the non-low-income portion of 
the Property only with the consent of the Owner.  If the Owner and MBOH do not 
agree with respect to any proposed reduction of such fair market value, the fair 
market value of the non-low-income portion of the Property determined as of the 
commencement of the one-year period remains unchanged. 

MBOH shall not be responsible for any closing costs, commissions, fees or other 
expenses of or related to the sale, purchase or closing.  All such amounts shall be 
payable from closing proceeds and charged to the account of the buyer and/or 
seller as mutually agreed thereby. 

12. Effect of No Qualified Contract

If the Owner has performed its obligations and cooperated in the Qualified 
Contract process and MBOH is unable to present to Owner a Qualified Contract 
before the expiration of the one-year period, the Section 42 restrictions set forth in 
the Restrictive Covenants shall be terminated, except with respect to the Section 
42 tenant protections discussed below.  For purposes of this paragraph, MBOH 
has presented a Qualified Contract within the one-year period if MBOH has 
notified the Owner of such Qualified Contract by email, facsimile transmission or 
deposit in the U.S. Mail on or before the last day of the one-year period. 

102



8 

In the event of a termination of the Section 42 restrictions set forth in the 
Restrictive Covenants as provided above, the Property shall remain subject to the 
tenant protection requirements of §42(h)(6)(E)(II), which provide that, prior to the 
close of the three-year period following such termination, no Owner shall be 
permitted to evict or terminate the tenancy (other than for good cause) of an 
existing tenant of any low-income unit or increase the gross rent for such unit in a 
manner or amount not otherwise permitted by Section 42 of the Code.   
In such event, the Owner will be required, at the end of each year of the three-
year tenant protection period, to provide certification to MBOH that these 
requirements have been met.  In addition, the Owner will provide written notice to 
the existing tenants within thirty (30) days after the beginning of the three-year 
period and annually thereafter for the next two (2) years that the low-income use 
restrictions have been terminated and of the Section 42 tenant protections 
provided during the three-year time frame. 

In the event of and following such termination of the Section 42 restrictions set 
forth in the Restrictive Covenants, MBOH shall provide to Owner a partial release 
reflecting release of the restrictions other than the three-year tenant protections.  
Following the end of the three-year period, MBOH shall provide to Owner such 
further release as is necessary and appropriate to fully release all remaining 
restrictions. 

103



9 

Attachment 1 

Qualified Contract Request Letter and Agreement 

Date 

Montana Board of Housing 
301 South Park Ste 240 
PO Box 200528 
Helena, MT  59620 

Re: Qualified Contract Request 

Dear 

Pursuant to Subsection 42(h)(6)(E)(i)(II) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and 
on behalf of __________________________________________________________ (the 
“Owner), we hereby request that the Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) find a person 
to acquire, and present a Qualified Contract for the purchase of the Owner’s interest 
in _______________________________ (the “Property”).   

We understand that this letter is submitted to initiate the Qualified Contract request 
process and does not commence the one-year time period for MBOH to present a 
Qualified Contract for the acquisition of the Property.   We understand that we must 
submit additional information to MBOH at a later date as required by MBOH’s 
Qualified Contract Request Procedure.  We understand that the one-year time period 
will not commence until the date upon which MBOH determines that our request 
submission is complete and that MBOH will notify us of this determination and the 
commencement date of the one-year period.  We further understand that this letter is 
submitted for the purpose of confirming our commitment to perform our obligations 
under the Qualified Contract process. 

In support of our Qualified Contract request, we state and represent to MBOH as 
follows: 

1. The Owner did not waive its right to request a Qualified Contract in its
Declaration of Restricted Covenants, between the Owner and MBOH.  True and
correct copies of the recorded Restrictive Covenants for the Property and any
amendments thereto are enclosed with this letter.

2. The Property has completed at least the fourteenth (14th) year of its compliance
period.

104



10 

3. The Property is in compliance with all of the requirements of Section 42 of the
Code.

4. The owners of all options to purchase and rights of first refusal for all or any
part of the Property have unconditionally waived any and all such options and
rights, as evidenced by enclosed copies of  executed waivers of all such options
and rights.

5. Neither we nor any other Owner has previously requested a Qualified Contract
on the Property.

In further support of our Qualified Contract request, we represent and certify to MBOH 
that: 

1. We have not been notified of any audit, investigation or disallowance relating
to the Property and pertaining to Section 42 of the Code by the Internal
Revenue Service.

2. We are solely responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of
all documents and information that we submit to MBOH with this letter and
any other documents or information that we provide to MBOH, appraisers
and/or prospective purchasers (collectively, the “Property Sales Information”)
in connection with this request or any related marketing or sale of the
Property.

3. All documents and information submitted with this Letter or in connection with
this request for a Qualified Contract are truthful, accurate and complete and
contain no material misstatements or misleading information.

In further support of our Qualified Contract request, we acknowledge and agree that: 

1. We will cooperate with MBOH and its agents to calculate a Qualified Contract
Price and present a Qualified Contract for purchase of the Property.  We
understand that this includes providing all financial and other information
and substantiating documentation reasonably required by MBOH to
determine the Qualified Contract Price for the Property in accordance with
federal law, including without limitation 29 CFR § 1.42-18, as amended, and
MBOH requirements, or for purposes of appraisal, marketing and/or due
diligence.  Such information and documentation includes but is not limited to
the information and documents specified in the MBOH Qualified Contract
Price Calculation Form and Worksheets and additional substantiating
documentation, and all information and documentation required for appraisal,
marketing and due diligence purposes.

105



11 

2. We agree to provide reasonable access to the Property and relevant records for
inspection and audit by MBOH, its agents, appraisers and prospective
purchasers in connection with the Qualified Contract process.

3. We agree that MBOH may perform a complete physical inspection and file
audit of the Property to determine whether the Owner and Property are in
compliance with the provisions of Section 42 of the Code, the Declaration of
Restrictive Covenants and MBOH requirements and we agree to pay the cost
of such inspection and audit.

4. We understand that our failure to reasonably and timely cooperate, provide or
submit any required information, documents, forms, fees or cost
reimbursement payments, or respond to report requests, with, to or from
MBOH, third parties or potential buyers, may result in either temporary
suspension of the one-year period or termination of the Qualified Contract
process and the delay or loss of Owner’s opportunity to terminate the
Restrictive Covenants through the Qualified Contract process.

5. We understand that if, at any time during the Qualified Contract process,
MBOH determines that we are or the Property is out of compliance with the
provisions of Section 42 of the Code, the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants
or MBOH requirements, MBOH will terminate the Qualified Contract process
until such time as MBOH determines that we have achieved compliance.

6. By submission of this letter, we agree to indemnify, defend, and hold MBOH
harmless for all claims and liabilities arising out of MBOH’s use of the Property
Sales Information for purposes of the Qualified Contract process.

7. We agree that MBOH and its employees and agents shall have no liability to us
with respect to the calculation of the Qualified Contract Price or any other act,
omission, or determination by MBOH with respect to marketing the Property or
carrying out its responsibilities under Subsection 42(h)(6)(F) of the Code, so long
as MBOH is acting in good faith.

8. The one-year period will commence, if at all, on the date specified by MBOH in
its written notice to the Owner.  Having commenced, the running of the one-
year period may be suspended or tolled at the discretion of MBOH based upon
our failure to reasonably and timely perform any requirements of the Qualified
Contract process.

9. We understand that if MBOH presents a Qualified Contract for the acquisition
of the Property within the one-year period and the Owner rejects or fails to act
upon such contract, the Property will remain subject to the Declaration of
Restricted Covenants for the full duration of the Extended Use Period, and there

106



12 

will be no further or additional opportunity for the Owner to terminate such 
covenants through the Qualified Contract process   

10. If we choose to execute the Qualified Contract, we will: (i) allow the prospective
purchaser a reasonable period of time to undertake additional, customary due
diligence prior to closing of the purchase; and (ii) agree with the buyer as
required by 29 CFR § 1.42-18(c)(ii) to such adjustments in the amount of the
low-income portion of the Qualified Contract Price to reflect changes in the
components of the Qualified Contract formula (e.g., mortgage payments that
reduce outstanding indebtedness) between the time of MBOH’s offer of sale to
the general public and the building’s actual sale closing date.

11. If we perform our obligations under the Qualified Contract process and  MBOH
is unable to present a Qualified Contract during the one-year period, resulting
in termination of the Section 42 requirements as set forth in the Restrictive
Covenants, we are not permitted to and shall not, prior to the close of the three-
year tenant protection period following such termination, evict or terminate
the tenancy (other than for good cause) of an existing tenant of any low-income
unit or increase the gross rent for such unit in a manner or amount not
otherwise permitted by Section 42 of the Code.

Sincerely, 

Attachments 

107



13 

Attachment 2 
Montana Board of Housing 
Montana Housing Tax Credit 

Qualified Contract Price Calculation Form 
Pursuant to Subsection 42(h)(6)(F) of the Internal Revenue Code and in Accordance 

with 26 CFR 1.42-18, as amended 

A. Calculation of the Low-Income Portion of the Building(s):

(i) Outstanding Indebtedness for the
Building(s) (from Worksheet A) $ ___________ 

(ii) Adjusted Investor Equity in the
Building(s) (from Worksheet B) 

$ ___________ 

(iii) Other Capital Contributions not
reflected in (i) or (ii) (from Worksheet 
C)

$ ___________ 

(iv) Total of (i), (ii) and (iii) $ ___________ 

(v) Cash Distributions from (or available
for distribution from) the Building(s)
(from Worksheet D)

$ ___________ 

(vi) Line (iv) reduced by Line (v) $ ___________ 

(vii) Applicable fraction specified in the
extended low-income housing
commitment

__________ % 

(viii) Low-Income Portion of the Qualified
Contract Price (Line (vi) multiplied by
Line (vii))

$ ___________ 

B. Fair Market Value of the Non-Low-Income Portion of the
Building(s) (from Worksheet E) $ ___________ 

Qualified Contract Price* 
(Sum of Line A(viii) and Line B) $ ___________ 

108



14 

*If this sum is not a multiple of $1,000, then when MBOH offers the building(s) for
sale to the general public, MBOH may round up the offering price to the next highest
multiple of $1,000.

109



15 
 

WORKSHEET A 
Outstanding Indebtedness for the Building(s) 

Code Subsection 42(h)(6)(F)(i)(I) and 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(3) 
 
 
Instructions 
 
 You must use 26 CFR Section 1.42-18(c)(3), or the appropriate section of its 
successor, to determine the Outstanding Indebtedness for the Building(s). 
 
 In the section marked “Other Information” below please set forth any 
information with respect to the loans that may be relevant to MBOH’s efforts to 
market the property.  Examples of relevant information include whether the loan has 
a “due-on-sale” clause or if any portion of the loan is payable from net cash flow (i.e., 
is “soft” debt). 
 
Worksheet 
 

Debt Source 
Lien Position 

and Loan Terms 
Most Recent 

Payment Date 
Remaining Stated 
Principal Balance* 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
Subtotal  
Less:** 
Adjustment 1: 

  

Adjustment 2:   
Adjustment 3:   
Total Indebtedness with respect to Low-Income Portion of 
the Building(s) 

 

 
Other Information: 
 
             
             
              
 
*Please attach an amortization schedule, if available. 
 

110



16 

**Please provide a description of any adjustments in the cells provided.  Adjustments 
may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Any refinancing indebtedness or additional mortgages in excess of qualifying
building costs (described in 26 CFR 1.42-18(b)(4)).

• Outstanding debt that was used to finance nondepreciable land costs,
syndication costs, legal and accounting costs, syndication costs, legal and
accounting costs, and operating deficit payments.

111



17 

WORKSHEET B 
Adjusted Investor Equity in the Building(s) 

Code Section 42(h)(6)(F)(i)(II) and 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(4) 

Instructions 

You must use 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(4), or the appropriate section of its successor, 
to determine the Adjusted Investor Equity in the Building(s).   

Note: The calculation requires the use of the U.S. Department of Labor’s Bureau of 
Labor Statistics (“BLS”) Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).  The CPI data to be used are 
the not seasonally adjusted values of the CPI for all urban consumers, sometimes 
referred to as CPI-U.  The BLS publishes the CPI data on-line.  See 
www.BLS.gov/data. 

Worksheet 

1. Unadjusted Investor Equity

Investor (Owner) 
Name Date Invested 

Amount of 
Cash Invested 

Subtotal 
Less:* 
Adjustment 1: 
Adjustment 2: 
Adjustment 3: 
Total Unadjusted Investor Equity 

*Please provide a description of any adjustments in the cells provided.  Adjustments
may include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Any equity paid for land, credit adjuster payments, Fund low-income housing
credit application and allocation fees, operating deficit contributions, and legal,
syndication, and accounting costs.

• Amounts that, as of the beginning of the low-income building’s credit period
(as defined in Subsection 42(f)(1) of the Code), were not obligated to be
invested.

112



18 

• Amounts included in the calculation of outstanding indebtedness as defined in
26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(3).

2. Qualified-contract cost-of-living adjustment – General Rule

Calendar Year that Precedes the Calendar Year in which MBOH Offers the 
Building for Sale to the General Public (“Year A”):    

Base Calendar Year (the Calendar Year With or Within 
which the First Taxable Year of the Credit Period Ends) (“Year B”) :  

Did the CPI for any calendar year (within the meaning of Subsection 1(f)(4) of the 
Internal Revenue Code) during the extended use period after the base calendar year 
exceed by more than five percent the CPI for the preceding calendar year (within the 
meaning of Subsection 1(f)(4) ) of the Internal Revenue Code)? (Yes or No)  

If no, no adjustments need to be done to the CPI-U for the months below. 

If yes, then the sum of the CPI-I for Year B (below) is to be increased (*) so that the 
excess is never taken into account. 

Month Year A CPI-U Month Year B CPI-U 
September September 

October October 
November November 
December December 
January January 
February February 

March March 
April April 
May May 
June June 
July July 

August August 
Total Year A CPI-U Total Year B CPI-U 

Adjustment (Increase)* 
Adjusted Total Year B 
CPI-U 

Important Note: See the example given in 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(4)(vii) to assist you in 
completing the table above. 

113



19 

Year A CPI-U Total from above (________) divided by Year B CPI-U Total from above 
(________) equals Qualified-Contract Cost-of-Living Adjustment per the General Rule 
(carried out to ten decimal places): ________________. 
3. Qualified-contract cost-of-living adjustment – Provision by the Commissioner of
the qualified-contract cost-of-living adjustment

If the Commissioner published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin a process pursuant 
to which the Internal Revenue Service will compute the qualified-contract cost-of-
living adjustment for a calendar year and made available the results of that 
computation, describe below: 

4. Adjusted Investor Equity

Description Amount 
Unadjusted Investor Equity (from 1 above) 
Times: Qualified-contract cost-of-living adjustment (from 2 or 3 
above) 
Equals: Adjusted Investor Equity (rounded to the nearest dollar) 

114



20 

WORKSHEET C 
Other Capital Contributions 

Code Section 42(h)(6)(F)(i)(III) and 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(5) 

Instructions 

You must use 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(5), or the appropriate section of its successor, 
to determine the Other Capital Contributions.  

Do not include in this Worksheet C any amounts included in Worksheets A or 
B.  

Worksheet 

Date Reason/Description* 
Amount Paid or 

Incurred 

Subtotal 
Less:** 
Adjustment 1: 
Adjustment 2: 
Adjustment 3: 
Total Other Capital Contributions 

*Describe the Other Capital Contributions.  Other capital contributions to a low-
income building are qualifying building costs described in 26 CFR 1.42-18(b)(4)(ii)
paid or incurred by the owner of the low-income building other than amounts included
in the calculation of outstanding indebtedness (from Worksheet A) or adjusted
investor equity (from Worksheet B).

**Please provide a description of any adjustments in the cells provided.  Adjustments 
may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Expenditures for land costs, operating deficit payments, credit adjuster
payments, and payments for legal, syndication, and accounting costs.

• Expenditure that was financed by a loan that WAS secured by the qualifying
building cost (asset) or the building.

115



21 

WORKSHEET D 
Cash Distributions from (or available for distribution from) the Building(s) 

Code Section 42 (h)(6)(F)(ii) and 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(6) 

Instructions 

You must use 26 CFR 1.42-18(c)(6), or the appropriate section of its successor, 
to determine the Cash Distributions from (or available or distribution from) the 
Building(s).  

Note: Proceeds from the refinancing of indebtedness or additional mortgages that are 
in excess of qualifying building costs are not considered cash available for 
distribution. 

Worksheet 

A. Total Cash Distributions

Distribution Made To Date of Distribution Distribution Amount 

Total Cash Distributions 

B. Cash and Cash Equivalents Available for Distribution:

Account Name Balance “as of” Date Account Balance 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents Available for 
Distribution 

C. Total Cash Distributed and Available for Distribution
(Sum of Sections A and B above) $_____________ 

116



22 

WORKSHEET E 
Fair Market Value of the Non-Low-Income Portion  
Code Section 42 (h)(6)(F) and 26 CFR 1.42-18(b)(3) 

Instructions 

You must use 26 CFR 1.42-18(b)(3), or the appropriate section of its successor, 
to determine the Fair Market Value of the Non-Low-Income Portion.  Of particular 
note, please see the discussion of how land is to be considered. 

Worksheet 

The fair market value of the non-low income portion is:  $ ___________. 

Attach to this worksheet the appraisal, study, methodology proof and/or other 
support for the fair market value of the non-low-income portion of the building(s).   

117



MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 

HOUSING CREDIT PROGRAM 

20187 Draft QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN 
(QAP) 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
PO BOX 200528 

HELENA, MONTANA  59620-0528 
(406) 841-2840

(406) 841-2841 FAX

118



i 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................... 1 
SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS .................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS ........................................... 9 

NEW CONSTRUCTION OR SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ........................................................ 10 
ACQUISITION AND SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ................................................................ 10 
EVENTUAL HOME OWNERSHIP........................................................................................ 10 
FEDERALLY SUBSIDIZED BUILDINGS ................................................................................ 10 
QUALIFYING BUILDINGS .............................................................................................. 10 
ELECTION ............................................................................................................... 11 

Rent Limitation ................................................................................................... 11 
BASIS ................................................................................................................... 11 

Eligible Basis ...................................................................................................... 11 
Qualified Basis ................................................................................................... 11 

CREDIT CALCULATIONS ............................................................................................... 12 
ALLOCATION OF CREDIT .............................................................................................. 12 

Need for Allocation.............................................................................................. 12 
Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period ........................................................... 12 
Time for Obtaining Carryover Commitment ............................................................ 12 
Carryover Provision ............................................................................................. 12 

COMPLIANCE PERIOD .................................................................................................. 12 
Three-year Tenant Protection Period ..................................................................... 13 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS ............................................... 13 
ELIGIBLE APPLICANTS ................................................................................................. 13 
HOUSING CREDIT PROCEEDS ........................................................................................ 13 
SOURCES AND USES CERTIFICATION................................................................................ 14 
DEVELOPMENT COST LIMITATIONS .................................................................................. 14 

Hard Cost Per Unit/Hard Cost Per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per Unit/Total 
Project Cost Per Square Foot ................................................................................ 14 
Additional Cost Limitations ................................................................................... 14 
Contractor’s Overhead ......................................................................................... 15 
General Requirements ......................................................................................... 15 
Contractor Profit ................................................................................................. 15 
Developer Fees................................................................................................... 15 
Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties ................................................ 15 
Limitation on Soft Costs ...................................................................................... 15 

UNDERWRITING ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITATIONS ................................................................ 15 
Credit Percentage Rate for Housing Credit Calculation ............................................. 15 
Operating Expenses ............................................................................................ 16 
Debt Coverage Ratio ........................................................................................... 16 
Maximum Rents.................................................................................................. 16 
Operating Reserves ............................................................................................. 16 
Replacement Reserves ........................................................................................ 17 
Utility Allowances ............................................................................................... 17 
Additional Underwriting Assumptions .................................................................... 17 

PROJECT ACCESSIBILITY REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................... 17 
ENERGY, GREEN BUILDING AND OTHER INITIATIVES, GOALS AND REQUIREMENTS .......................... 18 

A. Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity ...................................... 18 
B. Visitability and Universal Design Principles ......................................................... 18 

119



 
ii 

 

C. Sustainable Site, Location and Design ............................................................... 18 
D. Passive House Standard .................................................................................. 18 
E. Energy and Water Conservation ........................................................................ 19 
F. Material and Resource Efficiency ....................................................................... 19 
G. Amenities ...................................................................................................... 19 
H. Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) ............................... 19 
I. Smoke-Free Housing ........................................................................................ 19 
J. State of Montana Building Code ......................................................................... 20 
K. Required Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits ....................................... 20 

SUBSTANTIAL REHABILITATION ...................................................................................... 20 
TAX EXEMPT BOND FINANCED PROJECTS ........................................................................... 20 
EVENTUAL HOME OWNERSHIP........................................................................................ 20 
130% BASIS BOOST ................................................................................................. 21 

Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects ................................................................... 21 
MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects ..................................... 21 

NON-HOUSING AMENITIES ........................................................................................... 22 
ACCOUNTANT AND OWNER CERTIFICATION ........................................................................ 22 
INFORMATION REQUEST AND RELEASE POLICY .................................................................... 22 
EX PARTE COMMUNICATION POLICY ................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD SCHEDULE – MANNER OF 
SUBMISSION ........................................................................................................ 23 

COMPETITIVE 9% CREDIT APPLICATIONS .......................................................................... 23 
FIRST AWARD ROUND: ............................................................................................... 23 
SECOND AWARD ROUND (IF ANY):.................................................................................. 23 
BOARD CONSIDERATION AND DETERMINATION PROCESS ........................................................ 24 
4% CREDIT APPLICATIONS FOR TAX EXEMPT BOND FINANCED PROJECTS .................................... 24 
APPLICATION SUBMISSION METHOD FOR 4% AND 9% CREDIT APPLICATIONS ............................... 25 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE ................................................................................. 26 
LETTER OF INTENT ..................................................................................................... 26 
APPLICATION ........................................................................................................... 26 
REQUESTING ADDITIONAL CREDITS AFTER INITIAL ALLOCATION ............................................... 26 
COMPLIANCE FEES ..................................................................................................... 26 
DEVELOPER/OWNER REIMBURSEMENT OF BOARD LEGAL EXPENSES ............................................ 26 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS .......................................................................... 27 
MAXIMUM CREDIT AWARD ............................................................................................ 27 

SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES ..................................................................................... 27 
NON-PROFIT ............................................................................................................ 27 
CORRECTIVE AWARD .................................................................................................. 27 
SMALL RURAL PROJECTS .............................................................................................. 28 
GENERAL RULES REGARDING SET ASIDES ......................................................................... 28 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION PROCESS ............................ 29 
LETTER OF INTENT ..................................................................................................... 29 
APPLICATION ........................................................................................................... 29 
THRESHOLD REQUIREMENTS ARE MANDATORY .................................................................... 30 
THRESHOLD REQUIREMENTS ......................................................................................... 30 

Public Notice ...................................................................................................... 33 
Example of Public Notice ...................................................................................... 33 

120



iii 

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD ............................................................... 34 
THRESHOLD EVALUATION AND CONSIDERATIONS ................................................................. 34 
AMOUNT OF HOUSING CREDIT ALLOCATION ....................................................................... 35 
DEVELOPMENT EVALUATION CRITERIA AND SCORING ............................................................ 36 

1. Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible) ............................................. 36 
2. Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible) .................................................. 37 
3. Project Location* (100 points possible) ............................................................ 37 
4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 points possible) ........................................ 38 
5. Project Characteristics* (230 points possible) ................................................... 39 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible) ................................. 40 
7. Participation of Local Entity (60 points possible) ................................................ 41 
8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible) ................ 41 
9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points possible) ... 42

MINIMUM SCORING THRESHOLD ..................................................................................... 45 
AWARD DETERMINATION SELECTION STANDARD .................................................................. 45 

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL ALLOCATION................... 46 
RESERVATION AGREEMENT ........................................................................................... 46 
GROSS RENT FLOOR ELECTION ...................................................................................... 47 
DECLARATION OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS ....................................................................... 47 
CARRYOVER COMMITMENT ............................................................................................ 47 
10% TEST ............................................................................................................. 48 
PLACED IN SERVICE ................................................................................................... 48 
FINAL ALLOCATIONS/8609 .......................................................................................... 49 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES ................................. 50 
STATE LAW REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 50 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION ................................................................................................ 50 
QUARTERLY STATUS REPORTING .................................................................................... 50 
CHANGES TO PROJECT OR APPLICATION ............................................................................ 51 

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING ........................................................... 51 
COMPLIANCE FEES ..................................................................................................... 52 
RECORDKEEPING, RECORD RETENTION AND DATA COLLECTION ................................................ 52 

Recordkeeping ................................................................................................... 52 
Records Retention .............................................................................................. 53 
Data Collection ................................................................................................... 53 

OWNERS CERTIFICATE OF CONTINUING PROGRAM COMPLIANCE ................................................ 53 
INCOME AND EXPENSE SUMMARY .................................................................................... 53 
SUBMISSION DEADLINES ............................................................................................. 53 
REVIEW BY MBOH STAFF ............................................................................................. 53 
OWNERSHIP/MANAGEMENT CHANGES .............................................................................. 53 
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 54 
TENANT INCOME CERTIFICATIONS (TIC) ........................................................................... 55 

Frequency and Form ........................................................................................... 55 
STUDENT STATUS CERTIFICATION ................................................................................... 55 
ON-SITE INSPECTIONS ............................................................................................... 55 
NOTICE TO OWNER (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(2)) ...................................................................... 56 
CORRECTION PERIOD (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(4)) .................................................................... 56 
NOTICE TO IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (E)(3)) .......................................................................... 56 
LIABILITY (26 CFR 1.42 (G)) ...................................................................................... 56 
MARKETING THE PROJECT ............................................................................................ 56 

121



iv 

QUALIFIED CONTRACT PROCESS ..................................................................................... 56 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER .................................................................................. 57 
MBOH POLICY ON NON-DISCRIMINATION ......................................................................... 57 
QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN REVISIONS ......................................................................... 57 
MBOH POLICY ON CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLIANCE ................................................................... 57 

HOUSING CREDIT FORMS: .................................................................................... 58 

122



 
1 

 

INTRODUCTION  
The low income housing tax credit is established under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  The credit is a federal income tax credit for Owners of qualifying rental 
housing which meets certain low income occupancy and rent limitation requirements. 

Congress established the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program by enactment of the Tax 
Reform Act of 1986.  Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) implemented and began 
administering the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program in 1987 in the State of Montana.  
Since then, the program has assisted in providing for the retention, rehabilitation, and 
construction of rental housing for low income individuals and families for over 6,000 units 
throughout Montana.  

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989 required the appropriate administering 
agencies (in this case, MBOH) to allocate credits pursuant to a Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP) which sets forth the priorities, considerations, criteria and process for making 
Allocations to Projects in Montana.  The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 provided 
a permanent extension for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit.  

Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) is the state agency that allocates the tax credits for 
housing located in Montana.  The per state resident amount of tax credit allocated annually 
for housing is limited as specified by the IRS and adjusted from time to time as provided in 
notice from the IRSto $2.30  with a minimum cap as allocated by IRS, whichever is larger.  
The current allocation of Tax Credits plus any inflation factor the IRS may calculate is posted 
to the MBOH website, normally in August or September each year.  Montana receives the 
minimum cap because of its population. 

An Owner must obtain a Final Allocation from MBOH and meet all other applicable 
requirements before claiming the tax credit.  

This QAP is intended to ensure the selection of those developments which best meet the 
most pressing housing needs of low income people within the State of Montana in 
accordance with the guidelines and requirements established by the federal government and 
the requirements, considerations, factors, limitations, criteria and priorities established by 
the MBOH Board. 

At its February 8, 2016February 13, 2017 meeting, the MBOH Board considered and 
approved public notice and distribution of the proposed 20187 Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP).  Public notice of the proposed 20187 QAP and the opportunity for public comment 
was published and distributed on February 8, 2016 February __, 2017 with oral comments 
received at a public hearing  February 17, 2016__________ ___, 2017.  At its March 14, 
2016March ___, 2017 meeting, after considering written and oral public comment on the 
proposed 20187 QAP, the MBOH Board approved the proposed 20187 QAP for submission to 
and approval by the Montana Governor.  The Governor of Montana, Steve Bullock, approved 
the plan as the final 20187 QAP on April 11, 2016__________ ___, 2017. 

MBOH annually makes available for reservation and Allocation its authorized volume cap of 
credit authority subject to the provisions of this QAP.  Montana’s Qualified Allocation Plan for 
the current and prior years, along with current Forms, are available at 
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP.MBOH evaluates tax credit Applications, selects the Projects 
for which tax credits will be reserved, and allocates credits to the selected developments 
meeting applicable requirements.  Federal legislation requires that the administering agency 
allocate only the amount of credit it determines necessary to the financial feasibility of the 
development. 

123

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP.MBOH


2 

Tax credits not Awarded during a given round or any unused credits from earlier rounds 
may, at the discretion of MBOH, be carried forward for the next round of allocation or, as 
MBOH determines necessary for financial feasibility, be used to increase the amount of tax 
credits Awarded for a Project selected for an Award of tax credits in a prior round. 

Consistent with the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of this QAP, all tax 
credit Awards, Reservation (Initial Allocations), Carryover Commitments, 10% Cost 
Certifications and Final Allocations are subject to and conditional upon IRS authorization and 
allocation of tax credits for the State of Montana. 

SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS 

As used in this QAP, the following definitions apply unless the context clearly requires a 
different meaning: 

“4% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded in accordance with the applicable QAP 
to Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
and, except as otherwise provided by this QAP for Applications combining 4% and 9% 
Credits, outside the competitive allocation process applicable to 9% Credits. 

“9% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded through the competitive process in 
accordance with the applicable QAP.  

“10% Cost Certification” means the certification that must be provided to MBOH 
using the MBOH 10% Cost Certification Forms.   

“Absorption Rate” means the number of months projected in the Application’s market 
study for a Project to become fully leased, using the calculations listed in the full market 
study guidelines posted on the MBOH website. 

“Acquisition” means obtaining title, lease or other Land and Property Control over a 
property for purposes of an HC Project.  Acquisition includes purchase, lease, donation or 
other means of obtaining Land and Property Control. 

“Acquisition/Rehab” means Acquisition of a property with one or more existing 
buildings and renovation meeting Montana’s minimum Rehabilitation standard set forth in 
Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation, for existing buildings on the property that are part of 
an HC Project.   

“Adjusted Construction Costs” means Construction Costs excluding General 
Requirements. 

“Allocation” means an Initial Allocation or a Final Allocation. 

“Applicable QAP” means: (a) for purposes of any substantive issues relating to an 
Award, or to the Development Evaluation Criteria, Scoring, Selection Criteria or Selection 
Standard for such Award, or the fee amounts charged for Letter of Intent, Application, 10% 
Cost Certification and Final Allocation, the particular year’s QAP under which the Application 
is or was submitted, evaluated and Awarded HCs; or (b) for purposes of Project changes, 
Reservation (Initial Allocation), Carryover Commitment, 10% Cost Certification (other than 
the fee amount), Final Allocation (other than the fee amount), compliance requirements, 
compliance audits, and any post-Award procedures, the QAP most recently adopted. 

“Applicant” means the entity identified as such in the Application, and who is and will 
remain responsible to MBOH for the Application.  When used in reference to a Letter of 
Intent, the term means the person or entity on whose behalf the Letter of Intent is 
submitted and who is and will remain responsible to MBOH for the Letter of Intent. 

124



3 

“Application” means a request for an Award of HCs submitted in the form specified 
by and according to the requirements of this QAP. 

“Architect” means a professional licensed by the applicable state authority as a 
building architect. 

“Available Annual Credit Allocation” is defined as and includes the state’s actual or 
estimated credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available credits from prior year 
credit authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable Application 
deadline, and includes any credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award 
under the Corrective Award set aside. 

“Award” means selection of a Project by the MBOH Board to receive a Reservation of 
HCs. 

“Award Determination Meeting” means the meeting of the MBOH Board at which the 
Board selects one or more Applicants to receive an Award. 

“Carryover” means the process and determination of MBOH by which Awarded and 
reserved HCs are continued and carried into the second year after Award of the HCs by 
MBOH issuance of a Carryover Commitment, according to the specific requirements of this 
QAP.  

“Carryover Commitment” means a Carryover of HCs based upon an MBOH Carryover 
determination, which commitment is conditional upon the Applicant performing all 
conditions and requirements for Final Allocation as set forth in the Applicable QAP, the 
Carryover Commitment document issued by MBOH and applicable law. “Cold Weather 
Development and Construction” means experience of the HC Developer or Consultant on 
one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel. 

“Commercial Purposes” means use of any Project Amenities, common space or other 
Project property or facilities by others than tenants for which the Project owner or 
management receives any compensation for such use, whether in cash or in kind. 

“Common Area” means any space in the building(s) on the Project property that is 
not in the units (except manager units), i.e. hallways, stairways, community rooms, laundry 
rooms, garages/carports, manager units, etc.  Common Area is eligible to be paid for with 
Housing Credits. 

“Compliance Period” means, with respect to any building, the initial period of 15 
taxable years beginning with the 1st taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided 
in 26 U.S.C. § 42. 

“Construction Costs” means all costs listed on the UniApp, Section C, Uses of Funds, 
under the Site Work and Rehab sections. 

“Consultant” or “HC Consultant” means an individual or entity advising a Developer 
or Owner with respect to the HC Application and/or development process. 

“Contractor’s Overhead” means the contractor’s overhead shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Contractor Profit” means the contractor’s profit shown in the Applicant’s properly 
completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements.  

“Debt Coverage Ratio” or “DCR” means the ratio of a Project’s net operating income 
(rental income less Operating Expenses and reserve payments) to foreclosable, currently 
amortizing debt service obligations.  

“Design Professional” means a housing/building design professional. 

125



4 

“Developer” means the individual(s) and/or entity(ies) specifically listed and 
identified as the developer in the Uniform Application, Section A - Applicant 
Developer/Sponsor, responsible for development, construction and completion of an HC 
Project. 

“Developer Fee” means those costs included by the Applicant in the UniApp, adjusted 
as necessary to comply with the maximum Developer’s fee specified in Section 3, Additional 
Cost Limitations, Developer Fees, which are included as Developer’s fees by the Cost 
Analysis. 

“Development Evaluation Criteria” means the evaluation and scoring criteria set forth 
in QAP Section 9, Evaluation and Award. 

“Development Team” means and includes the Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Qualified Management Company, and HC Consultant identified as such in the 
Application. 

“Difficult Development Areas” or “DDA” means an area designated by HUD as a 
Difficult Development Area. 

“Disqualify” or “Disqualification” means, with respect to an Application, that the 
Application is returned to the Applicant by MBOH without scoring and without consideration 
for an Award of HCs, as authorized or required by this QAP.   

“Elderly Property” means a Project that for which a Fair Housing Act exemption for 
housing for older persons will apply, i.e., forwill limit its tenants to households that include 
at least one individual age 55 or older or in which all household members are age 62 or 
older, as more specifically defined in the Fair Housing Act definition of “housing for older 
persons” as codified at 42 U.S.C. § 3607(b)(2)(B), (C) and (C)(i).  If permitted by the rules 
applicable to other federal funding sources involved in the Project, households may also 
include disabled individuals below the specified age thresholds. 

“Expense Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to a Project with no hard debt 
included in the UniApp, the ratio of the Project’s operating income to expenses. 

 “Experienced Developer” means a Developer who was entitled by written agreement 
to receive at least 50% of the Development Fees on a prior low-income housing tax credit 
Project that has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state 
housing finance agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant 
problems. 

“Experienced Partner” means a member of the Development Team who was a 
member of the Development Team on a prior low-income housing tax credit Project that has 
achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state housing finance 
agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant problems. 

“Extended Use Period” means the Compliance Period plus an additional period of at 
least 15 years, or a longer period, as specified in the Application and the Restrictive 
Covenants.   

“Final Allocation” means, with respect to HCs, MBOH issuance of an IRS Form 
8609(s) (Low Income Housing Credit Allocation Certificate) for a Project after building 
construction or Rehabilitation has been completed according to the Project Application and 
any MBOH or MBOH Board-approved changes and the building has been Placed in Service. 

“Final Cost Certification” means an independent third party CPA cost certification, 
including a statement of eligible and qualified basis for the Project, submitted to MBOH on 
the form specified by and in accordance with the requirements of this QAP, for purposes of 
obtaining IRS Form 8609(s). 

126



5 

“Form” means the most current version of any Form referenced in this QAP.  All 
Forms are available on the MBOH website.   

“General Partner” means the general partner of a partnership entity that is formed 
for purposes of a Project.   

“General Requirements” means the contractor's miscellaneous administrative and 
procedural activities and expenses that do not fall into a major-function construction 
category and are Project-specific and therefore not part of the contractor's general 
overhead, categorized in accordance with NCSHA standards and shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Limitations and Requirements. 

“Gut Rehab” means a Project that includes the replacement and/or improvement of 
all major systems of the building, including (i) removing walls/ceilings back to the 
studs/rafters and replacing them; (ii) removing/replacing trim, windows, doors, exterior 
siding and roof; (iii) replacing HVAC, plumbing and electrical systems; and (iv) replacing 
and/or improving the building envelope (i.e., the air barrier and thermal barrier separating 
exterior from interior space) by either removing materials down to the studs or structural 
masonry on one side of the exterior walls and subsequently improving the building envelope 
to meet the whole-building energy performance levels for the project type, or creating a 
new thermal and air barrier around the building. 

“Hard Costs” means and includes all costs other than Soft Costs, land Acquisition 
costs and, operating and replacement reserve costs and the Letter of Intent fee, Application 
Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and Final Allocation (8609) fee, as 
required in the Applicable QAP.  Hard Costs include any building Acquisition costs. 

“Hard Cost Per Square Foot” means Hard Costs divided by Project Square Footage 
shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements. 

“Hard Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Hard Costs by the 
number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“Housing Credits” or “HCs” or “Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits 
allocated or available for allocation under this Montana QAP. 

“Initial Allocation” means the conditional setting aside by MBOH of HCs from a 
particular year’s federal LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover 
Commitment and/or Final Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject 
to the requirements and conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the 
Applicable QAP and federal law. 

“Investor” means an entity that will directly or indirectly purchase HCs from the 
awardee.  

“Land or Property Control” means legally binding documentation of title or right to 
possession and use of the property, or the right to acquire title or right to possession and 
use of the property, for purposes the Project, including but not limited to documentation of 
fee ownership, lease, buy/sell agreement, option to purchase or lease, or other right, title or 
interest that will allow the Owner to acquire Proof of Ownership for purposes of Carryover. 

“Large Project” means, for purposes of the Soft Cost Ratio, a Project with more than 
24 low-income units. 

 “Letter of Intent” means a letter and attachment submitted to MBOH on the MBOH 
Letter of Intent Form. 

127

http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/stud
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/rafter
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/trim
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/window
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/doors
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/siding
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/roof
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/plumbing
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/electrical
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/system


 
6 

 

“Low-Income Housing Tax Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits, 
referred to in this QAP as HCs. 

”Management Company” means a person or entity that has contracted with the 
Owner to manage the Project property, including such activities as leasing units, enforcing 
lease requirements and rules, repairs and maintenance, Housing Credit compliance and 
other matters relating to the operation of the project.   

“Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company” means a company 
recognized in the Low Income Housing Tax Credit industry as a qualified Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit compliance trainer.  

“NCSHA” means the National Council of State Housing Agencies.  

“New Construction” means construction of one or more new buildings, and includes 
Gut Rehabs.   

“Operating Expenses” means projected ongoing costs to run or operate a property, 
not including expenses for amortization, depreciation or mortgage-related interest. 

“Owner” means the legal entity that owns the Project.  

“Placed in Service” means the certification of the building or the date of certification 
of the building as being suitable for occupancy in accordance with state or local law through 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy, except as otherwise provided in this QAP or Section 
42. 

“Preservation” means Projects that are for the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
existing affordable housing stock. 

“Project” means the low income residential rental building, or buildings, that are the 
subject of an Application for or an Award of HCs.  

“Project Square Footage” means such portion of the total square feet applicable to 
low-income Units and Common Areas and used for the applicable square footage calculation 
in the UniApp under Section B - Program Information, Part X, “Project Uses.”  Project 
Square Footage includes all building square footage available to or serving tenants, 
including units, management unit(s) and offices, Common Area, balconies, patios, storage 
and parking structures.  

“Proof of Ownership” means title or right to possession and use of the property for 
the duration of the Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a 
recorded deed or an executed lease agreement. 

“Qualified Allocation Plan” or “QAP” means this Montana qualified allocation plan 
required by Section 42 of the Code.   

“Qualified Census Tract” or “QCT” means an area designated as such by HUD. 

“Qualified Management Company” means a Management Company that meets the 
education requirements specified in Section 12, Education Requirements, and is not 
disqualified by MBOH to serve as a Management Company on existing, new or additional tax 
credit Properties or Projects, based upon the company’s: (i) failure to complete timely any 
required training; (ii) failure to have or maintain any required certification; (iii) record of 
noncompliance, or lack of cooperation in correcting or refusal to correct noncompliance, on 
or with respect to any tax credit or other publicly subsidized low-income housing property; 
or (iv) delinquent MBOH late fees (unless the Management Company demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of MBOH that such noncompliance or lack of cooperation was beyond such 
company’s control). 

128



7 

“Qualified Nonprofit Organization” means, with respect to a Project, an organization 
exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c) (3) or (4) of the Internal Revenue 
Code, which is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or controlled 
by a for-profit organization, whose exempt purposes include the fostering of low income 
housing, which owns an interest in the Project, which will materially participate in the 
development and operation of the Project throughout the Compliance Period, and which is 
not affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit organization. 

“Rehabilitation,” “Rehab” or “Substantial Rehabilitation” means renovation of a 
building or buildings to house HC units meeting the required minimum Hard Cost Per Unit 
thresholds specified in Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation. 

“Related Party” means an individual or entity whose financial, family or business 
relationship to the individual or entity in question permit significant influence over the other 
to an extent that one or more parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests.  Related parties include but are not limited to: (1) family members 
(sibling, spouse, domestic partner, ancestor or lineal descendant); (2) a subsidiary, parent 
or other entity that owns or is owned by the individual or entity; (3) an entity with common 
control or ownership (e.g., common officers, directors, or shareholders or officers or 
directors who are family members of each other); (4) an entity owned or controlled through 
ownership or control of at least a 50% interest by an individual (the interest of the 
individual and individual’s family members are aggregated for such purposes) or the entity 
(the interest of the entity, its principals and management are aggregated for such 
purposes); and (5) an individual or entity who has been a Related Party in the last year or 
who is likely to become a Related Party in the next year. 

“Reservation” means MBOH’s Initial Allocation of HCs from a particular year’s federal 
LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover Commitment and/or Final 
Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject to the requirements and 
conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the Applicable QAP and federal law. 

“Reservation Agreement” means a written contract entered into between MBOH and 
the taxpayer to provide for a Reservation and setting forth the terms and conditions under 
which the taxpayer may obtain a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation.   

“Restrictive Covenants” means the recorded covenants required by Section 42 of the 
Code. 

“Selection Criteria” means and includes all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides and priorities set forth in 
this QAP and all federal requirements. 

“Selection Standard” means the standard for selection of Projects to receive an 
Award of HCs set forth in the Award Determination subsection of Section 9, Evaluation and 
Award, i.e., the MBOH Board’s determination that one or more Projects best meet the most 
pressing housing needs of low income people within the state of Montana as more 
specifically set forth in such subsection.  

“Small Project” means a Project with 24 or fewer low-income units. 

“Small Rural Project” means, for purposes of the Small Rural Project set aside, a 
Project: (1) for which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount 
up to but no more than 10%12.5% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation; , and 
(2) is a Project with 20 or fewer low-income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and
constructed in a location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great
Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.

129



8 

 “Soft Costs” means the costs of professional work and fees, interim costs, financing 
fees and expenses, syndication costs and Developer’s fees included by the Applicant in the 
UniApp. Soft Costs do not include operating or replacement reserves, or the Letter of Intent 
fee, Application Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and Final Allocation (8609) 
fee, as required in the Applicable QAP. 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs divided by 
the sum of total Hard Costs (as calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown by a 
comparative market analysis or appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of whether land 
is donated, leased, purchased or otherwise acquired. 

“Sources and Uses” means the sources and uses of funds as specified in the 
Application. 

“Substantial Change” means a substantial change in the Project from the Project as 
set forth in the Application, and includes a change in or to: 

• A member of the Development Team occurring prior to Placed in Service;
• Participating local entity;
• Quality or durability of construction;
• Number of units or unit composition;
• Site or floor plan;
• Square footage of Project building(s);
• Project amenities;
• Income or rent targeting;
• Rental subsidies;
• Target group;
• Project location;
• Sources and Uses (to the extent any line item changes by 10% or more);
• Common Space square footage, location or purposes;
• Housing Credits required for the Project;
• Extended Use Period;
• Any Application item or information required by the Applicable QAP;
• Any item that would have resulted in a lower Development Evaluation Criteria

Score under the Applicable QAP; and
• Any other significant feature, characteristic or aspect of the Project.

“Total Project Cost” mean all costs shown in UniApp Section C, Part II, Uses of Funds 
line “Total Projects Costs without Grant Admin”.  Total Project Cost does not include grant 
administration costs. 

“Total Project Cost Per Square Foot” means Total Project Costs divided by Project 
Square Footage shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, 
Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Total Project Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Total Project 
Costs by the number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, 
Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“UniApp” means the most current Uniform Application and Supplement available on 
the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx. 

“UniApp Supplement” means the Supplement portion of the UniApp. 

“Unit” means an income-restricted or market rate tenant or management (manager, 
security or other) residential apartment or single-family home.  

130

http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx


9 

“Vacancy Rate” means percentage of vacant affordable units in the Application’s 
market area or in the property. 

SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS 
THE FOLLOWING IS A BRIEF SUMMARY OF SOME ELEMENTS OF THE HOUSING CREDIT AND 
IS PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.  THERE ARE NUMEROUS TECHNICAL 
RULES GOVERNING A BUILDING'S QUALIFICATION FOR THE HOUSING CREDIT, THE 
AMOUNT OF THE HOUSING CREDIT, AND AN OWNER'S ABILITY TO USE THE HOUSING 
CREDIT TO OFFSET FEDERAL INCOME TAXES.  ANYONE CONSIDERING APPLYING FOR 
HOUSING CREDITS SHOULD REFER, IN ADDITION TO THIS QAP, TO SECTION 42 OF THE 
UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE (26 U.S.C. § 42).  DEVELOPERS OR OWNERS 
INTERESTED IN APPLYING FOR A CREDIT ALLOCATION SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX 
ACCOUNTANT OR ATTORNEY IN PLANNING A SPECIFIC TRANSACTION.   

Low Income Housing Tax Credits, referred to in this QAP as Housing Credits or HCs, are 
Awarded by the State of Montana through MBOH to applicants based on the information 
submitted in or in connection with Applications, other information obtained by MBOH staff as 
provided in this QAP and justification with support documentation supplied by the 
Applicants.  At or before the time an Application is made, the Applicant must solicit an 
Investor who will purchase the tax credits, if Awarded. 

The Housing Credits are Awarded each year for a ten-year period.  Hypothetically, a Project 
Awarded $100,000 in Housing Credits is essentially Awarded $1,000,000 ($100,000 X 10 
years) for the ten-year period.  When an Investor purchases the Credits, the money from 
the purchase is infused into the financing for the building of the Project.  The Investor 
purchases the Housing Credits, for example, $ .75 on the dollar ($100,000 X $.75 X 10 
years) equating to $750,000.  Typically, the Investor pays at a range of $ .70 to $.90 on the 
dollar.  This money directly reduces the amount of dollars financed in a Project, thereby 
reducing the rents that must be charged to tenants as well as assuring that the Project cash 
flows.   

The Investor, through a limited liability limited partnership (LLLP) or other legal entity, must 
be a 99.99% Owner of the Project for fifteen years during which the Investor declares 
$100,000 each year for ten years as credit on the Investor’s income tax.  Generally, once 
fifteen years have passed, the Project is sold back to the General Partner (the .01% 
partner) for a negotiated amount and the ownership is transferred. 

Throughout the Housing Credit Extended Use Period, the Project must comply with the 
requirements of Housing Credit administration as set forth in the current QAP and 26 U.S.C. 
§ 42.  Periodic file audits and inspection of units will be performed by MBOH staff.

The Housing Credit is available for residential rental buildings which are part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  The rental units must be available to the general public.  Residential 
properties which are ineligible for the Credit generally include transient housing, housing 
initially leased for less than six (6) months, buildings of four (4) units or less which are 
occupied by the Owner or a relative of the Owner, nursing homes, life care facilities, 
retirement homes providing significant services other than housing, dormitories, and trailer 
parks. 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the Montana’s volume limitation for private 
activity bonds may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s Housing Credit 
allocation volume cap.   See specific requirements in Section 3, Montana Specific 
Requirements, Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects.  

131



10 

The Housing Credit can be used to assist in financing Acquisition with Substantial 
Rehabilitation, Substantial Rehabilitation, construction of qualifying residential rental, or 
eventual homeownership housing.  The applicable percentage rate (APR) for each Project 
will depend upon the type of building and its financing, the floating APR or other APR set by 
the federal government, and the Project’s election of the APR.  As long as the building 
continues to qualify for the Credit, the Owner may claim the Credit each year during the 10-
year credit period. 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation 
New Construction and Rehabilitation Projects using competitive Credits will qualify for the 
floating monthly tax credit rate (commonly referred to as the 9% rate) or another 
percentage rate permitted by federal law.  The applicable tax credit rate is elected by the 
taxpayer and locked at Reservation/Initial Allocation or at Placed in Service, as specified in 
the Reservation Agreement.  If an Owner Substantially Rehabilitates a building (basically by 
incurring Rehabilitation expenditures in an amount that equals or exceeds the greater of: 
(a) the Montana-specific Substantial Rehabilitation per rental unit standard specified in
Section 3, “Substantial Rehabilitation,” or (b) 30% of the adjusted basis of the building
during a 24-month or shorter period), the Rehabilitation expenditure is treated as a
separate new building for purposes of the Housing Credit. The “per unit” calculation is the
total amount of Hard Costs for the Project divided by the number of units within the Project.
Because Montana’s Substantial Rehabilitation standard is higher than the federal minimum
of $6,200.00 in Hard Costs and 20% of adjusted basis, Montana’s higher Substantial
Rehabilitation standard applies.

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation 
For an existing building which is acquired and Substantially Rehabilitated, the Housing 
Credit will be approximately four (4) percent for qualified Acquisition costs and nine (9) 
percent for the qualified Substantial Rehabilitation costs, provided that the Rehabilitation is 
not federally subsidized. 

Eventual Home Ownership 
The opportunity for eventual home ownership allows for Projects, with sufficient 
justification, to make units available to be purchased by the current tenants after 15 years 
of successful performance as an affordable rental. See Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.  

Federally Subsidized Buildings 
Projects funded by tax exempt bonds are considered federally subsidized and qualify only 
for 4% of the qualified basis for New Construction, Acquisition, and Rehabilitation. Buildings 
directly or indirectly financed with below market federal loans are not considered federally 
subsidized.  Below market loans made to the Project from the proceeds of grants made 
under the HOME Investments Partnership Act or loans made to Projects through the Native 
American Housing Assistance and Self Determination Act of 1996 are no longer considered 
to be federal subsidy.  Section 8 rental “certificate” or “voucher” subsidy is not considered 
to be federal subsidy.   

Qualifying Buildings 
In order to qualify for the Housing Credit, an eligible building must be part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  A Project is a qualifying Project only if it meets one of the following 
requirements:   

132



11 

At least 20% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with incomes at 50% 
or less of area median gross income, adjusted for family size (the "20-50 test”), or 

At least 40% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with income at 60% 
or less of area median income, adjusted for family size (the "40-60 test").  

Election 
The Owner must make an irrevocable election between the 20-50 test and the 40-60 test.  
Regardless of the election made, the credit is only allowed for the portion of the building 
dedicated to low income use (for example, if the Owner elects the 40-60 test and a 
minimum of 40% of the units are low income, the Owner would qualify for Housing Credits 
on a minimum of 40% of the eligible basis). 

Rent Limitation 

The gross rent for each Housing Credit unit may not exceed 30% of the applicable income 
ceiling (30% of 50% of median or 30% of 60% of median, as applicable, calculated based 
on the number of bedrooms in the unit, which is the “Maximum Rent”).  For purposes of the 
rent limitation, the gross rent is the sum of the rent amount payable by the tenant, a utility 
allowance amount determined in accordance with this QAP (see Section 3, Underwriting 
Assumptions and Limitations, “Utility Allowances”) and any mandatory fees payable by the 
tenant.  Rental assistance payments made by government agencies such as Section 8, Rural 
Development, or any comparable rental assistance program are not included in gross rent.  
Gross rent does not include any fee for supportive services as described in 26 U.S.C. 
§42(g)(2)(B)(iii).  Gross Rent is expressed as follows:

Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent 

The Gross Rent must be less than or equal to the Maximum Rent (i.e., 30% of the 
applicable income ceiling). 

Basis 
Eligible Basis 

Eligible basis of a qualifying building is generally the same as its adjusted basis for tax 
purposes, determined at the time the building is Placed in Service.  Generally, eligible basis 
consists of: 

• The cost of New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation; or
• The cost of purchasing an existing building and the cost of Substantial Rehabilitation.

Eligible basis will be determined in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 
42includes costs of Common Areas and comparable amenities provided to all residential 
rental units in the building.  However, eligible basis must be reduced to reflect any 
Rehabilitation or historic preservation tax credit claimed with respect to the building.  
Eligible basis excludes land cost, costs attributable to any portion of the building which is 
not residential rental property (except Common Areas), and costs attributable to non-low 
income units which are above the average quality of the low income units in the Project. 
Cost certifications must list all items in basis (parking lot, paving, community areas, covers 
for parking, etc.).  

Qualified Basis 

To determine the qualified basis of a qualifying building, the taxpayer multiplies the eligible 
basis of the building by the lesser of the "unit percentage" or the "floor space percentage".  
The "unit percentage" is the number of low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the number of all residential rental units in the building.  The "floor space 

133



12 

percentage" is the total floor space of the low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the total floor space of all residential rental units in the building. Low income 
units are eligible units which are occupied by qualified low income tenants (with income at 
or below 50% or 60% of area median gross income, depending on the Owner's election of 
the 20-50 or 40-60 test) and which comply with the gross rent limitation (30% of the 
applicable 50% or 60% income limit). The Credit is only allowed for the portion of the 
building dedicated to low income use.   

Credit Calculations 
To calculate the Credit each year, the taxpayer applies the applicable credit percentage to 
the qualified basis of a qualifying building.  The "qualified basis" is that portion of the 
"eligible basis" attributable to low income units in the building. 

Allocation of Credit 
Need for Allocation 

All Projects including Projects financed with tax-exempt bonds must first obtain a Final 
Allocation from MBOH before claiming the Housing Credit.  MBOH makes a Final Allocation 
by issuance of IRS Form 8609(s). 

Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period 

An Owner needs to obtain a Final Allocation only once with respect to a building for which 
the Credit will be claimed.  The Final Allocation then applies each year during the 10-year 
Credit period.  Regardless of the maximum Credit otherwise available (based on applying 
the applicable credit percentage to the qualified basis), the Credit claimed each year for a 
building may not exceed the amount of the Final Allocation for that building. 

Time for Obtaining Carryover Commitment   
An Owner who receives an Award of Credits must either: 

• Place the building in service and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS
Form 8609(s) by the close of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax
credit ceiling from which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year
2017 for 2017 credits Awarded in January 2017), or

• Obtain a Carryover Commitment as provided below, and place the building in service
and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).

Carryover Provision 

A Carryover of a Housing Credit Allocation will be permitted for a period of two (2) years 
beyond the end of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax credit ceiling from 
which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 2019 for 2017 credits 
Awarded in January 2017); contingent upon meeting 10% requirements (see Section 10). 

Compliance Period 
The Compliance Period is the initial period of 15 taxable years beginning with the 1st 
taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided in 26 U.S.C. § 42.  The Application 
must specify an additional period of 15 or more years in which the Applicant agrees to 
maintain units for low income occupancy.  The Compliance Period plus the additional 15 or 
more year period together are referred to as the Extended Use Period.  These restrictions 
will be included in the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and will be effective for the 
entire Extended Use Period. 

An Owner must continue to meet the requirements of Section 42 for a Compliance Period of 
15 years.  Failure to comply, reducing the number of the HC units, or reducing floor space 

134



13 

for which the Credit is based during the Compliance Period, may result in IRS recapture of 
Housing Credits, including non-deductible interest, of at least a portion of the Housing 
Credits taken previously by the Owner. 

To be eligible for HCs, a building must be subject to an extended low income housing 
commitment between the Owner and the state agency, which commitment must be 
established by recorded Restrictive Covenants effective for the full Extended Use Period.  
The Owner must meet compliance criteria for the full Extended Use Period specified in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  Through execution and recording of the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants with respect to Housing Credits, all Owners waive and forfeit the right to request 
that MBOH locate a non-profit qualified buyer (the “qualified contract process”) and the 
Owner must maintain HC units through the Extended Use Period as provided in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  The Extended Use Period specified in the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants may not be terminated early through the qualified contract process.   

Three-year Tenant Protection Period 
HC rent requirements and restrictions will continue for a period of three years following the 
termination or expiration of the Extended Use Period.  The Owner cannot evict or terminate 
the tenancy of an existing tenant of any HC unit other than for good cause during the 
Extended Use Period or during the additional three-year tenant protection period.  

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 
Eligible Applicants 
An Applicant who previously received an Award of Credits for its first Housing Credit Project 
in Montana may not receive an Award of Credits for another Housing Credit Project until the 
first Project has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and an MBOH compliance audit has 
been conducted which revealed no significant problems.  For purposes of this rule, 
Applicants are considered to be the same Applicant if the Applicants are Related Parties or if 
the same Developer or a Related Party of the Developer will receive more than 50% of the 
Development Fees for both Projects.  The foregoing rule does not apply to a subsequent 
Housing Credit Application if the Developer partners with an Experienced Developer who will 
be entitled under a written agreement to receive at least 50% of the Developer Fee on the 
subsequent Project.  The Applicant is not eligible to apply for Credits if the Applicant or any 
member of the Applicant’s Development Team is debarred from federal programs or FHLB 
(Federal Home Loan Bank), prohibited from applying for LIHTCs by another state HFA for 
disciplinary reasons, or has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH,.  If any member 
of the Development Team has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH at any time 
from submission of Letter of Intent through the Award Board meeting, the Application will 
be ineligible for an Award of Credits until such fees are paid in full.  If such late fees are not 
paid in full within ten (10) business days of written notice, the Application will be returned 
and will receive no further consideration.  Application fees will not be refunded. 

Housing Credit Proceeds 
In order to allow MBOH to adequately evaluate Sources and Uses for Housing Credit 
Projects, the Applicant is required to provide information to MBOH regarding the proceeds or 
receipts generated from the Housing Credit.   

At Application, expected Credit proceeds must be estimated by the Applicant.  Within 30 
days after the partnership or operating agreement is signed by all parties, the 
Applicant must provide MBOH with a copy of the executed agreement.  If MBOH 
does not receive a copy of the executed agreement within 30 days of execution, a late fee 

135



14 

of $500.00 will be assessed. Prior to issuance of IRS Form 8609(s), MBOH will require the 
accountant's certification to include gross syndication proceeds and costs of syndication, 
even though the costs are not allowed for eligible basis. 

Sources and Uses Certification 
Applicants must certify that they have disclosed all of a Project’s Sources and Uses, as well 
as its total financing, and must disclose to MBOH in writing any future changes in Sources 
and Uses over 10% in any line item or any increase in Soft Costs throughout the 
development period (until 8609’s are received).  Applicant’s certification of such disclosure 
must be provided to MBOH at Application, at 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost 
Certification on the MBOH Disclosure Certification Form. 

Development Cost Limitations 
To balance housing needs in Montana with appropriate and efficient use of the state's 
allocation of tax credit authority, MBOH has adopted the following cost limitations and 
requirements for purposes of calculating the Housing Credit amount for a particular Project. 
These cost limitations are based upon and in accordance with NCSHA standards. 

Hard Cost Per Unit/Hard Cost Per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per 
Unit/Total Project Cost Per Square Foot 
Hard Cost Per Unit, Hard Cost Per Square Foot, Total Project Cost Per Unit and Total Project 
Cost Per Square Foot are subject to the specific limitations provided in other sections of this 
QAP.  In addition, even for those projects meeting such specific limitations, MBOH will 
evaluate such Cost Per Unit and Cost Per Square Foot for all Projects for reasonableness, 
taking into account the type of housing, other development costs as detailed below, unit 
sizes, the intended target group of the housing and other relevant factors.  MBOH will also 
consider in this review the area of the state and the community where the Project will be 
located.   

All Applications must provide justification for development costs.  These costs will be 
analyzed and scrutinized considering the individual characteristics of the Project listed above 
and will be compared to other like Projects.   

Even though the costs of some Projects may be justifiable and even in some contexts 
considered reasonable given their unique characteristics, MBOH may decline to Award 
Credits to a Project where it determines that costs do not reflect the optimal use of Housing 
Credits.  

The following limit must be met: 

o Total Project Costs Per Unit may not exceed $230,000 $235,000.

Applications exceeding this limit will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration, and the application fee will not be refunded.  Projects must meet this limit at 
Letter of Intent, Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If this limit 
is exceeded at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be assessed with respect to 
future Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 9, Developer Knowledge and 
Responsiveness.  The negative points assessment provided in this paragraph for exceeding 
the Total Project Costs Per Unit limit will apply only prospectively to Projects Awarded 
Credits in the 2017 or later Award rounds.

Additional Cost Limitations 
Applications must comply with the following limitations on Contractor Overhead, General 
Requirements, Contractor Profit and Developer Fee.  To the extent an Application exceeds 
these cost limitations, as calculated in UniApp Section C, Cost Limitations and 

136

atmelon
Inserted Text
This is a tricky area.  How was this limit established and is it enough to achieve all of the goals that affordable housing usually needs to address (design review, sustainability, durability standards).  Urban areas can have more complications, as can adaptive/reuse projects, some acq/rehab projects if they are in desirable areas or come with rental subsidy.  Likewise you might be encouraging less expensive markets to be overbuilt.  I have seen states which have total project cost limits, but which break them out by geography (urban/rural/high cost market/etc) AND include a waiver process such that if costs exceed the limit, housing staff have the ability to approve a waiver.  Reasons can include high opportunity neighborhood, adaptive reuse of a historic building, innovative green project, or whatever the developer may propose.   I'd encourage you to look around at some other states and see how they handle these limits.



15 

Requirements, the excessive costs will be reduced to the limit amount for all purposes under 
the HC program, including without limitation, calculation of basis and eligible Project costs, 
determination of Credit eligibility, and any Award, Reservation (Initial Allocation) or Final 
Allocation of Credits.  

Contractor’s Overhead   
Contractor’s Overhead is limited to a maximum of 2% of Construction Costs. 

General Requirements 
General Requirements are limited to a maximum of 6% of Adjusted Construction Costs. 

Contractor Profit 
Contractor Profit will be limited to a maximum of 6% of Construction Costs. 

Developer Fees  
Developer Fees for New Construction or Rehabilitation will be limited to a maximum of 15% 
of Total Project Costs.  For purposes of this Developer Fee limit, Total Project Costs do not 
include Developer Fees, Contractor Profit or land costs.  HC Consultant fees (amount must 
be disclosed) will be included as part of and subject to the limit on Developer Fees.  
Architectural, engineering, and legal fees services are considered to be professional 
services, and fees for such services are not included in this limitation; however, fees for 
professional services will be examined for reasonableness. 

Developer fees for Acquisition will be limited to a maximum of 15% of the Project 
Acquisition costs.  

Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties  
If the development includes transactions with Related Parties, any profit from those 
transactions must be subtracted from the Total Project Cost before calculating the 15% 
maximum Developer Fee and 6% maximum Contractor Profit. Failure to fully disclose 
Related Party transactions may result in the Project’s not receiving an Award of Housing 
Credits.  MBOH reserves the right to negotiate lower Developer Fees and Contractor Profit 
on Projects involving Related Party transactions.  

Limitation on Soft Costs 
The Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio (“Soft Cost Ratio”) for the Project, based upon the 
Application’s UniApp, may not exceed 30% for Large Projects (more than 24 units) and 35% 
for Small Projects (24 or fewer units) or Small Rural Projects.  If the Soft Cost Ratio for a 
Project exceeds the applicable maximum, MBOH will contact the Applicant regarding the 
excessive costs and allow the Applicant to specify how and by what amount its Soft Costs 
will be reduced to comply with the maximum.  The Applicant must communicate its chosen 
Soft Costs adjustments to MBOH staff in writing within ten (10) business days after such 
communication and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such adjustments for 
all purposes under the HC program.  All such Soft Cost adjustments and the Application, as 
amended to reflect such adjustments, must comply with this QAP in all other respects.  If 
the Applicant fails to communicate its Soft Cost adjustments to MBOH staff within the 
required time, MBOH staff will decide how and by what amount Soft Costs will be reduced to 
comply with the maximum and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such 
adjustments for all purposes under the HC program.   

Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations 
Credit Percentage Rate for Housing Credit Calculation 

The credit percentage rate published by the federal government for the month prior to the 
date of Application will be used by Applicants and MBOH for purposes of preparation, 
submission, underwriting and evaluation of Applications and Award of HCs. 

137



16 

Operating Expenses 

MBOH will evaluate Operating Expenses and Vacancy Rate underwriting assumptions for all 
Projects for reasonableness, taking into account the type of housing, unit sizes, intended 
target group of the housing and the location of the Project within the area of the state and 
the community.  Staff may require the Applicant to provide additional justification and 
documentation regarding any Operating Costs deemed to be outside the normal range.   

Debt Coverage Ratio    

The Debt Coverage Ratio (“DCR”) should be: 

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend upward through the first 15 years of
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.15 and 1.35 in the first year of
normal operation, i.e., year 1 as shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp.

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend downward through the first 15 years of
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.10 and 1.50 during the entire first
15 years of normal operation i.e., the 15-year period that begins with year 1 as
shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp.

DCR’s outside these ranges must be justified in the Application narrative to the
satisfaction of MBOH, in its sole discretion.  In determining whether the Applicant’s 
justification is acceptable, MBOH will consider the reasonableness of the Project’s proposed 
rent levels, Operating Expenses, reserve payments, projected Vacancy Rates, debt service 
obligations, Soft Costs and amount of Credits requested.  If the DCR, as underwritten by 
MBOH at Application, falls outside the ranges specified above without justification 
acceptable to MBOH, MBOH will reduce the amount of Credits requested by the Applicant to 
an amount determined by MBOH to be necessary for the financial feasibility of the 
development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project throughout the 
Compliance Period. 

MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates (which may require 
upward adjustment for Small Projects) and Operating Cost data, in conjunction with debt 
service coverage, in judging the long-term financial viability of Projects.  MBOH may require 
adjustments to rents or Credit amount to assure the Credits Awarded are no greater than 
necessary to make the Project feasible. 

MBOH will evaluate the DCR at Application, at 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost 
Certification.  In addition, if the DCR at 10% or Final Cost Certification has changed 
significantly from the DCR as underwritten by MBOH at Application, MBOH may assess 
negative points to the next Application that includes any member of the Development Team. 

MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates (which may require 
upward adjustment for Small Projects) and Operating Cost data, in conjunction with debt 
service coverage, in judging the long-term financial viability of Projects.  MBOH may require 
adjustments to rents or Credit amount to assure the Credits Awarded are no greater than 
necessary to make the Project feasible. 

Maximum Rents 

The MBOH Board may require that rents be maintained at a specified percentage of 
maximum target rent throughout the Extended Use Period.  If required for a particular 
Project, this limitation must be specifically included as a condition of the HC Award and 
included in the Project’s Restrictive Covenants. 

Operating Reserves 

138



 
17 

 

Minimum operating reserves must be established and maintained in an amount equal to at 
least four months of projected Operating Expenses, debt service payments, and annual 
replacement reserve payments.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term 
for which reserves must be held, must be included in the limited partnership or operating 
agreement and meet the requirements of the Investor.  Using an acceptable third party 
source, this requirement can be met by either cash, letter of credit from a financial 
institution, or a Developer guarantee that a syndicator has accepted the responsibility for a 
reserve. 

Replacement Reserves 

Replacement reserves must be contributed in an amount equal to at least $300.00 per unit 
annually.  Exceptions may be made for certain special needs or supportive housing 
developments.  Exceptions must be documented and will be reviewed on a case by case 
basis.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term for which reserves must 
be held, will be included in the limited partnership or operating agreement and meet the 
requirements of the Investor.  

Utility Allowances 

The Montana Department of Commerce Section 8 Utility Allowances are the only acceptable 
utility allowances for Applications, unless otherwise provided by USDA (Rural Development), 
an MBOH-approved allowance or a HOME-approved allowance.  Utility allowances provided 
by utility providers will not be considered or accepted.   

 

Additional Underwriting Assumptions 
The following underwriting assumptions will be used by MBOH for underwriting of all 
Applications: 

• Vacancy rates:  10% - 20 units and less, 7% - more than 20 and up to 50 units, 5%- 
more than 50 units or 100% project based rental assistance; 

• Income Trending: 2%; 
• Expense Trending: 3%; 
• Reserves Trending: as proposed in Application but not to exceed 0 3%; 
• Debt Coverage Ratio:  see “Debt Coverage Ratio” subsection above; 
• Structured Debt for pro-forma not allowed; and 
• Operating expenses per unit: $3,000-$6,000 annually.  

These underwriting assumptions will be used at Application, 10% Cost Certification and Final 
Cost Certification.  Credits will not be Awarded in an amount beyond those needed to make 
the Project feasible according to these underwriting assumptions. 

Project Accessibility Requirements 
The Fair Housing Act, including design and accessibility requirements, applies to HC 
properties.  In addition to meeting Fair Housing Act requirements, all New Construction 
units and common areas and Rehabilitation that at least replaces interior walls and doors 
must incorporate the following:  

For Rehab, items 3 and 4 below apply to all units and all floors where moving walls, 
removing wall coverings, or doing new wiring or rewiring. 

1. 36 inch doors for all living areas (except pantry, storage, and closets). 
2. All door hardware must comply with Fair Housing Act standards for all units. 
3. Outlets mounted not less than 18 inches above floor covering. 

139

atmelon
Sticky Note
These are similar to the base underwriting assumptions we use at US Bank.  I would note though, that there are some slow growth markets, particularly rural areas which may have declining populations, and the 2% growth may not be appropriate.  We use Novogradac's Rent and Income calculator to look at the county level and look at the last 5, 10 and 15 year periods to see if we think 2% going forward is underwritable.  Perhaps a waiver process here could be useful.  

atmelon
Sticky Note
I have concerns whenever I see expense perscriptions in QAPs.  We have some projects in our portfolio that have expenses in excess of $6,000 PUPA, which are totally necessary due to services provided, whether or not utilities are paid by the owner and the age of the buildings.  I would encourage you to consider taking this opex guidance out and allow the developer, lender and investor to determine the correct level of expenses.

atmelon
Sticky Note
This seems prescriptive and cumbersome to review and monitor.  Can MBOH rely on local building codes for accessibility?  It also presents a challenge to investors to review these requirements and add them into our compliance requirements.



18 

4. Light switches, control boxes and/or thermostats mounted no more thanfrom 36 to
48 inches above floor covering.

5. Walls adjacent to toilets, bath tubs and shower stalls must be reinforced for later
installation of grab bars.

6. All faucets must be lever style.
7. A minimum of a ground floor level half-bath with a 30X48 inch turn space (also

required in Rehabilitation unless waived by staff for structural limitations or
excessive cost, etc.) (does not apply if there is no living space on the ground floor
level).

8. No-step entry to all ground floor level units.

Compliance with accessibility requirements must be certified in the architect’s letter of 
certification submitted with the 8609(s) submission.  It is suggested but not required that 
Projects also include parking for caregivers for tenants with disabilities and that a lease 
addendum provide for moving a household without tenants with disabilities from a 
handicapped accessible unit to a regular unit if the handicapped accessible unit is needed for 
rental to a tenant with a disability.     

Energy, Green Building and Other Initiatives, Goals and 
Requirements 
The following items in Subparagraphs A through K specify voluntary initiatives and goals 
which MBOH encourages Developers to consider in the planning and development of 
Projects, as well as certain Project requirements.  These items are required only where so 
indicated by the use of mandatory language (e.g.,”must”).  Such initiatives, goals and 
requirements are subject to any further applicable provisions of this QAP.     

A. Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity

Project development and design includes a holistic approach.  Processes include 
neighborhood and community involvement to ensure Project acceptance and enhancement.  
Integrated design processes ensure higher quality finish Project.  Existing neighborhood 
edges, characteristics, fabric are considered in the Project design. Some considerations may 
include but are not limited to a community design charrette, incorporating Project into 
neighborhood fabric, energy modeling, commissioning, infrared testing, etc. (see Required 
Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits, below). 

B. Visitability and Universal Design Principles

Applicants should consider inclusion of visitability and universal design principles in 
development of the Project.  MBOH encourages strong advertising of accessible features 
when advertising new construction through the Multiple listing services or through 
MontanaHousingSearch.com. 

C. Sustainable Site, Location and Design

The building(s) and Project site, including the surrounding area, provide opportunities for 
education, alternative transportation, services, and community facilities.  This is evidenced, 
for example, by Projects using existing infrastructure, reusing a building or existing housing, 
redeveloping a greyfield/brownfield, or developing in an existing neighborhood.  Design 
elements use the site’s characteristics and reduce impact on the site allowing for open space 
and other amenities, such as infill projects, rehabilitating existing building(s), rehabilitating 
existing housing, providing carpooling opportunities, using well water for landscaping, etc. 

D. Passive House Standard

Passive House is a voluntary international building standard developed by the Passive House 
Institute (PHI), located in Darmstadt, Germany (referred to as the “Passive House 

140

atmelon
Sticky Note
Why does MBOH care about this?



19 

Standard”). The Passive House Standard is composed of several strict performance 
requirements for new building construction. For the renovation of existing buildings, PHI 
developed a similar if slightly more lenient performance standard. The resulting 
performance represents a roughly 90% reduction in heating and cooling energy usage and 
up to a 75% reduction in primary energy usage from existing building stock. 

E. Energy and Water Conservation

Design features, product selection and renewable energy options directly reduce use of 
resources and result in cost savings.  Design and product selection exceeds applicable 
energy codes in performance.  Examples include but are not limited to Energy Star 
appliances, drip irrigation, low flow fixtures, dual flush or composting toilets, ground source 
heat, duct sealing, rain water collection, and low water consumption plants. 

F. Material and Resource Efficiency

Material selections are better quality, designed for durability and long term performance 
with reduced maintenance.  Products used are available locally and/or contain recycled 
content.  Construction waste is reduced in the Project through efficient installation or 
recycling waste during construction. Considerations include but are not limited to 
construction waste management specification, recycled content products, local materials, 
reuse existing building materials, certified lumber, and sustainable harvest lumber. 

G. Amenities

Applicants may consider for inclusion in the Project the amenities listed in the Amenities 
Form to be provided at no charge to tenants in the Project.  Luxury amenities will not be 
considered or funded with tax credits.  Items deemed luxury amenities include but are not 
limited to swimming pools, golf courses, tennis courts and similar amenities.  The added 
costs of the Project attributable to higher quality amenities will be considered on a Project 
by Project basis for a cost to benefit assessment. 

Amenities provided will not be used for Commercial Purposes.  All Projects previously 
Awarded tax credits are subject to this restriction but are grandfathered only to the extent 
Commercial Purposes were specifically included in the Application. 

H. Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality)

Materials and design contribute to a healthy and comfortable living environment.  
Mechanical system design, construction methods and materials preserve indoor air quality 
during construction as well as the long term performance such as fresh air circulation and 
exhaust fans, bathroom and kitchen fans exhausting air and moisture, material selection 
with low toxicity and low VOC (volatile organic compounds) paints, sealants, and adhesives. 

I. Smoke-Free Housing

Promoting healthy behaviors can also have a large impact on residents at no additional cost 
to the Developer.  Smoke-free policies protect residents against the harmful health impacts 
of tobacco smoke, greatly reduce the risk of fires, and prevent damage to units caused by 
tobacco smoke.  Such policies also make properties more attractive to those who do not 
allow smoking in their own homes. 

For New Construction Projects seeking or awarded 2016 or later year Credits, the Owner 
(and any Management Company) must establish and implement a written policy that 
prohibits smoking in the units and the indoor Common Areas of the Project, including a non-
smoking clause in the lease for every Project unit.  The Owner (and any Management 
Company) rather than MBOH will be responsible to establish, implement and enforce such 
written policy and lease clause.  The Owner and Management Company also must make 

141



20 

educational materials on tobacco treatment programs, including the phone number for the 
Montana Tobacco Quit Line, available to all tenants of the Project.  The Montana Tobacco 
Use Prevention Program Smokefree Housing Project can provide educational materials and 
smokefree signage to property owners and managers free of charge, as requested.  If 
smoking is allowed outside on the Project property, it is recommended that the written 
smoking policy require that smoking be restricted to areas no closer than 20 feet from all 
building entrances and exits.  The written policy must provide appropriate exceptions for 
bona fide cultural or religious practices.  

J. State of Montana Building Code

All Projects must comply with State of Montana Building Code, whether or not the State of 
Montana building code has been adopted in the Project’s jurisdiction. 

K. Required Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits

For Rehabilitation Projects Awarded HCs: Infrared tests will be required on at least 1020% 
of units and a representative sampling of Common Areas both before and after the 
Rehabilitation to demonstrate that improvement has been achieved.  MBOH staff may 
require approve changes to the sample selected.  The Developer or Builder must notify 
MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that post-Rehabilitation infrared 
tests will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and observe such 
testing.  Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH within 30 days of testing and 
reviewed by MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s), demonstrating that at the time 
of testing there was at least 20 degrees temperature difference from outdoors to inside the 
unit.  Infrared testing must be performed by a certified tester. 

Substantial Rehabilitation 
Montana’s minimum Substantial Rehabilitation standard is expenditures the greater of (i) 
$15,000 (for 4% projects)/$25,000 (for 9% Projects) of Hard Cost Per Unit, or (ii) an 
amount which is not less than 30% of the adjusted basis of the building during a 24-month 
or shorter period. 

Rehabilitation Projects applying for (9%) competitive credits must meet all requirements of 
the capital needs assessment and the Application must also include a list of items in each 
unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded, or otherwise rehabilitation in the 
Project and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and expectations of the 
rehabilitation. 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s tax credit 
allocation volume cap.   Applications must meet all requirements of the applicable QAP and 
must meet at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in Section 
9, below, to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding tax credits 
with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most recently and 
finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

Eventual Home Ownership 
Several supplemental Application documents are required for Projects that include eventual 
home ownership.  The Application must: (a) address how the Owner will administer the 

142



21 

transfer of ownership to a qualified homebuyer at the end of the Compliance Period; (b) 
either identify the price at the time of the title transfer or a reasonable process to determine 
the price; (c) document that the potential owners will be required to complete a homebuyer 
counseling program; and (d) identify how Reserve for Replacement funds will be used at the 
time of sale of the properties.   

At the time of sale, the HC Owner must provide a copy of the title transfer together with a 
certificate verifying that the new homeowner completed a homebuyer program within five 
years prior to the transfer of title.  Enforceable covenants must maintain the home as 
affordable and prevent sale or resale to a realtor, financial institution, or a family with an 
income over 80% AMI, or more than 80% of FHA appraised value.  Families who exceed 
income levels of 80% of AMI at the time of the sale must have qualified at the appropriate 
AMI contained in the recorded Restrictive Covenants for the Project evidenced by the Tenant 
Income Certification at the initial rent-up for the family. Tenant qualification documentation 
must be sent to MBOH for approval before the sale is completed.  Please contact MBOH for 
current forms.  Units not sold under the Eventual Home Ownership Program must remain in 
compliance with Section 42 until such time as they are sold to a qualified buyer or the end 
of the Extended Use Period. 

130% Basis Boost 
Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects 

Federal law permits MBOH to reserve Housing Credits based on a “basis boost” of 30% for 
Projects in a Qualified Census Tract (“QCT”) or in HUD designated Difficult Development 
Areas (“DDA”).  In addition, a 30% “basis boost” may be available for non-QCT or DDA 
Projects based upon the specific requirements specified below. 

MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects 

For buildings not already eligible for the 30% “basis boost” by virtue of being located in a 
QCT or DDA, up to 130% of the eligible basis of a New Construction building or the 
Rehabilitation portion of an existing building may be considered in Awarding Housing Credits 
if MBOH determines that an increase in Housing Credits is necessary to achieve the Project’s 
feasibility.  MBOH staff may recommend an Award of Housing Credits, and the MBOH Board, 
at the time it considers authorizing Reservations of Housing Credits, may Award Credits for 
such buildings based upon a basis boost of up to 30%.  Applications for Projects not located 
in a DDA or QCT may be submitted with requested Housing Credits calculated at up to 
130% of eligible basis.  The Application narrative and supporting documentation must 
specify and explain in detail the applicable considerations supporting the need for the 
requested basis boost (i.e., any of items 1 through 5, below) and provide a detailed 
justificationjustify the need for the requested basis boost.  The justification must explain 
why the Project would not be feasible without the basis boost.  In addition to the 
explanation and justification, MBOH may consider theThe following factors may be 
considered in determining whether Housing Credits will be awarded based upon the 
discretionary basis boost: 

1. Qualification of the Application for the Small Rural Project set aside pool;
2. Qualification of the building location for Rural Development funding;
3. Targeting of more than 10% of the Project units to 40% or below area median

income level or more than 7562% of Project units to 50% or below area median
income level;

4. The Project includes historical preservation or, Preservation or replacement of
existing affordable housing; or

5. The Project is located within a community where unusual market conditions produce
higher than normal labor and material costs, unusually high land cost and/or rent

143



22 

and income limits which are too low to support the cash flows required by the 
Project’s financial structure. 

The MBOH discretionary basis boost does not apply to non-competitive 4% Credits. 

Non-Housing Amenities 
Swimming pools, tennis courts, golf courses, and other similar amenities will not be funded 
by Housing Credits.  Proposed Projects may include such amenities only if the amenities are 
funded by sources other than Housing Credits.  Subject to the requirements of this QAP, 
garages or car ports may be funded by Housing Credits considering Montana’s extreme 
winter weather.  

Accountant and Owner Certification 
Prior to the 10% Cost Certification deadline and at Final Cost Certification, MBOH requires 
an independent third party CPA cost certification, including a statement of eligible and 
qualified basis for the Project, as more specifically provided in Section 10 of this QAP.  The 
Accountant Certification must include a breakdown of costs similar to the Project Sources 
and Uses of the Application, including development cost limitation categories as discussed in 
this QAP.  The Owner must provide the CPA certification, under penalty of perjury, providing 
the Owner’s name and address, the Placed in Service date, taxpayer identification number, 
the Project name and address, building(s) address(s), building identification numbers, the 
total eligible and qualified basis, and, if applicable, the percentage of the Project financed by 
tax-exempt bonds.  The most current forms from the MBOH website must be used.  

Information Request and Release Policy 
Requests for information and documents from MBOH will be handled in accordance with and 
subject to applicable law and the MBOH Information and Release Policy, which policy is 
available on the MBOH website. 

Ex Parte Communication Policy  
MBOH Board members should refrain from ex parte communications with interested persons 
or parties, or their representatives, who may be affected by any matter on which members 
may take official Board action.  Ex parte communications may include communications that 
take place outside a duly noticed meeting or hearing of the Board, relate to a matter on 
which the Board may take action to determine to rights or obligations of the person or 
party, and which convey information or may otherwise influence the Board member 
regarding the matter. 

If a Board member is unable to avoid such communications, the member will be required to 
disclose at a public meeting of the Board the full content of such communication and the 
identity of the person making the communication.  In addition, the Board member may be 
disqualified from participating in Board action on the matter.  Such communications may 
also subject the Board to challenge regarding its action on the matter. 

Ex parte communications do not include communications regarding general matters of 
housing, funding for low-income housing, or other Board policy, and do not include Board 
member speaking appearances, conferences, consulting engagements or other events or 
settings to the extent not involving communications such as those described above. 

The foregoing statement is provided as general information.  Ex parte communications are 
addressed in further detail and governed by the MBOH Ex Parte Communication Policy, 
available on the MBOH website.  

144



23 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD 
SCHEDULE – MANNER OF SUBMISSION 
Competitive 9% Credit Applications 
Applicants may apply for an Award of 9% Credits (including an Award for a Project 
combining 9% Credits and other credit sources) for a particular Project no later than the 
applicable submission deadline specified below or otherwise set by MBOH. 

Applicants must submit the Application and the applicable fee (based on the fee schedule 
below) to MBOH as required in this QAP. 

For Projects involving multiple properties in different locations to which different utility 
allowances and/or income limits apply, a combined Application with sub-applications for 
each property location must be submitted.  Each sub-application must include a separate 
UniAPP that provides the Project numbers attributable to each location.  A separate 
Application is required for each Project.  A single Application or sub-application should 
include all buildings within a single Project. 

Complete Letters of Intent/Applications meeting all requirements of this QAP must be 
received at MBOH's office by 5:00 pm Mountain Time on the Letter of Intent/Application 
submission date specified below.  In the event that any submission date falls upon a 
weekend or holiday observed by Montana State government, the submission date will be the 
next business day thereafter as posted on MBOH’s website. 

First Award Round: 
o Application Workshop April 2017 
o Letter of Intent Submission First Monday in July 2016Friday June 9, 

2017
o Applicant Presentations/

Board Invitations to Apply August 2016June 2017 MBOH Board 
Meeting

o Application Submission First Monday in OctoberTuesday 
September 5, 20176

o Award Determination January 2017 November 2017 MBOH 
Board Meeting

Second Award Round (if any): 
The Board may decide in its discretion to hold a second award round that is either: (i) 
limited to those Applicants invited to submit an Application but not awarded Housing Credits 
in the first award round (a “Closed Round”); or (ii) open to submission of Letters of Intent 
by any interested party (an “Open Round”). 

If the Board elects to hold a Closed Round, the Board will announce (and post on MBOH’s 
website) such Closed Round, along with all applicable submission requirements and 
deadlines, presentation opportunities and award meeting dates.  A Closed Round need not 
include additional Letters of Intent or Applications, but may include only such additional 
documents and information submissions as the Board deems appropriate for purposes of 
such Closed Round. 

If the Board decides to hold an Open Round, it will determine and post on MBOH’s website 
the dates for submission of Letters of Intent and Applications, Board review, discussion and 
invitation to apply, Applicant presentations and Award determination. 

145

atmelon
Sticky Note
Typical real estate contract options are 90 days.  Can the time between the invitation to apply and the application submission be shortened up to around 75 days, or even more?  Developers probably have input here, but carrying costs could be better managed with three 90 day options (90 for invite to application / 90 from application to award / 90 from award to closing).  



 
24 

 

Any of the above deadlines and dates may be extended or changed by MBOH if 
circumstances warrant, and in such event MBOH will provide notice of such extension or 
change by posting on MBOH’s website.  The MBOH Board, in its discretion, may waive any 
requirement of this QAP if it determines such waiver to be in the best interests of MBOH, the 
HC program or the Award cycle.  In any Award round or rounds, the MBOH Board may elect 
to Award less than all available Credits or to not Award any Credits if the MBOH Board 
determines that such is in the best interests of MBOH, the HC program or the Award cycle.  

Board Consideration and Determination Process 
At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month after submission of Letters of Intent, MBOH staff 
will present Letters of Intent to the MBOH Board.  MBOH will provide an opportunity for 
Applicants to make a presentation to the MBOH Board regarding their Projects and Letters 
of Intent and will provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and 
Applications.  Applicant presentations will be limited to 10 minutes or less.  The MBOH 
Board may ask questions of Applicants and discuss proposed Projects for purposes of 
assisting the Board in determining which Projects it will invite to submit Applications and 
assisting Applicants in presenting better Applications, but such questions, answers and 
discussions shall not be binding upon MBOH in any later Award determination or other 
MBOH process. 

After considering the Letters of Intent, presentations, questions and answers and 
discussion, the MBOH Board will select those Projects that it will invite to submit 
Applications.  Selection for invitation to submit an Application may be based upon 
consideration of any of the Selection Criteria permitted to be considered for purposes of an 
Award under this QAP, but no evaluation or scoring of Letters of Intent will be done or 
considered for purposes of selection for invitation to submit an Application.  For purposes of 
determining the number of Projects to select: (a) the total amount of Credits requested for 
all Projects invited to submit Applications will not exceed 150% of the State’s Available 
Annual Credit Allocation determined as provided in Section 6; and (b) nNo more than 10 8 
Projects will be selected.  If the total Credits requested in the Applications for such 8 
Projects is less than the amount of Credits available for Award in such round, the Board may 
invite one or more additional Projects to submit Applications, but may invite only the 
number of additional Projects necessary to meet the amount of Credits available for Award 
(the “ceiling”), except that the invited Project that brings the total amount of Credits 
requested from invited Projects to the ceiling may cause the total Credits request to exceed 
the ceiling.  Each Project so selected by the MBOH Board will deemed invited to submit an 
Application.  An Application may be submitted only for a Project invited by the MBOH Board 
to submit an Application.  All other Applications will be returned without consideration.   

At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month of Application submission, MBOH staff will 
present Applications to the MBOH Board.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and Applications.    

At the Award Determination Meeting, MBOH staff will provide Project Application information 
to the MBOH Board.  Applicants should be available to the MBOH Board to answer questions 
regarding their respective Applications.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and Applications.  
Applicants shall have an a brief opportunity to make comments and respond to any 
information presented negative comments regarding their Applications.   

4% Credit Applications for Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 

146



25 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive tax credits outside the state’s tax credit allocation 
volume cap.  An Applicant for tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private 
activity bonds also seeking an Award of 4% Credits for a scattered-site Project under a 
single partnership may apply for such credits by submission of a single Application that 
includes sub-applications for each property included in the Project.   

Full Applications for tax-exempt financing and related 4% Credits may be submitted at any 
time; submission is not limited to the Application schedule set forth above for 9% Credit 
competitive awards.  However, complete Applications must be received by MBOH at least 6 
weeks before the scheduled MBOH Board meeting at which the Application is to be 
considered.  Changes to the Application that require MBOH to re-underwrite the Application 
will restart the minimum 6-week period. 

The Application fee for 4% Projects is 1% of the amount of annual Credits requested in the 
Application and must be submitted to and received in the MBOH office for the Application to 
receive consideration.  In addition, Final Allocation of 4% Credits is subject to payment in 
full of applicable bond closing fees at bond closing per the MBOH Private Placement policy 
available on the MBOH website.    

A 42M letter fee will be charged in the amount of 4% of the Credit amount. 

Applications for 4% Projects must meet all requirements of the Applicable QAP, including 
meeting at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria threshold score specified in 
Section 9 to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding Housing 
Credits with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most 
recently and finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

For 4% only projects, a Letter of Intent must be submitted with the request for an 
inducement resolution.  The Letter of Intent does not require a Letter of Intent fee or a 
market study or mini-market study. 

Combined Credit Applications for Projects Involving Multiple 
Credit Sources 
A single Applicant may apply for credits by submission of a single Application that combines 
sub-applications for each property/credit request included in the Project (for example, 
combined 9%/4% applications, or a Housing Credit application that combines Housing 
Credits and another credit source).  Each sub-application must include a separate UniAPP 
that provides the Project numbers attributable to the sub-application’s credit source. 
Letters of Intent and Application for Projects combining 9% Credits with other credit sources 
must be submitted in a competitive 9% Credit round and by the applicable deadlines 
specified for such competitive round. 

Application Submission Method for 4% and 9% Letter of Intent 
and Credit Applications 

Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s system (currently ShareFile) is preferred 
but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  Please contact staff (preferably at least a 
week ahead of the submission deadline) for set up and for specific instructions on how to 
access this system.  In submitting or preparing to submit Applications, Applicants shall not   
change or create folders or otherwise change the file structure within the ShareFile 
submission.  An Applicant may request an additional folder by contacting MBOH staff. 

147



26 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE 
Letter of Intent 
The Letter of Intent fee is $1,500.00$3,000.00 and must be submitted to and received in 
the MBOH office by the applicable Letter of Intent deadline.  MBOH will not consider Letters 
of Intent submitted without the Letter of Intent fee.  The Letter of Intent fee is not 
refundable.  

Application 
The application fee is 1% of the amount of credits requested in the Application and must be 
submitted to and received in the MBOH office by the applicable application deadline.  MBOH 
will not consider Applications submitted without the application fee.  The application fee is 
not refundable and will not be adjusted even if the MBOH Board Awards no credits or only a 
portion of the tax credits requested. 

In addition to the application fee, a Reservation fee in the amount of 10.0%8% of the 
credits reserved is due on or before December 1 of the credit ceiling year from in which the 
Award is made (e.g., for 2018 Credits awarded in November 2017, the fee is due on 
December 1, 2017 2018 for 2017 credit Awards made in January 2017).  After a 
Reservation Agreement is executed the Reservation fee is not refundable.  If the conditions 
described in the Reservation Agreement are not met, the entire Reservation fee will be 
forfeited to MBOH. 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation  
As MBOH, in its discretion, determines necessary for financial feasibility, returned or 
unreserved Housing Credits may be used to increase the amount of Housing Credits 
reserved for a Project after the first round Awards have been made.  In considering a 
request for an increase under this paragraph, MBOH may consider any anticipated potential 
need for returned or unreserved Credits to fund Projects that would otherwise be funded or 
require greater funding under the Corrective Award set aside under Section 7.  An Applicant 
seeking an increase in the amount of reserved Credits must apply in writing for such 
increase and must submit new financials (UniApp Section C) and supporting documentation 
for the of cost increases (e.g., higher bids than expected, material costs, etc.). Applications 
for additional Credits must be submitted to staff.  Staff will review and evaluate supporting 
financials and new cost documentation and a staff recommendation will be presented at a 
later MBOH Board meeting for consideration.  Staff will not recommend and the MBOH 
Board will not approve any increase beyond that necessary to make the Project feasible. 

Any request for Credits above the amount initially Awarded is considered a request for 
additional Credits after Initial Allocation and is subject to the provisions of this section. 

An Application and Reservation fee of 109% of the additional Housing Credits requested is 
due with the request.  In the event an increase for the additional requested Credits is not 
approved, the Reservation fee in the amount of 89% will be refunded.   

Compliance Fees 
See Section 12, Compliance Monitoring. 

Developer/Owner Reimbursement of Board Legal Expenses 
The Developer/Owner of any Project awarded credits will be required to reimburse MBOH for 
legal fees and expenses incurred by MBOH with respect to any non-standard request, 
change, document or other matters relating to Reservation (Initial Allocation), Carryover 

148



27 

Commitment, compliance or other aspects of qualifying for or obtaining Housing Credits.  
Such fees and expenses must be paid within 30 days of MBOH’s submission of an invoice.  
MBOH shall not be required to complete any pending process, approval or other action until 
such fees and expenses are paid in full.     

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS  
Maximum Credit Award  
Twenty-five percent (25%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation will be the 
maximum Credit Awarded or Allocated to any one Project or Developer.  The state’s 
Available Annual Credit Allocation is defined as and includes the state’s actual or estimated 
credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available Credits from prior year credit 
authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable application deadline, and 
includes any Credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside.  The Developer’s percentage of the Development Fee, as 
specified in a written development agreement, will be that Developer’s percentage of the 
25% limit.  The maximum Credit Award for a Project will be determined based upon the 
state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation for the Housing Credit year from which the Project 
is first Awarded HCs. If the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is not known as of 20 
business days prior to the applicable application deadline, the Available Annual Credit 
Allocation from the previous year will be used, subject to later adjustment once the state’s 
actual Available Annual Credit Allocation is known.  If an estimated amount is used for 
Award purposes, all Awards based upon such estimate shall be conditional upon a final 
determination of the state’s actual Available Annual Credit Allocation.   

MBOH does not commit tax credits from future years, except as specifically provided in this 
QAP.  The MBOH Board may Award Housing Credits from a future year’s Available Annual 
Credit Allocation at any time outside the competitive cycle for purposes of funding repair or 
replacement of a Project building due to a life/safety emergency as determined by the 
MBOH Board in its discretion.  The Applicant must submit a Letter of Intent and the Board 
must invite the Applicant to submit an Application before making an Award.  The Application 
must meet all QAP requirements. 

SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES 
Non-profit 
Ten percent of each state's credit ceiling must be set aside for buildings which are part of 
one or more Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations.   

The 10% non-profit set-aside requirement may be met by an Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization out of any other set-aside or the general pool.  If no Project 
Awarded HCs involves a Qualified Nonprofit Organization, the non-profit set aside (i.e., 10% 
of the state's credit ceiling) will be held back for later Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization. 

Corrective Award 
Such portion of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is reserved and set-aside as is 
necessary for Award of credits to: 

• Any Project for which an Application was submitted in a prior round or year, if:

149



28 

o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction determines or declares that
such Applicant was entitled to an Award in such prior round or year or
requires MBOH to make an Award or Allocation of tax credits to such Project;

o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates or sets aside an
Award of credits to an approved Project from such prior round or year and a
Reservation Agreement was executed by MBOH and such Applicant prior to
issuance of such court order, unless such court order determines that such
Project was not eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an
Award of tax credits; or

o MBOH, upon further consideration of any Award determination as required by
and in accordance with the order of a court of competent jurisdiction,
determines that such Project was entitled to an Award in such prior round or
year.

All requirements and conditions of this Corrective Award set aside provision must be met to 
receive an Award under this set aside provision.  The amount of any Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside shall be the amount specified by the court, or if no Award 
amount is specified by the court, an amount determined by MBOH in accordance with this 
QAP.  The Corrective Award set aside shall be funded first from returned or unreserved tax 
credits from a prior year.  Awards may be “future allocated” under this Corrective Action set 
aside, i.e., such Awards may be made from returned or unreserved tax credits from a prior 
year and/or the current year’s credits at any MBOH Board meeting after the final court order 
has been issued and presented to MBOH.  Such Award need not await the annual 
Application and Award cycle. 

Where a court orders that an amount of the current year’s credits be set aside for a Project 
pending the decision of the court, if the court’s decision is not received before the end of the 
current year, the credits set aside will become classified as the next year’s credits, as 
required by federal code.  

If the court orders MBOH to Award credits to any Project under this set-aside, the Project 
must submit an updated Application so the MBOH can review and underwrite current 
numbers and assumptions to verify that the amount of credits requested or some other 
credit amount is justified for Project feasibility, unless otherwise ordered by the court.  The 
corrective awardee must pay the Reservation fee as required in Section 5.  

Small Rural Projects 
Twenty percent (20%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is set-aside for Small 
Rural Projects.  For purposes of this set-aside, a Small Rural Project is a Project: (1) for 
which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount up to but no 
more than 10%12.5% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation, and (2) with 20 or 
fewer low-income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and constructed in a location 
that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or 
Missoula. 

General Rules Regarding Set Asides 
MBOH reserves the right to determine in which set-aside a Project will be reviewed (subject 
to its eligibility), regardless of its eligibility for any other set-aside.  For example, if a Project 
is submitted as a Small Rural Project in order to utilize the Small Rural Project set-aside 
when it is clearly part of a larger or non-rural Project, the Project will be placed in the 
proper category as determined by MBOH staff.   

150



29 

To qualify and receive consideration to receive an Award of credits under a set-aside, the 
Project must meet all applicable requirements of this QAP and must receive minimum 
Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in this QAP. 

The MBOH Board reserves the right to not Award credits to a qualifying Small Rural Project 
even if the Project meets the minimum required score, if the MBOH Board, at its discretion, 
determines another Project or Projects better meet the most pressing housing needs of low 
income people within the state of Montana, taking into consideration the Selection Criteria 
of this QAP as determined in accordance with Section 9. 

In the event there are insufficient tax credits available to fully fund all set aside categories, 
the respective set asides categories shall be funded in the following order of priority: (1) 
Non-profit; (2) Corrective Award; and (3) Small Rural Project. 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION 
PROCESS 
Applicants are responsible to read and comply with this Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP) (and 
any other Applicable QAP) and accompanying materials. 

Applicants are responsible to determine the degree that their building(s) and development 
correspond to the MBOH's Selection Criteria contained in this QAP.  

Applicants are responsible to consult their own tax attorney or accountant concerning: (a) 
each building's eligibility for the tax credit; (b) the amount of the credit, if any, for which 
their building(s) may be eligible; and (c) their ability and/or their Investor's ability to use 
the tax credit.  

Application Workshop 
MBOH staff will conduct a workshop annually to educate potential applicants and answer 
questions regarding the content and requirements of the Letter of Intent and Application. 
Attendance is highly encouraged but not mandatory.  This workshop will be held prior to the 
deadline for submission of letters of intent, as specified in the schedule in Section 4 above. 
In addition, Applicants are encouraged to contact MBOH staff well prior to submission of 
Letters of Intent and Applications to discuss and clarify any questions, ambiguities or other 
issues identified by the Applicant. 

Letter of Intent 
All Projects wishing to apply for HCs in Montana must submit a Letter of Intent by the 
deadline specified in Section 4 with the applicable fee.   

All Letters of Intent must be submitted in the format posted on the Board’s website.  The 
Project Location, type (e.g., family or elderly), and Developer specified in the Letter of 
Intent may not be changed in any later Application.  Other information in the Letter of 
Intent (e.g., cost information, number of units, unit sizes, income targeting, rents, hard and 
soft loan sources, etc.) will be considered the Applicant’s best estimates and may be 
changed in the Application.  A market study or mini-market study is required for purposes 
of a Letter of Intent, and the Letter of Intent must include the completed market study 
summary Form posted on the MBOH website. 

Application 
An Application may not be submitted for a Project unless a Letter of Intent has been 
submitted with respect to the Project according to the requirements of this QAP and the 

151



30 

Board has invited that Project to submit an Application.  MBOH will return all other 
Applications without consideration, along with the application fee.   

Applicants must commission a full market study as outlined in the MBOH Market Study 
Form.  Such Market Study must be included with the Application submission in accordance 
with the Threshold Requirements below. 

Applicants must complete and submit the Uniform Application and Supplement, all 
Threshold Requirements, full market study and full application fee by the applicable 
application deadline (see Section 4, Application Submission and Award Schedule).  
Applicants must use the most current form of the Uniform Application (UniApp) and 
Supplement available on the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/UniformApplication 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory 
Threshold Requirements are mandatory for all Letters of Intent and Applications.  Letters of 
Intent and Applications received not meeting all Threshold Requirements or other 
requirements of this QAP will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration.  Fees will not be refunded. 

Submit complete Applications to MBOH.  Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s 
system (currently ShareFile) is preferred but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  
Please contact staff (preferably at least a week ahead of the submission deadline) for 
specific instructions on how to access this system. In submitting or preparing to submit 
Applications, Applicants shall not change or create folders or otherwise change the file 
structure within the ShareFile submission.  Applicants may request an additional folder by 
contacting MBOH staff.   

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying Applications.  MBOH staff may 
allow minor corrections to Applications, but will return and will not further consider 
Applications requiring substantial revision or those that are substantially incomplete.  

Threshold Requirements 
To be eligible for further consideration, all Letters of Intent and Applications must be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of this QAP and the following Threshold 
Requirements.  

ALL MBOH FORMS REFERENCED IN THIS QAP ARE AVAILABLE ON THE MBOH WEBSITE AT 
[URL].  ALL FORMS SUBMITTED TO MBOH IN OR AS PART OF THE APPLICATION, 
DEVELOPMENT, UNDERWRITING, ALLOCATION, COST CERTIFICATION, COMPLIANCE OR 
OTHER PROCESSES UNDER THIS QAP MUST BE THE MOST CURRENT FORM AVAILABLE ON 
THE MBOH WEBSITE.  If the most current Form(s) are not used, submissions may be 
returned and required to be resubmitted on the correct Form.  

Letters of Intent must: 

1. Include the applicable fee;
2. Be received by the applicable deadline; and
3. Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in the MBOH Letter of Intent

Form.

Applications must: 

1. Include the application fee;

2. Be received by the applicable deadline;

152



31 

3. Include all of the documents, information and other items specified in Tthreshold
Rrequirements 4 through 2729 below;

4. Include a cover letter summarizing the Project, limited to 2 pages, which will be
provided to MBOH Board members within one week following the Application
deadline ;

5. Include a fully completed, UniApp, including all applicable Forms, all in the most
current forms as posted on the MBOH website.

6. Specify the Qualified Management Company that will provide property management
service to the Project and provide a copy of the written agreement with the
Management Company evidencing the company’s commitment to provide
management services.  Upon written notice from MBOH that the Application has
identified a Management Company that is not a Qualified Management Company, the
Applicant must submit to MBOH within ten (10) days a written designation of a
Qualified Management Company and a copy of the written agreement with the
Management Company evidencing the replacement company’s commitment to
provide management services.

7. Include a Market Study prepared and signed by a disinterested third party analyst,
with certificate (included in MBOH Market Study Form) signed by analyst and
notarized.  Market Studies must be completed within six (6) months prior to the
submission date of the Application, must have the market analyst complete a
physical inspection of the market area within one (1) year of the Application and
must adhere to minimum market study requirements in MBOH Market Study Form.

8. Include documentation of Land or Property Control.

9. Include documentation from the applicable local zoning authority that applicable
zoning requirements are met or otherwise addressed, e.g., Project is within
applicable zoning requirements, part of an approved planned unit development,
subject to a zoning change request for which a change request has been submitted,
or not subject to any existing zoning requirements.  Acquisition/Rehabilitation
Projects may provide documentation that the Project will not require a change in
zoning requirements.

10. Include documentation of availability and capacity of utilities to serve the Project,
including documentation that utilities are available to the Project and the present
proximity of utilities to the Project location.  Such documentation must be from the
electric, gas/propane, water and/or sewer/septic provider/company, as applicable.
Documentation must be in the form of a letter from the utility provider verifying that
the utilities are or will be available to the property and that the provider has the 
capacity to handle the load or additional load to be added by the Project. 
Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects need only provide such documentation for any 
expected additional load.  Documentation of utility availability and capacity must be 
current (within 18 months prior to Application date) not be more than 24 months old 
at the time of Application submission.  MBOH staff may in its discretion require the 
Applicant to provide updated documentation. If Applicant obtains an updated letter 
from the utility provider, a copy of the updated letter must be provided to MBOH at 
Reservation or with the next submitted quarterly report. 

153



 
32 

 

11. Include a preliminary financing letter from a lender indicating the proposed terms 
and conditions of the loan.  The financing letter must formally express interest in 
financing the Project sufficient to support the terms and conditions represented in 
the Project financing section of the Application. 
 

12. Include a letter of interest from an equity provider including an anticipated price 
based on the market at time of the Application. 
 

13. For all Applications, include a comparative market analysis (“CMA”) or an appraisal 
done by an independent (non-related) party.  Such CMA or appraisal is required 
regardless of the manner or method of Acquisition and must cover all real estate 
acquired, including land and/or buildings.  Land and existing building values 
must be listed separately. 
 

14. For Rehabilitation Applications, include a full scale Capital Needs Assessment on the 
USDA Rural Development Capital Needs Assessment (CNA) template or similar form, 
a list of items in each unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded or 
otherwise rehabilitated, and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and 
expectations of the Rehabilitation.  
 

15. For Applications proposing Rehabilitation or replacement of existing units, include a 
preliminary relocation plan addressing the logistics of moving tenants out of their 
residences and providing temporary housing during the Rehabilitation or replacement 
and returning tenants to their residences upon completion of the Rehabilitation or 
replacement. 
 

16. Include a site plan, and a Design Professional’s preliminary floor plan and 
elevations/photos of existing properties for the Project. 
 

17. For Applications for Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations and seeking 
to qualify for the non-profit set aside under Section 7, include: (a) a copy of the IRS 
determination letter documenting such organization’s 501(c)(3) or (4) status; (b) an 
affidavit by the organization’s managing partner or member certifying that the 
organization is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or 
controlled by a for-profit organization; and (c) documentation that one of the exempt 
purposes of the organization includes the fostering of low-income housing. 
 

18. For Applications proposing a property tax exemption for rental housing providing 
affordable housing to lower-income tenants pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-
221, include documentation of intent to conduct a public hearing as required by 
Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-221(2).  Such public hearing must be conducted by the 
Owner and documentation of such public hearing must be submitted prior to 
issuance of the Carryover Commitment.  If the Application does not include 
documentation of intent to conduct the required public hearing, the Project will be 
underwritten as if no exemption was or will be received. 
 

19. Specify the Extended Use Period. 
 

20. For Projects targeted for Eventual Homeownership, provide the supplemental 
Application documents and information specified in Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.   
 

21. Specify the selected minimum set aside (20-50 test) or (40-60 test). 

154



33 

22. Include a copy of both the public notice and the affidavit of publication from the
publisher, meeting the requirements specified in this Section 8, Public Notice.

23. Include letters of community support. These support letters must be Project specific
and address how the Project meets the needs of the community.  New letters of
support (as well as new letters of non-support) must be submitted for each
Application for each Application round.  Generic support for affordable housing will
not be considered support for the specific Project being considered. These letters will
be provided to the MBOH Board for its consideration.

24. If the Project is an Elderly Property, include a stipulation of minimum tenant or
resident age (i.e., 55 or 62 and over)specify which exemption for housing for older
persons will apply.

25. Include a narrative addressing each of the Development Evaluation Criteria,
demonstrating how the Application meets each of these criteria, and providing a
specific explanation and justification of the points sought for each scoring item.
Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the specific page and paragraph
of the Market Study.  The narrative must include the Applicant’s own proposed total
score for each scoring item in the Development Evaluation Criteria and, at the
conclusion of the narrative, the Applicant’s own proposed total score.

26. Include the completed and signed Indemnification Form, Cost Sponsor Certification
Form and Release of Information Form.

27. Include the explanation and justification for a request for discretionary basis boost, if
applicable. 

28. Identify the name of the entity with Legal ownership of Project (LP, LLP, etc.).

29. Include the completed amenity form.  This completed form will be provided to the
MBOH Board for its consideration. 

Applications must also demonstrate that the proposed Projects are financially sound.  This 
includes reasonable financing terms, costs, expenses, and sufficient cash flow to support the 
operations of the Project, all of which must meet the underwriting standards of MBOH. 

Public Notice 
An Applicant must place a notice in the local newspaper of the intent to apply for Housing 
Credits, and encouraging submission of public comment to MBOH.  Such notice must include 
name of Project, number of units, location of Project, for-profit or non-profit status, and, if 
applicable, intent to request tax-exempt status for the Project.  The notice will be placed as 
a box advertisement in the newspaper within 90 days prior to or not more than 5 working 
days after the due date of the Application and will allow for not less than 30 days for 
submission of comments to MBOH. The notice must be published twice within a seven-day 
period.  A copy of the notice, together with an affidavit of publication showing the dates 
published, must be included in the Application. 

Example of Public Notice 

155



34 

(Name of Developer, address, telephone number), a (for-profit/non-profit) organization, 
hereby notifies all interested persons of (city, town, community name) that we are planning 
to develop, (Name of Project) an affordable multi-family rental housing complex on the site 
at (street location).  This complex will consist of (number) (one bedroom, two bedroom, or 
three bedroom) units for (elderly persons/families). This Project (will/will not) be exempt 
from property taxes.   

An Application (will be/has been) submitted to the Montana Board of Housing for federal tax 
credits financing.   

You are encouraged to submit comments regarding the need for affordable multi-family 
rental housing in your area to the Montana Board of Housing, PO Box 200528, Helena, MT  
59620-0528 or FAX (406) 841-2841.  Comments will be accepted until 5 PM on (specify the 
date 3 weeksthe Friday  before the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting (see Section 
4, Application Cycle)).  

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations 
MBOH staff will review all Applications received by the applicable submission deadline for 
compliance with all Threshold Requirements, including but not limited to completeness, 
soundness of the development, and eligibility based on federal requirements and this QAP.  
Applications determined by MBOH staff to not substantially meet all Threshold Requirements 
or other requirements of this QAP or federal law will be returned un-scored and will receive 
no further consideration.  Except as specifically provided in this QAP, Application fees will 
not be refunded. 

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying, verifying or confirming any 
information in Applications.  MBOH staff may allow minor corrections to Applications, but will 
return and will not further consider Applications requiring substantial revision or those that 
are substantially incomplete.   

MBOH staff may query an Applicant or other persons regarding any concerns related to a 
Housing Credit Application or the management, construction or operation of a proposed or 
existing low income housing Project.  Questionable or illegal housing practices or 
management, insufficient or inadequate response by the Applicant, General Partners, or 
Management Company as a whole or in part, may be grounds for Disqualification of an 
Application and non-consideration for an Award of Housing Credits. 

As part of its review of Applications, MBOH staff will contact community officials of the 
Project location to discuss relevant evaluation criteria information pertaining to the 
Application and the proposed Project  MBOH may also contact any other third parties to 
confirm or seek clarification regarding any information in the Application, including but not 
limited to checking Development Team references, verifying credit reports and verifying 
information through direct contact with the Project Developer.   

Between the submission deadline and the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting, as 
required by federal law, MBOH will notify the chief executive officer of the local jurisdiction 
of each proposed development requesting comments on the development. 

Housing Credit Allocations will be subject to three underwriting evaluations: (i) evaluation 
for purposes of Award/Reservation and, for Projects that have received an Award of credits 
and entered into a Reservation Agreement, (ii) evaluation for purposes of the 10% Cost 
Certification, and (iii) evaluation for purposes of Final Cost Certification. 

156



35 

MBOH will return and will not consider for an Award of Credits: 

• Incomplete Applications;
• Unsound Applications, i.e., Projects for which the Market Study and other available

market information fails to demonstrate adequate market need within the proposed
location community or Projects that are not financially feasible, including but not
limited to viable cash flow, based upon MBOH underwriting standards as set forth in
this QAP;

• An Application submitted by an entity with a demonstrated poor track record in
completion of development or management of low income housing, whether located
in Montana or another state;

• Applications submitted by Applicants with current Project(s) that have/had numerous
or unresolved substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  8823’s (consideration will be
given to the type of 8823);

• Any other Application failing to meet any mandatory requirement of this QAP or
federal law; and

• Any Application as otherwise specified in this QAP.

Applications meeting all minimum Threshold Requirements and not excluded from further 
consideration under this QAP will be evaluated for the amount of tax credits needed for 
feasibility and long term viability and will be evaluated and scored according to the 
Development Evaluation Criteria section below. 

Amount of Housing Credit Allocation 
Although a proposed development may be technically eligible for a certain Credit amount, 
federal law prohibits MBOH from allocating more Credits than necessary for the financial 
feasibility of the development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period.  Accordingly, an Award of Housing Credits under this 
QAP will be limited to the amount of Credits that MBOH, in its sole discretion, deems 
necessary to make the development feasible and viable throughout the Compliance Period. 

In determining the amount of Credits necessary, MBOH will consider: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds and the total financing planned for the Project.
Funds, including funds from federal sources, such as HOME grant money, Rural
Development, and similar funds, may be loaned by or through a parent organization
to a Project at an interest rate below the Applicable Federal Rate (AFR).  Such loans
will not reduce the basis for the Project providing they are true loans.

• Grants made with federal funds directly to a Project, which will reduce basis.
• Any proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits.
• The reasonableness of the development and operational costs of the Project.

Based on its evaluation, MBOH will make a preliminary determination of the amount of 
Credits deemed necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its viability as 
a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period.  This 
determination is made solely at MBOH's discretion, and is not intended to be a 
representation or warranty to anyone as to the feasibility of the development.  Rather, it will 
serve as the basis for making an Award of Credits.  A similar analysis will be done at the 
time of 10% Cost Certification and at Final Cost Certification prior to issuing IRS Form(s) 
8609.  Neither the selection of a Project to receive an Award of Housing Credits nor the 
amount of Credits to be allocated constitutes a representation or warranty that the Owner 
or Developer should undertake the development, or that no risk is involved for the Investor.  

Full Funding of Applications 

157



36 

Just as MBOH will not allocate more Credits than necessary for the financial feasibility of the 
development and its viability, MBOH will not award Credits in an amount less than 
necessary for these purposes.  Therefore, if the Board Awards Credits to a Project, it will 
Award the amount of Credits determined by MBOH staff for the Project based upon the 
Applicant’s requested amount (except for any de minimis reduction because of lack of 
available Credits to fully fund the full Credit amount).  If the remaining amount of available 
Credits is insufficient to fully fund an additional Project, the Board will prioritize the 
remaining Projects for an Award from the remaining Credits, and the first priority Project for 
such an Award will be allowed 30 days to re-submit its Application resized to the amount of 
Credits remaining available.  After staff underwriting and evaluation of the resized 
Application, if MBOH staff determines based upon the resized Application that the 
development is financially feasible and viable as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period, MBOH staff will enter into a Reservation Agreement for 
the Project.  If the first priority Project fails to submit a resized Application within 30 days or 
MBOH staff determines that the Project is not financially feasible or viable as proposed in 
the resized Application, the next priority Project will be invited to submit a resized 
Application, and so on, until remaining Credits are reserved for one of the prioritized 
Projects. 

Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring 
In addition to evaluation under all other QAP Selection Criteria, Applications will be 
evaluated and scored according to the following Development Evaluation Criteria. 

• Awarding of points to Projects pursuant to these Development Evaluation Criteria is
for purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least a minimum threshold of
1100 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points to qualify for further
consideration.  Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation
Criteria score of 1100 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points will not receive
further consideration.

• Non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will meet at least a minimum threshold of
850 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points to qualify for further
consideration. Non-competitive developments not scoring the minimum Development
Evaluation Criteria score of 850 of the total possible 1330 1290 available points will
not receive further consideration.

• The Development Evaluation Criteria, other QAP Selection Criteria and information
submitted or obtained with respect to Projects will be used to assist the MBOH Board
in evaluating and comparing Projects.

• Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of several considerations taken
into account by the MBOH Board.  It does not control the selection of Projects that
will receive an Award of tax credits.  For purposes of this QAP and HC Awards and
Allocations, the QAP Selection Criteria include all of the requirements, considerations,
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data
set forth in this QAP and all federal requirements.

1. Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible)

Federal law requires a 30-year or longer Extended Use Period.  An Application in which the 
Applicant agrees to maintain units for low income occupancy beyond the Compliance Period 
will receive points as indicated below and must incorporate these restrictions into the 
Restrictive Covenants.  

158



37 

Years beyond initial 15 

15 years 0  points  (30 total years) 

16 – 20 years 40  points  (31 – 35 years) 

21 – 25 years 60  points  (36 – 40 years) 

26 – 30 years 80  points  (41 – 45 years) 

Over 30 years 100 points   (46 years +) 

Eventual Home Ownership* Applications must also specify an Extended Use Period and will 
receive points for the Extended Use Period chosen as provided above (refer to the “Eventual 
Home Ownership” portion of Section 3 for supplemental Application documentation and 
information requirements). 

2. Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible)

An Application will receive points for the percentage of eligible units at the percentages of 
area median income (“AMI”) levels listed below.  An Application will receive points for 40%, 
50%, and 60% categories when the development targets those income and rent levels.  
Points awarded for 40% units are independent of and not calculated as part of 50% or 60% 
units, except that the number of 40% units included in the Project, if any, that exceed 10% 
of eligible units will be added to the number of 50% units for purposes of point scoring 
under the chart below.  Developments will be bound by the terms committed to in the 
application process through the use of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants.  Section C, 
Part IV, Rent and Forecasted Income of the UniApp will be used to calculate the score for 
this item.  Scoring under the following chart is based upon the total number of HC units 
including a manager’s unit if applicable. 

Target Median Income Level Percentage of Eligible Units Points 

40% 10% (or greater) 20  NOTE 1 

50% 15-20% 60  NOTE 1 

50% 21-40% 80  NOTE 1 

50% 41-60% 150 NOTE 1 

50% 61-100% 200 NOTE 1 

60% 40% 0 

60% 41-60% 20 

60% 61-100% 40 

NOTE 1: Rents @ 40% allowed to income qualify to 49% AMI. 

Rents @ 50% allowed to income qualify to 55% AMI (40-60 election must apply) 

(Applicable to all existing HC properties) 

3. Project Location* (100 points possible)

An Application will be awarded points to the extent the Project is located in an area where 
amenities and/or essential services will be available to tenants, determined according to the 
following specifications.  An Application will be awarded points with respect to an amenity or 
service as specified below, if: (i) a Project is located within 1½ miles of the specified 
amenity or essential service; (ii) public or contracted transportation (not including taxi or 

159



 
38 

 

school bus service) is reasonably available to the specified amenity or service (i.e., the 
Project is located within ¼ mile of fixed bus stop or on a same day call basis); or (iii) where 
applicable, the specified amenity or service is available via a no-charge delivery service to 
the Project Location:  

• 20 points for grocery store (convenience store does not count); and 
• 10 points for each of the following, up to a maximum of 80 points: 

o One or more public schools; 
o Senior Center; 
o Bank; 
o Laundromat (only if washer/dryer not included in unit or onsite); 
o Medical services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants (e.g., 

hospital, doctor offices, etc.); 
o Pharmacy services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants; 
o Gas station and/or convenience store; 
o Post Office; 
o Public Park; 
o Shopping (department, clothing or essentials – does not include convenience 

store); or 
o Public Library. 

4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 150 points possible) 

Development meets area housing needs and priorities and addresses area market concerns, 
such as public housing waiting lists (for all units and tenants), Vacancy Rate and type of 
housing required.   

• Local Community Input (40 points possible): Up to a total of 40 points will be 
awarded for Local Community Input.  2010 points will be awarded for each any of 
the items (i) through (iv) (not to exceed total of 40 points) through which local 
community input regarding the proposed Project was gathered, as shown by 
evidence provided in the Application or in response to MBOH inquiries: (i) local 
neighborhood meetings held expressly for this Application with attendance rosters 
and minutes; (ii) local charrettes held expressly for this Application with supporting 
documents, concept drawings, and input from local community; (iii) other 
appropriate form of local community input specifically designed to gather local 
community input for this Application  and/or (iv) City or County Commission 
meeting.  In order to obtain the available points under item (iii), there must be 
actual local community input in some form.  If a community meeting is held but 
there is no attendance, another form of local community input must be used.  No 
points will be awarded if the meeting or charrette is part of another public or design 
meeting, unless the minutes demonstrate that a portion of the meeting was 
specifically dedicated to community input for this Application.  No points will be 
awarded if the Application does not provide evidence of qualifying local community 
input, including minutes of any meeting, charrette or other form of local community 
input and copies of any written comments received.  Documentation of community 
outreach efforts to inform and invite community members to attend any of the 
community input events must be included.  All meetings, charrettes and other Local 
Community input events must be held within 6 months before the Application 
deadline. 
 

• Appropriate Size (50 points possible):  Points will be awarded for the 
appropriateness of size of the development for market needs and concerns as 
reflected in the Market Study.  50 points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is 50% or less than the number of units needed as projected by the 

160



39 

Project’s Market Study.  No points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 50% of the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study. For projects developed, rehabilitated or constructed in a 
location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, 
Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula, no points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 75% (rather than 50%) of the number of units needed as 
projected by the Project’s Market Study.  If the Project is existing in the community, 
the number of units in the Project will be added to the new units needed and the 
above test will be applied.  The Application narrative must address this scoring item 
with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.   

• Appropriate Development Type (40 points possible): Points will be awarded for
the appropriateness of the development type for market needs and concerns as
reflected in the Project’s Market Study.  40 points will be awarded if the Project’s
Market Study explains and justifies the selection of the type of construction and
housing selected (including justification of Rehab/New Construction, Family/Elderly,
Single-Family/Multi-Family, bedroom size and Eventual Home Ownership).  If this
explanation and justification is not included in the Project’s Market Study, no points
will be awarded in this category.  The Application narrative must address this scoring
item with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.

• Market Need (60 points possible):  The Application will be awarded points based
upon the required Market Study’s documentation that the Project meets the market
needs of the community, as follows:

o Vacancy Rate is at or below 5% (20 points);
o Absorption rate is less than 4 months (20 points) or Absorption rate is 4 or

more months and less than 6 months (10 points) and
o Rents are at least 10% below adjusted market rents (20 points).

Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the referenced page and paragraph of 
the Market Study. 

5. Project Characteristics* (230 points possible)

Preservation of or Increase in Housing Stock (50 points possible)

50 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Preservation of existing affordable 
housing stock or increases the affordable housing stock through the use of federal funds or 
funds from other sources (e.g., donation of land, other substantial donations, reduction in 
taxes through tax abatement (other than non-profit exemption) or impact fees) to leverage 
the tax credit dollars.  

Qualified Census Tract* or Community Revitalization Plan* (10 points possible) 

10 points will be awarded if the Project is located in a Qualified Census Tract* or involves 
existing housing as part of a local (not national, state or regional) community 
revitalization plan* or similar plan.  The Application must include any such local community 
revitalization plan and identify where in the plan such existing housing may be found.   

Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (20 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
buildings with local, state, and/or federal historic* preservation designations, existing 
affordable housing stock, or Projects applying for Rehabilitation tax credits that have 
completed their Compliance Period. 

Project-based rental subsidy (50 points possible): 

161



40 

0 points for less than 25% of the units; 

10 points for at least 25% of the units; 

20 points for at least 35% of the units; 

30 points for at least 50% of the units; 

40 points for at least 75% of the units; or 

50 points for 100% of the units. 

The Application must provide a copy of the relevant contract or other documentary proof of 
subsidy from the provider.  MBOH staff will verify claimed subsidies with funding source. 

Green Building and Energy Conservation Standards* (100 points possible): 

Applicant’s justification for green building and energy conservation includes but is not 
limited to Energy Star building and appliance initiatives, water saving devices and green 
construction and materials.  The green building and energy conservation items are listed 
and further described, and the available points and evaluation scoring criteria are specified, 
for New Construction and Rehabilitation in the MBOH Green Building and Energy Form.  The 
Application must include the completed MBOH Green Building and Energy Formworksheet. 
(Exhibit F).  The Applicant’s architect, who is qualified with respect to energy and green 
building standards, must provide a letter confirming the listed green building items, as 
shown in the MBOH Green Building and Energy Form which is referenced in and attached to 
the architect letter, are incorporated into the Project and a document that is outlined in a 
column and table format, listing each Mandatory and Scoring Item.  For all Projects (New 
Construction and Rehab)Rehabilitation , the table Form must list each scoring item and 
specify each unit by unit number or number of each unit type (e.g., 4 of the 10 3-
bedroom units) that will include the item. This letter and the accompanying column/table 
documentForm must be included in the Application.  NOTE: The Applicant’s architect also 
must provide certification at Final Cost Certification for 8609(s) purposes confirming that 
the initiatives were incorporated. 

Please refer to Section 3 for mandatory infrared testing for Projects that have been Awarded 
HCs. 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible)

Participation by an entity with a demonstrated track record of quality experience in 
completed development or management of low income housing tax credit Projects.  MBOH 
will consider all members of the Development Team (Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Management Company, and HC Consultant) and whether housing Projects have 
been developed and operated with the highest quality either in Montana or another state.  
Special attention will be paid to existing Projects, amount of active local community 
participation used to develop Projects, and a management entity with a good compliance 
track record and specialized training.  If a new Developer these points can be obtained 
through Experienced Partners.  (180 points possible) 

Thirty points each will be awarded for (a) one member of the Management Company 
meeting the education requirement under Section 12, and (b) one member of the 
Development Team (other than the Management Company) who is directly and actively 
involved with the Project that has been trained by a Nationally Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company.  For MBOH purposes, to maintain certification, the person 
must attend a complete class with a Nationally Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training 
Company at least once every four years (certificates must be attached with each 
Application).  MBOH annual compliance training does not qualify for credit under this 
category (60 points possible). 

162



41 

Ninety points will be awarded if the Project’s Developer or Consultant who is actively 
involved in the actual construction process has experience with Cold Weather Development 
and Construction, as reported on the MBOH Cold Weather Experience Form.  Cold Weather 
Development and Construction is defined as experience of the HC Developer or Consultant 
on one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel (90 points possible). 

The application must list all affordable housing including low-income housing tax credit 
Projects in Montana or any other state developed, owned, managed or consulted on by 
Applicant and any member of the Development Team or for which an Award of tax credits 
was received, whether or not such Projects were successfully completed.  All Development 
Team members, including Applicant, Developer, General Partner/Owner, Management 
Company, and HC Consultant  must consent in writing, on a form provided in the UniApp 
Supplement, to the release of information by any other applicable state tax credit agencies 
to MBOH regarding the Applicant’s history of performance on other tax credit Projects. 

7. Participation of Local Entity (60 points possible)

The MBOH Board has determined having a lLocal eEntity participate at a significant level 
increases the success and acceptance of the Project into the community.  For purposes of 
this scoring item, a local entity includes a provider serving the Project locality from a 
physical office in the region of the state where the Project is located even if the provider 
does not maintain a local office in the locality.  Up to but not more than 60 total points may 
be awarded for participation of one or more local entities.  10 points will be awarded for 
each of the local entity for each of the participation items (i) through (vi) documented in the 
Application as provided below. 

Qualifying participation includes lLocal eEntities providing: (i) screening and referring of 
individuals as prospective tenants; (ii) providing on-site services to Project tenants; (iii) 
donation of land or sale at a reduced price to enhance affordability; (iv) use of grant money 
to develop infrastructure or for other uses; (v) significant fee waivers on local government 
fees; or (vi) other forms of significant monetary or material in-kind support.   

Each item of local entity participation must be evidenced by a binding written agreement to 
participate, binding grant or conveyance, binding commitment for fee waivers, etc.  Such 
written agreements must specifically identify and describe the particular services the entity 
is providing and how such services will benefit the project and must separately identify each 
of the items in (i) through (v) above.  Such agreements may be conditioned upon an Award 
of Credits.  Formal written agreements are required; letters, offers or other non-binding 
documents will not be accepted as sufficient documentation of local entity participation 
under this section.  Only new or updated agreements, land donations, and/or grants 
requested or negotiated for the current round will be considered for awarding points.  The 
Application must provide evidence of how such local entity support will benefit the property. 
Formal written agreement for ongoing services must be extended or replaced so that a 
binding agreement remains in place for the duration of the Extended Use Period (with such 
agreement preserving the Owner’s right to cancel the agreement and obtain a replacement 
agreement with a new servicer if existing servicer is unable to provide the services).  The 
same component of participation by a local entity may not be counted toward more than 
one item, and may be given credit by an award of points only once.  Points will not be 
awarded for the same item in both this Development Evaluation Criteria 7 and Development 
Evaluation Criteria 5, Preservation of Affordable Housing. 

8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible)

An Application will be awarded 10 points for each 5% of the units targeting the following 
identified needs up to a maximum of 100 points.  The Application must specify the number 
of units targeted for each category.  Section B Part XII, Units Accessibility, of the UniApp 

163



42 

will be used to calculate the score for this item.  Units may not be counted more than once 
or in more than one category for purposes of awarding points.    

• Units targeted specifically for individuals with children or large families (units with 2
or more bedrooms).

• Units targeted specifically as Section 504 fully accessible units exceeding minimum
fair housing requirements.

• Units targeted specifically for persons with disabilities (limited to a maximum of 25%
of units in the Project) (Application must describe the strategy that will be used to
market available units to disabled persons throughout the Extended Use Period).

• Units targeted to veterans (limited to a maximum of 25% of units in the Project).
• Units targeted to victims of domestic violence (limited to a maximum of 25% of units

in the Project)

If the Project is an Elderly Property as defined in federal law, the Application will receive 100 
points under this provision. 

Example: 

2 – 2 bdrm units meet family requirement 20% – 40 points 

2 – 1 bdrm units exceed section 504 20% – 40 points 

1 – 1 bdrm unit targeted to mental illness 10% – 20 points 

5 – 1 bdrm units with no targeting 50% – 0 points 

10 – Total units in Project – 100 total points received 

9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points
possible)
If an entity or individual participating in a Project as a member of the Development Team
identified in an Application has a demonstrated poor track record or demonstrated past
management weaknesses with respect to developments in Montana or in another state, or
has failed in the past to respond timely to an MBOH letter of Inquiry with respect to a
Project, MBOH may assign negative points.

MBOH will provide written notice within thirty (30) days of MBOH learning of any event that 
will result in a negative point assignment, unless MBOH learns of the event after Application 
submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting.  If MBOH learns of the event 
after Application submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting, MBOH will 
provide written notice to the Applicant within five (5) business days.  The written notice 
must describe the event giving rise to the negative point assignment and specify the 
Development Team member or members affected by the negative point assignment, the 
number of negative points to be assigned and the number of future Applications to which 
negative points will be assigned.  If MBOH has learned of the event after Application 
submission and prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting, the notice must be provided to 
the Applicant and affected members of the Development Team and inform such persons or 
entities that they may respond in writing to MBOH within five (5) business days of the date 
of the notice or, if earlier, by 3 days prior to the MBOH Board’s Award meeting.  If MBOH 
learns of the event outside the period from Application submission to MBOH Board Award 
meeting, the notice must be provided to the particular Development Team member affected 
and inform such Development Team member that they may respond in writing to MBOH 
within thirty (30) days of the date of the notice. 

a. Demonstrated Poor Track Record

164



 
43 

 

For purposes of determining a participant’s track record, MBOH may contact community 
officials, Development Team or Development Team member references, credit bureaus, 
other state tax credit administering agencies and any other sources as MBOH deems 
appropriate.  Up to minus (-) 100 points may be assigned for each of the following: (i) 
demonstrated poor track record with respect to developments in Montana or in another 
state, and/or (ii) failure to respond within 10 working days of MBOH letter of inquiry. (Up to 
Minus (-) 200 points possible) 

b. Demonstrated Management Weaknesses 

Development Team members with past demonstrated management weaknesses, including 
but not limited to those management weaknesses listed below may be assigned negative 
points for this section (Up to Minus (-) 200 points possible), for example:  

• Has not followed-through on the development of a Project from Application to rent-
up and operation; 

• Has not complied with MBOH submission, compliance or other requirements 
applicable during Project development, construction and Extended Use Period; 

• Has not maintained a Project to Section 42 or other program standards; 
• Has or had numerous or outstanding substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  

8823’s (consideration will be given the type of 8823); 
• Has not completed required training in a certified compliance training program; 
• Has not completed required management compliance retraining at least every four 

years; 
• Has requested income targeting changes that are not supported by unanticipated 

hardship; 
• Has a debt coverage ratio at 10% cost certification or final allocation that has 

changed significantly from the debt coverage ratio as underwritten by MBOH at 
Application; 

• Has requested additional credits more than once;  
• Has made Substantial Changes to previous tax credit applications or has failed to 

notify MBOH and seek approval of Substantial Changes according to QAP 
requirements;  

• Has significantly diminished the quality and long term viability of a previous Project 
by lowering costs below a reasonable level; 

• Has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH;  
• Has intentionally provided false information to MBOH in connection with an 

application, Project or any related Board inquiry or process; or 
• Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded 

maximum Hard Cost Per Unit or Total Project Cost Per Unit at Final Cost Certification. 

Negative points may not be assigned for the same matter under both Section 9(a) and 9(b).   

c. Method of Assigning Negative Points. 

Any negative points will be assigned as follows: 

• The factors that will be considered in determining whether to assign negative points 
and the number of any negative points to be assigned with respect to poor track 
record items, management weaknesses and failure to response to MBOH letters of 
inquiry, include: 

o The nature and seriousness of the incident(s); 
o The frequency of such incidents; 
o The incidents were or were not within the control of the individual or entity; 

165



44 

o The degree and timeliness to and with which the entity or individual
responded to correction and educational efforts;

o The responsiveness of the individual or entity in responding timely to fees,
penalties and other sanctions imposed;

o The cost or financial harm caused to the Project, the tax credit agency or
third parties;

o The nature and extent of inconvenience and harm caused to Project tenants;
o The nature and extent of damage or expense caused to Project property;
o The extent to which the Project as completed failed to comply with the Project

as represented in the Application or in approved Project changes;
o The extent to which the incident would have affected scoring of the Project

Application if known as the time (although no such effect on Application
scoring need be shown to justify an assignment of negative points);

o The extent to which completion of a Project that received an Award of Credits
was substantially delayed or prevented;

o The extent to which Credits that were Awarded were recaptured;
o The extent to which unreasonable or excessive fees, profits or other improper

remuneration was derived improperly from a Credit Award or Project; and
o The presence of any other relevant factors or considerations.

• Except as otherwise provided in this Section, negative points will be assigned on the
next competitive 9% Credit Application (or multiple Applications in the same
competitive round) which includes as part of its Development Team any person or
entity that participated as a Development Team member in the Project or Projects
giving rise to the negative point assignment.

• If multiple and/or repeat instances of poor performance, management weakness or
fail to respond occur or have occurred, negative points may be assigned with respect
to a Development Team member for not only the first competitive round in which an
Application involving such member participates but may also be assigned for such
Applications in multiple future years or competitive rounds.

• If negative points are assigned as a result of poor track record, management
weakness or failure to respond that occurred as part of the
development/construction/rehabilitation process prior to beginning of lease-up
activities or other involvement of the Qualified Management Company, negative
points will not be assigned with respect to such Qualified Management Company.

• If more than one Development Team member subject to a negative point assignment
from a prior Project is part of the Development Team on a current or future Project
Application, the total negative points assigned to the Application will be the greatest
number of negative points assigned with respect to any one such participating
Development Team member.

• If the Project giving rise to the negative points would have received a lower
Development Evaluation Criteria score under the QAP under which the Project
initially was evaluated, scored and awarded credits had the poor track record,
management weakness or failure to respond been known as of Application scoring,
the negative points assigned with respect to a Development Team member from the
earlier Application will be the number of points corresponding to the difference in

166



 
45 

 

scoring that would have resulted.  Such point difference shall be converted as 
appropriate and necessary to correspond to the current QAP point scoring system.   

* Indicates federally mandated criteria 

 

Minimum Scoring Threshold 
Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score of 1100 
points (or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will not receive further 
consideration.  Applications scoring at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria 
score of 1100 points or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals and meeting 
all other requirements of this QAP will be considered for an Award of Housing Credits as 
provided in this QAP.    

Award Determination Selection Standard 
The MBOH Board will select those Projects to receive an Award of Housing Credits that it 
determines best meet the most pressing housing needs of low income people within the 
state of Montana, taking into consideration: (i) all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
(including without limitation the statistical data in the MBOH Statistical Data Form) set forth 
in this QAP and all federal requirements (together referred to in this QAP as the “Selection 
Criteria”); (ii) the Development Evaluation Criteria scoring; and (iii) all other information 
provided to the MBOH Board regarding the applicant Projects. 

The awarding of points to Projects pursuant to the Development Evaluation Criteria is for 
purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria required for further consideration and to assist the MBOH Board in 
evaluating and comparing Projects.  Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of 
several considerations taken into account by the MBOH Board and does not control the 
selection of Projects that will receive an Award of Housing Credits.  In addition to any other 
Selection Criteria specified in this QAP, the MBOH Board may consider the following factors 
in selecting Projects for an Award of Housing Credits to qualifying Projects: 

• The geographical distribution of Housing Credit Projects; 
• The rural or urban location of the Projects; 
• The overall income levels targeted by the Projects; 
• The need for affordable housing in the community, including but not limited to 

current Vacancy Rates; 
• Rehabilitation of existing low income housing stock; 
• Sustainable energy savings initiatives; 
• Financial and operational ability of the Applicant to fund, complete and maintain the 

Project through the Extended Use Period; 
• Past performance of an Applicant in initiating and completing tax credit Projects;  
• Cost of construction, land and utilities, including but not limited to costs/credits per 

square foot/unit;  
• The Project is being developed in or near a historic downtown neighborhood; and/or 
• The frequency of Awards in the respective areas where Projects are located.  

If the MBOH Board Awards Credits to an Applicant where the Award is not in keeping with 
the Selection Criteria of this QAP, it will publish a written explanation that will be made 
available to the general public pursuant to Section 42(m)(1)(A)(iv) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

167



 
46 

 

If all of the authorized Credits are Awarded after a particular cycle, MBOH may place 
qualifying Applications which did not receive an Award of tax credits on a waiting list for 
potential Award of Housing Credits in the event Credits become available at a later date.  
Any available Credits that are not Awarded or reserved in a particular cycle may in the 
discretion of the MBOH Board be made available for Award in a future cycle or may be used 
to increase the amount of Housing Credits reserved for a previously Awarded Project as 
provided in this QAP.   

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL 
ALLOCATION 
Once MBOH has selected Projects and determined the Award of Housing Credits and amount 
of Credits to be reserved, MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor 
Election, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and 
return to MBOH.  Upon recording, the original recorded Restrictive Covenants must be 
returned promptly to MBOH. 

Reservation Agreement 
MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor Election, and Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and return to MBOH.  The partnership 
should review, complete, sign, and return the Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor 
Election, along with the additional information and materials required below.  A Reservation 
Agreement is MBOH’s conditional commitment to make a Carryover Commitment and/or 
Final Allocation to the Project, subject to the requirements and conditions of the Reservation 
Agreement, the QAP and federal law.  Such requirements include but are not limited to 
submission of evidence of timely progress toward completion of the development acceptable 
to MBOH and compliance with federal tax credit requirements.  

If an unsuccessful Applicant, or a party associated with such Applicant, commences any 
legal action or proceeding challenging MBOH’s Award determination or process, MBOH will 
make a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation of Housing Credits as required by an 
executed Reservation Agreement to the same extent it would have been bound to do in 
absence of the legal challenge, unless the court determines that such Applicant was not 
eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an Award of Housing Credits or 
MBOH otherwise determines that it is precluded by Court order from doing so.  If a court 
determines in any such action or proceeding that MBOH must Award Credits to one or more 
unsuccessful Applicants from such round or year, such Award or Awards will be made using 
any available returned or unreserved Housing Credits or current year’s Credits provided in 
Section 7. 

The following will be required from the partnership, prior to entering into a Reservation 
Agreement: 

• Demonstrated financial ability to proceed (conditional financing commitment); and 
• Certain other updated Application material 

MBOH will send the successful Applicant a Reservation Agreement shortly after Award and 
upon meeting the foregoing requirements.  The Applicant will have a maximum of 120 days 
after award to accept, sign and return the Reservation Agreement.  Failure to return the 
Agreement by the deadline will result in a late fee of 25% of the Reservation Fee.  
Where applicable, however, if the Owner elects the federal percentage(s) in the month that 
the Reservation (Initial Allocation) is issued by MBOH, the Reservation Agreement must be 
signed and returned on or before the 25th of that month to assure the lock-in of the rate.  
Owners electing the placed-in-service date should return the signed Reservation Agreement 

168



47 

immediately.  Upon receipt, MBOH will sign the Reservation Agreement, and return a copy 
to the partnership. 

The  Reservation Fee specified in the fee schedule in Section 5 will be due and must be 
received by MBOH on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2016 for 2016 credit Awards made in January 2016).    

Once the partnership enters into a Reservation Agreement with MBOH, the partnership must 
then meet the requirements and conditions described in the Reservation Agreement and 
provide the required documentation before it receives a Carryover Commitment or Final 
Allocation of Housing Credits.   

MBOH will revoke an approved Reservation (Initial Allocation) and terminate the Reservation 
Agreement when a Project fails to make successful progress toward completion or otherwise 
fails to perform its obligations under the Reservation Agreement.  Submitting quarterly 
status reports demonstrating satisfactory evidence of the Project’s completion is the 
responsibility of the Applicant.  Successful progress toward Project completion and Project 
completion require that such progress and completion are in substantial accordance with the 
Project as described and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that 
Substantial Changes have been approved by MBOH or the MBOH Board as provided in the 
Applicable QAP.     

NOTE:  Reservation Agreements for tax credit Projects funded through tax-exempt bonds 
must be completed, signed, and returned to MBOH not later than five business days 
following the close of the bond financing agreement. 

Gross Rent Floor Election 
The election on this form verifies when the Owner elects the gross rent floor for the Project. 
There are two options: at the Reservation/Initial Allocation, or at the date Placed in Service. 
This form reflects the election made by the Owner in the Reservation Agreement. This form 
must be returned with the executed Reservation Agreement. 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 
The Declaration of Restrictive Covenants assures that the land and its use will be restricted 
for the purposes of providing low-income housing for the period proposed in the Application. 
Provisions included in the Restrictive Covenants will include Exhibit A-1 (Legal Description of 
Project Land); Exhibit A-2 (Conditions of Tax Credit Allocation) indicating the number of 
units at the appropriate elected rent levels, e.g., 30%, 40%, 50%, 60% AMI as determined 
by the Application.  Owners will be required to maintain those rent levels through the 
Extended Use Period of the Project; Exhibit A-3 (Energy and Green Building) indicating the 
architect’s letter provided in the Application outlining those energy and green building 
initiatives; .  Exhibit A-4 (Amenities); Exhibit A-5 (Participation by Local Entity); and Exhibit 
A-6 (Special Housing Needs).

It is the Developer’s responsibility to record the Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants in the county in which the Project real property is located.  Upon 
recording, the original recorded Restrictive Covenants must be returned promptly 
to MBOH. 

In unusual circumstances, and for good cause shown, MBOH may permit 
amendments to the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants at a subsequent date. 

Carryover Commitment 
MBOH will issue a Carryover Commitment in December of the year for which the credits are 
being Awarded and such Carryover will be for a period of two (2) years. To preserve this 

169



48 

commitment the Owner/Developer must submit the 10% Cost Certification by the deadline 
specified in the Applicable QAP. 

In order to receive a Carryover Commitment, Owners must provide the executed 
Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor, Proof of Ownership (evidence of title or right 
to possession and use of the property for the duration of the Compliance Period and any 
Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a recorded deed or an executed lease agreement), 
executed and recorded Restrictive Covenants, and the Reservation fee.  Land lease periods 
must be at least one year longer than the Restrictive Covenant period.  These items must 
be received by December 1, of the year for which the Award of Credits was made.  MBOH 
will issue Carryover Commitments before year end. 

10% Test 
MBOH requires that more than 10% of the expected basis in a Project, including land, must 
be expended by the 10% Cost Certification deadline.  MBOH requires that Developers 
provide an independent third party CPA Cost Certification, in a format established by MBOH, 
verifying compliance with the 10% test.  

Developers must submit the 10% requirements, including the required CPA Cost 
Certification, other documents and the 10% test underwriting fee by the deadline.  Failure 
to do so will result in the loss of the Credit Award.  The fee for 10% test underwriting is 
$1,000.00$1,500.00, which fee must be paid at the time of submission of 10% test 
information and documentation.   

Failure to provide the 10% test information so that it is received by MBOH by the 
deadline will result in a $5,000.00 late fee.  Because MBOH’s submission deadline 
is set at the latest date allowed by federal law, no extensions will be granted.  If 
10% test information is submitted by the deadline but any forms are incomplete 
or omitted, a $100 correction fee will be imposed for each incomplete or omitted 
item. 

At 10% Test, MBOH staff will re-evaluate: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds;
• Total financing planned for the Project;
• Proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits;
• Reasonableness of the development and operation costs;
• Projected Rental Income and Operational Expenses;
• Debt Coverage Ratio; and
• Housing Credits required for financial feasibility of the Project.

Deadline for submission of the required 10% information is the first anniversary of the date 
on which MBOH executed the Reservation Agreement. This submission deadline will apply to 
10% test submissions for Projects awarded Housing Credits in the 2016 or later year 
allocation rounds. Developers that fail to pay the required fee will be deemed not to have 
met the 10% Test requirements.  Failure to submit certification for 10% documentation or 
to meet the 10% Test will cause forfeiture of Awarded, reserved or allocated Housing 
Credits for the Project. 

Placed in Service 
Placed in Service is the certification of the building or the date of certification of the building 
as being suitable for occupancy in accordance with State or local law through issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy. 

170



49 

New Construction and Gut Rehabilitation buildings must be Placed in Service not later than 
the close of the second calendar year following the calendar year in which the Carryover 
Commitment is made. 

Other Rehabs that are accomplished with residents in place during Rehab can be Placed in 
Service at the end of the 24 month or shorter period over which the required amount of 
expenditures are aggregated.  The Owner selects the Placed in Service date in this case 
unless local approval is required. 

Final Allocations/8609 
Documentation supporting a request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must be submitted to 
MBOH within 6 months of the last building Placed in Service date. MBOH will not allocate tax 
credits on IRS Form 8609(s) until a qualified building is Placed in Service.  A site visit and 
file audit by MBOH may be conducted prior to the issuance of the IRS Form 8609(s).  
Notwithstanding other provisions of this QAP, to obtain issuance of Form 8609(s), the 
Project must be Placed in Service in substantial accordance with the Project as described 
and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that Substantial Changes have 
been approved by MBOH or the MBOH Board as provided in the Applicable QAP. 

The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee is $2,500.00$3,000.00, which fee must be paid 
at the time of submission of the request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  If the 
paperwork is not received by MBOH within the 6 months of the last building Placed in 
Service date, a $5,000.00 late fee will be assessed.  If 8609 information is submitted by 
the deadline but any forms are incomplete or omitted, a $100 correction fee will 
be imposed for each incomplete or omitted item.  If a draft 8609 is sent to 
Developer for review and 8609s must be redone because of Developer/Accountant 
error, there will a $1,250.00 fee for additional underwriting. 

The request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must include: 

• Certification of required infrared test results (if not previously submitted);
• The independent third party completed MBOH CPA’s Cost Certification and Owner’s

Statements Forms;
• Sponsor Certification section of the UniApp;
• The architect’s verification that the items for green and amenities and energy listed

in the Application  as well as provisions of accessibility listed in Section 3 have been
incorporated;

• Certificates of Occupancy (C of O’s);
• Copies of all permanent loan and/or grant documents;
• Copy of partnership/operating agreement; and
• Detailed list Statement of items or costs excluded from eligible basis. (for example,

parking lot is not in eligible basis);
• Statement identifying the first year of the credit period, which statement must name

the specific year (e.g., 2017).;
• The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee.; and
• Documentation evidencing that the site manager and Management Company

personnel have completed a Nationally Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training 
Company certification course, passing the test within the last four years. 

If the required fee is not submitted, the Project will be deemed not to have met Final 
Allocation requirements and MBOH will not issue Form 8609(s).  MBOH will complete the 
final credit Allocation evaluation.  Typical turn-around time for 8609(s) is 4-8 weeks after 

171



 
50 

 

submission of all required documentation and the fee.  Once the 8609(s) are issued and 
delivered to the Owner, the bottom half must be completed and signed.   

A copy of each completed and signed 8609 must be sent back to MBOH within 90 
days of issuance.  Failure to provide the completed and signed 8609(s) so that 
they are received by MBOH by the deadline will result in a $1,000.00 late fee.  If 
the 8609(s) need to be reissued after completed by MBOH due to Developer error, 
the MBOH underwriting fee must be paid again. 

 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES  
Applicant must respond to a written MBOH request within 10 working days.  Failure to do so 
may result in the Application being deemed ineligible for that funding round.  

Applicant must proceed according to the timeframe identified in the Implementation 
Schedule.  Adjustments up to 60 days are acceptable.  Any changes in the Implementation 
Schedule greater than 60 days must be submitted in writing with justification to MBOH 
within 10 business days of the change.  Any changes not reported or not approved may 
jeopardize the credits.  If the schedule is more than 60 days behind and has not been 
updated as stated above, a late fee of $1,000.00 will be assessed. 

State Law Requirements 
The Applicant and Development Team must agree to comply with Montana State law 
requirements (e.g., certificate of contractor registration, workers compensation, 
unemployment compensation, and payroll taxes).  MBOH will include this certification in the 
execution of all Reservation (Initial Allocation) and Carryover Commitment documents. 

Public Notification 
Any public relations actions by a recipient of tax credits involving MBOH funds or tax credits 
must specifically state that a portion of the funding is from MBOH.  This will be included in 
radio, television, and printed advertisements (excluding rental ads), public notices, and on 
signs at construction sites, e.g., “Housing Credits allocated by the Montana Board of 
Housing, Montana Department of Commerce.” 

Quarterly Status Reporting 
All Applicants receiving Reservations (initial Allocations) of credits must provide written 
status reports for each calendar quarter, beginning with the quarter in which the tax credit 
Award is made. Status reports will be due on or before January 10th, April 10th, July 10th & 
October 10th until the Applicant receives its 8609(s).  The documentation regarding the 
progress must be development specific, and include such items as planning approval and 
building permits, firm debt and/or equity financing commitments, construction progress 
(foundation, framing, rough in, enclosed, drywall, etc., for each Project building), and 
lease up progress.  Submission of photos is encouraged. 

The following items must be addressed for each building on the quarterly report that is 
submitted to MBOH.  If all items are not addressed, the report will be returned and must be 
corrected and resubmitted.  If the resubmitted report is received after the due date the late 
fee will apply. 

• Updated implementation schedule if more than 60 days behind 
schedule submitted with application; 

• Advertising for construction bids; 
• Construction bid awards; 

172



51 

• Pre-construction meeting date;
• Groundbreaking ceremony date (at least 2 weeks’ notice);
• Future dates of construction/draw meetings;
• Each phase of construction for each building including photos

(excavation, foundation framed, etc.);
• Certificate of Occupancy for each building as issued for the month of

report;
• Number of units occupied and number left to full lease up each

quarter; and
• Grand Opening date (at least 2 weeks’ notice).

Owners must provide a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for each building.  The 
Certificate of Occupancy must be included in the status report covering the period 
in which it was issued.  Failure to provide the reports so that they are received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $500.00 late fee.  This also applies to those 
Properties with ARRA funding. 

All ARRA reports are due on or before the dates listed in the ARRA Exchange or TCAP 
Program Agreement. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the financial audit is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual budget is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual insurance binder is not received by MBOH by 
the deadline. 

Changes to Project or Application 
The Applicant must notify MBOH in writing at least 30 days before any proposed Substantial 
Changes in the Project.  Proposed Substantial Changes to the Project must be approved by 
MBOH. 

Specific approval by MBOH is required for Substantial Changes.  MBOH staff will review 
requested Substantial Changes and may approve or deny approval of such changes, or may 
request Board consideration and determination of the change request.  If MBOH staff denies 
approval of any Project Change, the Applicant may request Board review and approval of 
the change request.  Requests must be submitted to MBOH with proper justification at least 
30 days before the change is expected to take place.  The Applicant must inform MBOH staff 
if the proposed change requires immediate or urgent review and approval.  MBOH review 
and approval of changes must be completed prior to the change taking effect.  Changes 
completed without MBOH approval may result in the termination of the Reservation 
Agreement and/or loss of some or all credits. 

Any requested changes submitted requiring MBOH action may incur additional fees.  
Changes to the Project site, construction of building(s), architectural, engineering, or any 
on-site review by any member of MBOH will incur additional charges.  Fees will be 
determined based upon the cost of MBOH Staff travel for that purpose.

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
Federal law requires state allocating agencies (MBOH) to monitor compliance with provisions 
of Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. § 42).  In addition, Federal law 
requires allocating agencies to provide a procedure the agency will follow in monitoring for 

173



52 

non-compliance and to inform tax credit recipients (Owners) of procedures and 
requirements.  

Included in the requirements are procedures for notifying the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) of any non-compliance of which the allocating agency becomes aware.  Federal 
income tax regulations related to Procedures for Monitoring Compliance with Housing Credit 
Requirements are published in 26 CFR Part 1 and 602.  

For complete HC compliance guidance, refer to the MBOH HC Compliance Manual, available 
at http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManual 

Compliance Fees 
Developments will incur and must pay to MBOH a compliance monitoring fee to offset the 
costs for MBOH compliance monitoring.  The compliance monitoring fee is currently of 
$45.00 per each non-market unit, and may be adjusted by MBOH from time to time.  The 
amount of the compliance monitoring shall be posted on the MBOH website and any 
adjustments to the fee amount shall be posted on the MBOH website in advance of the 
effective date of such adjustment.  The compliance monitoring fee (subject to change) is 
payable annually at the time of the Owner's Submission of the Owner’s Certificate of 
Continuing Program Compliance. 

If the complete Annual Compliance Package is not received by the deadline, a late 
fee of $100.00 or 25% of the annual compliance monitoring fee, whichever is 
greater, will be charged. 

Failure to provide corrections on noncompliance so that they are received by the deadline 
set by MBOH will result in a $200.00 late fee and $25.00 per daya $200.00 per week fee 
until all required documentation is received by MBOH.  A one-time extension may be 
granted if a written request is submitted to MBOH no later than 10 days prior to the 
deadline.  If an extension is granted and the extension deadline passes without MBOH 
receipt of the complete documentation, a $25.00$200.00 per dayweek fee will be imposed 
until all required documentation is received by MBOH. 

The following procedure describes MBOH plans for monitoring compliance on tax credit 
Projects. At minimum, each Project that has been Placed in Service will be subject to the 
following monitoring requirements: 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection 
Recordkeeping 

The Owner of a low-income housing Project must keep records for each building in the 
Project that shows unit qualifications for each year throughout the term of the Declaration 
of Restricted Covenants, including the Compliance Period and the Extended Use Period in 
effect for such Project. 

The information must show for each year in the Compliance Period: 

• The total number of residential rental units in a building (including the number of
bedrooms and the size in square feet of each residential rental unit);

• The percentage of residential rental units in the building that are qualified units;
• The rent charged on each residential rental unit in the building (including any utility

allowances and mandatory fees);
• HC unit vacancies in the building and information that shows when, and to whom,

the next available units were rented.  If a unit is left vacant, or in a mixed use
Project is rented to a non-qualifying tenant, the Owner must maintain documentation
showing a diligent attempt was made to rent the unit to a qualifying tenant;

174

http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManual


 
53 

 

• The tenant income certification of each HC tenant (by unit), including annual 
certifications for each continuous tenant;   

• Documentation to support each HC tenant's income certification.  This must include a 
copy of (a) verification of income from third parties, or (b) 6 consecutive paystubs; 

• The eligible basis and qualified basis of the building at the end of the first year of the 
credit period; and 

• The character and use of any non-residential portion of the building included in the 
eligible basis of the building, if applicable.   

Records Retention 

Federal regulations require the Owner of a HC Project receiving tax credits to retain the 
records listed above.  The Owner is required to retain such records for at least 6 years after 
the due date for filing the federal income tax return for that year.  Records for the first year 
of the credit period must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the due date for filing the 
federal income tax return for the last year of the Compliance Period.  Owner should also 
retain records relating to the amount of credit claimed for the Montana Housing Tax Credit, 
including the Form 8609(s) and Schedule A of Form 8609(s). 

Data Collection 
To the extent required by federal law, the Owner will assist the MBOH with meeting federal 
reporting requirements by collecting and submitting information annually concerning the 
race, ethnicity, family composition, age, income, use of rental assistance under section 8(o) 
of the United States Housing Act of 1937 or other similar assistance, disability status, and 
monthly rental payments of all qualified households.  

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance is required on an annual basis for 
each property.  The certificate must to be signed by the Owner and notarized.  This 
statement must be filed with MBOH every year throughout the Extended Use Period.  
Owners must file annual certifications on the form provided by MBOH. Substitute forms are 
not acceptable.  Failure to provide an annual certification before the date established by 
MBOH may trigger an IRS Form 8823.  

Income and Expense Summary 
All property Owners must submit operating income and cost information for the property’s 
latest fiscal period, including a current balance of replacement and operating reserve 
accounts.   

Submission Deadlines 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance and Tenant Income Certifications 
(TIC) must be submitted on or before the 25th of the month following the assigned annual 
period.  Federal regulations stipulate there must be no more than 12 months between 
certifications.  

All submissions must be filed through Certification On Line (COL). 

Review by MBOH staff 
MBOH will review the items listed above for compliance with the requirements of Section 42 
of the Code and with the requirements of the MBOH HC program. 

Ownership/Management Changes 

175



54 

Written Notification of changes to property management companies, managers, site 
managers, or changes to points of contact must be submitted to MBOH prior to or 
immediately upon implementation of the change.  Changes not received by MBOH prior to 
change or immediately upon change, or within a 15-day grace period thereafter, will result 
in an initial $10.00$500.00 per day late fee, and $500.00 per month until written 
notification is received.  If no notification is received MBOH will research and identify the 
date of the change, and impose late fees based upon such date (and allowing for a 15-day 
grace period).  For purposes of imposition of such late fees, a 5-day grace period shall 
apply.  No Change in Management Company shall be acceptable unless it results in a 
Qualified Management Company assuming management of the property.  Replacement of a 
Management Company with a company that is not a Qualified Management Company or 
failure to timely submit such notification to MBOH may trigger issuance of a Form 8823.  All 
management companies, whether in place or being hired, must meet Qualified Management 
definition. 

Subject to the requirements of Section 42 of the Code, the Restrictive Covenants and the 
Applicable QAP any other applicable restrictions, the Owner may sell, transfer or exchange 
the entire Project at any time.  No portion of a building to which the Restrictive Covenants 
apply may be sold to any person unless all of such building is sold to such person.  Prior to 
such sale, transfer or exchange, however, the Owner must notify in writing and obtain the 
written agreement of any buyer, successor or other person acquiring the Project or any 
interest therein that such acquisition is subject to the requirements of the Restrictive 
Covenants, the requirements of Section 42 of the Code and applicable Regulations, and the 
Applicable QAP.  Such written agreement of the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be in the form required by MBOH, which agreement form is available on 
the MBOH website.  Such form, executed by the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be submitted to MBOH prior to closing of the sale, transfer or exchange.  
The Board may void any sale, transfer or exchange of the Project if the buyer, successor or 
other person fails to assume in writing the requirements of this Agreement and the 
requirements of Section 42 of the Code. 

Education Requirements 
Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must be certified in LIHTC compliance by one of the 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Companies.  Property managers and 
property Management Company personnel must complete a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company certification course, passing the test.  For MBOH purposes, to 
maintain certification, the person must attend a class with a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company at least once every four years.  For each of the other three 
years, all property managers and property Management Company personnel should attend 
annual MBOH compliance training.  The property Management Company and site manager 
for an HC property must be trained and certified before the property is Placed in Service.  
New site managers hired for existing HC properties must be certified within their first year 6 
months of employment. New property management companies hired for existing properties 
must be certified before they assume management of a property.  On a case-by-case basis, 
MBOH may approve its compliance training as adequate training until such time as the next 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company program is available.  Training 
requirements must be met to maintain Qualified Management Company status. 

Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must also attend Fair Housing training at least once every four 
years.  The manager for a HC property must complete such training before the property is 

176



55 

Placed in Service.  New managers hired for existing HC properties must complete the 
training within their first year of employment. 

Such Fair Housing training must include and cover the following subjects and requirements: 

• Protected Classes;
• Accessibility requirements;
• Reasonable accommodation/modification;
• Applicant screening;
• Disparate impact;
• Domestic violence issues;
• Occupancy standards;
• Section 504; and
• Service Animals.

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) 
Frequency and Form 

Owners must complete the MBOH TIC for all new move-ins and file it with MBOH through 
Certification On Line (COL).  Documentation supporting the TIC will not be submitted.  
MBOH staff will review supporting documentation during file audits. Timely annual Re-
certifications (TICs) for mixed Projects (with market units) are required must be submitted 
to MBOH through COL.    

The MBOH COL TIC must be used.  Any other TIC must be preapproved by MBOH prior to 
useis the only acceptable form.  

Student Status Certification 
Student status certifications must be completed annually within the 30 day period prior to 
their move-in anniversary date. 

On-Site Inspections 
MBOH staff (staff) will perform an on-site inspection of each property at least once every 
three years during the Extended Use Period.  Staff will notify the Owner/manager in 
advance of the inspection. 

Staff must inspect and review at least 20% of the tenant files and corresponding units. 
MBOH will not notify the Project’s manager, Owner or other representative of the unit 
selection before the site inspection.  The selected sample may be expanded. 

Complete copies of all tenant files for each unit from original lease-up forward must remain 
within the State of Montana at the location of the rental property or the regional in-state 
office. 

If MBOH determines it is necessary, properties may be inspected on a cycle of more than 
once every three years.  The cost of any additional inspections will be billed to the 
respective property.   

MBOH may schedule on-site inspections at any time with minimal notice. 

In event of non-compliance under Section 42 of the Code or the implementing regulations 
MBOH may be required or elect to undertake additional monitoring.  The Owner will take 
any and all actions reasonably necessary to achieve and maintain compliance.  Staff may 
require the Owner to document correction of non-compliance and/or MBOH may elect to 

177



56 

conduct one or more site visit(s) to verify correction of non-compliance. The Owner will pay 
a reasonable fee to MBOH for any such additional monitoring activities. 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) 
MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH becomes aware of non-
compliance.  These items include:  

• Non-receipt of the certification(s) described in this QAP.
• Inaccessibility of tenant income supporting documentation, rent records, or

the property.

In addition, MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH discovers by 
inspection, review, or in some other manner, that the Project is not in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 42. 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) 
The Owner will be given a reasonable correction period from the date of non-compliance.  If 
Staff determines that good cause exists, an extension may be granted.  

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) 
MBOH must file IRS Form 8823 "Low-Income Housing Credit Agencies Report of 
Noncompliance" with the IRS (even if non-compliance has been corrected) no later than 45 
days after the end of the correction period, and no earlier than the end of the correction 
period.   

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) 
Compliance with the requirements of Section 42 is the responsibility of the Owner of the 
building for which the credit is allowable.  MBOH's obligation to monitor for compliance with 
the requirements of Section 42 does not make the Agency liable for an Owner's 
noncompliance. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relation to, the compliance monitoring of a low-income housing 
Project. 

Marketing the Project 
The Owner mustMBOH will put all HC properties into the free State-approved Housing 
Locator website, MTHousingSearch.com within one year after Placed in Service. If not 
completed within such time period, MBOH will do so and charge the Owner for the related 
costs.  Properties will be contacted by MTHousingSearch for required information.  Using 
this website meets the criteria for advertising vacant units and provides for broad coverage 
to those searching for affordable housing in Montana. 

Qualified Contract Process 
Federal law, in Section 42 of the Code, provides for a state housing credit agency process 
for early termination of the Extended Use Period for certain Projects and subject to certain 
requirements.  Such process provides for the early termination of the Extended Use Period: 
(i) if the Owner submits a written request to MBOH in accordance with certain requirements
to find a person to acquire the Property, and (ii) if MBOH is unable to present within a one-
year period a qualified contract for the acquisition of the Property by any person who will 
continue to operate the low-income portion of the building as a low-income building as 
defined in Section 42 of the Code.  MBOH has adopted certain requirements and procedures 
applicable to the qualified contract process in the Montana Board of Housing, Montana 

178



57 

Housing Tax Credit Program, Qualified Contract Process and Instructions for Calculation of 
the Qualified Contract Price (______ 2017).  MBOH hereby adopts and incorporates herein 
by reference the Montana Board of Housing, Montana Housing Tax Credit Program, Qualified 
Contract Process and Instructions for Calculation of the Qualified Contract Price (______ 
2017) (the “Qualified Contract Process”) for purposes of eligibility, submission, 
consideration, determination and all other aspects of a request for a qualified contract as 
provided in Section 42.  The Qualified Contract Process shall govern all aspects of a Project 
Owner’s request to MBOH for a qualified contract. 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER 
MBOH is charged with allocating no more tax credits to any given development than is 
required to make that development economically feasible.  This decision shall be made 
solely at the discretion of MBOH, but in no way represents or warrants to any Applicant, 
Investor, lender, or others that the development is feasible or viable. 

MBOH reviews documents submitted in connection with this Allocation for its own purposes. 
In Allocation of the tax credits, MBOH makes no representations to the Owner or anyone 
else regarding adherence to the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations, or any other 
laws or regulations governing Montana Housing Tax Credits. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relations to, the Allocation of the Housing Credit. 

If it is determined that an Applicant or any member of the Development Team has 
intentionally submitted false information, a credit Award may be withdrawn or credits may 
be recaptured and the Applicant or any Applicant involving any related parties or any 
individual or entity supplying the false information will be ineligible to apply for credits for 
the next five years or may be assessed negative points as provided in Section 9. 

MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination 
Montana Board of Housing is an Equal Opportunity organization.  All employees who work 
for MBOH, agree not to discriminate against any client or co-worker based on any protected 
class under applicable Federal or Montana law.  The failure of any employee to comply with 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action in accordance with applicable employment policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to immediate termination of employment. 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions 
This QAP may be amended at any time after compliance with applicable notice, comment 
and approval requirements. 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance 
The Owner, Developer, borrowers and any of their employees, agents, or sub-contractors, 
in doing business with the Montana Board of Housing understand and agree that it is the 
responsibility of the Owner(s) and such other persons and entities to comply with all 
applicable Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations, including without limitation applicable 
provisions of the Fair Housing Laws and Americans With Disabilities Act, and any applicable 
State and local Civil Rights Laws and regulations.  Should requirements, such as design, not 
be specified by MBOH, it is nonetheless the Owner(s) responsibility to be aware of and 
comply with all applicable non-discrimination provisions related to any protected class under 
Federal or Montana law, including design requirements for construction or Rehabilitation, 
Equal Opportunity in regard to marketing and tenant selection and reasonable 
accommodation and modification for those tenants covered under the Laws. 

179



58 

Housing Credit Forms: 
All Forms Referenced in this QAP are available at: 
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP  
Applicants, Developers, Owners, Management Companies and all other interested 
persons submitting Applications, Cost Certifications, Compliance materials and 
other material to MBOH are responsible to review the website and to make such 
submission on the most current Form available on the MBOH website as of the 
date of the submission.  MBOH may require resubmission of any item if submitted 
without using the current Form, and late fees may be incurred if the need for such 
resubmission results in late submission of the correct Form.  Please contact MBOH 
staff with any questions regarding the appropriate or current Form. 

180

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


Homeword 2018 MBOH QAP comments: 
 
Page 7 
“Small Rural Project” means, for purposes of the Small Rural Project set aside, a Project: (1) for which the 
submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount up to but no more than 10% 12.5% of the 
state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation; , and (2) is a Project with 20 or fewer low-income units, and (3) 
proposed to be developed and constructed in a location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, 
Butte, Great Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula. 
 
Comment: this is a helpful change to help address the housing needs in rural communities. New 
construction of larger than 20 units could occur if it were part of a larger service oriented project or 
mixed finance project. More likely, this will benefit acq/rehab needs of several projects in rural 
communities that are larger than 20 units. There are several projects around the state, for example HUD 
and/or RD financed (many with rental assistance), that are larger than 20 units and in rural communities 
that are in need of preservation and rehab. The Meadows in Lewistown would have benefited from this 
set aside had it been available as The Meadows is 35 units so the unit limitation didn’t allow it to 
compete for this rural set aside. Additionally, increasing the percentage available for this rural set aside 
helps reach meet a greater range of project sizes  
 
Page 8 
“Soft Costs” means the costs of professional work and fees, interim costs, financing fees and expenses, syndication 
costs and Developer’s fees included by the Applicant in the UniApp. Soft Costs do not include operating or 
replacement reserves, or the Letter of Intent fee, Application Fee, Reservation Fee, 10% Cost Certification Fee and 
Final Allocation (8609) fee, as required in the Applicable QAP. 
 
Comment: We appreciate that the MBOH has a mandate to be self-funded and fees are a way to cover 
staffing costs. We also appreciate that those fees are being taken out of the soft cost calculation as 
those increases would make it difficult to meet the limits for large and small projects.  
 
Page 14 
The following limit must be met:  

o Total Project Costs Per Unit may not exceed $230,000 $235,000.  

 

Comment: It is helpful to see an increase on this limit as it’s been the same $230,000 for several years. 
The increase to $235,000 is a 2% increase. The MBOH underwriting assumes increased expenses at 3% 
annually so it’s arguable this Total Development Cost (TDC) is not a reasonable increase as it’s not 
keeping up with MBOH assumed underwriting for inflation and cost increases. That said, it’s better than 
not increasing it at all given the reality of inflation and construction costs have increased since the 
$230,000 limit was imposed. We encourage the MBOH to take the time in the coming months in 
preparation for the 2019 QAP to review options such as: Total Project Costs per geography type 
(urban/rural/high cost market/etc) and/or unit size. Also a waiver process should be established 
whereby the burden of justification is placed on the developer but the MBOH staff has a mechanism to 

181



approve increases in TDC when it’s warranted. We would volunteer to help assist by researching what 
other states have implemented and are quite certain a working group would volunteer from the 
development and investor community. 

Page 18 
Project Accessibility Requirements – 

Comment: We appreciate the need to expand accessibility and visitability. However, we also believe 
code covers what developers should meet. If MBOH incentivizes additional accessibility, those units 
would need to meet code.  We contend that meeting code is the best way to ensure marketability and 
full accessibility.  The most obvious example where good intentions went wrong is #4 when it was 
required that controls be no more than 36” from the floor. The proposed range could make sense then, 
because it’s not required controls be 36”. However, if it’s a goal for MBOH to increase visitability 
standards, as opposed to just meeting code, there are several nationally recognized standards available 
such as:  
http://www.concretechange.org/construction/construction-guidelines/ 
http://idea.ap.buffalo.edu//Visitability/Booklet/VisBk%20Ver3-7-03.pdf 
https://www.huduser.gov/Publications/pdf/strategies.pdf 
http://www.udeworld.com/documents/visitability/pdfs/IncreasingHomeAccess.pdf 
https://www.amazon.com/Inclusive-Housing-Pattern-Diversity-Equality/dp/0393733165 

Page 23 

First Award Round: 
o Application Workshop April 2017

o Letter of Intent Submission First Monday in July 2016Friday June 9, 2017

o Applicant Presentations/

Board Invitations to Apply August 2016June 2017

MBOH Board Meeting 

o Application Submission First Monday in OctoberTuesday September 5, 20176

o Award Determination January 2017 November 2017 MBOH

Comment: Having a reasonable timeframe from Letter of Intent to Award is essential in keeping pre-
development costs reasonable for developers. We recognize the staff and board need adequate time to 
underwrite and make decisions on potential projects. The timeframe in the 2018 QAP is a result of 
developers and MBOH staff agreeing on a reasonable timeframe from the QAP feedback session. At that 
feedback session, the original schedule proposed LOI’s to be submitted in early June and a decision by 
MBOH Board in February. That is an 8 month time period that exceeds reasonable Purchase Options, 
Market Studies, Appraisals, LIHTC Investor terms, and Financing terms. The newly proposed timeframe is 
a 5 month timeframe and is much more workable in terms of holding costs, keeping reports pertinent 

182

http://www.concretechange.org/construction/construction-guidelines/
http://idea.ap.buffalo.edu/Visitability/Booklet/VisBk%20Ver3-7-03.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/Publications/pdf/strategies.pdf
http://www.udeworld.com/documents/visitability/pdfs/IncreasingHomeAccess.pdf
https://www.amazon.com/Inclusive-Housing-Pattern-Diversity-Equality/dp/0393733165


and allowing a longer construction period after allocation decisions are made. An example from 2017 
QAP cycle we’d like to share is, from LOI to allocation award was a six (6) month timeframe. The seller of 
the former Livingston hospital was not willing to sign two, 90 day Options without earnest money going 
hard. We understand development is a risk, but we are trying to build affordable housing, often in 
communities where the margin is painfully thin but the need is great. Reducing risks will help increase 
housing units across all of Montana. The timeframe proposed above makes it possible for an allocation 
decision to occur before the holidays which reduces stress on everyone. Additionally, it allows allocated 
projects the ability to close on the tax credit partnership earlier in the calendar year and thus 
construction can start in the spring rather than summer, giving projects the ability to get buildings dried 
in and eliminates construction risk. We’re working under aggressive timelines for LIHTC and investor 
requirements so having more of the calendar year to build and lease up properties is essential in making 
these deals more seamless. 

Page 28 
Small Rural Projects  
Comment: we support based on comments for same definition on page 7. 

Page 36 
Full Funding of Applications36 
Just as MBOH will not allocate more Credits than necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its 
viability, MBOH will not award Credits in an amount less than necessary for these purposes. Therefore, if the Board 
Awards Credits to a Project, it will Award the amount of Credits determined by MBOH staff for the Project based 
upon the Applicant’s requested amount (except for any de minimis reduction because of lack of available Credits to 
fully fund the full Credit amount). If the remaining amount of available Credits is insufficient to fully fund an 
additional Project, the Board will prioritize the remaining Projects for an Award from the remaining Credits, and 
the first priority Project for such an Award will be allowed 30 days to re-submit its Application resized to the 
amount of Credits remaining available. After staff underwriting and evaluation of the resized Application, if MBOH 
staff determines based upon the resized Application that the development is financially feasible and viable as a 
qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period, MBOH staff will enter into a Reservation 
Agreement for the Project. If the first priority Project fails to submit a resized Application within 30 days or MBOH 
staff determines that the Project is not financially feasible or viable as proposed in the resized Application, the next 
priority Project will be invited to submit a resized Application, and so on, until remaining Credits are reserved for 
one of the prioritized Projects. 

Comment: We are supportive of this approach. It allows the MBOH to allocate the full pool of available tax credits 
and allows the staff the authority to award the balance of credits based on their underwriting and the board’s 
prioritization. 

General Comments: 
*Would it be possible to format this entire QAP with section and sub-section references, similar to a Limited
Partnership Agreement (for 2019)? It would make navigating this document, and references within the document,
much more-straight forward.

*Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback and comment. We find this process very valuable.

183



From: beki
To: Guariglia, Kellie; Bair, Mary
Subject: QAP Page 53 suggestion. Thanks!
Date: Tuesday, February 07, 2017 4:46:26 PM

Hi ladies,
I noted on Page 53 of the QAP an item I'd like to ask about.  In the
first paragraph under Ownership/Management Changes, it refers to
"Written Notification of changes to property management companies,
managers, site managers, or changes to points of contact must be
submitted to MBOH prior to or immediately upon implementation of the
change."  Then it goes on to name the penalties for failing to do so.
I brought the requirement to the attention of management company for
Bitterroot Valley Villas, Syringa Property Management, this morning.  We
would like to suggest for at least site managers, the time period for
notification be a little longer, perhaps 2 weeks.
The point of contact will consistently be, in addition to the site
manager, Syringa Property Management.  Here is their info so you have it
handy.

Syringa Property Management
1277 Shoreline Lane
Boise, ID 83702
Tel:   (208) 387-7872
Fax:  (208) 387-7873
Cell:(208) 970-0254

Amali Ferdinand
amali@syringaproperties.com

Thanks for considering this!
Beki

Beki Brandborg
431-2151

184

mailto:kguariglia@mt.gov
mailto:mbair@mt.gov


March 1, 2017 

Mary Bair 

Montana Board of Housing 

Electronic Delivery 

Dear Mary,  

My comments on the 2018 QAP are as follows: 

Please remove Soft Costs as part of the analysis of debt coverage ratio.  Soft Costs are part of the one-

time development budget and don’t play into the operating calculations that relate to debt coverage and 

availability of Net Operating Income to pay debt. Please change as follows: 

DCR’s outside these ranges must be justified in the Application narrative to the satisfaction of MBOH, in 

its sole discretion.  In determining whether the Applicant’s justification is acceptable, MBOH will 

consider the reasonableness of the Project’s proposed rent levels, Operating Expenses, reserve payments, 

projected Vacancy Rates, debt service obligations, Soft Costs and amount of Credits requested.  If the 

DCR, as underwritten by MBOH at Application, falls outside the ranges specified above without 

justification acceptable to MBOH, MBOH will reduce the amount of Credits requested by the Applicant 

to an amount determined by MBOH to be necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its 

viability as a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period. 

Page 23. Competitive 9% Applications. This section should repeat, for clarity, the requirement for a 

separate sub-application and UniApp for each credit request as found on page 25 for consistency.  

Page 30.  For letter of Intent, add the requirements from page 29 so it reads: 

Letters of Intent must: 

1. Include the applicable fee;

2. Be received by the applicable deadline; and

3. Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in the MBOH Letter of Intent Form.

4. Include a market study or mini-market study

5. Include the completed market study summary Form posted on the MBOH website

Page 33, item 28.  Please change to “Identify the name of the entity that will have with Legal ownership of 

Project (LP, LLP, etc.). 

Page 36 – In order to have the option of NOT awarding credits if evaluation does not prove the projects 

feasible, please change will to may. 

185



In the event available Credits are not awarded in any round, invited but unawarded Applications will be 

allowed 30 days to re-submit Applications resized to the amount of Credits remaining available and, after 

staff underwriting and evaluation, the Board will may award the remaining Credits.     

Thank you, 

Eileen R. Piekarz 

186



March 1, 2017 

Mary Bair 
Montana Board of Housing 
301 S Park Ave 
Helena, MT  59601 

RE: Comments on the Montana Board of Housing Draft QAP for 2018 

Dear Mary: 

Travois welcomes the opportunity to submit comments on the draft 2018 Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP). 

p.14 – Development Cost Limitations –Total Cost Per Unit
We are pleased that MBOH increased the Total Project Cost per Unit to $235,000, however we again urge 
MBOH to instead implement a cost per square foot eligible basis cap as a means to control costs and ensure 
an efficient use of credit.  

Setting a threshold on total project costs of $235,000 benefits projects with smaller square footages and 
smaller bedroom types (1BR/2BR unit projects) and will prevent projects with larger proposed bedroom 
types (3BR/4BR+) from even being able to apply for Housing Credits.  

In evaluating the 2017 credit round, yes, all developers were able to have a Total Project Cost per Unit 
amount below $235,000, but the majority of these projects consisted of 1BR and 2BR units.  Blackfeet 6, 
which consists of only 3BR and 4BR units, had a Total Project Cost per Unit value of $229,162 per unit, 
and this is because the Blackfeet community is in greater need of larger units to accommodate demand (an 
area where 59% of renter households consist of 5+ person households) not because of excessive 
construction costs or improper use of the Housing Credit.  In fact, the numbers indicate Blackfeet’s project 
was one of the more efficient projects proposed given that its hard cost per square foot amount was only 
$145/sf as compared to some projects allocated in the 2017 round with hard cost per square foot amounts 
exceeding $160, $170 and $190/sf (see the charts below).   

187



If anything, MBOH should be asking itself, “Why is it costing these projects in excess of $160/sf to build 
1BR and 2BR units when Blackfeet in Browning, MT is proposing 3BR and 4BR units at $145/sf?  Where 
is the justification for the disparity in cost?  Is this the most efficient use of the Housing Credit?” 

NOTE:  The hard cost per square foot amount for the rehab projects is skewed to a lower cost per square foot because MBOH did not split land 
acquisition from building acquisition in its publically available information.  As such the hard costs do not include the building acquisition 
component.  If we did include building acquisition, then each rehab project’s hard cost per square foot dollar amount would increase. 

The most equitable measure for MBOH to implement would be to control credits by limiting eligible basis 
for Hard Costs to no more than $155 per square foot.  A cost per square foot metric provides a more 
accurate way to compare costs across projects with different sizes and unit types to determine which projects 
would truly have excessive costs. Additionally, a basis cap (as opposed to a strict cost cap) still allows MBOH 
to efficiently allocate its tax credits in the most feasible manner, while at the same time recognizing that 

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

Blackfeet	6 Polson	Landing Gateway	Vista Rockcress Roosevelt	Villas* Aspen	Place	III Livingston Meadows

Cost	per	Square	Foot	Analysis

soft	cost	/	sf

hard	cost	/	sf

Hard	Costs TDC
Cost/SF	Range* Total Awarded Cost/SF	Range Total Awarded
<$100 1	 1	 <$120 -	 -	
$100	-	$109 -	 -	 $120	-	$129 -	 -	
$110	-	$119 -	 -	 $130	-	$139 -	 -	
$120	-	$129 -	 -	 $140	-	$149 -	 -	
$130	-	$139 -	 -	 $150	-	$159 -	 -	
$140	-	$149 2	 1	 Blackfeet	$145 $160	-	$169 1	 1	 Blackfeet	$162
$150	-	$159 -	 -	 $170	-	$179 -	 -	
$160	-	$169 2	 1	 $180	-	$189 1	 1	
$170	-	$179 2	 1	 $190	-	$199 -	 -	
$180	-	$189 -	 -	 $200	-	$209 1	 -	
$190	-	$199 1	 1	 $210	-	$219 2	 1	
>$199 -	 -	 $220	-	$229 -	 -	

8	 5	 $230	-	$239 -	 -	
*	doesn't	account	for	building	acquistion	cost	on	rehabs $240	-	$249 -	 1	

$250	-	$259 -	 -	
$260	-	$269 -	 -	
>$269 3	 1	

8	 5	

188



some projects may end up more costly than anticipated and that the developer would then cover those 
excess costs on their own.   

Below is an excerpt from the Arizona Department of Housing’s 2017 Final QAP detailing how ADOH 
implements their cost containment rules: 

Another key metric MBOH should look at in terms of determining reasonableness and cost efficiency is 
percentage of soft cost as they relate to hard costs and total development costs.  Based on the data publicly 
available about the 2017 applications below is a chart that shows how Blackfeet 6’s percentage of hard costs 
v. percentage of soft costs compares with the other 2017 applicants.

189



NOTE:  The % of hard cost for the rehabilitation projects is skewed to a lower % because MBOH did not split land acquisition from building 
acquisition in its publically available information. 

The argument here is that even at $205,473/unit, Blackfeet is making the most efficient use of the Housing 
Credit with 90% of the total project cost going to construction rather than to legal fees, A&E costs, 
developer fees, etc.  When you take a closer examination of Blackfeet’s costs, you’ll see that Blackfeet 
Housing (which is serving as the project’s General Contractor) is taking $0.00 for GC profit and only 
$200,000 for a Developer Fee (a 2.95% developer fee).  In comparison, projects allocated credits in the 
2017 allocating round had anywhere between 23% and 48% allocated to soft costs and had a much higher 
percentage of costs allocated to developer fees. 

If MBOH continues with a cost cap, we would ask that it remove the provision for negative points for 
exceeding the limits at the time of Final Cost Certification. 

p. 23 – First Award Round Dates:
We are content with the proposed date changes. We are glad that the applications will be due in September 
and that the awards will be determined in the same calendar as the application submission. We feel there is 
adequate time between the June 2017 letter of intent submission and the September 2017 application 
submission. 

p. 24 – Board Consideration and Determination Process
We support the amendment in the 2018 QAP that limits the total to eight projects that may be invited 
forward from the letter of intent phase. 

p. 32 – Threshold Requirement #13 – Appraisal/CMA
We request that new construction projects on tribal land be except from the appraisal requirement. An 
appraisal of land values land as if it were private fee land, so an appraisal cannot accurately value tribal trust 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Blackfeet	6

Polson	Landing

Gateway	Vista

Rockcress

Roosevelt	Villas*

Aspen	Place	III

Livingston

Meadows

Percentage	of	Hard	Cost	and	Soft	Costs

%	soft	cost

%	hard	cost

190



land given. There is little benefit in determining a value that has no basis on the actual land status; it is only 
an increased cost to the applicant. 

p. 36 – Full Funding of Applications
We support the proposed additional section that addresses full funding of applications. We did not believe 
that it was fair to ask a developer on the spot if they would accept less credits. We support MBOH allowing 
the project to reduce the scope of the project and re-submit with a decreased credit request within 30 days. 

p. 38 – Local Community Input
We ask that MBOH do not decrease the scoring category to two meetings worth 20 points each for a total 
of 40 points. Requiring four different meetings each worth 10 points is reasonable and allows for a greater 
scoring disparity. Surely each project will now be able to conduct two meetings and score the max points in 
this category. With scoring already being so tight and with projects already scoring very similar overall, 
limiting this category will only make the scoring disparity worse. For example, Blackfeet 6 earned 10 points 
out of 40, or 30 points less than the max. Under the proposed change, Blackfeet 6 would have scored 20 
points, or only 20 points less than max. Of the 8 submitted 2017 applications, only Blackfeet and Rockcress 
would not score the max 40 points under the proposed 2018 QAP where the 2017 scores ranged from 10, 
20, 30, to full 40 points. 

p. 39 – Qualified Census Tract or Community Revitalization Plan
We ask that MBOH remove “involves existing housing” from the criteria so that new construction projects 
in a community revitalization plan area can still receive the 10 points. 

p. 41 – Participation of Local Entity
We do not believe that each of the qualifying participations in the QAP are equal to one another and 
therefore they should not be worth the same 10 points. A financial commitment from a local entity in the 
form of a cash flow only loan or project based rental assistance is significantly more beneficial to a project 
than a commitment from a local entity to screen and refer prospective tenants to the project.  Similar to the 
structure of the Project Location category, we suggest the following point structure (up to a maximum of 60 
points):  

• 30 pts for a commitment of a cash flow only loan from a local entity equaling at least 10% of the TDC;
• 20 pts for a commitment of 100% project based rental assistance;
• 20 pts for a commitment by a local entity to donate land or sale at a reduced price to enhance affordability;
• 10 pts for each of the following:

o a commitment of less than 100% project based rental assistance;
o a commitment by a local entity to screen and refer individuals as prospective tenants;
o a commitment by a local entity to provide targeted supportive services to Project tenants either on-

site or within a 5-mile radius of the project site for tribal projects;
o significant fee waivers on local government fees;
o other forms of significant monetary or material support equaling less than 10% of TDC.

191



p. 55 - On-Site Inspections
Language in the draft 2018 QAP states that MBOH may schedule on-site inspections with minimal notice. 
Federal guidelines require that ample time must be given in the notification of a site visit by a state 
allocating agency. While ample time is not defined, we can assume the intent is to allow housing authorities 
and management agents enough time to notify residents of inspections in accordance with their internal 
policies.  

We recommend that MBOH provide no less than two weeks notice of an on-site inspection. This will allow 
housing authorities and management agents to notify the tenants in writing and to confirm that occupancy 
staff will be available for the visit.  

Should MBOH retain the “minimal notice” language, we request that this term be defined in the QAP with 
a very specific timeframe so as to maintain a consistent standard for inspection notification.  

Thank you for considering our comments. Please feel free to contact us with any questions. We look 
forward to continuing our collaboration with MBOH.  

Sincerely, 

Trent Rogers 
Project Coordinator 

192



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting: March 14, 2017 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Rockcress funding 

BACKGROUND to discuss the tax credit allocation for the project in the 
context the reduced tax credit pricing in the current syndication market 

PROPOSAL 
GMD will present information on the Rockcress project. 

193



Mary, 

To follow up on our phone call this morning we would like to request that Rockcress Commons be put 
on the Agenda for the MBOH Board meeting scheduled for next week on Tuesday March 14th, 2017 in 
Bozeman, MT.  We would like to discuss the tax credit allocation for the project in the context the 
reduced tax credit pricing in the current syndication market.  At this time we are planning to attend in 
person.  More details to follow. 

Thanks, 

Greg 

Gregory Dunfield 
GMD Development
520 Pike Street  Suite 1010 
Seattle, WA  98101 

O.206-745-3699
C.206-465-6844

194



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting: March 14, 2017 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
RAM Exception 

BACKGROUND Female in Northeastern Montana is seeking an exception for 
$57,000 to pay off a mortgage and medical bills. 

PROPOSAL 
Presentation for the Board to consider the exception  

195



RAM Exception 

Female applicant from Northeastern Montana 

Requesting a Lump Sum Exception in the amount of $57,000.00, to pay off a mortgage and 
medical expenses. 

Income is $13,147.20 annually.  The mortgage payment is $669 monthly and will give her $8000 
more usable cash annually. 

196



Loan Programs

Applications Active Loans: Outstanding Bal

Reverse Annuity (RAM)

RAM 76         3,718,033 

Housing Montana Fund

TANF 62            429,772 

Revolving Loans 3            460,822 

AHP 8         1,526,839 

Bond Programs

Regular Program -                       - 11         1,387,687 

Conduit 5   17,250,000  2006-2016 

Risk Share -                       - 8         7,858,296 

Housing Credits (HCs) Allocation

 City  Award HC Year Status

Fort Peck Sust Village  Poplar 13-Apr 2013 

Voyageur Apartments  Great Falls 13-Dec 2014 

Chippewa Cree Homes I  Box Elder 13-Dec 2014 

Antelope Court  Havre 14-Nov 2015 

Guardian Apartments  Helena 14-Nov 2015 

Stoneridge Apartments  Bozeman 14-Nov 2015 

Sweet Grass Commons  Missoula 14-Nov 2015 

River Ridge  Missoula 14-Mar 2015 

Larkspur Bozeman 15-Dec bond deal blower door testing completed; punchlist items 98% complete

Big Sky Villas Belgrade 16-Jan 2016 transfer of ownership completed; const start date 1/16/17

 construction is about 95% complete 

Multifamily & RAM Program Dashboard
February 15, 2017

 waiting for 8609 paperwork 

 received 8609 paperwork 

 rehab finish target to be late October 

 rehab complete; 100% leased;HOME funds 

received 

 waiting for 8609 paperwork 

 leasing up; landscaping to finish up 

 substantial completion 99% 

197



Valley Villas Hamilton 16-Jan 2016 transfer of ownership completed; const start date Jan 17

NorthStar Wolf Point 16-Jan 2016 most of foundation is poured

Little Jons Big Fork 16-Jan 2016 transfer of ownership completed

Red Fox Billings 16-Jan 2016 preconstruction mtg Feb 2017

Freedoms Path Fort Harrison 16-Jan 2016 working on closing & transfer from VA; approved National Historic site

Housing Credits (HCs) Compliance

 Year to Date Last Year

Project Site Visits                    85                      86 

Units Inspected               2,536                 1,526 

                      - 

Projects w/Comp Owner

 

Management audit done Explanation

NO CHANGES

198



2017 Calendar 
January 2017 February 2017 March 2017 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
29 30 31 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 31 

April 2017 May 2017 June 2017 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 30 
30 

July 2017 August 2017 September 2017 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
30 31 

October 2017 November 2017 December 2017 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 

31 

March 2017 
• 6-8 – Legislative Conference – Washington

DC (staff and 2 Board Members) 
• 13 –15  Board meeting

Financial Training - Bozeman
Initial Bond Closing
Bond Closing, Staff Bond Training

April 2017 
• No Board Meeting

May 2017 
• 1-3 – Mountain Plains Housing Summit –

Boise (Staff and 2 Board Members)
• 8 - Board Meeting and Training  – Great Falls
• 8-11 – Annual Housing Conference – Great

Falls

June 2017 
• 20-23 – Housing Credit Connect – Atlanta

(Staff)
• 26 – Board Meeting  - Letter of Intent

Presentation and Invitations to submit full 
application 

July 2017 
• No Board Meeting

August 2017 
• 14 – Board Meeting – TBD

September 2017 
• No Board Meeting

October 2017 
• 13-17 – Annual Conference – Denver (Staff & 2 Board

members)
• 22 – Training  - Strategic Planning - Billings
• (15)16 – Board Meeting  - Billings

November 2017 
• 20 – Board Meeting – Helena Housing Credit Final

Allocations 

December 2017 
• No Board Meeting

199



Administrative Dashboard 
March 14, 2017 

Board Meetings 
The March Board Meeting will be in Bozeman for the Board meeting, training session, and Bond closing at the 
Grantree Hotel.  Board and Staff will arrive on Monday, March 13, 2017 and have staff bond training with lunch at 
1:00 PM and training to follow and dinner on your own.  Tuesday will include Board meeting, additional Bond 
training and Bond pre-closing and dinner will be served.  Wednesday will include Bond closing with breakfast and 
additional staff Bond training if needed. 

The May Board Meeting will be on the 8th starting at 8:30 AM in Great Falls at the Best Western Plus Heritage Inn 
in connection with the statewide housing conference.  We will hold a short meeting and provide Board member 
training as we expect to have new members at that time. 

Board News 
Stacy Collette and Bob Gauthier attended the NCSHA’s Legislative Conference in Washington DC, March 6 – 8, 
2017.  The Legislative Conference addresses the organization’s legislative priorities and provides a platform for 
strategizing a unified message to collectively present to Congress.   

May 1 – 3, 2017 is the Mountain Plains Housing Summit in Boise, Idaho.    This is an annual event which allows 
Regional Housing Finance Agencies to share insight and visions of Housing.   Board members are encouraged to 
attend.   Please let Bruce Brensdal or Paula Loving know if you are interested in attending.  

May 8 – 11, 2017 is the Annual Housing Conference in Great Falls.   A Board meeting is scheduled for the morning 
of May 8 with conference starting in the afternoon.   Board members are encouraged to attend the Housing 
Conference.  

Legislative Update 
Bill # LC # Sponsor Short Title Status 

HB0026 LC0169 Rep Tom Welch Revise MBOH Servicing Laws Chapter Number Assigned 

SB0 LC0055 Sen Edward Buttrey Revise Veteran Home Loan House State Admin Committee 

 LC0541 Sen Edward Buttrey Revise HC Prop tax exemption Draft on Hold 

 LC0542 Sen Edward Buttrey Create Housing Incentive Fund Draft to Requester for Review 

 LC0571 Sen Brian Hoven Housing Trust Fund Appropriation Draft Request Rec’d 

 LC0640 Rep Kris Hansen Generally Revise Housing Laws Draft Cancel 

HB0260 LC1158 Rep Susan Webber Generally Revise VHLP Missed Transmittal 

SB0330 LC1102 Sen Chas Vincent Property Clean Energy Finance Sen Local Govt Hring 3/15 

HJ0016 LC2227 Rep Shane Morigeau Interim Study homeless reduction House Human Serv Hring 3/20 

Grand Openings, Ground Breakings and other Public Events 
The Promotions/PR team recently collaborated with the Housing Authority of Billings to celebrate the start of 
construction at the Red Fox Apartments in Billings.  The event was held on March 7 at 1:00p.m. Despite a very 
brisk, windy day in Billings, we had a great crowd, including the mayor, the governor, two county commissioners, 
HAB board members, the construction crew, the architects, and the bankers.  It was a successful celebration of 
affordable housing.   

200



Here is the press release that was sent out: 

Governor Steve Bullock received cheers from the crowd during a ground breaking ceremony for Red Fox 
Apartments in Billings on Tuesday afternoon. Nearly $3.4 million of Montana Board of Housing credits and $1.2 
million of HOME program funding was awarded to the Housing Authority of Billings to be used to construct 15 one-
bedroom and 15 two-bedroom apartments for low-income families.  The Red Fox project, which will be 
constructed on Sioux Drive near Lake Elmo Drive in the Billings Heights, will bring almost 40 construction jobs and 
$3 million in wages and salaries. 

“The addition of Red Fox Apartments will provide families a safe place for their children to live.”  Governor Bullock 
stated, “Housing in Montana affects families across all economic lines. Every Montanan deserves a safe and 
comfortable place to call home if we expect them to live, work, thrive, and contribute to the state’s economy.  We 
know that families are healthier when they have safe, affordable housing.  We know children do much better in 
school and graduate at a higher rate when they live in safe, affordable housing.  We know that communities do 
better when their workforce can afford to live where the jobs are and they have safe, stable home environments.” 

The event was festive and was a heart-felt celebration of the beginning of construction for this important 
affordable housing in Billings where so many working families struggle with making ends meet.  A large crowd 
turned out to enjoy the celebration and to hear about the significance of affordable housing for families from 
Governor Steve Bullock, Tom Hanel, Billings Mayor, Lucy Brown, Executive Director Housing Authority of Billings, 
Jennifer Olson, Community Development Division Administrator, Bill Lucas of US Bank, Shane Ridley of Fisher 
Construction, and David Petersen of JGA Architects. 

Red Fox Apartments consists of a total 30 affordable units that will be affordable for the citizens of Billings for the 
next 47 years and will serve tenants at area median incomes of 40, 50, and 60%.   

Operations Update 
The program managers and senior leadership staff have been developing their strategic plans and developing work 
plans to address the items from the Board planning session. In the upcoming months, anticipate seeing updates in 
the dashboards as well as the Board’s strategic planning document. 

201



We have completed our job description review for the Division and have begun the development of career ladders 
and career planning for staff and leadership.   

As you know, the Trustee has been selected and the staff is in the process of contracting with Willmington Trust. 

We are also pursuing a local bank lockbox solution for mortgage servicing. This will ensure compliance with 
requirements for separate escrow accounts and will increase the ease of payment for clients across the state. 

We are also engaging an outside accounting firm to review our financial statement footnotes to ensure compliance 
with GASB.  We are in the process of developing the agenda for the March Board onboarding and training, 
anticipating new board appointments for a couple positions.  

Marketing Update 
Penny and Todd have been meeting with the Homeownership and Loan Servicing programs to move forward on 
the creation of new marketing materials.  This will include new handouts and lender packets.  The Marketing team 
has also been supporting the Homeownership program through their spring home shows all around the state with 
advertisements in many local publications.  An example of those advertisements is below… 

While in Billings for the Red Fox Ground Breaking, Penny and Todd also went to the Housing Authority of Billings to 
shoot a couple video testimonials of people that have lived or is living in affordable housing either funded by 
Housing Credit or HOME dollars.  The marketing team will eventually put these different testimonial videos onto 
the website for each program in the Housing Division.  It should be a very effective tool for program promotion. 

Planning has begun on the 2017 Housing Partnership Conference.  Registration goes live on January 16, 2017. The 
conference will be held in Great Falls from May 8 to May 10.  Watch for informative emails that will be sent 
periodically.  We have begun recruiting sponsors and based on the interest shown, feel that this years’ conference 
will top the previous conferences with content and attendance. 

Todd is working on updating the MTHousingSearch website by supplying photos of properties.  This website 
continues to improve and is now mobile-friendly.  Look, some time, to see the most recent changes and updates.  
www.MTHousingSearch.com  Next, Todd will work to get additional properties listed on the site.   

The investment that the Montana Board of Housing and the Housing Division has made to the MTHousingSearch 
has created a widely-used and much appreciated tool, across Montana.   

Here are some recent statistics from the MTHousingSearch website: 
202

http://www.mthousingsearch.com/


From 1/1/2017 to 3/8/2017 

Number of searches: 3,026 

# of units on site:  8,599 

Staffing 
Staff is in the process of hiring the Section 8 Contract Manager for special grants and programs.   

Staff is in the process of hiring the Homeownership Training Specialist position, left vacant by the retirement of 
Jeannene Maas.   Staff is currently interviewing candidates.   

Staff is in the process of hiring the Administrative Assistant position and is in the interviewing candidate phase. 

203



2017 Calendar 
January 2017  February 2017  March 2017 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7     1 2 3 4     1 2 3 4 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14  5 6 7 8 9 10 11  5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21  12 13 14 15 16 17 18  12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28  19 20 21 22 23 24 25  19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
29 30 31      26 27 28      26 27 28 29 30 31  

                       
 April 2017  May 2017  June 2017 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
      1   1 2 3 4 5 6      1 2 3 

2 3 4 5 6 7 8  7 8 9 10 11 12 13  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15  14 15 16 17 18 19 20  11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22  21 22 23 24 25 26 27  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29  28 29 30 31     25 26 27 28 29 30  
30                       

 July 2017  August 2017  September 2017 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

      1    1 2 3 4 5       1 2 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19  10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29  27 28 29 30 31    24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
30 31                      

 
October 2017  November 2017  December 2017 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7     1 2 3 4       1 2 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14  5 6 7 8 9 10 11  3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21  12 13 14 15 16 17 18  10 11 12 13 14 15 16 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28  19 20 21 22 23 24 25  17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
29 30 31      26 27 28 29 30    24 25 26 27 28 29 30 

                31       

March 2017 
• 6-8 – Legislative Conference – Washington 

DC (staff and 2 Board Members) 
• 13 –15  Board meeting 

Financial Training - Bozeman 
Initial Bond Closing 
Bond Closing, Staff Bond Training 

April 2017 
• No Board Meeting  

May 2017 
• 1-3 – Mountain Plains Housing Summit – 

Boise (Staff and 2 Board Members) 
• 8 - Board Meeting and Training  – Great Falls 
• 8-11 – Annual Housing Conference – Great 

Falls 

June 2017 
• 20-23 – Housing Credit Connect – Atlanta 

(Staff)  
• 26 – Board Meeting  - Letter of Intent 

Presentation and Invitations to submit full 
application 
 

 

July 2017 
• No Board Meeting 

August 2017 
• 14 – Board Meeting – TBD 

September 2017 
• 10-11 – Strategic Planning, Board Meeting - TBD 

October 2017 
• 13-17 – Annual Conference – Denver (Staff & 2 Board 

members) 

November 2017 
• 20 – Board Meeting – Helena Housing Credit Final 

Allocations 

December 2017 
• No Board Meeting 

 



Administrative Dashboard 
March 14, 2017 

Board Meetings 
The March Board Meeting will be in Bozeman for the Board meeting, training session, and Bond closing at the 
Grantree Hotel.  Board and Staff will arrive on Monday, March 13, 2017 and have staff bond training with lunch at 
1:00 PM and training to follow and dinner on your own.  Tuesday will include Board meeting, additional Bond 
training and Bond pre-closing and dinner will be served.  Wednesday will include Bond closing with breakfast and 
additional staff Bond training if needed. 

The May Board Meeting will be on the 8th starting at 8:30 AM in Great Falls at the Best Western Plus Heritage Inn 
in connection with the statewide housing conference.  We will hold a short meeting and provide Board member 
training as we expect to have new members at that time. 

Board News 
Stacy Collette and Bob Gauthier attended the NCSHA’s Legislative Conference in Washington DC, March 6 – 8, 
2017.  The Legislative Conference addresses the organization’s legislative priorities and provides a platform for 
strategizing a unified message to collectively present to Congress.   

May 1 – 3, 2017 is the Mountain Plains Housing Summit in Boise, Idaho.    This is an annual event which allows 
Regional Housing Finance Agencies to share insight and visions of Housing.   Board members are encouraged to 
attend.   Please let Bruce Brensdal or Paula Loving know if you are interested in attending.  

May 8 – 11, 2017 is the Annual Housing Conference in Great Falls.   A Board meeting is scheduled for the morning 
of May 8 with conference starting in the afternoon.   Board members are encouraged to attend the Housing 
Conference.  

Legislative Update 
Bill # LC # Sponsor Short Title Status 

HB0026 LC0169 Rep Tom Welch Revise MBOH Servicing Laws Chapter Number Assigned 

SB0 LC0055 Sen Edward Buttrey Revise Veteran Home Loan House State Admin Committee 

 LC0541 Sen Edward Buttrey Revise HC Prop tax exemption Draft on Hold 

 LC0542 Sen Edward Buttrey Create Housing Incentive Fund Draft to Requester for Review 

 LC0571 Sen Brian Hoven Housing Trust Fund Appropriation Draft Request Rec’d 

 LC0640 Rep Kris Hansen Generally Revise Housing Laws Draft Cancel 

HB0260 LC1158 Rep Susan Webber Generally Revise VHLP Missed Transmittal 

SB0330 LC1102 Sen Chas Vincent Property Clean Energy Finance Sen Local Govt Hring 3/15 

HJ0016 LC2227 Rep Shane Morigeau Interim Study homeless reduction House Human Serv Hring 3/20 

Grand Openings, Ground Breakings and other Public Events 
The Promotions/PR team recently collaborated with the Housing Authority of Billings to celebrate the start of 
construction at the Red Fox Apartments in Billings.  The event was held on March 7 at 1:00p.m. Despite a very 
brisk, windy day in Billings, we had a great crowd, including the mayor, the governor, two county commissioners, 
HAB board members, the construction crew, the architects, and the bankers.  It was a successful celebration of 
affordable housing.   



 

 

 
 
Here is the press release that was sent out: 

Governor Steve Bullock received cheers from the crowd during a ground breaking ceremony for Red Fox 
Apartments in Billings on Tuesday afternoon. Nearly $3.4 million of Montana Board of Housing credits and $1.2 
million of HOME program funding was awarded to the Housing Authority of Billings to be used to construct 15 one-
bedroom and 15 two-bedroom apartments for low-income families.  The Red Fox project, which will be 
constructed on Sioux Drive near Lake Elmo Drive in the Billings Heights, will bring almost 40 construction jobs and 
$3 million in wages and salaries. 

“The addition of Red Fox Apartments will provide families a safe place for their children to live.”  Governor Bullock 
stated, “Housing in Montana affects families across all economic lines. Every Montanan deserves a safe and 
comfortable place to call home if we expect them to live, work, thrive, and contribute to the state’s economy.  We 
know that families are healthier when they have safe, affordable housing.  We know children do much better in 
school and graduate at a higher rate when they live in safe, affordable housing.  We know that communities do 
better when their workforce can afford to live where the jobs are and they have safe, stable home environments.” 

The event was festive and was a heart-felt celebration of the beginning of construction for this important 
affordable housing in Billings where so many working families struggle with making ends meet.  A large crowd 
turned out to enjoy the celebration and to hear about the significance of affordable housing for families from 
Governor Steve Bullock, Tom Hanel, Billings Mayor, Lucy Brown, Executive Director Housing Authority of Billings, 
Jennifer Olson, Community Development Division Administrator, Bill Lucas of US Bank, Shane Ridley of Fisher 
Construction, and David Petersen of JGA Architects. 

Red Fox Apartments consists of a total 30 affordable units that will be affordable for the citizens of Billings for the 
next 47 years and will serve tenants at area median incomes of 40, 50, and 60%.   

Operations Update 
The program managers and senior leadership staff have been developing their strategic plans and developing work 
plans to address the items from the Board planning session. In the upcoming months, anticipate seeing updates in 
the dashboards as well as the Board’s strategic planning document. 



 

We have completed our job description review for the Division and have begun the development of career ladders 
and career planning for staff and leadership.   

As you know, the Trustee has been selected and the staff is in the process of contracting with Willmington Trust.  

We are also pursuing a local bank lockbox solution for mortgage servicing. This will ensure compliance with 
requirements for separate escrow accounts and will increase the ease of payment for clients across the state. 

We are also engaging an outside accounting firm to review our financial statement footnotes to ensure compliance 
with GASB.  We are in the process of developing the agenda for the March Board onboarding and training, 
anticipating new board appointments for a couple positions.  

Marketing Update 
Penny and Todd have been meeting with the Homeownership and Loan Servicing programs to move forward on 
the creation of new marketing materials.  This will include new handouts and lender packets.  The Marketing team 
has also been supporting the Homeownership program through their spring home shows all around the state with 
advertisements in many local publications.  An example of those advertisements is below… 

 
While in Billings for the Red Fox Ground Breaking, Penny and Todd also went to the Housing Authority of Billings to 
shoot a couple video testimonials of people that have lived or is living in affordable housing either funded by 
Housing Credit or HOME dollars.  The marketing team will eventually put these different testimonial videos onto 
the website for each program in the Housing Division.  It should be a very effective tool for program promotion. 

Planning has begun on the 2017 Housing Partnership Conference.  Registration goes live on January 16, 2017. The 
conference will be held in Great Falls from May 8 to May 10.  Watch for informative emails that will be sent 
periodically.  We have begun recruiting sponsors and based on the interest shown, feel that this years’ conference 
will top the previous conferences with content and attendance. 

Todd is working on updating the MTHousingSearch website by supplying photos of properties.  This website 
continues to improve and is now mobile-friendly.  Look, some time, to see the most recent changes and updates.  
www.MTHousingSearch.com  Next, Todd will work to get additional properties listed on the site.   

The investment that the Montana Board of Housing and the Housing Division has made to the MTHousingSearch 
has created a widely-used and much appreciated tool, across Montana.   

Here are some recent statistics from the MTHousingSearch website: 

http://www.mthousingsearch.com/


 

From 1/1/2017 to 3/8/2017 

Number of searches: 3,026 

# of units on site:  8,599 

Staffing 
Staff is in the process of hiring the Section 8 Contract Manager for special grants and programs.    

Staff is in the process of hiring the Homeownership Training Specialist position, left vacant by the retirement of 
Jeannene Maas.   Staff is currently interviewing candidates.   

Staff is in the process of hiring the Administrative Assistant position and is in the interviewing candidate phase.  



FNMA = Federal National Mortgage Association
FHLB = Federal Home Loan Bank
FHLMC = Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
FFCB = Federal Farm Credit Bank

NOTE: Weight Average Yield in December should have been 1.29% not 0.79% as state in previous month.

For January 31, 2017
Available Now Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years 6 to 10 years 11 to 15 years 16 to 20 years 21 to 25 years Grand Total

59,980,481$         40,469,000$        12,350,000$        17,919,000$       2,225,000$     2,393,252$         412,787$            135,749,520$     

PORTFOLIO MATURITY

WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELD TREND

Data as of January 31, 2017

INVESTMENT DIVERSIFICATION

Accounting & Finance Dashboard

9.0% 1.6%

9.1% 1.1%

0.6%

1.6%

26.0%
3.5%

44.1%

FFCB Bonds  @ 0.04% - 3.41%

FHLB Discount Note  @ 0.19 - 0.42%

FHLMC DN  @ 0.51 - 0.53%

FNMA DEB @5.70 - 6.07%

FNMA DN @ 0.52%

FNMA MBS Avg @ 4.46 - 5.46%

Investment Contracts @ 5.00%

Treasury Bills @ 0.52 - 0.54%

US Treasury Bonds @ 6.48%

Money Market @ 0.10% - 0.40%

0.60%
0.70%
0.80%
0.90%
1.00%
1.10%
1.20%
1.30%
1.40%



CURRENT LAST MONTH LAST YEAR

MBOH 3.50 3.50 3.25
Market 4.22 4.03 3.59

10 yr treasury 2.31 1.91
30 yr Fannie Mae 3.71 3.63 3.27

FEBRUARY TOTAL: ORIGINAL
RESERVATIONS AMOUNT NUMBER AMOUNT AMOUNT BALANCE

34 5,892,802 106 16,971,430 30,300,000 13,328,570 
0 0 76 9,693,290 Funded w/ Reg

0 0 233 42,226,421 Revolving 6,054,610
9 1,754,864 42 7,939,405 45,000,000 37,060,595

10 62,698 215 1,145,876 1,500,000 354,124
0 0 295 40,854,790 50,000,000 9,145,210
0 0 1 4,365 50,000 45,635
0 0 226 16,358,432 Ongoing 862,950
0 0 12 1,273,560 2,000,000 726,440
1 134,032 12 1,201,801 1,000,000 (201,801)

(most recent availble)

Jan-17 Dec-16 Jan-16 Montana Region Nation
30 Days 1.66 2.08 2.43 1.57 1.96 2.59
60 Days 0.99 0.76 1.14 0.50 0.62 0.88
90 Days 1.82 1.91 2.53 0.69 0.98 1.6

Total Delinquencies 4.47 4.75 6.10 2.76 3.56 5.07

In Foreclosure 1.36 1.28 0.71 0.66 0.83 1.53

RATES

March 24, 2017
Homeownership Program Dashboard

LOAN PROGRAMS

80% Combined (20+)
Series 2017A(10.21.16)

REGULAR PROGRAM

909 Mrtg Cr Cert (MCC)
Veterans (Orig)

OTHER PROGRAMS

SET-ASIDE POOL

Habitat
Lot Refi

Disabled Accessible
Foreclosure Prevent

Set-aside Pool
Score Advantage

*This a 4.04% decrease in portfolio size from January 2016 when we had 5,371 loans

DELINQUENCY AND FORECLOSURE RATES
MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING MORTGAGE BANKERS ASSOC. 12/2016

MBOH PORTFOLIO AS OF JANUARY 2017
5,154 Loans* (4,343 serviced by MBOH)

Weighted Average
     Interest Rate

4.42%
2,856 1,289 

423 

431 

103 64 

FHA 56%

RD 25%

VA 8%

non ins 8%

PMI 2%

HUD184 1%

2.52



FHA VA RD HUD-184
Special Program 

Non Insured
Score Adv (2nd 

loan) TOTAL
FY2015 92 30 99 7 19 27 274
FY2016 198 50 141 2 34 54 479

FHA VA RD HUD-184
Special Program 

Non Insured
Score Adv (2nd 

loan) TOTAL
FY2015 12,466,858.00 4,686,971.00 13,798,906.00 495,780.00 1,977,715.00 141,304.00 33,567,534.00
FY2016 29,119,446.32 9,615,861.51 21,470,539.57 196,681.43 3,895,679.00 293,405.67 64,591,613.50

# Issued
FY2015 132
FY2016 121

Lender Code No. Loans No. MCC
95 30 1

110 1
121 14 34
133 2 2
134*
138 3
141 6
149*
151*
154*
159 3
161 11
165 7 3
172 2
213*
229*
239*
327*
524 61 8
547*
601 123 4
617*
700 49 19
710*
735 43 1
785 5
835 56 33
842 32 9
843 7
846 10 1
847 5
848 1
901 14
902*

*As part of our lender outreach we will be in contact with participating lenders not actively using Board programs and encourage their return

PRODUCTION NUMBERS
LOAN PROGRAMS
Number of Loans

Loan Amount

MCC PROGRAM

BY LENDER
23,128,533.00
23,938,870.00
Loan Amount

LENDER/REALTOR/PUBLIC OUTREACH

Company
First Community Bank

State Bank of Townsend
Rocky Mountain Bank

First Security Bank
Independence Bank
Bank of the Rockies
Three Rivers Bank

Valley Bank of Glasgow
Valley Bank of Helena
American Bank Center
Valley Bank of Ronan

Yellowstone Bank
Big Sky Western Bank

Manhattan Bank
First Montana Bank

Valley Bank of Kalispell
Farmers State Bank

First State Bank 
Stockman Bank

Eagle Bank
First Interstate BancSystems, Inc

US Bank
Opportunity Bank 

Pioneer Federal Savings and Loan
Glacier Bank

Fairway Independent Mortgage Corp
Prime Mortgage Lending Inc

Missoula Federal Credit Union
Rocky Mountain Credit Union

Western Security Bank
Mann Mortgage

Guild Mortgage Company
Universal Lending Corporation
Eagle Home Mortgage/UAMC



Date Event
January 20 - 21 2017 MBIA Home Show

February 9 Attended Helena Assoc Realtors Condo Financing Training
February 13 Eagle Bank MBOH Training Webinar
February 16 Fairway Independent Mortgage Corp. MBOH Training Webinar
March 3 - 5 Billings Spring Home Improvement Show

March11 - 12 Flathead Home & Garden Showcase
March 25 - 26 Bozeman SWMBIA Home Expo
March 25 - 26 Helena Builders Home Show & Lifestyle Expo

April 1 - 2 Missoula 37th Annual Home & Garden Show



      

Last Year Last Month This Month
MONTH APRIL 2016 JANUARY 2017 FEBRUARY 2017

PORTFOLIO TOTAL LOANS 4573 4678 4652
        MBOH 4261 4371 4344
        BOI 294 290 291
        MULTI FAMILY 18 17 17
PRINCIPAL (all loans) 408,768,415.00$       423,338,708.43$  420,769,363.28$  
ESCROW (all loans) 6,321,370.00$           4,959,634.04$      5,549,230.78$      
LOSS DRAFT (all loans) 669,809.00$              912,410.04$         911,951.99$         
LOANS DELINQUENT (60+ days) 224 276 277
FORECLOSURES TOTAL 2017 14 1 6
ACTUAL FORECLOSURE SALES IN MONTH 11 1 5
DELQUENT CONTACTS TO MAKE 951 788 796
LATE FEES - NUMBER OF LOANS 646 795 831
LATE FEES - TOTAL AMOUNT 18,533.78$                22,715.25$           23,160.03$           
PAYOFFS 40 42 37
NEW LOANS/TRANSFERS 53 13 12

LOSS MITIGATION

ACTIVE FINANCIALPACKETS 
REPAYMENT/FORBEARANCE
HAMPS/PARTIAL CLAIMS & MODS PNDG
PRESERVATION PROPERTIES 
REAL ESTATE OWNED PROPERTIES
CHAPTER 13 BANKRUPTCIES

PHONE PAYMENTS

Mortgage Servicing Program Dashboard
Effective February 28, 2017

Quarterly Servicing Newsletter
"Mortgage Matters" 

February, 2017

May 2016 - Start of Phone Payments

179

29



Applications Active Loans Outstanding Balance Available Balance

                                      76 $3,718,033

                                62 $429,772
                                  3 $460,822
                                  8 $1,526,839

                        -                        -                                 11 $1,387,687
                       5        17,250,000 
                        -                        -                                   8 $7,858,296

Project City Award HC Year

Fort Peck Sust Village  Poplar 13-Apr 2013 
Voyageur Apartments  Great Falls 13-Dec 2014 
Chippewa Cree Homes I  Box Elder 13-Dec 2014 
Antelope Court  Havre 14-Nov 2015 
Guardian Apartments  Helena 14-Nov 2015 
Stoneridge Apartments  Bozeman 14-Nov 2015 
Sweet Grass Commons  Missoula 14-Nov 2015 
River Ridge  Missoula 14-Mar 2015 
Larkspur Bozeman 15-Dec bond deal
Big Sky Villas Belgrade 16-Jan 2016
Valley Villas Hamilton 16-Jan 2016
NorthStar Wolf Point 16-Jan 2016
Little Jons Big Fork 16-Jan 2016
Red Fox Billings 16-Jan 2016
Freedoms Path Fort Harrison 16-Jan 2016

 Year to Date Last Year

                    85                                 86 
               2,536                            1,526 
                       - 

Projects w/Comp Owner  Management Audit Done
NO CHANGES

 rehab complete; 100% leased;HOME funds received 
waiting for 8609 paperwork
 leasing up; landscaping to finish up 
 substantial completion 99% 
 blower door testing completed; punchlist items 98% complete 
 transfer of ownership completed; const start date 1/16/17 
 transfer of ownership completed; const start date Jan 17 
 most of foundation is poured 
 transfer of ownership completed 
 preconstruction mtg Feb 2017 
 working on closing & transfer from VA; approved National Historic site 

Multifamily & RAM Program Dashboard
February 15, 2017

 waiting for 8609 paperwork 
 received 8609 paperwork 
 rehab finish target to be late October 

LOAN PROGRAMS

HOUSING CREDITS (HCs) ALLOCATION
Status

 construction is about 95% complete 

Reverse Annuity (RAM)

Housing Montana Fund

Bond Programs

Risk Share
Conduit (2006-2016)

Regular Program

AHP
Revolving Loans

RAM

TANF

Explanation

HOUSING CREDITS (HCs) COMPLIANCE

Project Site Visits
Units Inspected



Previous Month Current Month Calendar Year  HUD  Year to Date 
SECTION 8 PROGRAMS Feb-2017 Mar-2017 Change HAP  Budget  Fees Term

15,426,099 359,943 CY 2016
         PBS8 Opt-Out Conversion Funding 88,595

Paid Units  (3625 Agency contracts) 3,431 3,382 -49
Current Month Payment Amount 1,674,800 1,624,213 -50,587 4,919,157 120,348

CY2016
Number Units Paid (306 Authorized) 294 284 -10

Payment Amount 164,554 155,751 -8,803 468,132

2,012,728 7-1-16-6-30-17
Number Contracts 18 18 0

Paid Units (297 Authorized) 261 262 1
Payment Amount 133,131 140,814 7,683 413,694 8,734

195,488 8-1-16-7-31-17
Number Units Paid (28 Authorized) 27 27 0 Grant Balance

Payment Amount 13,242 13,242 0 34,639 195,488

36,606 7-1-16-6-30-17
Number Units Paid (5 Authorized) 5 5 0 Grant Balance

Payment Amount 3,224 3,224 0 6,448 27,291

Admin Earnings Fed Fiscal
Contracts 87 87 0 71,521

Units Paid (4132 Authorized with 8bb) 3,664 3,675 11 Contract Extension
Payment Amount 1,739,003 1,702,051 -36,952 Expires June 30 2016

Calendar Year Admin Earnings 357,604

1,900,000 157,000 Five Year
Rental Assistance Contracts (RAC) 48 48 0

Units (grant requires 82) 9 9 0 8 Units Kalispell
Payment Amount 4,568 4,568 0 4,568 40 Units Missoula

48

Previous 
Month

Current 
Month Change 

Paid Units: 7,682 7,635 -47
Budgeted Units: 8,317

All Section 8 HAPs 3,727,955 3,639,296 -88,659

811 Project Rental Assistance Demo (FY12 $)

Section 8 Program Dashboard
March 20, 2017

TENANT BASED, VETERANS' VOUCHERS, MOD REHAB, SHELTER PLUS CARE I and II, 811 PRA DEMO PROGRAMS:  

CURRENT PERIOD:  FEBRUARY 2017

TOTALS

Project-Based (PBS8)

Shelter Plus Care II (Family) 

Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH)

Housing Choice Voucher (HCV)

Moderate Rehabitation (ModRehab)

Shelter Plus Care I (Individual) FY13 Grant Funds


	2017Mar14MBOHMinutes
	ROLL CALL OF BOARD
	CALL MEETING TO ORDER
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	January 23, 2017 Board Meeting Minutes – page 3 of the packet
	FINANCE PROGRAM
	HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM
	Additional Habitat for Humanity Allocation – page 16 of packet
	Homeownership Program Update – page 17 of the packet
	Mortgage Servicing Program Update – page 20 of the packet
	MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM
	2018 Qualified Allocation Plan – page 22 – 117 of the packet
	Reverse Annuity Mortgage Exception – page 195 of packet
	Rockcress Apartments – page 193 of packet
	Multifamily Program Update – page 197 of packet
	EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR UPDATE

	March14BoardPacket
	March 14, 2017 Agenda
	January 23, 2017 Minutes
	Finance Program 
	Homeownership Program
	2017 March Habitat Additional Allocation
	Homeownership Update

	Mortgage Servicing Program
	Multifamily Program 
	2018 QAP Agenda Approval
	Guide to Key Changes 2018 QAP
	2018 Qualified Allocation Plan
	Qualified Contract Process
	Public comments.pdf
	USBANK public comments (have been inserted into Guide)
	Homeword public comments
	Syringa Property Management public comments
	RCAC public comments
	Travois public comments


	Rockcress
	Rockcress

	Reverse Annuity Mortgage 
	RAM Exception

	Multifamily Program Update

	Executive Director Update


	MarchDashboard
	March 2017 Dashboard
	Administrative
	Accounting & Finance
	Homeownership
	Mortgage Servicing
	Multifamily & RAM
	Section 8





